NEUROTRANSMITTERS AND EMOTIONS

EDITED BY: Fushun Wang, Jiongjiong Yang, Fang Pan, Jason H. Huang and Roger C. Ho <u>PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychology</u>





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-536-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-536-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

NEUROTRANSMITTERS AND EMOTIONS

Topic Editors: Fushun Wang, Naniing I

Fushun Wang, Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine, China
Jiongjiong Yang, Peking University, China
Fang Pan, Shandong University, China
Jason H. Huang, Baylor Scott and White Health, United States
Roger C. Ho, National University of Singapore, Singapore

Citation: Wang, F., Yang, J., Pan, F., Huang, J. H., Ho, R. C., eds. (2020). Neurotransmitters and Emotions. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-536-8

Table of Contents

- **04** *Editorial: Neurotransmitters and Emotions* Fushun Wang, Jiongjiong Yang, Fang Pan, Roger C. Ho and Jason H. Huang
- 07 Voxel-Mirrored Homotopic Connectivity of Resting-State Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Blepharospasm Jing Wei, Shubao Wei, Rongxing Yang, Lu Yang, Qiong Yin, Huihui Li, Yuhong Qin, Yiwu Lei, Chao Qin, Jingqun Tang, Shuguang Luo and Wenbin Guo
- **16** Gene Expression in the Hippocampus in a Rat Model of Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder After Treatment With Baixiangdan Capsules Sheng Wei, Peng Sun, Yinghui Guo, Jingxuan Chen, Jieqiong Wang, Chunhong Song, Zifa Li, Ling Xue and Minggi Qiao
- 27 Emotional Roles of Mono-Aminergic Neurotransmitters in Major Depressive Disorder and Anxiety Disorders

Yi Liu, Jingping Zhao and Wenbin Guo

- **35** Differentiation of Transformed Bipolar Disorder From Unipolar Depression by Resting-State Functional Connectivity Within Reward Circuit Jiabo Shi, Jiting Geng, Rui Yan, Xiaoxue Liu, Yu Chen, Rongxin Zhu, Xinyi Wang, Junneng Shao, Kun Bi, Ming Xiao, Zhijian Yao and Qing Lu
- 45 Electrophysiological Characteristics in Depressive Personality Disorder: An Event-Related Potential Study

Hong-Hua Yu, Si-meng Gu, Fang-Min Yao, Zhi-Ren Wang and Wen-Qing Fu

53 Inhibited Endogenous H₂S Generation and Excessive Autophagy in Hippocampus Contribute to Sleep Deprivation-Induced Cognitive Impairment

San-Qiao Yang, Li Jiang, Fang Lan, Hai-jun Wei, Ming Xie, Wei Zou, Ping Zhang, Chun-Yan Wang, Yu-Rong Xie and Xiao-Qing Tang

63 Identification of Key Genes and Pathways in Post-traumatic Stress Disorder Using Microarray Analysis

Yaoyao Bian, Lili Yang, Min Zhao, Zhengjun Li, Yuying Xu, Guilian Zhou, Wenlin Li and Li Zeng

- 73 An East Meets West Approach to the Understanding of Emotion Dysregulation in Depression: From Perspective to Scientific Evidence Jiajia Ye, Shuhe Cai, Wai Ming Cheung and Hector W. H. Tsang
- 85 Cognitive Control as a 5-HT_{1A}-Based Domain That is Disrupted in Major Depressive Disorder

Scott A. Langenecker, Brian J. Mickey, Peter Eichhammer, Srijan Sen, Kathleen H. Elverman, Susan E. Kennedy, Mary M. Heitzeg, Saulo M. Ribeiro, Tiffany M. Love, David T. Hsu, Robert A. Koeppe, Stanley J. Watson, Huda Akil, David Goldman, Margit Burmeister and Jon-Kar Zubieta

- **101** A Model for Basic Emotions Using Observations of Behavior in Drosophila Simeng Gu, Fushun Wang, Nitesh P. Patel, James A. Bourgeois and Jason H. Huang
- 114 The Childhood Maltreatment Modulates the Impact of Negative Emotional Stimuli on Conflict Resolution

Xianxin Meng, Shuling Gao, Wenwen Liu, Ling Zhang, Tao Suo and Hong Li





Editorial: Neurotransmitters and Emotions

Fushun Wang 1*, Jiongjiong Yang², Fang Pan³, Roger C. Ho⁴ and Jason H. Huang^{5,6*}

¹ Institute of Brain and Psychological Science, Sichuan Normal University, Chengdu, China, ² Department of Psychology, Beijing University, Beijing, China, ³ Department of Psychology, Shandong University, Jinan, China, ⁴ Department of Psychology, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore, ⁵ Department of Neurosurgery, Baylor Scott & White Health Center, Temple, TX, United States, ⁶ Department of Surgery, Texas A&M University, Temple, TX, United States

Keywords: neurotransmitters, emotions, dopamine, monoamine, norepinephrine

Editorial on the Research Topic

Neurotransmitters and Emotions

Despite the central importance of emotions for human existence (LeDoux, 1995, 2000), many debates are still had over the definition of emotion, the number of discrete basic emotions that exists, and whether different emotions have different physiological signatures (Gu et al., 2015). Although there has been no shortage of psychological research on these matters involving emotions, many core issues remain unaddressed (Gu et al., 2016). However, discoveries on representations of emotions in the brain may shed light on the nature of the complex emotional processes. In the efforts of elucidating the neural basis of emotions, the majority of the work focused on identifying neural structures responsible for the experience of particular emotions, which culminated in the limbic system theory of emotion in the mid-twentieth century. This approach to emotions has outlined the neural anatomical basis of emotions, and located important structures involved in basic emotion (LeDoux, 2000). This is consistent with the proposal of Basic Emotion Theory, which suggests that every basic emotion has a specific brain locus. This work was demonstrated by fMRI studies. However, many recent studies revealed that multiple neural structures could be implicated in one particular basic emotion, while a specific area could attribute to a number of basic emotions. For example, the amygdala has been recognized as the central site for all negative emotions, including fear and anger (Gu et al., 2019). In all, inconsistent findings have invoked numerous disputations on the neural basis approach to the study of basic emotions (Lindquist et al., 2012, 2013; Gu et al., 2019).

Here, we introduce an alternative approach—neuromodulators—to the study of emotions. Instead of isolated small brain areas, we hypothesize that basic emotions derive from the widely projected neuromodulators, such as dopamine (DA), serotonin (5-HT), and norepinephrine (NE). Darwin proposed that phylogenetically lower animals, such as insects, also have basic emotions, but they have distinctly different brain structures with similar monoamine neuromodulators. Ever since its discovery, monoamine has been deemed as the substrate for emotions. Antidepressants affecting monoamine neuromodulators have been used for almost all affective disorders (Lovheim, 2012; Lohoff et al., 2014). Even decades later, monoamine-targeted drugs are still the first-line of pharmacological treatment for affective disorders, such as anxiety, phobia, and depression (Gu et al., 2018b). Human eyes are able to perceive all colors thanks to the three types of cone cells, with each type sensitive to one of the three primary colors. Similar to the perception of color, we herein propose a new theory of emotion—"three primary color model" of basic emotions (Figure 1) (Gu et al., 2018a, 2019)"—that emotion is a product from the mixture of the three monoamines (Lovheim, 2012; Gu et al., 2018a). This theory of emotion states that central DA is a hedonic signal for salient stimuli, such as food, sex, and other needs; central 5-HT is related to disgust or

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marina A. Pavlova, University Hospital Tübingen, Germany

Reviewed by:

Katja Koelkebeck, LVR Hospital Essen, Germany

*Correspondence:

Fushun Wang 13814541138@163.com Jason H. Huang Jason.huang@bswhealth.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 11 September 2019 Accepted: 07 January 2020 Published: 29 January 2020

Citation:

Wang F, Yang J, Pan F, Ho RC and Huang JH (2020) Editorial: Neurotransmitters and Emotions. Front. Psychol. 11:21. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00021

4



trigger "fight or flight" response; fear and anger are classified as one core emotion—the stressful emotion—like two sides of the same coin. Joy is subsided by dopamine (DA), while punishment is subsided by serotonin (5-HT) (Adopted from our previous paper: Gu et al. Frontiers in Psychology, 2018, 9:1924).

punishment; and central NE is the substrate for emotions that trigger "fight or flight" response, such as fear and anger (Gu et al., 2019). Many recent emotion experimental and theoretical studies surging up recently support this emotion theory based on the three monoamines (Lovheim, 2012).

In addition to these monoamines, other hormones and neuromodulators may also be involved in a secondary pathway. For example, corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH)-the stress hormone-might be involved in a pathway of central norepinephrine (NE) release (Simeon et al., 2007). The CRH induces the release of ACTH (adrenocorticotropic hormone), which can, in turn, alters physiological processes and behaviors (Chauhan et al., 2017). Ketamine, once known as a blocker to a particular glutamate receptor, has recently been used as an antidepressant (Yang et al., 2018). Oxytocin is believed to be related with love and attachment (Aguilar-Raab et al., 2019). Recent studies have proven that many neurotransmitters may play a pivotal role in emotions as substrates for emotions. Simply put, emotions are nothing but neuromodulators. We have solicited the most advanced studies evaluating the emotional functions of neurotransmitters, and accepted 11 peer-reviewed papers in this special collection.

Liu et al. introduced a literature review that probed into the relationship between the dysfunction of serotoninergic,

noradrenergic, and dopaminergic systems with major depression disorders in multiple ways, such as animal studies and human imaging studies. They found that the altered monoamine neurotransmitter functions play a critical role in the mechanism of emotional disorders.

Gu et al. introduced three core affects: happiness, sadness, and stress, which are subsided respectively by three neuromodulators: dopamine, serotonin, and norepinephrine. Complex emotions are analogous to colors in the way that they are results of a proportional mix of the three core affects.

Ye et al. tried to relate the emotional neurotransmitters to the mechanism of Traditional Chinese Medicine.

Langenecker et al. presented genetic analysis with the serotonin transporter and monoamine oxidase A genes. Interestingly, they found that higher serotonin1A binding potentials were related to a substantial memory bias toward negative emotions.

Bian et al. identified several genes involved in post-traumatic stress disorders.

Shi et al. found that the dopaminergic reward system is impaired in bipolar depressive patients.

Yang et al. found that hydrogen sulfide in hippocampus might affect neurotransmitters to modulate sleep deprivation induced deficit of cognition.

Yu et al. investigated the neurophysiological characteristics of young people with depressive personality disorders.

Wei J. et al. reported their studies about the brain network involved in the development of blepharospasm, with a particular focus on inferior frontal gyrus, posterior cingulate cortex, and temporal gyrus.

Meng et al. reported a significant interaction effects of childhood maltreatment and emotion on executive attention scores in reaction times that reflect conflict resolution speed. They concluded that childhood maltreatment can induce brain dysfunctions, which are sensitive to negative emotional stimuli.

Wei S. et al. reported their studies on gene expressions in the hippocampus related with aggressive behaviors of premenstrual dysphoric disorders.

Collectively, these studies strengthen the association between neurotransmitters and basic emotions. Owing to the intricate nature of emotions, studies aiming at its connection with neurotransmitters are necessarily complex and multifocal. We sincerely hope that you will enjoy reading all the papers in this special edition.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FW, JY, FP, RH, and JH all helped in writing the editorial.

FUNDING

This work was partially supported by a grant from Foundation of Humanities and Social Science in Ministry of Education in China (FW, 19YJAZH083).

REFERENCES

- Aguilar-Raab, C., Eckstein, M., Geracitano, S., Prevost, M., Gold, I., Markus, H., et al. (2019). Oxytocin modulates the cognitive appraisal of the own and others close intimate relationship. *Front. Neurosci.* 13:714. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2019.00714
- Chauhan, N. R., Kapoor, M., Prabha Singh, L., Gupta, R. K., Chand Meena, R., Tulsawani, R., et al. (2017). Heat stress-induced neuroinflammation and aberration in monoamine levels in hypothalamus are associated with temperature dysregulation. *Neuroscience* 358, 79–92. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.06.023
- Gu, S., Gao, M., Yan, Y., Wang, F., Tang, Y. Y., and Huang, J. H. (2018a). The neural mechanism underlying cognitive and emotional processes in creativity. *Front. Psychol.* 9:1924. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01924
- Gu, S., Jing, L., Li, Y., Huang, J. H., and Wang, F. (2018b). Stress induced hormone and neuromodulator changes in menopausal depressive rats. *Front. Psychiatry* 9:253. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00253
- Gu, S., Wang, F., Cao, C., Wu, E., Tang, Y. Y., and Huang, J. H. (2019). An integrative way for studying neural basis of basic emotions with fMRI. *Front. Neurosci.* 13:628. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2019.00628
- Gu, S., Wang, F., Yuan, T., Guo, B., and Huang, J. H. (2015). Differentiation of primary emotions through neuromodulators: review of literature. *Int. J. Neurol. Res.* 1, 43–50. doi: 10.17554/j.issn.2313-5611.2015.01.19
- Gu, S., Wang, W., Wang, F., and Huang, J. H. (2016). Neuromodulator and emotion biomarker for stress induced mental disorders. *Neural Plast.* 2016:2609128. doi: 10.1155/2016/2609128
- LeDoux, J. E. (1995). Emotion: clues from the brain. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 46, 209–235. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ps.46.020195.001233
- LeDoux, J. E. (2000). Emotion circuits in the brain. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 23, 155–184. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.23.1.155
- Lindquist, K., Wager, T., Kober, H., Bliss-Moreau, E., and Barrett, L. (2012). The brain basis of emotion: a meta-analytic review. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 35, 121–143. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X11000446

- Lindquist, K. A., Siegel, E. H., Quigley, K. S., and Barrett, L. F. (2013). The hundred-year emotion war: are emotions natural kinds or psychological constructions? Comment on Lench, Flores, and Bench (2011). *Psychol. Bull.* 139, 255–263. doi: 10.1037/a00 29038
- Lohoff, F. W., Hodge, R., Narasimhan, S., Nall, A., Ferraro, T. N., Mickey, B. J., et al. (2014). Functional genetic variants in the vesicular monoamine transporter 1 modulate emotion processing. *Mol. Psychiatry* 19, 129–139. doi: 10.1038/mp.2012.193
- Lovheim, H. (2012). A new three-dimensional model for emotions and monoamine neurotransmitters. *Med. Hypotheses* 78, 341–348. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2011.11.016
- Simeon, D., Knutelska, M., Smith, L., Baker, B. R., and Hollander, E. (2007). A preliminary study of cortisol and norepinephrine reactivity to psychosocial stress in borderline personality disorder with high and low dissociation. *Psychiatry Res.* 149, 177–184. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2005. 11.014
- Yang, Y., Cui, Y., Sang, K., Dong, Y., Ni, Z., Ma, S., et al. (2018). Ketamine blocks bursting in the lateral habenula to rapidly relieve depression. *Nature* 554, 317–322. doi: 10.1038/nature 25509

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Wang, Yang, Pan, Ho and Huang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Voxel-Mirrored Homotopic Connectivity of Resting-State Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Blepharospasm

Jing Wei¹, Shubao Wei¹, Rongxing Yang¹, Lu Yang¹, Qiong Yin¹, Huihui Li¹, Yuhong Qin², Yiwu Lei², Chao Qin¹, Jingqun Tang¹, Shuguang Luo^{1*} and Wenbin Guo^{3*}

¹ Department of Neurology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University, Nanning, China, ² Department of Radiology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University, Nanning, China, ³ Department of Psychiatry, The Second Xiangya Hospital of Central South University, Changsha, China

Objective: Several networks in human brain are involved in the development of blepharospasm. However, the underlying mechanisms for this disease are poorly understood. A voxel-mirrored homotopic connectivity (VMHC) method was used to quantify the changes in functional connectivity between two hemispheres of the brain in patients with blepharospasm.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Jiongjiong Yang, Peking University, China

Reviewed by:

Gang Li, Wuhan Union Hospital, China Haijiang Li, Shanghai Normal University, China

*Correspondence:

Shuguang Luo robert58243@sohu.com Wenbin Guo guowenbin76@csu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 02 June 2018 Accepted: 13 August 2018 Published: 11 September 2018

Citation:

Wei J, Wei S, Yang R, Yang L, Yin Q, Li H, Qin Y, Lei Y, Qin C, Tang J, Luo S and Guo W (2018) Voxel-Mirrored Homotopic Connectivity of Resting-State Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Blepharospasm. Front. Psychol. 9:1620. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01620 **Methods:** Twenty-four patients with blepharospasm and 24 healthy controls matched by age, sex, and education were recruited. The VMHC method was employed to analyze the fMRI data. The support vector machine (SVM) method was utilized to examine whether these abnormalities could be applied to distinguish the patients from the controls.

Results: Compared with healthy controls, patients with blepharospasm showed significantly high VMHC in the inferior temporal gyrus, interior frontal gyrus, posterior cingulate cortex, and postcentral gyrus. No significant correlation was found between abnormal VMHC values and clinical variables. SVM analysis showed a combination of increased VMHC values in two brain areas with high sensitivities and specificities (83.33 and 91.67% in the combined inferior frontal gyrus and postcentral gyrus).

Conclusion: Enhanced homotopic coordination in the brain regions associated with sensory integration networks and default-mode network may be underlying the pathophysiology of blepharospasm. This phenomenon may serve as potential image markers to distinguish patients with blepharospasm from healthy controls.

Keywords: blepharospasm, resting state, functional magnetic resonance imaging, voxel-mirrored homotopic connectivity, support vector machine

INTRODUCTION

Blepharospasm (BSP) is a common clinical type of focal dystonia characterized by involuntary blinking and eyelid spasms (Hallett et al., 2008). BSP is a chronic disease with an incidence rate of 4.2/10 million in general population (Steeves et al., 2012). This disease occurs mostly in adults and manifested with an increased frequency of blinking in the early stage and consistent closed-eyes

7

or even functional blindness in the late stages. Furthermore, BSP will lead to poor quality of life, decline in employment, anxiety, and depression (Muller et al., 2002; Biuk et al., 2013; Valls-Sole and Defazio, 2016; Bedarf et al., 2017). However, the pathophysiology of BSP remains unclear.

Recent techniques, such as neuroimaging, facilitate the exploration of structural and functional abnormalities in patients with BSP. For example, Baker et al. reported regional abnormalities in the cortical and subcortical brain areas in BSP (Baker et al., 2003; Yang et al., 2013). A voxel-based morphometry study demonstrated increased gray matter in the putamen (Etgen et al., 2006) and primary sensorimotor cortex (Suzuki et al., 2011) in patients with BSP. Zhou et al. (Zhou et al., 2013) used the amplitude of a low-frequency fluctuation method and found abnormalities in the bilateral somatosensory regions in patients with BSP.

The above mentioned studies indicate that multiple abnormal nodes are involved in the pathophysiology of BSP. However, the reported findings are inconsistent in regard to specific networks. For example, a report with independent component analysis exhibited decreased connectivity within the sensorimotor network and the right fronto-parietal network but increased connectivity in the salience network in patients with BSP (Huang et al., 2017). By contrast, a functional connectivity study reported that patients with BSP showed altered functional connectivity at rest in widespread brain regions including basal ganglia, cerebellar, primary/secondary sensorimotor, and visual areas (Jochim et al., 2018). Therefore, BSP may be related to network abnormality, and dysfunction of these nodes is likely to be involved in the pathogenesis of BSP. However, whether or not these abnormalities result in simultaneous bilateral eyelid spasms in BSP remain ambiguous. Moreover, complex functional connectivities exist between two cerebral hemispheres, and their effects are complementary and coordinated. Both eyelids simultaneously experience spasms in BSP, and this event is related to abnormalities of functional interaction between two cerebral hemispheres. Thus, BSP might have also resulted from brain connection dysfunction. However, whether or not an abnormal functional interaction exists between two cerebral hemispheres in BSP should be confirmed.

Resting-state fMRI (rs-fMRI) has attracted increasing attention (Biswal et al., 1995), because it can detect patterns of coherent intrinsic activities of the brain and interactions between two hemispheres. Voxel-mirrored homotopic connectivity (VMHC) (Zuo et al., 2010) is a method of rs-fMRI used to analyze functional homotopy between two hemispheres. The synchrony in patterns of spontaneous activity between homotopic regions in each hemisphere is an important feature of the functional structure of the brain (Stark et al., 2008). The VMHC is designed to directly compare the interhemispheric resting-state functional connectivity. This process can also measure the correlations between blood oxygen level-dependent time series and reflect the communication pattern of information between two cerebral hemispheres. Thus, VMHC is extremely important for information integration of the brain. Recent studies used VMHC to show abnormal homotopic connection in patients with schizophrenia (Hoptman et al., 2012; Guo et al.,

2014b, 2017a,b) and their unaffected siblings (Guo et al., 2014a), depression (Guo et al., 2013a,b), somatization disorder (Su et al., 2016), and Parkinson's disease (Hu et al., 2015). Moreover, Anderson et al. reported that homotopic resting-state functional connectivity was disrupted in individuals with autism (Anderson et al., 2011), and this finding indicated that homotopic function is an important part of the brain function. In addition, excision of corpus callosum could damage the sensory, motor, and cognitive functions of human brain. This phenomenon implies that the coordination between two hemispheres plays an important role for human behavior (Luo et al., 2015). The abovementioned studies suggest that abnormal interhemispheric connectivity may be an important factor in the occurrence of BSP. Based on the onset pattern of simultaneous effect on the bilateral eyelids of patients with BSP and the presence of different networks and loop injuries, we hypothesized that hemisphere connectivity might play a key role in the pathogenesis of BSP. Using VMHC to compare the fMRI data of patients with BSP with those of healthy controls, we evaluated spatial heterogeneity of interhemispheric functional connectivity and clarified the pathogenesis of BSP. To date, findings in brain networks of patients with BSP are limited. To our knowledge, the current study is the first work to employ VMHC to investigate the resting-state functional connectivity of the two hemispheres in patients with BSP.

Patients with BSP usually demonstrate psychiatric symptoms, such as anxiety and depression (Muller et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2017). Self-rating Anxiety Scale (SAS) and Self-rating Depression Scale (SDS) were used to evaluate the symptoms of anxiety and depression, respectively, to control the confounding impact from these conditions. Prior to the rating, all patients were screened to determine whether they were suffering from anxiety or depression. Moreover, Jankovic Rating Scale (JRS-S) was used to assess the severity of eyelid spasm. Then, The VMHC values of different brain areas were correlated with the degree of JRS-S, the course of disease, and the SAS and SDS scores to examine the relationship between VMHC values and clinical symptoms. Finally, SVM was employed to examine whether abnormal VMHC values could discriminate patients from controls with high accuracy and specificity.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

We recruited 26 outpatients with BSP who visited the Department of Neurology in the First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University between November 2012 and June 2014. The inclusion criteria for the BSP group were as follows: (1) met the criteria of BSP diagnosis according to the Clinical Guidelines of BSP (Defazio et al., 2013); (2) absence of structural changes with conventional MRI examination; (3) had not used botulinum toxin within 3 months prior to the study; (4) had not used medication for dystonia within 1 month prior to the study; and (5) right-handedness. Patients with the following conditions were excluded: (1) secondary BSP from other diseases, such as hepatolenticular degeneration and dry eye; and (2) history of neurological and psychiatric disorders.

The following information was collected from patients with BSP: sex, age, education level, course of disease, degree of illness severity, scores of SAS, and scores of SDS. JRS-S was used to assess the severity of BSP. SAS and SDS were used to examine the severity of anxiety and depression.

Twenty-four healthy volunteers from the community were recruited as age- sex-, and education level-matched controls. All individual controls were right-handed and had no history of severe neuropsychiatric diseases, medical illness, or family history of neurological or psychiatric disorders from the first-degree relatives.

All participants read and signed a consent form before the examination. The Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital, Guangxi Medical University approved this study.

Image Acquisition

Data were acquired using a German Siemens Trio Tim 3.0T scanner (Erlangen, Germany). Head fixers and earplugs were used for all subjects to reduce head movement and machine noise, respectively. The subjects were required to remain motionless, awake, and eye-closed during image acquisition. All patients underwent routine examination (T1W1 and T2W1) to exclude intracranial lesions. The following parameters were used for functional imaging: repetition time/echo time (TR/TE) = 2000/30 ms, 30 slices, 64×64 matrix, 90° flip angle, 24 cm FOV, 4 mm section thickness, 0.4 mm gap, and 250 volume (500 s).

Data Preprocessing

Images were preprocessed using the data assistant software (DPABI) (Yan et al., 2016). The first 10 time points were removed. All participants had less than 2 mm maximum displacement in the *x*, *y*, or *z*-axis and 2° of angular motion during data acquisition. The images were then normalized to the standard SPM8¹ echo planar imaging template with resampling to $3 \times 3 \times 3$ mm³ voxels. The processed images were smoothed with an isotropic Gaussian kernel (full-width at half-maximum = 8 mm). Finally, the acquired data were subjected to temporal bandpass filtering (0.01–0.08 Hz) and linear detrending to reduce the effect of low-frequency drifts and physiological high-frequency noise. Spurious covariates and their temporal derivatives, including Friston-24 head motion parameters, white matter signals, and cerebrospinal fluid signals, were removed from the data using linear regression.

Interhemispheric Correlation and Statistical Analysis

The software REST² was used to analyze VMHC, and the details of VMHC computation has been expounded in a previous study (Zuo et al., 2010). Individual VMHC maps were generated for each participant by computing Pearson correlation (Fisher *z*-transformed) between a given voxel and a corresponding voxel in the contralateral hemisphere. Correlation values were then Fisher *z*-transformed to improve the normality. The resultant

¹http://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm

²http://resting-fmri.sourceforge.net

values were applied for group comparisons and generation of the VMHC maps.

Individual-level VMHC maps were analyzed using grouplevel voxel wise *t*-test to determine regional group differences in VMHC. The significance level was set to p < 0.05 for multiple comparisons corrected by the Gaussian Random Field theory (voxel significance: p < 0.001, cluster significance: p < 0.05). Given that resting-state functional connectivity could be influenced by micro motions (Power et al., 2012), the frame wise displacement values were computed as a covariate for each subject in the group comparisons. Pearson correlation was used to evaluate the relationships between VMHC values with significant group differences and degree of JRS-S, SAS scores, SDS scores, and the course of disease after the normality of these variables being assessed.

The demographic and clinical information was compared with the two-sample *t*-test and χ^2 -test. The significance level was set to *P* < 0.05.

Classification Analysis Using SVM

SVM was conducted to evaluate the possibility of abnormal VMHC in these clusters to discriminate patients from healthy controls using the LIBSVM software package³ in MATLAB (Chang and Lin, 2011). The LIBSVM classifier was trained by providing examples of the form <x, c>, where x represents the VMHC values of these abnormal clusters, and c is the class label (c = +1 for patients with BSP and c = -1 for healthy controls). A sample set was divided into a training set and a test set for SVM to evaluate the classification performance on the unobserved data. The leave-one-pair-out method was applied for the LIBSVM classifier algorithm. We constructed a random SVM cluster based on the brain fMRI data of the subjects for classification and feature selection. To acquire the optimal sensitivity and specificity, default functional kernels of Gaussian radial basis and the grid search method were applied to optimize the parameters with the "leave-one-subject-out" method.

RESULTS

Demographics and Clinical Characteristics of the Participants

A total of 24 patients were included in the further analysis (two patients were excluded due to excessive head movement). About 20.83 and 29.17% of patients with BSP had anxiety and depressive symptoms, respectively. Additionally, 3 (12.5%) patients with BSP had comorbidity of depression. Moreover, 19 patients with BSP (79.16%) had sensory tricks. These patients might temporarily improve eyelid spasms by wearing glasses, having material in the mouth, or touching the cheeks, forehead, or jaw. Half of the 24 patients (50.00%) experienced worsened eyelid spasms when talking. The patient and control groups did not differ significantly in sex, age, and education levels (**Table 1**).

³http://www.csie.ntu.edu.tw/~cjlin/libsvm

VMHC: Group Differences

Compared with the healthy control group, significantly high VMHC was found in the inferior temporal gyrus, interior frontal gyrus, posterior cingulate cortex and postcentral gyrus in the patient group (**Figure 1** and **Table 2**).

Correlation Analysis

No significant correlation was found between abnormal VMHC values and the severity of symptom, clinical course, and scores of SAS and SDS in the patients (P > 0.05).

SVM for Classification Analysis

SVM analysis was performed to determine whether or not abnormal VMHC values could satisfactorily discriminate patients with BSP from healthy controls. The results showed that the VMHC values in a single brain region could not discriminate patients with BSP from healthy controls with optimal sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy (Table 3), but the patients may be distinguished with high sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy (more than 80%) using a combination of two brain regions. Among the brain regions, the ability of discriminating patients with BSP from the healthy controls by the combination of the VMHC values in the inferior frontal gyrus and posterior cingulate cortex was optimal with an accuracy of 87.5% (42 of 48 in the 2 groups), a sensitivity of 83.33% (20 of 24 in the BSP group), and a specificity of 91.67% (22 of 24 in the control group). The combination of the VMHC values in the inferior temporal gyrus and postcentral gyrus showed an accuracy of 85.4% (41 of 48 in the 2 groups), a sensitivity of 83.33% (20 of 24 in the BSP group), and a specificity of 87.5% (21 of 24 in the control group; Figures 2, 3). The other combinations such as inferior frontal gyrus/inferior temporal gyrus or posterior cingulate cortex/postcentral gyrus had unsatisfactory sensitivity and specificity.

DISCUSSION

In this study, higher VMHC values were found in some brain regions, including the inferior temporal gyrus, interior frontal

TABLE 1 Clinical profile of the participants.				
	BSP patients (n = 24)	Healthy controls (n = 24)	p-value	
Sex (male/female)	8/16	6/18	0.53 ^a	
Age (years)	49.58 ± 8.58	50.88 ± 8.13	0.59 ^b	
Years of education (years)	10.38 ± 2.34	10.63 ± 2.16	0.70 ^b	
Degree of JRS-S (1–4 degree)	2.63 ± 0.82			
SAS score	43.79 ± 8.11			
SDS score	47.95 ± 8.58			
Illness duration (months)	11.00 ± 3.82			

BSP, blepharospasm; SAS, Self-Rating Anxiety Scale; SDS, Self-Rating Depression Scale; JRS-S, Jankovic Rating Scale. ^ap-value for gender distribution was obtained by Chi-square test. ^bp-values were obtained by two-sample t-test. gyrus, posterior cingulate cortex, and postcentral gyrus in patients with BSP than those in healthy controls (P < 0.05). Moreover, SVM analysis revealed that the VMHC values in a single brain region could not discriminate patients with BSP from healthy controls, contrary to the combination of two brain regions with high sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy. Moreover, no significant correlation was found between abnormal VMHC values and the severity of symptoms, clinical course, and scores of SAS and SDS in the patient group (P > 0.05).

Previous studies indicated that BSP was related to abnormal function of the basal ganglia (Perlmutter et al., 1997; Federico et al., 1998; Esmaeli-Gutstein et al., 1999). Meanwhile, other studies (Martino et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2013) have reported the abnormalities in the central posterior and posterior cingulate gyrus in patients with BSP. Our report is consistent with those from previous studies (Martino et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2013). Patients with BSP demonstrated various patterns of sensory tricks, such as motor, imaginary, forcible, and reverse sensory tricks (Hallett, 2002; Ramos et al., 2014), and more likely to suffer from significant prepulse inhibition hand stimulation when presented sensory tricks (Gomez-Wong et al., 1998). One report indicated increased sensory afferents in the eyelid activity control in patients with BSP (Hallett, 2002). Another report implied that the changes in sensory input played an important role in sensory integration abnormalities which might result from increased sensory afferents (Patel et al., 2014). Thus, balancing the movement output and sensory afferents might be a valuable strategy to improve symptoms of eyelid spasm. Furthermore, this report also implied that abnormalities in the sensory center and sensory integration were involved in the pathogenesis of dystonia. Wong et al. reported that 8 of 17 patients with BSP (47.06%) showed sensory tricks (Gomez-Wong et al., 1998). In our patient group, 19 of the 24 BSP patients (79.16%) presented sensory tricks. The eyelid spasms could be alleviated when the patient wears glasses and touches his cheek, forehead, jaw, or other parts of his body. The VMHC of the postcentral gyrus was significantly increased. This phenomenon suggested that patients with BSP had to process more complex information and programs to control eyelid movement. Thus, the integration of sensory-motor information might play an important role in the pathogenesis of BSP. Furthermore, 12 of the 24 BSP patients (50.00%) demonstrated reverse sensory tricks. These patients experienced worse symptoms when they talked (Greene and Bressman, 1998). Interestingly, a stimulus or action can alleviate the symptoms in some patients but not effective in other patients with BSP or even worsening their symptoms (Wider et al., 2004; Martino et al., 2010; Ramos et al., 2014). Thus, a sensory trick has a very unique individual nature. However, the complex input mechanism of sensory integration is unclear, and more studies are needed to explore the related neurophysiological factors in patients with BSP.

The patients in our study presented increased connection from bilateral inferior frontal gyrus, where Brodmann areas 44 and 45 of the inferior frontal gyrus are the main parts of Broca area. Previous study suggested that the frontal lobe plays an integrated role in sensory information processing, and this



FIGURE 1 | Statistical maps showing VMHC differences between patients and controls. Red denotes increased VMHC, and color bars indicate *T*-values from *t*-tests between groups. VMHC, voxel-mirrored homotopic connectivity.

concept supports the hypothesis that the Broca area is part of the sensory network (Okada et al., 2016). Recent studies showed that the human hyperdirect low-frequency interactions between the prefrontal cortex and subthalamic nucleus (STN) support the regulation of several related brain functions (Kelley et al., 2018), and the STN is the key point of the motor network (Alexander and Crutcher, 1990). In Parkinson's disease, high frequencies of typical STN deep brain stimulation protocols are used to treat motor symptoms. Therefore, we can speculate that the STN can also become a therapeutic target in the future therapy of BSP. In 2001, Raichle et al. (Raichle et al., 2001) first proposed default mode network (DMN). This network exhibits high levels of activity at rest. However, DMN becomes deactivated when specific goal-directed behavior is required. DMN consists of the posterior cingulate cortex, precuneus, medial prefrontal cortex, ventral anterior cingulate cortex, inferior parietal lobule, and several temporal lobes (Fransson, 2006). Zhou et al. found abnormalities in the medial prefrontal cortex and posterior cingulate cortex, and these abnormalities suggested significant differences in the DMN in patients with BSP (Zhou et al., 2013). The posterior cingulate cortex, which involves monitoring sensation, stereotactic positioning, and other functions, is the only region in the cingulate cortex that accepts thalamic

Cluster location	Peak (MNI)			Cluster size	T-value
	x	у	z		
Patients > controls					
Inferior temporal gyrus	±33	6	-39	24	4.2707
Inferior frontal gyrus	±21	33	-24	44	4.2388
Posterior cingulate cortex	±9	-54	24	78	4.3927
Postcentral gyrus	±36	-27	42	76	4.1915

VMHC, voxel-mirrored homotopic connectivity; MNI, Montreal Neurological Institute. $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 3}}\xspace$] Discriminate the patients from the controls by using the VMHC values of a single region with the SVM method.

Brain regions	Sensitivity	Specificity	Accuracy
Inferior frontal gyrus	79.17% (19/24)	75.00% (18/24)	77.08% (37/48)
Inferior temporal gyrus	62.50% (15/24)	87.50% (21/24)	75.00% (36/48)
Postcentral gyrus	58.33% (14/24)	91.67% (22/24)	75.00% (36/48)
Posterior cingulate cortex	70.83% (17/24)	83.33% (20/24)	77.08% (37/48)

VMHC, voxel-mirrored homotopic connectivity; SVM, support vector machines.



FIGURE 2 Visualization of classification by support vector machine (SVM) using the combination of the VMHC values in the Inferior Frontal Gyrus and Posterior Cingulate Cortex. Left: SVM parameters selection result (3D visualization) [Grid Search Method]: Best c = 0.70711; Best g = 0.088388; Right: the visualization of classification with a combination of the VMHC values in the Inferior Frontal Gyrus and Posterior Cingulate Cortex.



occipital medial projection (Baleydier and Mauguiere, 1980). A bidirectional connection exists between the pulvinar thalamus and the secondary sensory cortex area (Brodmann areas 37, 39, and 40). The joint fibers connect to the ipsilateral occipital lobe, temporal lobe, frontal lobe, and contralateral brain region. An abnormal homozygous connection was found in the posterior cingulate cortex. This result suggested an abnormal loop between the posterior cingulate cortex and the thalamus and secondary sensory cortex. The posterior cingulate cortex is the intermediate connector between the two hemispheres. Moreover, the bilateral cerebral hemispheres are asymmetric. These findings suggest that the abovementioned changes may be compensatory reactions to the cortical center. Furthermore, the posterior cingulate cortex is an important node as a static state of DMN and might affect the functions and related connections of DMN. Damage in the bilateral temporal lobe

of the monkey brain resulted in the degeneration of the fiber that connects the posterior cingulate cortex and the temporal lobe (Papez, 1995). In addition, the temporal gyrus is relevant to the information integration of vision. A study that experimented on color discrimination and visual contrast perception has demonstrated that the visual impairment of patients with BSP was not dependent on the severity of the disease or the course of the disease (Buttner et al., 1999). In the present study, increased VMHC values were found in the posterior cingulate cortex and inferior temporal gyrus, and these values suggested that patients with BSP might have abnormal visual-spatial sensory integration. However, whether or not the posterior cingulate cortex and inferior temporal gyrus are the exact key points of the visual spatial sensory integration remains unclear. The question needs to be confirmed by animal experiments. Our results provide evidence for the establishment of animal models in the future.

No correlation was found between SAS or SDS scores and increased VMHC values in the patients. Three of the 24 patients with BSP were diagnosed with depression in this study. This finding indicated the higher morbidity of depression in patients with BSP than in the normal population (The morbidity of depression in the normal population was approximately 2-6%) (Blazer et al., 1994; Dunlop et al., 2003; Ohayon and Schatzberg, 2003; Gu et al., 2013). Moreover, several scholars inferred that patients with focal dystonia easily suffer from anxiety and depressive symptoms (Voon et al., 2010). SAS and SDS are self-rating scales which might be affected by some confounders, such as educational levels, intelligence, illness duration, and social environment. No correlation was found between abnormal VMHC and anxiety and depression of BSP, which is consistent with a previous study (Stamelou et al., 2012). Furthermore, no correlation was found between abnormal VMHC and the course of disease and severity degrees of BSP symptoms. In previous studies, no difference was found in the age and severity of dystonia between patients with BSP with or without mood disorders (Fabbrini et al., 2010). This phenomenon suggested that mood disorders were not a direct response to focal dystonia (Lencer et al., 2009; Horovitz et al., 2012). Thus, patients with BSP may suffer from anxiety and depression, but these conditions do not interfere with the evolution of the disease. Previous studies reported that changes in the gray matter volume in patients with BSP were not related to illness duration (Martino et al., 2011; Horovitz et al., 2012) and severity degree (Martino et al., 2011) of BSP symptoms. However, another study has shown that abnormal gray matter density in patients with BSP was related to the course of disease (Suzuki et al., 2011). The conflicting results may be due to abnormal sensory motor plasticity (Abbruzzese and Berardelli, 2011) and neuronal remodeling uncertainty (Opavsky et al., 2006).

SVM analyses showed that the VMHC values in one single brain region could not discriminate patients with BSP from healthy controls with optimal sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy, contrary to a combination of two brain regions with high sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy. Meanwhile, the specificity was particularly remarkable, because every healthy control was correctly classified. Therefore, the combination of high VMHC values in the inferior frontal gyrus and posterior cingulate cortex, as well as in the inferior temporal gyrus and postcentral gyrus, may serve as a potential image marker to distinguish the patients with BSP from healthy controls. Our report is consistent with those of fMRI studies in patients with schizophrenia (Li et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018). Therefore, early detection and improved accuracy of the diagnosis in patients with BSP may be achieved based on the fMRI imaging using the combination of inferior frontal gyrus and posterior cingulate cortex or the inferior temporal gyrus and postcentral gyrus.

This study has several limitations. Patients with BSP demonstrate a wide spectrum of symptoms with different severity degrees and illness durations. However, stratified analysis was

not performed because of the small sample size. More patients should be recruited to confirm the present report. We will use stratified analysis to study the relationship between abnormal VMHC values and the symptoms or course of disease. Then, whether or not connection abnormality is a fundamental change or compensatory performance of BSP will be confirmed. The VMHC method reflects the synchrony in patterns of spontaneous activity between homotopic regions in each hemisphere and does not fully reflect the functional state of the whole brain. Therefore, we can simultaneously employ the regional homogeneity method to analyze local consistency changes in the whole brain regions.

CONCLUSION

Abnormalities of BSP were found in the inferior temporal gyrus, interior frontal gyrus, posterior cingulate cortex, and post-central gyrus. The results suggested that those related brain areas may be good candidate regions to explore the nature of BSP and highlight the significance of sensory integration and DMN in the pathophysiology of the disorder. Moreover, a combination of high VMHC values in two brain areas can serve as a potential image marker to distinguish patients with BSP from healthy controls.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University. The protocol was approved by the the Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SL and WG designed the study. JW, RY, SW, LY, HL, QY, YL, YQ, JT, and CQ collected the original imaging data. WG, JW, and SW managed and analyzed the imaging data. JW and SW wrote the first draft of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by grants from the National Key R&D Program of China (2016YFC1307100), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Nos. 81571310 and 81771447), and the Guangxi Appropriate Technology for Medical and Health Research and Development Project (Grant No. S201415-05).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all individuals who served as the study participants.

REFERENCES

- Abbruzzese, G., and Berardelli, A. (2011). Further progress in understanding the pathophysiology of primary dystonia. *Mov. Disord.* 26, 1185–1186. doi: 10.1002/mds.23707
- Alexander, G. E., and Crutcher, M. D. (1990). Functional architecture of basal ganglia circuits: neural substrates of parallel processing. *Trends Neurosci.* 13, 266–271. doi: 10.1016/0166-2236(90)90107-L
- Anderson, J. S., Druzgal, T. J., Froehlich, A., Dubray, M. B., Lange, N., Alexander, A. L., et al. (2011). Decreased interhemispheric functional connectivity in autism. *Cereb. Cortex* 21, 1134–1146. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhq190
- Baker, R. S., Andersen, A. H., Morecraft, R. J., and Smith, C. D. (2003). A functional magnetic resonance imaging study in patients with benign essential blepharospasm. J. Neuroophthalmol. 23, 11–15. doi: 10.1097/ 00041327-200303000-00003
- Baleydier, C., and Mauguiere, F. (1980). The duality of the cingulate gyrus in monkey. Neuroanatomical study and functional hypothesis. *Brain* 103, 525–554. doi: 10.1093/brain/103.3.525
- Bedarf, J. R., Kebir, S., Michelis, J. P., Wabbels, B., and Paus, S. (2017). Depression in blepharospasm: a question of facial feedback? *Neuropsychiatr. Disease Treat.* 13, 1861–1865. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S141066
- Biswal, B., Yetkin, F. Z., Haughton, V. M., and Hyde, J. S. (1995). Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo-planar MRI. *Magn. Reson. Med.* 34, 537–541. doi: 10.1002/mrm.1910340409
- Biuk, D., Karin, A. A., Matic, S., Barac, J., Benasic, T., and Stiglmayer, N. (2013). Quality of life in patients with blepharospasm. *Coll. Antropol.* 37, 29–33.
- Blazer, D. G., Kessler, R. C., Mcgonagle, K. A., and Swartz, M. S. (1994). The prevalence and distribution of major depression in a national community sample: the National Comorbidity Survey. Am. J. Psychiatry 151, 979–986. doi: 10.1176/ajp.151.7.979
- Buttner, T., Kuhn, W., Dietz, M., Muller, T., Postert, T., Przuntek, H., et al. (1999). Impaired visual function in focal idiopathic dystonia. *Eur. Neurol.* 41, 94–98. doi: 10.1159/00008010
- Chang, C.-C., and Lin, C.-J. (2011). LIBSVM: a library for support vector machines. ACM Trans. Intell. Syst. Technol. 2, 1–27. doi: 10.1145/1961189.1961199
- Defazio, G., Hallett, M., Jinnah, H. A., and Berardelli, A. (2013). Development and validation of a clinical guideline for diagnosing blepharospasm. *Neurology* 81, 236–240. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31829bfdf6
- Dunlop, D. D., Song, J., Lyons, J. S., Manheim, L. M., and Chang, R. W. (2003). Racial/ethnic differences in rates of depression among preretirement adults. *Am. J. Public Health* 93, 1945–1952. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.93.11.1945
- Esmaeli-Gutstein, B., Nahmias, C., Thompson, M., Kazdan, M., and Harvey, J. (1999). Positron emission tomography in patients with benign essential blepharospasm. *Ophthalmic Plast. Reconstr. Surg.* 15, 23–27. doi: 10.1097/00002341-199901000-00006
- Etgen, T., Muhlau, M., Gaser, C., and Sander, D. (2006). Bilateral grey-matter increase in the putamen in primary blepharospasm. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 77, 1017–1020. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2005.087148
- Fabbrini, G., Berardelli, I., Moretti, G., Pasquini, M., Bloise, M., Colosimo, C., et al. (2010). Psychiatric disorders in adult-onset focal dystonia: a case-control study. *Mov. Disord.* 25, 459–465. doi: 10.1002/mds.22983
- Federico, F., Simone, I. L., Lucivero, V., Defazio, G., De Salvia, R., Mezzapesa, D. M., et al. (1998). Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy in primary blepharospasm. *Neurology* 51, 892–895. doi: 10.1212/WNL.51.3.892
- Fransson, P. (2006). How default is the default mode of brain function? Further evidence from intrinsic BOLD signal fluctuations. *Neuropsychologia* 44, 2836–2845. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2006.06.017
- Gomez-Wong, E., Marti, M. J., Tolosa, E., and Valls-Sole, J. (1998). Sensory modulation of the blink reflex in patients with blepharospasm. Arch. Neurol. 55, 1233–1237. doi: 10.1001/archneur.55.9.1233
- Greene, P. E., and Bressman, S. (1998). Exteroceptive and interoceptive stimuli in dystonia. Mov. Disord. 13, 549–551. doi: 10.1002/mds.870130329
- Gu, L., Xie, J., Long, J., Chen, Q., Chen, Q., Pan, R., et al. (2013). Epidemiology of major depressive disorder in mainland china: a systematic review. *PLoS One* 8:e65356. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0065356
- Guo, W., Liu, F., Chen, J., Wu, R., Li, L., Zhang, Z., et al. (2017a). Treatment effects of olanzapine on homotopic connectivity in drug-free schizophrenia at rest. *World J. Biol. Psychiatry* 1–9. doi: 10.1080/15622975.2017.1346280

- Guo, W., Liu, F., Chen, J., Wu, R., Li, L., Zhang, Z., et al. (2017b). Familybased case-control study of homotopic connectivity in first-episode, drug-naive schizophrenia at rest. *Sci Rep.* 7:43312. doi: 10.1038/srep43312
- Guo, W., Jiang, J., Xiao, C., Zhang, Z., Zhang, J., Yu, L., et al. (2014a). Decreased resting-state interhemispheric functional connectivity in unaffected siblings of schizophrenia patients. *Schizophr. Res.* 152, 170–175. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013. 11.030
- Guo, W., Xiao, C., Liu, G., Wooderson, S. C., Zhang, Z., Zhang, J., et al. (2014b). Decreased resting-state interhemispheric coordination in first-episode, drugnaive paranoid schizophrenia. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 48, 14–19. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2013.09.012
- Guo, W., Liu, F., Dai, Y., Jiang, M., Zhang, J., Yu, L., et al. (2013a). Decreased interhemispheric resting-state functional connectivity in first-episode, drugnaive major depressive disorder. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 41, 24–29. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.11.003
- Guo, W., Liu, F., Xue, Z., Gao, K., Liu, Z., Xiao, C., et al. (2013b). Decreased interhemispheric coordination in treatment-resistant depression: a resting-state fMRI study. *PLoS One* 8:e71368. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071368
- Hallett, M. (2002). Blepharospasm: recent advances. *Neurology* 59, 1306–1312. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000027361.73814.0E
- Hallett, M., Evinger, C., Jankovic, J., and Stacy, M. (2008). Update on blepharospasm: report from the BEBRF International Workshop. *Neurology* 71, 1275–1282. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000327601.46315.85
- Hoptman, M. J., Zuo, X. N., D'angelo, D., Mauro, C. J., Butler, P. D., Milham, M. P., et al. (2012). Decreased interhemispheric coordination in schizophrenia: a resting state fMRI study. *Schizophr. Res.* 141, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012. 07.027
- Horovitz, S. G., Ford, A., Najee-Ullah, M. A., Ostuni, J. L., and Hallett, M. (2012). Anatomical correlates of blepharospasm. *Transl. Neurodegener.* 1:12. doi: 10.1186/2047-9158-1-12
- Hu, X., Zhang, J., Jiang, X., Zhou, C., Wei, L., Yin, X., et al. (2015). Decreased interhemispheric functional connectivity in subtypes of Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurol.* 262, 760–767. doi: 10.1007/s00415-014-7627-x
- Huang, X.-F., Zhu, M.-R., Shan, P., Pei, C.-H., Liang, Z.-H., Zhou, H.-L., et al. (2017). Multiple neural networks malfunction in primary blepharospasm: an independent components analysis. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 11:235. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2017.00235
- Jochim, A., Li, Y., Gora-Stahlberg, G., Mantel, T., Berndt, M., Castrop, F., et al. (2018). Altered functional connectivity in blepharospasm/orofacial dystonia. *Brain Behav.* 8:e00894. doi: 10.1002/brb3.894
- Kelley, R., Flouty, O., Emmons, E. B., Kim, Y., Kingyon, J., Wessel, J. R., et al. (2018). A human prefrontal-subthalamic circuit for cognitive control. *Brain* 141, 205–216. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx300
- Lencer, R., Steinlechner, S., Stahlberg, J., Rehling, H., Orth, M., Baeumer, T., et al. (2009). Primary focal dystonia: evidence for distinct neuropsychiatric and personality profiles. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 80, 1176–1179. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2008.170191
- Li, R. R., Lyu, H. L., Liu, F., Lian, N., Wu, R. R., Zhao, J. P., et al. (2018). Altered functional connectivity strength and its correlations with cognitive function in subjects with ultra-high risk for psychosis at rest. *CNS Neurosci. Ther.* doi: 10.1111/cns.12865 [Epub ahead of print].
- Luo, C., Guo, X., Song, W., Zhao, B., Cao, B., Yang, J., et al. (2015). Decreased resting-state interhemispheric functional connectivity in parkinson's disease. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2015:692684. doi: 10.1155/2015/692684
- Martino, D., Di Giorgio, A., D'ambrosio, E., Popolizio, T., Macerollo, A., Livrea, P., et al. (2011). Cortical gray matter changes in primary blepharospasm: a voxelbased morphometry study. *Mov. Disord.* 26, 1907–1912. doi: 10.1002/mds. 23724
- Martino, D., Liuzzi, D., Macerollo, A., Aniello, M. S., Livrea, P., and Defazio, G. (2010). The phenomenology of the geste antagoniste in primary blepharospasm and cervical dystonia. *Mov. Disord.* 25, 407–412. doi: 10.1002/mds.23011
- Muller, J., Kemmler, G., Wissel, J., Schneider, A., Voller, B., Grossmann, J., et al. (2002). The impact of blepharospasm and cervical dystonia on health-related quality of life and depression. *J. Neurol.* 249, 842–846. doi: 10.1007/s00415-002-0733-1
- Ohayon, M. M., and Schatzberg, A. F. (2003). Using chronic pain to predict depressive morbidity in the general population. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 60, 39–47. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.60.1.39

- Okada, K., Rogalsky, C., O'grady, L., Hanaumi, L., Bellugi, U., Corina, D., et al. (2016). An fMRI study of perception and action in deaf signers. *Neuropsychologia* 82, 179–188. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.01.015
- Opavsky, R., Hlustik, P., and Kanovsky, P. (2006). Cortical plasticity and its implications for focal hand dystonia. *Biomed. Pap. Med. Fac. Univ. Palacky Olomouc Czech. Repub.* 150, 223–226. doi: 10.5507/bp.2006.031
- Papez, J. W. (1995). A proposed mechanism of emotion. 1937. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 7, 103–112. doi: 10.1176/jnp.7.1.103
- Patel, N., Jankovic, J., and Hallett, M. (2014). Sensory aspects of movement disorders. *Lancet Neurol.* 13, 100–112. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70213-8
- Perlmutter, J. S., Stambuk, M. K., Markham, J., Black, K. J., Mcgee-Minnich, L., Jankovic, J., et al. (1997). Decreased [18F]spiperone binding in putamen in idiopathic focal dystonia. J. Neurosci. 17, 843–850. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 17-02-00843.1997
- Power, J. D., Barnes, K. A., Snyder, A. Z., Schlaggar, B. L., and Petersen, S. E. (2012). Spurious but systematic correlations in functional connectivity MRI networks arise from subject motion. *Neuroimage* 59, 2142–2154. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2011.10.018
- Raichle, M. E., Macleod, A. M., Snyder, A. Z., Powers, W. J., Gusnard, D. A., and Shulman, G. L. (2001). A default mode of brain function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 98, 676–682. doi: 10.1073/pnas.98.2.676
- Ramos, V. F., Karp, B. I., and Hallett, M. (2014). Tricks in dystonia: ordering the complexity. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 85, 987–993. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2013-306971
- Stamelou, M., Edwards, M. J., Hallett, M., and Bhatia, K. P. (2012). The non-motor syndrome of primary dystonia: clinical and pathophysiological implications. *Brain* 135, 1668–1681. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr224
- Stark, D. E., Margulies, D. S., Shehzad, Z. E., Reiss, P., Kelly, A. M., Uddin, L. Q., et al. (2008). Regional variation in interhemispheric coordination of intrinsic hemodynamic fluctuations. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 13754–13764. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.4544-08.2008
- Steeves, T. D., Day, L., Dykeman, J., Jette, N., and Pringsheim, T. (2012). The prevalence of primary dystonia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mov. Disord.* 27, 1789–1796. doi: 10.1002/mds.25244
- Su, Q., Yao, D., Jiang, M., Liu, F., Long, L., Dai, Y., et al. (2016). Decreased interhemispheric functional connectivity in insula and angular gyrus/supramarginal gyrus: significant findings in first-episode, drug-naive somatization disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* 248, 48–54. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns. 2016.01.008
- Suzuki, Y., Kiyosawa, M., Wakakura, M., Mochizuki, M., and Ishii, K. (2011). Gray matter density increase in the primary sensorimotor cortex in long-term essential blepharospasm. *Neuroimage* 56, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011. 01.081

- Valls-Sole, J., and Defazio, G. (2016). Blepharospasm: update on epidemiology, clinical aspects, and pathophysiology. *Front. Neurol.* 7:45. doi: 10.3389/fneur. 2016.00045
- Voon, V., Butler, T. R., Ekanayake, V., Gallea, C., Ameli, R., Murphy, D. L., et al. (2010). Psychiatric symptoms associated with focal hand dystonia. *Mov. Disord.* 25, 2249–2252. doi: 10.1002/mds.23250
- Wang, S., Zhan, Y., Zhang, Y., Lyu, L., Lyu, H., Wang, G., et al. (2018). Abnormal long- and short-range functional connectivity in adolescent-onset schizophrenia patients: a resting-state fMRI study. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 81, 445–451. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.08.012
- Wider, C., Ghika, J., Bogousslavsky, J., and Vingerhoets, F. (2004). Segmental dystonia induced by wearing glasses with a ribbon: an unusual case of a reverse sensory geste. *Mov. Disord.* 19, 966–967.
- Yan, C. G., Wang, X. D., Zuo, X. N., and Zang, Y. F. (2016). DPABI: data processing & analysis for (resting-state) brain imaging. *Neuroinformatics* 14, 339–351. doi: 10.1007/s12021-016-9299-4
- Yang, J., Luo, C., Song, W., Chen, Q., Chen, K., Chen, X., et al. (2013). Altered regional spontaneous neuronal activity in blepharospasm: a resting state fMRI study. J. Neurol. 260, 2754–2760. doi: 10.1007/s00415-013-7042-8
- Yang, J., Shao, N., Song, W., Wei, Q., Ou, R., Wu, Y., et al. (2017). Nonmotor symptoms in primary adult-onset cervical dystonia and blepharospasm. *Brain Behav.* 7:e00592. doi: 10.1002/brb3.592
- Zhou, B., Wang, J., Huang, Y., Yang, Y., Gong, Q., and Zhou, D. (2013). A resting state functional magnetic resonance imaging study of patients with benign essential blepharospasm. J. Neuroophthalmol. 33, 235–240. doi: 10.1097/WNO. 0b013e31828f69e5
- Zuo, X. N., Kelly, C., Di Martino, A., Mennes, M., Margulies, D. S., Bangaru, S., et al. (2010). Growing together and growing apart: regional and sex differences in the lifespan developmental trajectories of functional homotopy. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 15034–15043. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2612-10.2010

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Wei, Wei, Yang, Yang, Yin, Li, Qin, Lei, Qin, Tang, Luo and Guo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Gene Expression in the Hippocampus in a Rat Model of Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder After Treatment With Baixiangdan Capsules

Sheng Wei^{1,2†}, Peng Sun^{1†}, Yinghui Guo^{1†}, Jingxuan Chen^{1,2}, Jieqiong Wang¹, Chunhong Song¹, Zifa Li², Ling Xue^{1*} and Mingqi Qiao^{1*}

¹ Lab of Traditional Chinese Medicine Classical Theory, Ministry of Education, Shandong University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Jinan, China, ² Behavioral Phenotyping Core Facility, Shandong University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Jinan, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fang Pan, Shandong University, China

Reviewed by:

XueGang Sun, Southern Medical University, China Di Zhao, Jiangsu Provincial Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine, China

*Correspondence:

Mingqi Qiao qmingqi@163.com Ling Xue xxueling@163.com [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 05 June 2018 Accepted: 08 October 2018 Published: 13 November 2018

Citation:

Wei S, Sun P, Guo Y, Chen J, Wang J, Song C, Li Z, Xue L and Qiao M (2018) Gene Expression in the Hippocampus in a Rat Model of Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder After Treatment With Baixiangdan Capsules. Front. Psychol. 9:2065. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02065 **Objective:** To explore the targets, signal regulatory networks and mechanisms involved in Baixiangdan (BXD) capsule regulation of premenstrual dysphoric disorder (PMDD) at the gene transcription level, since the etiology and pathogenesis of PMDD are not well understood.

Methods: The PMDD rat model was prepared using the resident-intruder paradigm. The rats were tested for aggressive behavior, and those with scores in the lowest 30% were used as controls, while rats with scores in the highest 30% were divided into a PMDD model group, BXD administration group and fluoxetine administration group, which were evaluated with open-field tests and aggressive behavior tests. We also analyzed gene expression profiles in the hippocampus for each group, and verified differential expression of genes by real-time PCR.

Results: Before and after BXD or fluoxetine administration, scores in the open-field test exhibited no significant differences. The aggressive behavior of the PMDD model rats was improved to a degree after administration of both substances. Gene chip data indicated that 715 genes were differentially expressed in the control and BXD groups. Other group-to-group comparisons exhibited smaller numbers of differentially expressed genes. The effective targets of both drugs included the *Htr2c, Cdh3, Serpinb1a, Ace, Trpv4, Cacna1a, Mapk13, Mapk8, Cyp2c13, and Htr1a* genes. The results of real-time PCR tests were in accordance with the gene chip data. Based on the target genes and signaling pathway network analysis, we have elaborated the impact and likely mechanism of BXD in treating PMDD and premenstrual irritability.

Conclusion: Our work contributes to the understanding of PMDD pathogenesis and the mechanisms of BXD treatment. We speculate that the differentially expressed genes could participate in neuroactive ligand-receptor interactions, mitogen-activated protein kinase, calcium, and gamma-aminobutyric acid signal transduction.

Keywords: premenstrual dysphoric disorder, gene chip, Baixiangdan, differentially expressed genes, gene ontology, KEGG, signal pathways, traditional Chinese medicine

16

INTRODUCTION

Most women of childbearing age experience premenstrual syndrome (PMS), which is caused by an increase or decrease in ovarian steroids during ovulation (Rapkin and Winer, 2008). The symptoms include emotional problems such as irritability, depression, anxiety, emotional instability, anhedonia, and lassitude as well as physical problems such as breast tenderness, weight gain, distension, muscle and joint pain, headache, and limb edema (Baker and O'Brien, 2012). Recent research in China found that 15-20% of women of childbearing age experienced PMS, while 3-8% women in this age group showed the features of premenstrual dysphoric disorder (PMDD) (O'Brien et al., 2007). The ability to work or study, and the quality of life of women can be severely affected by the resulting emotional problems and physical discomfort, and hence, there is a need for fundamental research to clarify the etiology and pathogenesis of PMDD. In this study, we will not differentiate between PMS and PMDD, since PMDD is a serious form of PMS with emotional problems that can be severe and disabling.

The hippocampus is an important part of the limbic system (Tanaka et al., 1992), which participates in regulating physiological functions such as emotion (Guzman-Velez et al., 2016), learning and memory (Zhang et al., 2013; Ferbinteanu, 2016), hormonal responses, and immunity (Lin et al., 2016; Jo et al., 2017). The hippocampus is especially vulnerable to chronic stress, which can deleteriously affect its function and structure. As an important part of the system regulating autonomic nervous activity, the hippocampus probably plays a role in cognitive disorders caused by autonomic dysfunction (Garcia et al., 2010), but that role is not yet well understood. Magnetic resonance imaging studies have found that depression is associated with atrophy and functional impairment in the hippocampus (Czéh et al., 2001). The therapeutic effects of antidepressants are closely related to their effects on the part of the hippocampus called the dentate gyrus (Santarelli et al., 2003). Therefore, the hippocampus is a natural target for investigation of the neural mechanisms involved in PMS/PMDD.

The anti-depressive effects of the widely used selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, fluoxetine, rely on its ability to inhibit the 5-HT transporter and thereby reduce reuptake of 5-HT at the presynaptic membrane, consequently prolonging and enhancing the effects of 5-HT (Francois et al., 2003; Sarkisova and Folomkina, 2010). Baixiangdan (BXD) is a novel capsule formulation combining several plant extracts that have been used in traditional Chinese medicine to treat PMS/PMDD. Analytical studies have shown that the main active components of BXD are paeoniflorin, paeonol, and alpha-cyperone (Peng et al., 2010; Zhou et al., 2011; Xie et al., 2015), which may have antipyretic, anti-inflammatory, analgesic, and neuroprotective functions (Lee et al., 2008; Nizamutdinova et al., 2008). Both fluoxetine and BXD can stably and effectively treat PMS/PMDD, but the neural effects of BXD that underlie these actions are unclear. To clarify this question, this paper adopts gene chip technology to identify differentially expressed genes in a rat model of PMS/PMDD based on the widely recognized resident-intruder paradigm (Czéh et al., 2001; Schneider and Popik, 2007b). The goal was to

identify relevant signal regulatory pathways and quantify the transcription level of differentially expressed genes, screened by real-time fluorescence quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) technology.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

This study used 180 SPF female, healthy, non-pregnant Wistar rats, 6–8 weeks old and with a body mass of 120–140 g, supplied by Beijing Vital River Laboratory Animal Technology Co., Ltd., with production license number SCXK (Jing) 2012-0001. Animal experiments were performed in accordance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, formulated by the National Institutes of Health, United States, and were approved by the Institutional Committee for Animal Care and Use of Shandong University of Traditional Chinese Medicine (Approval ID: DWSY201404013).

The living environment featured constant temperature and humidity ($23 \pm 3^{\circ}$ C, $60 \pm 5\%$ relative humidity), 12 h/12 h light-dark cycle with day-night reversal (lights on at 20:00, lights off at 8:00). Except during the experimental period, they could freely consume food and water. All experimental operations were conducted under dim light (<28 lux) (Rygula et al., 2006).

Spayed female rats (intruders) were kept in another lab (with the same feeding conditions as the experimental rats), to ensure that the intruders and residents were unfamiliar with each other before the aggressive behavior test. In the aggressive behavior test, the intruders were temporarily placed into the cages of the residents.

Experimental Animal Screening

The estrous cycle of the rat is divided into proestrus, estrus, metestrus and diestrus phases. The proestrus and estrus phases constitute the receptive phases, while metestrus and diestrus constitute the non-receptive phases. The determination of the phase of the estrous cycle in this experiment was made according to the presence of keratinocytes, nuclear epithelial cells, and leucocytes as well as their proportions, examined in vaginal smears under a microscope (Marcondes et al., 2002). Except for the rats excluded from experiments during the feeding period, vaginal smearing was conducted every day from 13:00 to 14:00 to check whether the estrous cycle of the rats was regular.

Grouping

After 9 days of vaginal smear testing, rats with 4 days estrous cycles were selected as quasi-residents for the aggressive behavior test. Rats with other cycles were removed and spayed for later use as intruders. During the period in which the intruders recovered from the spaying surgery, daily vaginal smearing was conducted on the quasi-residents, and rats with irregular cycles were removed whenever they were detected. After 2 weeks, when the wounds of the intruders had healed, the aggressive behavior test and open field test (baseline phase data collection) were conducted on all residents in diestrus 1 (the 2nd day of non-receptivity). For model creation, the aggressive behavior

test scores of all residents were arranged in high-to-low order by analyzing the resident-intruder experiment videos. The rats with scores within the top 30% were divided randomly into three groups, the PMDD model group (PMDD), fluoxetine intervention group (FXT), and BXD intervention group (BXD), while those with scores within the bottom 30% were used as the control group (CTRL).

Drugs

Baixiangdan capsules were obtained from the Qingdao Haichuan Center for Innovative Biomedical Research (Qingdao, China, batch number: 20071020). Fluoxetine dispersible tablets were obtained from Eli Lilly and Company (Suzhou, China, batch number: H20050463).

Drug administration was performed during the diestrus 1 phase of the estrous cycle, for 5 days at a dosage of 1 mL of fluid per 100 g of body weight. The drugs were administered intragastrically once each afternoon at 14:00. For the FXT and BXD intervention group, fluoxetine capsules and BXD capsules were used with dosages of 2.7 and 0.2 g/kg/day, respectively, while for the PMDD model group and control group, pure water of the same volume was given.

Behavioral Experiments

Behavioral data were collected at baseline and after the drug administration interventions. Given that only rats with 4 days estrous cycle were selected for the experiment, behavioral data collection was always performed at diestrus 1.

The open field test (Katz et al., 1981) was conducted by placing the rats in an open field box (Xinruan XR-XZ301, Shanghai, China) with dimensions 50 cm \times 50 cm \times 50 cm. The animal behavior analysis system XR-Xmaze (Xinruan) was used for data collection. The specific steps were as follows: the operator held the front third part of the rat's tail and gently placed it in the central area of the open field box; then the observer began to observe and record the motion traces, break times, central grid stopping time, and number of fecal pellets dropped within 180 s. To minimize possible olfactory confounds, after each rat completed the test, the open field box was wiped clean with 75% ethyl alcohol. When the box was completely dry, data collection for the next rat commenced. In this experiment, the experimenters made an effort to grasp and hold the rats as gently as possible, to minimize the resulting stress.

The aggressive behavior test was conducted from 14:30 to 17:30 in the home environment of the residents. Because of the day-night reversal, this timeframe corresponded to the active part of the day for the rats. The specific steps were as follows: after removing the rats that were not to be tested from the cage, the rats and the cage were placed under the camera equipment; after a 15 min adaptation phase, intruders (spayed rats) were placed into the cage for 10 min. After the test, a blinded method was used for evaluation of aggressive behaviors. Three people who were trained together observed the video of each rat, and their observations were checked for consistency (Kappa > 0.95). Two types of aggressive behavior were recorded: frontal attack (springing when the intruder attempted to approach) and side attack (pushing the intruder away by springing from the side

with arched back). The observers recorded scores codifying the reactions of the residents to the intruders, including the number of attacks, attack duration, number of bites, number of mounting events, mounting duration, and piloerection. A composite aggressive behavior score was calculated as follows:

composite aggression (CA) = (number of attacks) + 0.2 \times

(attack duration [s]) + (number of bites) + $0.2 \times$

(mounting duration [s]) + (piloerection) (Albertet al., 1991).

Rat Brain Tissue and RNA Extraction

After decapitating each rat, the operators removed the hippocampus onto an ultra-clean work platform, then immediately placed it in liquid nitrogen for quick freezing, and after 30 min transferred it into a -70° C freezer for storage. In this experiment, all operating instruments, watch glasses, and EP tubes used were sterilized at high temperature after submerging them in diethylpyrocarbonate-treated water overnight. The ultra-clean work platform was scrubbed with diethylpyrocarbonate-treated water and 75% ethyl alcohol, and exposed to UV light to prevent contamination.

Suitably sized (50–100 mg) tissue samples were extracted to be frozen and minced with a biological grinding mill. Then 1 ml of TRIzolTM Reagent (Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States) was added, and RNA was extracted after homogenizing with a bead mill homogenizer. The extracted RNA was stored after passing classical RNA integrity detection and purity detection tests (Vermeulen et al., 2011).

Gene Chip Experiment

Gene chip analysis was performed by Shanghai Kangcheng Biological Co. Ltd. (Shanghai, China). The rat whole genome oligonucleotide chip used in the experiment was synthesized at Agilent (Santa Clara, CA, United States). The genes covered by the rat whole genome expression chip produced by this company exceed 41,000. The probe design is described in various public databases, including Goldenpath, Ensembl, Unigene, Human Genome (Build 33), Refseq, GenBank, etc.

Under standard conditions, marker probes and the highdensity genome chip were hybridized. They were cleaned thereafter, and after spin-drying the slide, the next step of scanning was initiated. Chips in different groups were scanned with an Agilent SureScan gene chip-microarray scanner, to obtain 16-bit tiff files. Agilent Feature Extraction (Version 10.7.3.1) image analysis software was used to analyze the chip images, and to convert the images into a digital format. Finally, GeneSpring GX11.5.1 (software) (Silicon Genetics) was used to conduct standardized processing of initial signal intensity, to obtain the standardized ratio (Cy3/Cy5). *T*-tests were used to compare levels of expression for each gene in each group. In this experiment, genes with P < 0.05 and ratio > 2.0 were considered to be differentially expressed.

Heat map and gene clustering analysis were performed using TIGR MultiExperiment Viewer (MeV) Version 4.1¹. In this

¹http://www.sigenae.org/index.php?id=88

experiment, genes with P < 0.05 and ratio > 2.0 were considered to be differentially expressed.

GO and KEGG Enrichment Analysis

Gene Ontology-TermFinder (Boyle et al., 2004) was used to identify Gene Ontology (GO) terms that annotate the list of enriched genes with significant *P*-values less than 0.05^2 . We used in-house scripts to locate information on differentially expressed genes in Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG), a collection of databases dealing with genomes, biological pathways, diseases, drugs, and chemical substances³.

Real-Time Fluorogenic Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction

The primers used in RT-PCR are listed in **Table 1**. Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) transcription levels were used as an internal reference. A Thermo Scientific RevertAid First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, United States) was used for reverse transcription, and 5 μ g of RNA was used for each sample. RT-qPCR Master Mix (Toyobo Co., Ltd., Osaka, Japan) was used for RT-qPCR, which was run on an ABI 7500 fast real-time fluorogenic quantitative RT-PCR system (Life Technologies, Thermo Fisher Scientific).

The RT-qPCR experimental data was analyzed using ABI 7900 system SDS software (Life Technologies, Thermo Fisher Scientific), and relative quantitative analysis was conducted by the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). An index quantifying expression difference (multiple) from the control was calculated by the following formulas.

Relative quantity (RQ) = $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ and $\Delta\Delta CT = (C_{T1} - C_{T2}) - (C_{T3} - C_{T4}).$

 C_{T1} and C_{T2} were, respectively, the threshold cycle numbers of target genes and reference genes of experimental samples; C_{T3} and C_{T4} were, respectively, the threshold cycle numbers of target genes and reference genes of control samples. We used samples from the control group (CTRL) as the control samples, with the gene expression level set to the control value 1. Three repeated experiments were conducted for every group of samples, and the average was taken as the result. All tested genes were selected considering gene chip data and previous studies.

Statistics

Graphpad Prism 5.0 software (GPW5-384305-RAG-5235, Graphpad software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, United States) was used to analyze the experimental data. Two-factor analysis of variance was used to compare the groups in the same period of the menstrual cycle before and after drug administration. Singlefactor analysis of variance was used for comparing the groups in TABLE 1 | Primers used in RT-qPCR.

Gene name	Used as	Sequences	Tm
Htr2c	Forward	5'-TTCTTCATCCCGTTGACGATT-3'	54.3°C
Htr2c	Reverse	5'-TCGGTGTGACCTCGAAGTAAC-3'	57.8°C
Htr2c	Probe	5'-CGATCTACGTCCTGCGCCGTC-3'	63.3°C
Cdh3	Forward	5'-GACAGTGACCGATCTGGATTCC-3'	57.2°C
Cdh3	Reverse	5'-GGTGAAATGATCCCCATCGT-3'	54.9°C
Cdh3	Probe	5'-CCAACTCACCGGCATGGCGTG-3'	63.7°C
Serpinb1a	Forward	5'-TGGGTGTGGTGGACAGCAT-3'	59.5°C
Serpinb1a	Reverse	5'-CTCCCACATCCCCTTGAAGTAG-3'	56.9°C
Serpinb1a	Probe	5'-ACCAAACTTGTGCTGGTGAACGCCA-3'	63.5°C
Ace	Forward	5'-GGGAGAACATTTACGACATGGTAGT-3'	56.5°C
Ace	Reverse	5'-TCCAGCCCTTCTGTACCATTG-3'	58.3°C
Ace	Probe	5'-CCCGGACAAACCCAACCTCGATGT-3'	63.3°C
Trpv4	Forward	5'-ATCCGACGGGAGGTGACA-3'	58.4°C
Trpv4	Reverse	5'-CGTAGGCCCAGTCCTTGAAC-3'	57.8°C
Trpv4	Probe	5'-AGGACACACGGCACCTGTCTCGC-3'	65.5°C
Cacna1a	Forward	5'-GGCATGGTGTTCTCCATCTACTT-3'	56.8°C
Cacna1a	Reverse	5'-CCGCGATAGCTAAGAACACGT-3'	57.3°C
Cacna1a	Probe	5'-CGTCCTCACCCTCTTCGGGAACTACAC-3'	63.5°C
Mapk8	Forward	5'-CCGTACATCAACGTCTGGTATGAT-3'	56.5°C
Mapk8	Reverse	5'-CTCCCTTTCATCTAACTGCTTGTC-3'	56.7°C
Mapk8	Probe	5'-TCAGAAGCAGAGGCCCCACCACC-3'	65.4°C
Mapk13	Forward	5'- GGCGGCCAAATCCTACAT-3'	55.7°C
Mapk13	Reverse	5'-GGGAAAAGCTGTGTGAAATCCT-3'	55.6°C
Mapk13	Probe	5'-AGTCCCTGCCCAGAGCCCCA-3'	67.9°C
Cyp2c13	Forward	5'-GACACCGCAGCCCCTCTAT-3'	59.5°C
Cyp2c13	Reverse	5'-TCTCTGAACCTCGTGGACCAT-3'	57.7°C
Cyp2c13	Probe	5'-AGGAGCCACATGCCCTACACAAATGC-3'	63.3°C
Htr1a	Forward	5'-TGTTGCTCATGCTGGTTCTCTAC-3'	57.1°C
Htr1a	Reverse	5'-CTGACAGTCTTGCGGATTCG-3'	55.9°C
Htr1a	Probe	5'-CGCATCTTCAGAGCCGCACGCT-3'	64.5°C
GAPDH	Forward	5'-ATCAACGGGAAACCCATCAC-3'	55.3°C
GAPDH	Reverse	5'-GACATACTCAGCACCAGCATCAC-3'	57.8°C
GAPDH	Probe	5'-TCCAGGAGCGAGATCCCGCTAACAT-3'	63.3°C

different periods of the menstrual cycle, with significance level $\alpha = 0.05$.

RESULTS

BXD and Fluoxetine Can Effectively Treat Rats in PMDD Irritability Model

At baseline, before drug administration, the open field test behavioral scores of rats in different groups did not differ significantly (p > 0.05) (**Figure 1A**). After drug administration, the open field test behavioral scores of rats in different groups again did not differ (p > 0.05) (**Figure 1A**), and moreover, the open field test behavioral scores of rats in different groups before and after the administration did not differ either (p > 0.05) (**Figure 1A**).

Before drug administration (baseline), in the aggressive behavior test, some rats showed very different responses to

²http://search.cpan.org/dist/GO-TermFinder/

³http://www.genome.jp/kegg/



FIGURE 1 [Results of behavioral experiments. (A) Total distance (mm) traversed by control group (CTRL, n = 8), premenstrual dysphoric disorder model group (PMDD, n = 9), fluoxetine administration group (FXT, n = 9) and Baixiangdan capsule administration group (BXD, n = 9) in open field test at baseline and after administration. (B) Composite aggression (CA) scores of non-aggressive rats (control group, CTRL, n = 8) and aggressive rats (PMDD, n = 27) in aggressive behavior test at baseline. Aggressive rats included those from the PMDD model group (n = 9), fluoxetine administration group (n = 9) and Baixiangdan capsule administration group (n = 9) and Baixiangdan capsule administration group (n = 9). None of the aggressive rats were given drugs at baseline, and therefore could be treated as equivalent to PMDD model rats for statistical purposes. ***P < 0.001 vs. control group. (C) Composite aggression (CA) scores of the control group (CTRL, n = 8) in aggressive behavior test at baseline and after 5 days. As the control group (PMDD, n = 9), fluoxetine administration group (FXT, n = 9) and Baixiangdan capsule administration group (BXD, n = 9) in aggressive behavior test before and after drug administration group (FXT, n = 9) and Baixiangdan capsule administration group (BXD, n = 9) in aggressive behavior test before and after drug administration. As there was no baseline testing of aggressive behavior test if rats were given drugs or tap water, the time points labeled "before administration" server changed to "Before administration" server P < 0.001 vs. PMDD model group (BXD, n = 9) in aggressive behavior test if rats were given drugs or tap water, the time points labeled "before administration" server P < 0.001 vs. PMDD model group (BXD, n = 9) in aggressive behavior test if rats were given drugs or tap water, the time points labeled "before administration" server P < 0.001 vs. PMDD model group.

intruders from other rats, that is, some were aggressive and some were not (p < 0.001) (**Figure 1B**). After the non-aggressive rats were placed into the control group and fed with pure water for 5 days, the composite aggression scores before and after did not differ significantly (p > 0.05) (**Figure 1C**). As described in the Methods section, the aggressive rats were then divided into the PMDD model group, fluoxetine group, and BXD group, and administered pure water, fluoxetine, and BXD, respectively, for 5 days. The composite aggression scores of the PMDD model group before and after administration did not differ significantly (p > 0.05) (**Figure 1D**), but the composite aggression scores of the fluoxetine group and BXD group both showed significant declines after administration (p < 0.001 and p < 0.001, respectively) (**Figure 1D**). After administration, when the fluoxetine group and BXD group were compared with the PMDD model group, there were again significant declines in the composite aggression scores for both (p < 0.001 and p < 0.001, respectively) (**Figure 1D**).

Results for Differentially Expressed Genes

When the PMDD model group was compared with the control group, the number of differentially expressed genes was 137. When the BXD group was compared with the control group, the number of differentially expressed genes was 715. When the fluoxetine group was compared with the BXD group, the number of differentially expressed genes was 199 (**Table 2**)

Groups	Acronyms	Up-regulated genes	Down-regulated genes	Comments
Control group	CTRL	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.
PMDD model group	PMDD	132	5	P < 0.05 and ratio > 2.0
Fluoxetine administration group	FXT	112	87	
BXD administration group	BXD	284	431	

TABLE 2 | Numbers of differentially expressed genes in each group.

and **Supplementary Materials**). The gap in the number of differentially expressed genes between the two drug treatment groups was very large, suggesting that BXD's mechanism of action against PMS/PMDD is more complex and targets more systems than that of fluoxetine. Besides, the heat maps exhibited a similar tendency, that is, the number of differentially expressed genes between the PMDD model group and fluoxetine group was less than the number of differentially expressed genes between the PMDD model group and BXD group (**Figures 2A,B**). We also found a significant difference in the number of differentially expressed genes between the number of genes between the number of difference in the number of differentially expressed genes between the number of difference in the number of differentially expressed genes between the number of difference in the number of differentially expressed genes between the number of difference in the number of differentially expressed genes between both drug treatment groups (**Figure 2C**).

The GO analysis indicated that the differentially expressed genes might have participated in several molecular, biological, and cellular processes. As a result, the number of differential genes divided according to functional distribution was larger than that of initial differential genes screened. Since the functions of many of the differentially expressed genes are not yet clear, it may also lead to an opposite situation (**Table 3** and **Supplementary Materials**).

The KEGG database was used to conduct an analysis of the signal regulatory pathways that involve the differentially expressed genes. When compared with the BXD group, the signal pathways altered in the fluoxetine group were obviously fewer. In addition, more PMDD irritability-related pathways were affected in the BXD group than in the fluoxetine group, indicating that compared with fluoxetine, the BXD capsules acted on more targets against PMDD. Some genes that were differentially expressed jointly participated in the same signal pathways. For example, when comparing the BXD group and control group, 16 differentially expressed genes were involved in neuroactive ligand-receptor interaction pathways. In addition, 12 differentially expressed genes were involved in the endoplasmic reticulum protein processing pathway and the mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) signal pathway. There were also cases of the same differentially expressed gene participating in several signal regulatory pathways. For example, when the fluoxetine group was compared with the control group, the differentially expressed gene Camk2a (calcium/calmodulin dependent protein kinase II) participated in a total of 13 pathways. Comparison of the BXD group and the model group showed that the differentially expressed genes were related to 34 signal pathways, including 9 differentially expressed genes involved in neuroactive ligand-receptor interaction pathways and 4 genes involved in cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction pathways. The Rt1-Bb (RT1 class II, locus Bb) gene was the gene that was involved in the largest number (15) of signal pathways (Table 4 and Supplementary Materials).

Through analysis of the effects of different drugs in the gene chip results, 20 representative differentially expressed genes with obvious intervention effects related to PMS/PMDD irritability were listed (**Table 5**). Analysis of the signal regulatory pathways affected in the different groups indicated that the pathways related to PMS/PMDD irritability involve olfactory transduction, calcium signaling, cell adhesion, PI3K-Akt signaling, ovarian steroidogenesis, Jak-STAT signaling, neuroactive ligand-receptor interactions, prolactin signaling, extracellular matrix (ECM)receptor interaction, vitamin digestion and absorption, etc. By linking the differentially expressed genes with obvious intervention effects with the listed signal regulatory pathways, differentially expressed genes for signal regulatory pathways can be identified, namely *Htr2c*, *Cdh3*, *Serpinb1a*, *Ace*, *Trpv4*, *Cacna1a*, *Mapk13*, *Mapk8*, *Cyp2c13*, and *Htr1a*.

Comparison of Selected Gene Expression of Hippocampal Tissues in Different Groups

To lower the errors in the RT-PCR experiment, three repetitions were performed for every sample, and in data processing the average CT value for the three amplification curves for every sample was used to calculate the relative quantity. Compared with the control group, the genes *Htr2c, Cdh3, Serpinb1a, Ace,* and *Trpv4* in the hippocampus of rats in the treatment groups showed up-regulated expression; the genes *Cacna1a, Mapk8, Mapk13, Ctp2c13,* and *Htr1a* showed down-regulated expression (**Table 6**). Among the up-regulated genes, when comparing the PMDD model group with the fluoxetine group and BXD group, the expression levels declined to some degree, indicating that the two drugs had treatment effects on PMS/PMDD irritability.

DISCUSSION

PMDD Rat Model

Previously used rat models of PMDD include marble burial (Schneider and Popik, 2007a, 2009), progesterone withdrawal (Andréen et al., 2009), emotional stimulation dominated multifactor continuous modeling induction (Qiao et al., 2017), resident-intruder (Czéh et al., 2001; Schneider and Popik, 2007b), etc. However, according to clinical diagnostic standards for human PMDD patients (American Psychiatric Association, 2000), the phase in which some of these symptoms are manifested corresponds to the luteal phase (non-receptive phase of rats). The resident-intruder method adopted in this study as a PMDD rat model has faced much less controversy, because the С



FIGURE 2 Heat maps and clustering analyses of multiple comparisons. (A) Comparison between the PMDD model group (PMDD, samples including 15_{11} , 17_{11} and 17_{4}) and fluoxetine administration group (FXT, samples including 24_{14} , 18_{8} and 2_{26}). (B) Comparison between the PMDD model group (PMDD, samples including 15_{11} , 17_{11} and 17_{4}) and Baixiangdan administration group (BXD, samples including 24_{22} , 14_{21} and 4_{4}). (C) Comparison between the fluoxetine administration group (FXT, samples including 24_{14} , 18_{8} and 2_{26}) and Baixiangdan administration group (BXD, samples including 24_{21} , 14_{8} and 2_{26}) and Baixiangdan administration group (BXD, samples including 24_{22} , 14_{21} and 4_{4}). P < 0.05 and ratio > 2.0.

expression of animal aggression occurs at the same phase as symptom expression in human PMDD patients. Compared with metestrus and diestrus 2, diestrus 1 yields the most obvious aggressive behaviors of rats. Therefore, in experiments with fluoxetine and BXD intervention, behavioral data during the baseline phase and after drug intervention were collected in diestrus 1.

The estrous cycle of 60-70% of rats is 4-5 days (Marcondes et al., 2002). The selected rats in this experiment were those with 4 days cycles; rats with other cycles were removed. It has been reported that proestrus and estrus last for around 24 h in total, and metestrus, diestrus 1 and diestrus 2 each last for around 24 h (Ho et al., 2001). However, Hubscher et al. (2005) found that proestrus lasted for 12-14 h, estrus lasted for 25-27 h, metestrus lasted for 6-8 h, and diestrus lasted for 55-57 h. For the receptive phase, these two cycles have a gap of almost 12 h. Therefore, in this experiment, rats whose vaginal smear results for leucocytes were (-, +, +, +) or (-, -, +, +) were considered as rats with regular estrous cycles (the ideal status was -, +, +, +). According to research by Ho et al. (2001), about 30-60% of normal injuryfree female rats show no aggressive behaviors during any phase of the estrous cycle. These rats were the non-aggressive ones in this experiment, also referred to as the control group in the following drug intervention experiments. After the aggressive behavior test, rats within the top 30% of aggression scores were equally divided into the PMDD model group, fluoxetine group and BXD group (Schneider and Popik, 2007b). Spaying could reduce aggressive behaviors in female rats, and estrogen and progestin could be given with specific therapies to restore cyclic hormone secretion (Melchior et al., 2004), thus recovering cyclic aggressive behavior. Therefore, spaying was conducted in rats with irregular estrous cycle to erase the regularity and enhance stability, and these rats were then used as intruders in residentintruder experiments.

Possible Action Targets and Mechanism of BXD Capsule Against PMDD Irritability

Research on the anti-depressive effects of fluoxetine has been thorough, and the drug has also been widely applied clinically for PMDD depression (Francois et al., 2003; Sarkisova and Folomkina, 2010). This paper used fluoxetine as a positive control for the effects of BXD capsules in behavioral experiments and the following chip experiment. On the other hand, because there have been few reports on the use of BXD in PMS/PMDD, this paper focuses on the possible targets of BXD and the mechanism by which BXD capsules affect PMDD irritability. Though our behavioral experiments revealed that fluoxetine and BXD had a similar effect on the PMDD model, some studies have shown different effects. Some studies have shown that the active compounds in BXD could ease most of symptoms of PMDD (Lee et al., 2008; Nizamutdinova et al., 2008; Peng et al., 2010; Zhou et al., 2011; Xie et al., 2015), while other studies showed that fluoxetine was mainly to treat PMDD depression (Francois et al., 2003; Sarkisova and Folomkina, 2010; Li et al., 2016), which is only one subtype of PMDD; these results suggest that BXD could be active on multiple targets. Through analysis of the 6 signal regulatory pathways influenced by BXD capsules, we found that BXD can alter PMDD irritability by influencing various intercellular

TABLE 3 | Functions of differentially expressed genes in each group.

Groups	Acronyms	Molecular function	Biological process	Cellular component	Comments
Control group	CTRL	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.
PMDD model group	PMDD	15	111	8	Ratio > 2.0
Fluoxetine administration group	FXT	26	146	5	
BXD administration group	BXD	34	186	25	

TABLE 4 | Regulated and associated signaling pathways in groups.

Groups	Associated signaling pathways			
PMDD vs. CTRL	Olfactory transduction; Calcium signaling pathway; Cell adhesion molecules; PI3K-Akt signaling pathway; Ovarian steroidogenesis; Jak-STAT signaling pathway; Neuroactive ligand-receptor interaction; Prolactin signaling; ECM-receptor interaction; Vitamin digestion and absorption			
FXT vs. CTRL	Steroid hormone biosynthesis; Calcium signaling pathway; Serotonergic synapse; Vitamin digestion and absorption; Dopaminergic synapse; Neuroactive ligand-receptor interaction; GABAergic synapse; Gap junction; p53 signaling pathway; Cholinergic synapse			
BXD vs. CTRL	Calcium signaling pathway; Serotonergic synapse; Glutamatergic synapse; Steroid hormone biosynthesis; Vascular smooth muscle contractio; Axon guidance; Neuroactive ligand-receptor interaction; Long-term potentiation; Adrenergic signaling in cardiomyocytes; Dopaminergic synapse			

PMDD, premenstrual dysphoria disorder; FXT, fluoxetine; BXD, Baixiangdan; CTRL, control.

 TABLE 5 | Differentially expressed genes obviously affected by fluoxetine or

 Baixiangdan.

TABLE 6 | Relative quantity (RQ) values of selected genes in each group.

Gene symbol	Gene ID	MvsC (FC)	FvsC (FC)	BvsC (FC)
Msx1	NM_031059	3.54	1.03	1.23
Cldn1	NM_031699	4.67	1.64	1.49
Pon3	NM_001004086	4.73	1.54	2.24
Crb3	NM_001025661	4.08	1.28	2.04
SIc5a5	NM_052983	5.35	1.69	1.29
Htr2c	NM_012765	4.72	1.68	2.31
Cdh3	NM_053938	5.66	1.47	1.30
Serpinb1a	NM_001031642	3.71	2.23	1.44
Ace	NM-012544	5.32	1.59	1.41
Trpv4	NM_023970	5.74	1.29	2.29
Cyp2c23	NM_031839	-8.76	-2.87	-3.35
Нр	NM_012582	-18.45	-3.36	-4.55
C5	XM_345342	-7.23	-1.78	-1.54
Serpinc1	NM_001012027	-12.54	-3.27	-4.36
Aldob	NM_012496	-4.79	-2.23	-1.97
Cacna1a	NM_012918	-2.63	-1.76	-1.71
Mapk13	NM_019231	-2.08	-1.35	-1.24
Mapk8	XM_341399	-1.52	-1.38	-1.33
Cyp2c13	NM_138514	-3.45	-1.57	-1.41
Htr1a	NM_012585	-2.33	-1.17	-1.75

and intracellular signal transduction pathways. The important targets include 5-Htr (5-Htr1a, 5-Htr2c, 5-Htr3a), mitogenactivated protein kinase (Mapk8, Mapk13), Ca2+ channel proteins (Cacna1a, Cacn2d3, Cacn1i), Drd2, Glul, Gabarapl2, etc.

5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT), acting mostly on G-protein coupled receptors, serves as a key signal molecule for neuroactive ligand-receptor interaction, and as an important central neurotransmitter, it is closely related to PMDD (Yonkers et al., 2008). 5-Htr1a participates in the stress response

Gene name	Relative quantity (RQ)				
	CTRL	PMDD	FXT	BXD	
Htr2c	1	4.72	3.16	3.11	
Cdh3	1	5.66	2.29	2.08	
Serpinb1a	1	3.71	2.16	1.95	
Ace	1	5.32	2.68	2.09	
Trpv4	1	5.74	1.88	1.78	
Cacna1a	1	0.45	0.85	0.75	
Mapk8	1	0.66	0.7	0.9	
Mapk13	1	0.48	0.78	0.73	
Cyp2c13	1	0.29	0.57	0.63	
Htr1a	1	0.43	0.89	0.72	

PMDD, premenstrual dysphoria disorder; FXT, fluoxetine; BXD, Baixiangdan; CTRL, control.

involving the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis system, and is closely associated with negative emotions such as human anxiety and depression, changes in cognitive ability and dietary behaviors, as well as mental disorders such as schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease (Nichols and Sanders-Bush, 2001; Müller et al., 2007). 5-Htr2c has regulatory effects on emotion, anxiety, dietary behavior, and reproductive behavior (Heisler et al., 2007). According to our qPCR results, when compared with the control group, the mRNA protein expression level of 5-Htr2c in the hippocampus of rats in the PMDD model group was significantly increased (FCA = 5.64), and the level of 5-Htr1a was significantly decreased. After drug intervention, the mRNA expression levels of the two differential genes basically returned to normal. This is consistent with the chip results, demonstrating the reality and reliability of the chip results as well. Besides, another traditional Chinese medicine, Shuyu capsule, which

was found to reduce $5\text{-}HT_{3A}R$ and $5\text{-}HT_{3B}R$ expression (Li et al., 2016) and has some of the same herbal ingredients as BXD, was seen to effectively treat PMDD depression.

Mitogen activated protein kinase, one of the most important cellular signal transduction pathways, is closely associated with physiological and pathological processes such as cell growth, development, division, apoptosis and intercellular function synchronization (Kumar et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2015), and also participates in nervous system impairment and restoration (Riddick et al., 2017). There are four main MAPK signal pathways, including ERK, JNK (c-Jun terminal kinase / stress-activated protein kinase), P38, and ERK5 (Large mitogen activated protein kinase 1). MAPK8 (JNK1) and MAPK13 (mitogen-activated protein kinase 1) serve, respectively, as key genes in the JNK pathway and P38 pathway, and JNK and P38 pathway activation are both closely related to cell apoptosis (Xia et al., 1995). JNK pathway activation can promote the apoptosis of various types of cells (Xia et al., 1995). Research has shown that JNK pathway activation can lead to neuronal atrophy or death, and is closely related to neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's disease (Chen et al., 2012) and Alzheimer's disease (Yao et al., 2017). This study revealed that when the PMDD model group was compared with the control group, MAPK8 and MAPK13 saw down-regulated expression, but after BXD intervention, the two genes did not see significant up-regulation or down-regulation, indicating that in regulation of the JNK and P38 pathways, the two genes might not have a role in the mRNA expression level, but work through regulation of phosphorylation levels.

Ca²⁺ channels have two common forms, namely, voltagedependent calcium channels and ligand-gated calcium channels. The types and their physiological functions differ in different tissue cells and different parts of the same cell (Spedding and Paoletti, 1992). The physiological functions include calcium homeostasis maintenance (Nayler and Sturrock, 1986), control of muscle contraction (Held et al., 2007), release of neurotransmitters (Miki et al., 2013), promotion of cell growth and proliferation, regulation of hormone secretion (Sosial and Nussinovitch, 2015), and influences on gene expression (Doran et al., 2007). Cacnala, a P/Q type of voltage-dependent calcium channel located in nerve cell membranes, is widely distributed in the neuromuscular junction, and mainly participates in mediating the release of certain neurotransmitters (Catterall, 1998). Our chip results showed that when the PMDD model group was compared with the control group, the expression of several calcium ion pathway protein genes (Cacnala, Cacn2d3, Cacn1i, etc.) was down-regulated, but returned to normal level after BXD intervention. Cacnala also serves as a key gene in the GABA synapse pathway and dopamine synapse pathway, so it can be deduced that BXD can influence various signal pathways in the central nervous system by acting on genes for calcium ion pathway protein, thus realizing the treatment of PMDD

irritability. The signaling pathways through Ca^{2+} channels was described in our previous report, in which we found that paeoniflorin, one of the active compounds of BXD, could inhibit one of the subtypes of the Ca^{2+} channels (Song et al., 2017).

Based on these considerations, it can be predicted that BXD participates in the regulation of pathways involved in the activation of upstream nerve receptor-ligand interaction by regulating the expression or phosphorylation level of important regulatory factors represented by 5-HT and MAPK, thereby realizing the signal transduction of downstream Ca2+ and MAPK and the activation of or inhibition of pathways such as GABAergic synapse and dopaminergic synapses, etc., under the influence of numerous relevant neurotransmitters, hormones, and growth factors. Ultimately, it reduces excitation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and the hypothalamicpituitary-gonadal axis of the PMDD rat models, thus resulting in restoration of a normal nerve-internal secretion-immune network functional state.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

LX and MQ are responsible for providing the data supporting the results reported in the current study when required. The initial data obtained by gene chip have been uploaded as **Supplementary Materials** (in three.zip files).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SW contributed to the PMDD modeling. PS, YG, and JC were responsible for data of gene chip and RT-qPCR. JW, CS, and ZL provided essential assistance. LX and MQ directed this project, designed the experiments, and provided key advice.

FUNDING

This study was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81573854), Ministry of Science and Technology (No. 2017ZX09301064001), and China Postdoctoral Science Foundation (2017M622222).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Adam & Stone Bio-Medicals Ltd. Co. (Soochow, China) for language polishing.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2018.02065/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Albert, D., Jonik, R., Watson, N., Moe, I., and Walsh, M. (1991). Aggression by a female rat cohabitating with a sterile male: termination of pseudopregnancy does not abolish aggression. *Physiol. Behav.* 50, 519–523. doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(91)90539-Z
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-IV-TR[®]. Washington, D.C: American Psychiatric Pub.
- Andréen, L., Nyberg, S., Turkmen, S., van Wingen, G., Fernández, G., and Bäckström, T. (2009). Sex steroid induced negative mood may be explained by the paradoxical effect mediated by GABAA modulators. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 34, 1121–1132. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.02.003
- Baker, L., and O'Brien, P. (2012). Premenstrual syndrome (PMS): a perimenopausal perspective. *Maturitas* 72, 121–125. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2012. 03.007
- Boyle, E. I., Weng, S., Gollub, J., Jin, H., Botstein, D., Cherry, J. M., et al. (2004). GO::TermFinder-open source software for accessing gene ontology information and finding significantly enriched gene ontology terms associated with a list of genes. *Bioinformatics* 20, 3710–3715. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/ bth456
- Catterall, W. A. (1998). Structure and function of neuronal Ca2+ channels and their role in neurotransmitter release. *Cell Calcium* 24, 307–323. doi: 10.1016/S0143-4160(98)90055-0
- Chen, C. Y., Weng, Y. H., Chien, K. Y., Lin, K. J., Yeh, T. H., Cheng, Y. P., et al. (2012). (G2019S) LRRK2 activates MKK4-JNK pathway and causes degeneration of SN dopaminergic neurons in a transgenic mouse model of PD. *Cell Death Differ*. 19, 1623–1633. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2012.42
- Czéh, B., Michaelis, T., Watanabe, T., Frahm, J., de Biurrun, G., van Kampen, M., et al. (2001). Stress-induced changes in cerebral metabolites, hippocampal volume, and cell proliferation are prevented by antidepressant treatment with tianeptine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 12796–12801. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 211427898
- Doran, D. E., Weiss, D., Zhang, Y., Griendling, K. K., and Taylor, W. R. (2007). Differential effects of AT1 receptor and Ca2+ channel blockade on atherosclerosis, inflammatory gene expression, and production of reactive oxygen species. *Atherosclerosis* 195, 39–47. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2006. 11.030
- Ferbinteanu, J. (2016). Contributions of hippocampus and striatum to memoryguided behavior depend on past experience. J. Neurosci. 36, 6459–6470. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0840-16.2016
- Francois, C., Toumi, M., Aakhus, A. M., and Hansen, K. (2003). A pharmacoeconomic evaluation of escitalopram, a new selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor. *Eur. J. Health Econ.* 4, 12–19. doi: 10.1007/s10198-002-0139-0
- Garcia, T., Esparza, J. L., Nogues, M. R., Romeu, M., Domingo, J. L., and Gomez, M. (2010). Oxidative stress status and RNA expression in hippocampus of an animal model of Alzheimer's disease after chronic exposure to aluminum. *Hippocampus* 20, 218–225. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20612
- Guzman-Velez, E., Warren, D. E., Feinstein, J. S., Bruss, J., and Tranel, D. (2016). Dissociable contributions of amygdala and hippocampus to emotion and memory in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Hippocampus* 26, 727–738. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22554
- Heisler, L., Zhou, L., Bajwa, P., Hsu, J., and Tecott, L. (2007). Serotonin 5-HT2C receptors regulate anxiety-like behavior. *Genes Brain Behav.* 6, 491–496. doi: 10.1111/j.1601-183X.2007.00316.x
- Held, B., Tsvilovskyy, V., Meissner, M., Kaestner, L., Ludwig, A., Mossmang, S., et al. (2007). Ca2+ channel currents and contraction in CaVbeta3-deficient ileum smooth muscle from mouse. *Cell Calcium* 42, 477–487. doi: 10.1016/j. ceca.2007.04.013
- Ho, H.-P., Olsson, M., Pharm, M., Westberg, L., Melke, J., and Eriksson, E. (2001). The serotonin reuptake inhibitor fluoxetine reduces sex steroid-related aggression in female rats: an animal model of premenstrual irritability? *Neuropsychopharmacology* 24, 502–510.
- Hubscher, C., Brooks, D., and Johnson, J. (2005). A quantitative method for assessing stages of the rat estrous cycle. *Biotech. Histochem.* 80, 79–87. doi: 10.1080/10520290500138422
- Jo, E., Elvitigala, D. A. S., Wan, Q., Oh, M., Oh, C., and Lee, J. (2017). Identification and molecular profiling of DC-SIGN-like from big belly seahorse (*Hippocampus*)

abdominalis) inferring its potential relevancy in host immunity. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 77, 270–279. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2017.08.017

- Katz, R. J., Roth, K. A., and Carroll, B. J. (1981). Acute and chronic stress effects on open field activity in the rat: implications for a model of depression. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 5, 247–251. doi: 10.1016/0149-7634(81)90005-1
- Kumar, P., Miller, A. I., and Polverini, P. J. (2004). p38 MAPK mediates gammairradiation-induced endothelial cell apoptosis, and vascular endothelial growth factor protects endothelial cells through the phosphoinositide 3-kinase-Akt-Bcl-2 pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 43352–43360. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M405777200
- Lee, B., Shin, Y. W., Bae, E. A., Han, S. J., Kim, J. S., Kang, S. S., et al. (2008). Antiallergic effect of the root of *Paeonia lactiflora* and its constituents paeoniflorin and paeonol. *Arch. Pharm. Res.* 31, 445–450. doi: 10.1007/s12272-001-1177-6
- Li, F., Feng, J., Gao, D., Wang, J., Song, C., Wei, S., et al. (2016). Shuyu capsules relieve premenstrual syndrome depression by reducing 5-HT3AR and 5-HT3BR expression in the rat brain. *Neural Plast.* 2016:7950781. doi: 10.1155/ 2016/7950781
- Lin, T., Zhang, D., Liu, X., and Xiao, D. (2016). Parental care improves immunity in the seahorse (*Hippocampus erectus*). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 58, 554–562. doi: 10.1016/j.fsi.2016.09.065
- Livak, K. J., and Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) method. *Methods* 25, 402–408. doi: 10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- Marcondes, F., Bianchi, F., and Tanno, A. (2002). Determination of the estrous cycle phases of rats: some helpful considerations. *Braz. J. Biol.* 62, 609–614. doi: 10.1590/S1519-69842002000400008
- Melchior, L. K., Ho, H.-P., Olsson, M., Annerbrink, K., Hedner, J., and Eriksson, E. (2004). Association between estrus cycle-related aggression and tidal volume variability in female Wistar rats. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 29, 1097–1100. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2003.10.008
- Miki, T., Hirai, H., and Takahashi, T. (2013). Activity-dependent neurotrophin signaling underlies developmental switch of Ca2+ channel subtypes mediating neurotransmitter release. J. Neurosci. 33, 18755–18763. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3161-13.2013
- Müller, C. P., Carey, R. J., Huston, J. P., and De Souza Silva, M. A. (2007). Serotonin and psychostimulant addiction: focus on 5-HT1A-receptors. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 81, 133–178. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2007.01.001
- Nayler, W. G., and Sturrock, W. J. (1986). Calcium channel blockers, beta blockers and the maintenance of calcium homeostasis. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 194, 535–556. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4684-5107-8_41
- Nichols, C. D., and Sanders-Bush, E. (2001). Serotonin receptor signaling and hallucinogenic drug action. *Heffter Rev. Psychedelic Res.* 2, 73–79.
- Nizamutdinova, I. T., Jin, Y. C., Kim, J. S., Yean, M. H., Kang, S. S., Kim, Y. S., et al. (2008). Paeonol and paeoniflorin, the main active principles of *Paeonia albiflora*, protect the heart from myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats. *Planta Med.* 74, 14–18. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-993775
- O'Brien, P. S., Rapkin, A., and Schmidt, P. J. (2007). *The Premenstrual Syndromes:* PMS and PMDD. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press. doi: 10.3109/9781435628168
- Peng, S., Sheng, W., Zhang, H. Y., and Qiao, M. Q. (2010). Metabolic and behavioral patterns in a pre-menstrual syndrome animal model with liver-qi invasion and their reversal by a Chinese traditional formula. *Chin. Med.* 1, 91–97. doi: 10.4236/cm.2010.13017
- Qiao, M., Sun, P., Wang, Y., Wei, S., Wei, X., Song, C., et al. (2017). Profiling proteins in the hypothalamus and hippocampus of a rat model of premenstrual syndrome irritability. *Neural Plast.* 2017:6537230. doi: 10.1155/2017/6537230
- Rapkin, A. J., and Winer, S. A. (2008). The pharmacologic management of premenstrual dysphoric disorder. *Expert Opin. Pharmacother.* 9, 429–445. doi: 10.1517/14656566.9.3.429
- Riddick, G., Kotliarova, S., Rodriguez, V., Kim, H. S., Linkous, A., Storaska, A. J., et al. (2017). A core regulatory circuit in glioblastoma stem cells links MAPK activation to a transcriptional program of neural stem cell identity. *Sci. Rep.* 7:43605. doi: 10.1038/srep43605
- Rygula, R., Abumaria, N., Domenici, E., Hiemke, C., and Fuchs, E. (2006). Effects of fluoxetine on behavioral deficits evoked by chronic social stress in rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 174, 188–192. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2006.07.017
- Santarelli, L., Saxe, M., Gross, C., Surget, A., Battaglia, F., Dulawa, S., et al. (2003). Requirement of hippocampal neurogenesis for the behavioral effects of antidepressants. *Science* 301, 805–809. doi: 10.1126/science.1083328

- Sarkisova, K., and Folomkina, A. A. (2010). Effect of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor fluoxetine on symptoms of depression-like behavior in WAG/Rij rats. *Zh Vyssh Nerv Deiat Im I P Pavlova* 60, 98–108.
- Schneider, T., and Popik, P. (2007a). Attenuation of estrous cycle-dependent marble burying in female rats by acute treatment with progesterone and antidepressants. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 32, 651–659.
- Schneider, T., and Popik, P. (2007b). Increased depressive-like traits in an animal model of premenstrual irritability. *Horm. Behav.* 51, 142–148. doi: 10.1016/j. yhbeh.2006.09.006
- Schneider, T., and Popik, P. (2009). An animal model of premenstrual dysphoric disorder sensitive to antidepressants. *Curr. Protoc. Neurosci.* 46, 9.31.1–9.31.10. doi: 10.1002/0471142301.ns0931s46
- Song, C., Wang, J., Gao, D., Yu, Y., Li, F., Wei, S., et al. (2017). Paeoniflorin, the main active ingredient of shuyu capsule, inhibits Cav1.2 and regulates Calmodulin/Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II signalling. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2017:8459287. doi: 10.1155/2017/8459287
- Sosial, E., and Nussinovitch, I. (2015). Multiple Ca2+ channel-dependent components in growth hormone secretion from rat anterior pituitary somatotrophs. J. Neuroendocrinol. 27, 166–176. doi: 10.1111/jne.12240
- Spedding, M., and Paoletti, R. (1992). Classification of calcium channels and the sites of action of drugs modifying channel function. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 44, 363–376.
- Tanaka, T., Fujita, T., Tanaka, S., Takano, K., and Yonemasu, Y. (1992). Effect of anticonvulsants upon experimental limbic seizure status and regional cerebral blood flow in the hippocampus. *No To Shinkei* 44, 234–240.
- Vermeulen, J., De Preter, K., Lefever, S., Nuytens, J., De Vloed, F., Derveaux, S., et al. (2011). Measurable impact of RNA quality on gene expression results from quantitative PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39:e63. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr065
- Xia, Z., Dickens, M., Raingeaud, J., Davis, R. J., and Greenberg, M. E. (1995). Opposing effects of ERK and JNK-p38 MAP kinases on apoptosis. *Science* 270, 1326–1331. doi: 10.1126/science.270.5240.1326

- Xie, Y., Li, L., Shao, Q., Wang, Y., Liang, Q. L., Zhang, H. Y., et al. (2015). Urinary metabolomics study on an induced-stress rat model using UPLC-QTOF/MS. *RSC Adv.* 5, 75111–75120. doi: 10.1039/C5RA10992B
- Yao, Z., Yang, W., Gao, Z., and Jia, P. (2017). Nicotinamide mononucleotide inhibits JNK activation to reverse Alzheimer disease. *Neurosci. Lett.* 647, 133–140. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2017.03.027
- Yonkers, K. A., O'Brien, P., and Eriksson, E. (2008). Premenstrual syndrome. *Lancet* 371, 1200–1210. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60 527-9
- Zhang, C., Spevak, W., Zhang, Y., Burton, E. A., Ma, Y., Habets, G., et al. (2015). RAF inhibitors that evade paradoxical MAPK pathway activation. *Nature* 526, 583–586. doi: 10.1038/nature14982
- Zhang, H., Li, X., Nie, J., and Niu, Q. (2013). Lactation exposure to BDE-153 damages learning and memory, disrupts spontaneous behavior and induces hippocampus neuron death in adult rats. *Brain Res.* 1517, 44–56. doi: 10.1016/j. brainres.2013.04.014
- Zhou, J., Xie, G., and Yan, X. (2011). Encyclopedia of Traditional Chinese Medicines - Molecular Structures, Pharmacological Activities, Natural Sources and Applications. Berlin: Springer.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Wei, Sun, Guo, Chen, Wang, Song, Li, Xue and Qiao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Emotional Roles of Mono-Aminergic Neurotransmitters in Major Depressive Disorder and Anxiety Disorders

Yi Liu, Jingping Zhao and Wenbin Guo*

Department of Psychiatry, The Second Xiangya Hospital of Central South University, Changsha, China

A growing body of researches support a role for dysfunction of serotoninergic, noradrenergic, and dopaminergic systems in the neurobiological processes involved in major depression disorder (MDD) and anxiety disorders (ADs). The physiological changes underlying abnormal signaling of 5-HT, NE, and DA may be due to either reduced presynaptic release of these neurotransmitters or aberrant signal transductions, and thus contributing to the alterations in regulation or function of receptors and/or impaired intracellular signal processing. Animal models demonstrate crucial responsiveness to disturbance of 5-HT, NE, and DA neurotransmissions. Postmortem and biochemical studies have shown altered concentrations of 5-HT, NE, and DA metabolites in brain regions that contribute importantly to regulation of mood and motivation in patients with MDD or ADs. Neuroimaging studies have found abnormal 5-HT, NE, and DA receptors binding and regulation in regard to receptor numbers. Medications that act on 5-HT, NE, and DA neurons or receptors, such as SSRIs and SNRIs, show efficacy in both MDD and ADs. The overlapping treatment response presumably suggests a common mechanism underlying the interaction of these disorders. In this paper, we reviewed studies from multiple disciplines to interpret the role of altered 5-HT, NE and DA mono-amine neurotransmitter functions in both MDD and ADs.

Keywords: major depressive disorder, anxiety disorders, mono-aminergic neurotransmitters, serotonin, norepinephrine, dopamine

INTRODUCTION

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a debilitating disease characterized by depressed mood or lack of interest. Anxiety disorders (ADs) are characterized by excessive fear and anxiety. Epidemiological, cross-sectional, and prospective studies converge on the general notion that MDD and ADs are mutually interacting, and each increases the risk for the emergence and/or exacerbation of the other. MDD shares many overlapping symptoms with ADs, including attention deficit, sleep disturbance, fatigue, arousal, and psychomotor abnormality. Epidemiological, clinical, and basic studies found that 60–90% of patients with MDD simultaneously suffered from ADs (Tsuang et al., 2004). Furthermore, 50% of patients with MDD meet the diagnostic criteria for ADs at the same time, suggesting high comorbidity rate between them (Nutt, 1997; Kessler et al., 2003).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fushun Wang, Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine, China

Reviewed by:

Haijiang Li, Shanghai Normal University, China Xiang Yang Zhang, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States Daihui Peng, Shanghai Mental Health Center (SMHC), China

> *Correspondence: Wenbin Guo guowenbin76@csu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 03 July 2018 Accepted: 24 October 2018 Published: 21 November 2018

Citation:

Liu Y, Zhao J and Guo W (2018) Emotional Roles of Mono-Aminergic Neurotransmitters in Major Depressive Disorder and Anxiety Disorders. Front. Psychol. 9:2201. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02201

27

Their comorbidity shows more severe symptoms and social function deficits, high suicide rate, poor prognosis, and chronic disease condition compared with those without comorbid anxiety or depressive symptoms (Devane et al., 2005; Bystritsky et al., 2008). The biological etiology of MDD and ADs is closely associated with mono-amine neurotransmitter deficiency and the abnormal function of neurotransmitter receptors. The disturbance of the three mono-amine neurotransmitter systems, serotonin (5-HT), norepinephrine (NE), and dopamine (DA) system may be present in diverse neural circuits in different brain regions (Castren, 2005; Hamon and Blier, 2013). Furthermore, the disruption of these monoamine neurotransmitters may even affect the function of their receptors and the downstream receptors. This article aimed to review the emotional roles of mono-aminergic neurotransmitters in MDD and ADs.

THE ROLE OF 5-HT SYSTEM IN MDD AND ADs

Disturbances in the synthesis, release, transport, and retake of 5-HT may aggravate depression. The reduction and excess of 5-HT in the brain may play an important role in the regulation of the emotional condition of the disease.

It is noted that reserpine interferes with synaptic vesicular of serotonin, depletes brain stores of 5-HT, and increases the urine concentrations of 5-HT major metabolite 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA), thereby producing depressive symptoms in human (Shore et al., 1955). These reserpine-induced depressive symptoms can be reversed by monoamine precursors (Hirschfeld, 2000). Taken together, these findings support that 5-HT systems are a biochemical basis for MDD. Coppen and associates found that lack of 5-HT in the brain may cause depressive symptoms, including depressive mood, selfaccusation, and criticism (Coppen, 1967; Hogenelst et al., 2016). 5-HT deficiency in the brain may enhance negative emotions in MDD, including depressive mood, self-accusation and criticism, disgust, fear, anxiety, hostility, irritability, and loneliness (Coppen, 1967). Previous studies found that serum 5-HT concentrations in patients with MDD were significantly lower than those in healthy controls, suggesting 5-HT deficiency in patients with MDD (Bot et al., 2015; Phillips, 2017). Similarly, postmortem studies showed reduced concentrations of 5-HT and its main metabolite 5-HIAA in the brain tissue of depressed and suicidal patients (Asberg et al., 1976; Roy et al., 1989). Long-term reduction of serotonin synthesis may contribute to high susceptibility of MDD. Growing experimental and clinical evidence links the effects of antidepressants with brain 5-HT systems, and indicates that central 5-HT systems perturbance is a key factor in the pathophysiology of MDD. The serotonergic dysfunction involved in MDD development mainly includes low neuronal 5-HT synthesis and abnormal function of 5-HT receptors (Artigas, 2013). Serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), such as sertraline, fluvoxamine, and fluoxetine, can increase extracellular 5-HT concentrations of 5-HT neurons in the midbrain dorsal raphe nucleus (Aberg-Wistedt, 1989; Artigas, 1993), and are effective in improving depressive symptoms

(Fabbri et al., 2014; Castellano et al., 2016). 5-HT produces its physiological functions through the binding and interaction with multiple 5-HT receptors. Respectively, different subtypes of 5-HT receptors and 5-HT pathway can modulate different neural substrates (Wetzler et al., 1991).

Seven families of 5-HT receptors, including 5-HT1 to 5-HT7 receptors with their subtypes, have been identified (Hoyer et al., 1994; Barnes and Sharp, 1999). Numerous studies have systematically conceptualized that abnormalities of 5-HT1 (5-HT1A, 5-HT1D) and 5-HT2 (5-HT2A, 5-HT2C) receptors in the central nerve system may account for the manifestation of MDD (Hamon and Blier, 2013; Nautiyal and Hen, 2017). Postmortem and neuroimaging studies suggested that patients with MDD exhibited elevated density and/or activity of 5-HT1A autoreceptors compared with healthy controls (Parsey et al., 2006; Boldrini et al., 2008; Andrade et al., 2015), which were not sensitive to treatment of antidepressants (Lemonde et al., 2003). Autoreceptors can indirectly modulate the uptake and release of neurotransmitters, and are of importance in response to treatment (Pineyro and Blier, 1999; Ferres-Coy et al., 2013). Activation of 5-HT1A autoreceptors can lead to negative modulation of firing of serotonin system and decrease of serotonin release. However, studies show a general reduction in the density of postsynaptic 5-HT1A receptors in depressed patients, which may result in poor response to antidepressant treatment (Bhagwagar et al., 2004). Further, ligands with 5-HT1A agonist activity can produce both antidepressant (Choi et al., 2012) and anxiolytic (Vianna and Carrive, 2009) properties. Studies have also shown the aberrant sensitivity of postsynaptic 5-HT1D receptors and a distinctly higher distribution of 5-HT1D receptors in the globus pallidus in patients with MDD and/or suicide victims (Lowther et al., 1997; Whale et al., 2001; Murrough et al., 2011). Evidence indicates that 5-HT2A receptors play roles in MDD. The blockade of 5-HT2A receptors may enhance antidepressant-like profiles mediated by 5-HT1A receptors in the cortical and limbic brain regions (Artigas, 2013). Also, the antagonism of 5-HT2A receptors can induce a decreased regulation of 5-HT2A receptors that is considered to be beneficial in the treatment of MDD (Gray and Roth, 2001). Further, 5-HT2C receptor protein dysfunction has been observed in the prefrontal cortex region in suicidal patients as well (Gray and Roth, 2001). Taken together, presynaptic 5-HT1A autoreceptors show prejudicial action in antidepressant treatments, whereas the activation of postsynaptic 5-HT1A receptors in the corticolimbic networks is possibly of benefit in the antidepressant treatments. In addition, blockade of 5-HT2A receptors and 5-HT2C receptors abnormalities also play crucial roles in improving depressive symptoms.

Several important brain regions such as the prefrontal cortex, amygdala, and hippocampus are involved in the pathophysiology of MDD. The insula is also considered crucial in explaining affective deficits in depression. In a positron emission tomography study performed by Biver et al. (2018) 5-HT2 receptor specific radiotracer [I8F] altanserin was used to investigate *in vivo* distribution of 5-HT2 receptor in patients with MDD. The finding revealed that uptake of [I8F] altanserin was significantly decreased in brain regions

including the right anterior insula and right posterolateral orbitofrontal cortex, indicating the diminished 5-HT2 receptor binding in these brain regions (Vicario et al., 2017; Biver et al., 2018). A meta-analysis reported reduced 5-HT1A receptor binding in the insula, raphe nuclei, hippocampus, occipital cortex, and anterior cingulate cortex in patients with MDD (Wang et al., 2016). Functional connectivity analyses revealed that individuals with MDD exhibited abnormal activity in the dorsal insula during the anticipation of painful stimuli relative to healthy controls (Strigo et al., 2013). These results provide evidence that the pathophysiology of MDD may involve serotonergic neurotransmission perturbance in various brain regions. Otherwise, serotonergic activity can affect brain activities in certain regions, which can be used to predict the severity of MDD. For example, functional neuroimaging studies observed that abnormal activities within brain regions including the insula and anterior cingulate cortex could be used to predict the severity of depressed mood (Ryan et al., 2012).

Differentially expressed multiple 5-HT receptor subtypes on multiple cell types result in 5-HT neurotransmission possessing both antianxiety and anxiogenic effects (Albert et al., 2014). The activation of 5-HT1A receptor in the hippocampal tissue can produce anxiolytic effects. Likewise, Paul's and associates integrated evidence of anxiety from mouse genetic models involving knockout, mutation, over-expression, or suppression of genes of 5-HT1A receptors, suggesting that both pre- and postsynaptic 5-HT1A receptors contributed to anxiety phenotypes (Albert et al., 2014). High 5-HT1A autoreceptors, suppression of postsynaptic receptors or low 5-HT neurotransmission will lead to anxiety phenotype, whereas downregulation of 5-HT1A enhances anti-anxiety effects (Albert et al., 2014).

The agonism of 5-HT2A receptor in the amygdala may cause anxiety symptoms and insomnia (Bystritsky et al., 2008). 5-HT2A antagonism has been indicated to have an anxiolytic effect in subjects with generalized anxiety disorder in preclinical studies (Bressa et al., 1987). Furthermore, acute stimulation of 5-HT2A and 5-HT2C receptors projecting from the raphe nucleus to the amygdala and marginal limbic cortex may cause acute mental agitation, anxiety, and panic attack. Stimulation of 5-HT2A receptors in sleep centers of the brainstem may cause slow-wave sleep disturbances, resulting in night-time sleep arousals (Muntner, 2010). However, studies with 5-HT2C receptors agonists in elevated-plus maze model of anxiety generate conflicting results (Charney et al., 1987; Rodgers et al., 1992; Durand et al., 2003). Although 5-HT2C receptors stimulation is majorly anxiogenic, it is also anxiolytic sometimes. In the elevated-plus maze model studies, anxiolytic effects were observed though 5-HT2C receptors activation within the periaqueductal gray (Graeff, 2004). Conversely, 5-HT2C receptors agonism induced anxiogenic-like effects in the ventral part of the hippocampus and basolateral nucleus of amygdala (Alves et al., 2004; Vicente and Zangrossi, 2012). Additionally, upregulation of 5-HT2C receptors in the basolateral nucleus of amygdala could induce a similar anxiogenic effect (Li et al., 2012). Specially, the dual anxiolytic-anxiogenic effect of 5-HT2C receptors agonists may be of importance in antianxiety treatment. Clinically, in the initial treatment of SSRIs, the therapeutic effects are often delayed by the aggravation of anxiogenic-like profiles, including jitteriness or agitation (Pohl et al., 1988; Nutt and Glue, 1989). The increased anxiety induced by acute administration of SSRIs is possibly due to their predominant action on 5-HT1A autoreceptors, which may result in the reduction of 5-HT release and 5-HT neuron firing (Blier et al., 1987). Intriguingly, these acute adverse effects have been shown to be modulated by desensitization or blockade of 5-HT1A autoreceptors, as well as activation of 5-HT2C receptors (Bristow et al., 2000; Bagdy et al., 2001). Collectively, low 5-HT in central nerve system is also high risk for ADs. However, animal model of anxiety considers that high 5-HT in early postnatal phase may contribute to anxiety phenotype. 5-HT1A receptors activation is anxiolytic in chronic or long-term SSRIs treatment, whereas may produce anxiogenic-like effects due to the stimulation of presynaptic 5-HT receptors in acute SSRIs administration. 5-HT2A antagonism exerts anxiolysis, whereas 5-HT2C receptors may show region specific and dual anxiolytic-anxiogenic roles in treatment of ADs.

Several important brain regions such as the amygdala, cingulate cortex, and raphe nucleus are involved in the pathophysiology of ADs. The insular role is also crucial in the pathophysiology of ADs. In particular, SPECT and positron emission tomography studies have reported decreased 5-HT1A receptor binding in the insula, amygdala, anterior cingulate cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, and raphe nucleus in panic disorder (Neumeister et al., 2004; Nash et al., 2008). One study has reported reduced 5-HT1A receptor binding in the insula, amygdala, and anterior cingulate cortex in social anxiety disorder (Lanzenberger et al., 2007). Functional neuroimaging data provide evidence that exaggerated activation in the insular and cingulate cortices may be predictive of anxious traits (Shin and Liberzon, 2010; Vicario et al., 2017). Alvarez et al. (2015) found that anxiety-prone participants exhibited elevated activation in the bilateral dorsal anterior insula in response to anticipation of noxious event. These results suggest that the serotonergic activity has an impact on brain activity and provide evidence of altered serotonin neurotransmission in multiple brain regions or circuits in pathophysiology of ADs (Boshuisen et al., 2002).

Antidepressant drugs enhance 5-HT neurotransmission in patients with MDD.It can also improve many types of ADs, including panic disorder and generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) (Kahn et al., 1988).The decline of 5-HT neurotransmission function can not only affect the development of emotional disorders such as MDD and ADs, but can also induce emotional disturbance through activities relative to other neurotransmitter systems (Sumner et al., 2014). In general, low 5-HT has been shown to be associated with the presence of depressive and anxiety symptoms. Additionally, both 5-HT1A and 5-HT2A/2-HT2C receptors are majorly involved in depression and anxiety profiles. These observations clearly support that anxiety and depressive symptoms can be treated simultaneously.

THE ROLE OF NE IN MDD AND ADs

NE is ingested into the noradrenergic nerve endings by tyrosine transporter through a precursor formation of tyrosine and NE

and is converted to NE by a series of transformations. In 1979, Zis and associates proposed the NE hypothesis of MDD that depressive symptoms were caused by the decrease of NE in the central nervous system (Zis and Goodwin, 1979). Postmortem studies of depressed patients have found increased conformation of central a2-adrenergic autoreceptors and decreased NE transporter binding affinity in the locus ceruleus (Klimek et al., 1997) with no significant alteration in density of α2-adrenergic receptors in raphe nuclei (Escriba et al., 2004). Studies have observed increased binding of agonist ligands at a2-adrenergic autoreceptors on the NE neurons cell body, indicating higher functions of these NE autoreceptors and thus suggesting a lower noradrenergic neurotransmission in MDD (Hamon and Blier, 2013). The α 2-adrenergic autoreceptors occur presynaptically on noradrenergic and serotonergic neuronal terminals and exert suppression effects in the release of neurotransmitters upon stimulation. In addition, postmortem studies have demonstrated elevations in mRNA levels for a2-adrenergic autoreceptors in the frontal cortex from suicide subjects, and the majority of the subjects had MDD diagnosis before death (Vicente and Zangrossi, 2012). Possible interpretation of these detections is that hypersensitive presynaptic a2-adrenergic autoreceptors can contribute to reduction in NE and serotonin release. NE reduction in the central nervous system is associated with depletion of positively affective resources in patients with MDD, including decrease in pleasure, interest, happiness, alertness, energy, and passion and loss of confidence. Patients with MDD had lower NE function in lobar NE, causing anhedonia, loss of energy and passion, and other relative depressive symptoms (Bystritsky et al., 2008). Conversely, the symptoms of anxiety were assumed to be caused by hyperactivity of NE in the central nervous system. In stress conditions, corticotropinreleasing factor can activate the NE energy pathway in the locus coeruleus-temporal hippocampal, which releases NE and inducing wakefulness and anxiety symptoms (Muntner, 2010). Further, researchers observed elevated serum catecholamine concentrations in patients with GAD, indicating the excess of NE (Homan et al., 2015; Reader et al., 2015). Preliminary evidence suggests that single-nucleotide polymorphism involved in the function of adrenergic receptors is a susceptibility factor for general anxiety disorder (Zhang et al., 2017). Animal model studies found that antagonism of β-adrenergic receptors within central nerve system could attenuate the anxiogenic effects of cocaine (Wenzel et al., 2014) and disrupted anxiety-like phenotypes including aversive, fear and stress-related behaviors (Kindt et al., 2014; McCall et al., 2017).

THE ROLE OF DA IN MDD AND ADs

DA is a neurotransmitter in the hypothalamus and pituitary that is a key neurobiological substrate for reward, concentration, motivation, psychomotor speed, and the ability to experience pleasure, which may play a role in the modulation of human emotions (Coppen, 1967). Dopaminergic activity has been demonstrated to be involved in depressive (Ryan et al., 2012) or anxious (Vicario et al., 2017) processing. A strong evidence links reward-related, hedonic, and motivated behaviors with the mesolimbic DA system (Cabib and Puglisi-Allegra, 1996). Impairment of these functions are all prominent characteristics of MDD. Moreover, immediate bidirectional control (inhibition or excitation) of specified midbrain DA neurons modulates multiple independent depressive symptoms caused by chronic stress, suggesting that processes affecting depressive symptoms alter the DA neural encoding of action in the limbic circuitry (Tye et al., 2013). Further, poor functioning of DA neurons may cause depressive symptoms, including hopelessness and loss of interest (Kasch et al., 2002; Dunlop and Nemeroff, 2007). Patients with MDD showed lower level of DA metabolites in the cerebrospinal fluid compared with healthy controls (Jokinen et al., 2007). Deficiency in DA receptor function may lead to the failure in inhibition from the prefrontal cortex to the amygdala, and induce the over excitability of the amygdala, resulting in the emergence of fear and pathological anxiety.

DA receptors have two subtypes, the D1 and D2 receptor. Studies have demonstrated reduced dopamine transporters density and D2 receptor binding in the striatum in patients with social anxiety disorder compared with healthy controls (Schneier et al., 2000; Shin and Liberzon, 2010).DA blockers can increase the severity of social fear symptoms (Clausius et al., 2009). Furthermore, the level of homovanillic acid, a DA metabolite in the cerebrospinal fluid, had a lower level in patients with depressive comorbid with social fear (Jokinen et al., 2007). Thus, these conclusions may suggest DA or DA receptor dysfunction in patients with MDD, ADs, and with comorbidities.

Furthermore, the activity of dopaminergic neurons in the ventral striatum could affect insular activity, which could be used to predict the symptom severity of MDD and ADs (Black et al., 2002). There was evidence that reduction in expression of dopamine receptors in the striatal pathways and enhanced functioning of the insula and adjacent operculum were involved in mood alterations and associated behaviors such as eating disorder (Stice et al., 2009; Frank et al., 2012). Animal model studies and clinical case reports also suggested dopaminergic circuit could contribute to mood regulation through the insula. The agonist of DA receptor, particularly the D3 receptor, could reduce cerebral blood flow in the insula of the baboons, which was further supported by the treatment of MDD in several clinical trials (Goldberg et al., 2004; Zarate et al., 2004).

INTERACTIONS BETWEEN 5-HT, NE AND DA

The NE and 5-HT neurotransmitter systems are mutually interacted in the central nervous system (Quesseveur et al., 2013). NE plays a role in the regulation of the release of 5-HT. Stimulating the α 2 receptor on the axon terminals can inhibit the release of 5-HT, and stimulating the α 1 receptors on neuronal cell bodies or dendrites may cause positive feedback

on the release of 5-HT. At the same time, 5-HT systems can exert negative influence on NE systems through the 5-HT2A and 5-HT2C receptor-mediated mechanisms (Hamon and Blier, 2013). Evidence suggests that 5-HT2A receptors can enhance the release of NE under the SSRIs treatment (Sullivan et al., 2005). Both NE and 5-HT nerve fiber project signaling in the frontal cortex and hippocampus play an important regulatory role in cognition and behavior, especially in mental and emotional regulation in the central nervous system. Further, the two neurotransmitters signaling in the hippocampus and frontal cortex has been the target of a large proportion of research on MDD, ADs, and their treatments (Graeff et al., 1996).

There is multiple interaction between the serotonergic and dopaminergic systems. Increased or reduced neurotransmission of serotonergic or noradrenergic systems can affect dopamine function and induce similar changes in dopaminergic signaling. The antidepressant and anxiolytic efficacy of clinical therapeutics may partly result from the alterations in DA neurotransmission of the DA reward-learning circuit signaling. In patients with MDD or ADs, dopamine-related disturbances can be presumably improved through this mechanism. Several positron emission tomography and SPECT studies found that increase in striatal dopamine receptor binding and dopamine transporter availability correlated with improvement in Hamilton Depression Rating Scale scores (Mischoulon et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2008). In addition, substantial interaction exists between serotonergic cells of the midbrain raphe and target dopaminergic cell bodies in the ventral tegmental area in central nervous system. Findings of Mataix et al. indicated that stimulation of 5-HT1A receptors in the medial prefrontal cortex could enhance activity of the ventral tegmental area DA neurons, along with meso-cortical DA

release. In particular, 5-HT systems can also exert a negative influence on DA systems through the 5-HT2A and 5-HT2C receptor-mediated mechanisms (Clausius et al., 2009). Both of them play important roles in the regulation of mood and mental movement in the central nervous system. Acute stimulation of the basal 5-HT2A receptor may inhibit DA function in the basal area and causes acute motor changes, including psychomotor retardation and dystonia. Stimulating the 5-HT2A receptor in the midbrain may inhibit DA activity, causing apathy and sex reduction. Additionally, 5-HT2C receptors play a role in the tonic regulation of ascending dopaminergic activity, which may be a potential effect of antidepressant drugs.

CONCLUSION

In general, the three mono-aminergic neurotransmitter systems are mutually interacting, each playing roles in the regulation of diverse human emotions (see the mechanism in **Figure 1**). Depression and anxiety may be directly caused by dysfunction in brain areas including hippocampus, amygdala, and the prefrontal cortex (Mayberg et al., 1997; Steffens and Krishnan, 1998; Bremner, 2002)or by the neural systems modulated by mono-amine neurotransmitter systems in these brain regions (Delgado and Moreno, 2000). The diffuse nerve fibers of 5-HT, DA, and NE in the hypothalamus, thalamus, basal forebrain, and the prefrontal cortex could play roles in the regulation of dysmnesia. However, lack of energy and fatigue could associate with hypofunction of NE and DA in the prefrontal cortex (Muntner, 2010). In other words, part of the depressive and anxiety symptoms may be related to a certain



neurotransmitter system, while other symptoms may be related to a variety of other neurotransmitter systems. No single drug can fully improve any psychiatric disorder. However, a certain drug can possibly improve depressive mood by enhancing the information-processing function in a brain region, while another drug with a different mechanism can ease other symptoms such as insomnia, anxiety or concentration deficiency by improving the information-processing function in other brain regions. The treatment with the same antidepressant drug is effective for both depressive and anxiety symptoms, also supporting the possibility of the same neurobiological neurotransmitter dysfunction mechanism underlying the symptoms of MDD and ADs.

REFERENCES

- Aberg-Wistedt, A. (1989). The antidepressant effects of 5-HT uptake inhibitors. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 155, 32–40. doi: 10.1192/S0007125000291745
- Albert, P. R., Vahid-Ansari, F., and Luckhart, C. (2014). Serotonin-prefrontal cortical circuitry in anxiety and depression phenotypes: pivotal role of preand post-synaptic 5-HT1A receptor expression. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 8:199. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00199
- Alvarez, R. P., Kirlic, N., Misaki, M., Bodurka, J., Rhudy, J. L., Paulus, M. P., et al. (2015). Increased anterior insula activity in anxious individuals is linked to diminished perceived control. *Transl. Psychiatry* 5:e591. doi: 10.1038/tp.2015.84
- Alves, S. H., Pinheiro, G., Motta, V., Landeirafernandez, J., and Cruz, A. P. (2004). Anxiogenic effects in the rat elevated plus-maze of 5-HT(2C) agonists into ventral but not dorsal hippocampus. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 15, 37–43. doi: 10.1097/ 00008877-200402000-00005
- Andrade, R., Huereca, D., Lyons, J. G., Andrade, E. M., and Mcgregor, K. M. (2015). 5-HT1A receptor-mediated autoinhibition and the control of serotonergic cell firing. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 6, 1110–1115. doi: 10.1021/acschemneuro.5b00034
- Artigas, F. (1993). 5-HT and antidepressants: new views from microdialysis studies. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 14:262. doi: 10.1016/0165-6147(93)90125-4
- Artigas, F. (2013). Serotonin receptors involved in antidepressant effects. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 137, 119–131. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2012.09.006
- Asberg, M., Traskman, L., and Thoren, P. (1976). 5-HIAA in the cerebrospinal fluid. A biochemical suicide predictor? Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 33, 1193–1197. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1976.01770100055005
- Bagdy, G., Graf, M., Anheuer, Z. E., Edit, A., and Kantor, S. (2001). Anxiety-like effects induced by acute fluoxetine, sertraline or m-CPP treatment are reversed by pretreatment with the 5-HT2C receptor antagonist SB-242084 but not the 5-HT1A receptor antagonist WAY-100635. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 4, 399–408. doi: 10.1017/S1461145701002632
- Barnes, N. M., and Sharp, T. (1999). A review of central 5-HT receptors and their function. *Neuropharmacology* 38, 1083–1152. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3908(99) 00010-6
- Bhagwagar, Z., Rabiner, E. A., Sargent, P. A., Grasby, P. M., and Cowen, P. J. (2004). Persistent reduction in brain serotonin1A receptor binding in recovered depressed men measured by positron emission tomography with [11C]WAY-100635. *Mol. Psychiatry* 9, 386–392. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4001401
- Biver, F., Wikler, D., Lotstra, F., Damhaut, P., Goldman, S., and Mendlewicz, J. (2018). Serotonin 5-HT2 receptor imaging in major depression: focal changes in orbito-insular cortex. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 171, 444–448. doi: 10.1192/bjp.171.5.444
- Black, K. J., Hershey, T., Koller, J. M., Videen, T. O., Mintun, M. A., Price, J. L., et al. (2002). A possible substrate for dopamine-related changes in mood and behavior: prefrontal and limbic effects of a D3-preferring dopamine agonist. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 17113–17118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0122 60599
- Blier, P., De Montigny, C., and Chaput, Y. (1987). Modifications of the serotonin system by antidepressant treatments: implications for the therapeutic response in major depression. J. Clin. Psychopharmacol. 7, 24s–35s. doi: 10.1097/ 00004714-198712001-00003

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YL wrote the protocol and first draft of the manuscript. YL and JZ contributed to concept and design. YL and WG revised critically the manuscript for important intellectual content.

FUNDING

This study was supported by grants from the National Key R&D Program of China (2016YFC1307100 and 2016YFC1306900) and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Nos. 81571310, 81630033, 81771447, and 81471363).

- Boldrini, M., Underwood, M. D., Mann, J. J., and Arango, V. (2008). Serotonin-1A autoreceptor binding in the dorsal raphe nucleus of depressed suicides. J. Psychiatr. Res. 42, 433–442. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires. 2007.05.004
- Boshuisen, M. L., Ter Horst, G. J., Paans, A. M., Reinders, A. A., and Den Boer, J. A. (2002). rCBF differences between panic disorder patients and control subjects during anticipatory anxiety and rest. *Biol. Psychiatry* 52, 126–135. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(02)01355-0
- Bot, M., Chan, M. K., Jansen, R., Lamers, F., Vogelzangs, N., Steiner, J., et al. (2015). Serum proteomic profiling of major depressive disorder. *Transl. Psychiatry* 5:e599. doi: 10.1038/tp.2015.88
- Bremner, J. D. (2002). Structural changes in the brain in depression and relationship to symptom recurrence. CNS Spectr. 7, 129–130. doi: 10.1017/ S1092852900017442
- Bressa, G. M., Marini, S., and Gregori, S. (1987). Serotonin S2 receptors blockage and generalized anxiety disorders. A double-blind study on ritanserin and lorazepam. *Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Res.* 7, 111–119.
- Bristow, L. J., O'connor, D., Watts, R., Duxon, M. S., and Hutson, P. H. (2000). Evidence for accelerated desensitisation of 5-HT2C receptors following combined treatment with fluoxetine and the 5-HT1A receptor antagonist, WAY 100,635, in the rat. *Neuropharmacology* 39, 1222–1236. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3908(99)00191-4
- Bystritsky, A., Kerwin, L., Feusner, J. D., and Vapnik, T. (2008). A pilot controlled trial of bupropion XL versus escitalopram in generalized anxiety disorder. *Psychopharmacol. Bull.* 41, 46–51.
- Cabib, S., and Puglisi-Allegra, S. (1996). Stress, depression and the mesolimbic dopamine system. *Psychopharmacology* 128, 331–342. doi: 10.1007/s0021300 50142
- Castellano, S., Ventimiglia, A., Salomone, S., Ventimiglia, A., De Vivo, S., Signorelli, M. S., et al. (2016). Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and serotonin and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors improve cognitive function in partial responders depressed patients: results from a prospective observational cohort study. CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets 15, 1290–1298. doi: 10.2174/ 1871527315666161003170312
- Castren, E. (2005). Is mood chemistry? Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 6, 241–246. doi: 10.1038/ nrn1629
- Charney, D. S., Woods, S. W., Goodman, W. K., and Heninger, G. R. (1987). Serotonin function in anxiety. II. Effects of the serotonin agonist MCPP in panic disorder patients and healthy subjects. *Psychopharmacology* 92, 14–24. doi: 10.1007/BF00215473
- Choi, E., Zmarlicka, M., and Ehret, M. J. (2012). Vilazodone: a novel antidepressant. Am. J. Health Syst. Pharm. 69, 1551–1557. doi: 10.2146/ ajhp110374
- Clausius, N., Born, C., and Grunze, H. (2009). [The relevance of dopamine agonists in the treatment of depression]. *Neuropsychiatrie* 23, 15–25.
- Coppen, A. (1967). The biochemistry of affective disorders. Br. J. Psychiatry 113, 1237–1264. doi: 10.1192/bjp.113.504.1237
- Delgado, P. L., and Moreno, F. A. (2000). Role of norepinephrine in depression. *J. Clin. Psychiatry* 61(Suppl. 1), 5–12.

- Devane, C. L., Chiao, E., Franklin, M., and Kruep, E. J. (2005). Anxiety disorders in the 21st century: status, challenges, opportunities, and comorbidity with depression. *Am. J. Manag. Care* 11, S344–S353.
- Dunlop, B. W., and Nemeroff, C. B. (2007). The role of dopamine in the pathophysiology of depression. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 64, 327–337. doi: 10.1001/ archpsyc.64.3.327
- Durand, M., Mormède, P., and Chaouloff, F. (2003). Wistar-Kyoto rats are sensitive to the hypolocomotor and anxiogenic effects of mCPP. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 14, 173–177. doi: 10.1097/00008877-200303000-00010
- Escriba, P. V., Ozaita, A., and Garcia-Sevilla, J. A. (2004). Increased mRNA expression of alpha2A-adrenoceptors, serotonin receptors and mu-opioid receptors in the brains of suicide victims. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 29, 1512– 1521. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300459
- Fabbri, C., Minarini, A., Niitsu, T., and Serretti, A. (2014). Understanding the pharmacogenetics of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. *Expert Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol.* 10, 1093–1118. doi: 10.1517/17425255.2014.928693
- Ferres-Coy, A., Santana, N., Castane, A., Cortes, R., Carmona, M. C., Toth, M., et al. (2013). Acute 5-HT(1)A autoreceptor knockdown increases antidepressant responses and serotonin release in stressful conditions. *Psychopharmacology* 225, 61–74. doi: 10.1007/s00213-012-2795-9
- Frank, G. K., Reynolds, J. R., Shott, M. E., Jappe, L., Yang, T. T., Tregellas, J. R., et al. (2012). Anorexia nervosa and obesity are associated with opposite brain reward response. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 37, 2031–2046. doi: 10.1038/npp.2012.51
- Goldberg, J. F., Burdick, K. E., and Endick, C. J. (2004). Preliminary randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of pramipexole added to mood stabilizers for treatment-resistant bipolar depression. Am. J. Psychiatry 161, 564–566. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.161.3.564
- Graeff, F. G. (2004). Serotonin, the periaqueductal gray and panic. *Neurosci.* Biobehav. Rev. 28, 239–259. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2003.12.004
- Graeff, F. G., Guimarães, F. S., De Andrade, T. G., and Deakin, J. F. (1996). Role of 5-HT in stress, anxiety, and depression. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 54, 129–141. doi: 10.1016/0091-3057(95)02135-3
- Gray, J. A., and Roth, B. L. (2001). Paradoxical trafficking and regulation of 5-HT(2A) receptors by agonists and antagonists. *Brain Res. Bull.* 56, 441–451. doi: 10.1016/S0361-9230(01)00623-2
- Hamon, M., and Blier, P. (2013). Monoamine neurocircuitry in depression and strategies for new treatments. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 45, 54–63. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2013.04.009
- Hirschfeld, R. M. (2000). History and evolution of the monoamine hypothesis of depression. J. Clin. Psychiatry 61 (Suppl. 6), 4–6.
- Hogenelst, K., Schoevers, R. A., Kema, I. P., Sweep, F. C., and Aan Het Rot, M. (2016). Empathic accuracy and oxytocin after tryptophan depletion in adults at risk for depression. *Psychopharmacology* 233, 111–120. doi: 10.1007/s00213-015-4093-9
- Homan, P., Neumeister, A., Nugent, A. C., Charney, D. S., Drevets, W. C., and Hasler, G. (2015). Serotonin versus catecholamine deficiency: behavioral and neural effects of experimental depletion in remitted depression. *Transl. Psychiatry* 5:e532. doi: 10.1038/tp.2015.25
- Hoyer, D., Clarke, D. E., Fozard, J. R., Hartig, P. R., Martin, G. R., Mylecharane, E. J., et al. (1994). International Union of Pharmacology classification of receptors for 5-hydroxytryptamine (Serotonin). *Pharmacol. Rev.* 46, 157–203.
- Jokinen, J., Nordström, A.-L., and Nordström, P. (2007). The relationship between CSF HVA/5-HIAA ratio and suicide intent in suicide attempters. Arch. Suicide Res. 11, 187–192. doi: 10.1080/13811110701250093
- Kahn, R. S., Van Praag, H. M., Wetzler, S., Asnis, G. M., and Barr, G. (1988). Serotonin and anxiety revisited. *Biol. Psychiatry* 23, 189–208. doi: 10.1016/0006-3223(88)90091-1
- Kasch, K. L., Rottenberg, J., Arnow, B. A., and Gotlib, I. H. (2002). Behavioral activation and inhibition systems and the severity and course of depression. *J. Abnorm. Psychol.* 111, 589–597. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.111.4.589
- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Koretz, D., Merikangas, K. R., et al. (2003). The epidemiology of major depressive disorder: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). *JAMA* 289, 3095–3105. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.23.3095
- Kindt, M., Soeter, M., and Sevenster, D. (2014). Disrupting reconsolidation of fear memory in humans by a noradrenergic beta-blocker. J. Vis. Exp. 94:52151. doi: 10.3791/52151

- Klimek, V., Stockmeier, C., Overholser, J., Meltzer, H. Y., Kalka, S., Dilley, G., et al. (1997). Reduced levels of norepinephrine transporters in the locus coeruleus in major depression. J. Neurosci. 17, 8451–8458. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-21-08451.1997
- Lanzenberger, R. R., Mitterhauser, M., Spindelegger, C., Wadsak, W., Klein, N., Mien, L. K., et al. (2007). Reduced serotonin-1A receptor binding in social anxiety disorder. *Biol. Psychiatry* 61, 1081–1089. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006. 05.022
- Lemonde, S., Turecki, G., Bakish, D., Du, L., Hrdina, P. D., Bown, C. D., et al. (2003). Impaired repression at a 5-hydroxytryptamine 1A receptor gene polymorphism associated with major depression and suicide. *J. Neurosci.* 23, 8788–8799. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-25-08788.2003
- Li, B., Dong, L., Wang, B., Cai, L., Jiang, N., and Peng, L. (2012). Cell typespecific gene expression and editing responses to chronic fluoxetine treatment in the in vivo mouse brain and their relevance for stress-induced anhedonia. *Neurochem. Res.* 37, 2480–2495. doi: 10.1007/s11064-012-0814-1
- Lowther, S., Katona, C. L., Crompton, M. R., and Horton, R. W. (1997). 5-HT1D and 5-HT1E/1F binding sites in depressed suicides: increased 5-HT1D binding in Globus pallidus but not cortex. *Mol. Psychiatry* 2, 314–321. doi: 10.1038/sj. mp.4000259
- Mayberg, H. S., Brannan, S. K., Mahurin, R. K., Jerabek, P. A., Brickman, J. S., Tekell, J. L., et al. (1997). Cingulate function in depression: a potential predictor of treatment response. *Neuroreport* 8, 1057–1061. doi: 10.1097/00001756-199703030-00048
- McCall, J. G., Siuda, E. R., Bhatti, D. L., Lawson, L. A., Mcelligott, Z. A., Stuber, G. D., et al. (2017). Locus coeruleus to basolateral amygdala noradrenergic projections promote anxiety-like behavior. *eLife* 6:e18247. doi: 10.7554/eLife. 18247
- Mischoulon, D., Dougherty, D. D., Bottonari, K. A., Gresham, R. L., Sonawalla, S. B., Fischman, A. J., et al. (2002). An open pilot study of nefazodone in depression with anger attacks: relationship between clinical response and receptor binding. *Psychiatry Res.* 116, 151–161. doi: 10.1016/S0925-4927(02) 00082-3
- Muntner, I. B. N. (2010). Stahl's essential psychopharmacology. *Mens Sana Monogr.* 8:417.
- Murrough, J. W., Henry, S., Hu, J., Gallezot, J. D., Planeta-Wilson, B., Neumaier, J. F., et al. (2011). Reduced ventral striatal/ventral pallidal serotonin1B receptor binding potential in major depressive disorder. *Psychopharmacology* 213, 547– 553. doi: 10.1007/s00213-010-1881-0
- Nash, J. R., Sargent, P. A., Rabiner, E. A., Hood, S. D., Argyropoulos, S. V., Potokar, J. P., et al. (2008). Serotonin 5-HT1A receptor binding in people with panic disorder: positron emission tomography study. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 193, 229–234. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.107.041186
- Nautiyal, K. M., and Hen, R. (2017). Serotonin receptors in depression: from A to B. *F1000Res.* 6:123. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.9736.1
- Neumeister, A., Bain, E., Nugent, A. C., Carson, R. E., Bonne, O., Luckenbaugh, D. A., et al. (2004). Reduced serotonin type 1A receptor binding in panic disorder. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 589–591. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4921-03.2004
- Nutt, D. (1997). Management of patients with depression associated with anxiety symptoms. J. Clin. Psychiatry 58(Suppl. 8), 11–16.
- Nutt, D. J., and Glue, P. (1989). Clinical pharmacology of anxiolytics and antidepressants: a psychopharmacological perspective. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 44, 309–334. doi: 10.1016/0163-7258(89)90006-5
- Parsey, R. V., Olvet, D. M., Oquendo, M. A., Huang, Y. Y., Ogden, R. T., and Mann, J. J. (2006). Higher 5-HT1A receptor binding potential during a major depressive episode predicts poor treatment response: preliminary data from a naturalistic study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 31, 1745–1749. doi: 10.1038/sj. npp.1300992
- Phillips, C. (2017). Physical activity modulates common neuroplasticity substrates in major depressive and bipolar disorder. *Neural Plast.* 2017, 7014146. doi: 10.1155/2017/7014146
- Pineyro, G., and Blier, P. (1999). Autoregulation of serotonin neurons: role in antidepressant drug action. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 51, 533–591.
- Pohl, R., Yeragani, V. K., Balon, R., and Lycaki, H. (1988). The jitteriness syndrome in panic disorder patients treated with antidepressants. J. Clin. Psychiatry 49, 100–104.

- Quesseveur, G., Gardier, A. M., and Guiard, B. P. (2013). The monoaminergic tripartite synapse: a putative target for currently available antidepressant drugs. *Curr. Drug Targets* 14, 1277–1294. doi: 10.2174/13894501113149990209
- Reader, B. F., Jarrett, B. L., Mckim, D. B., Wohleb, E. S., Godbout, J. P., and Sheridan, J. F. (2015). Peripheral and central effects of repeated social defeat stress: monocyte trafficking. Microglial Activation, and Anxiety. *Neuroscience* 289, 429–442. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.01.001
- Rodgers, R. J., Cole, J. C., Cobain, M. R., Daly, P., Doran, P. J., Eells, J. R., et al. (1992). Anxiogenic-like effects of fluprazine and eltoprazine in the mouse elevated plus-maze: profile comparisons with 8-OH-DPAT, CGS 12066B, TFMPP and mCPP. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 3, 621–634. doi: 10.1097/00008877-199212000-00009
- Roy, A., De Jong, J., and Linnoila, M. (1989). Cerebrospinal fluid monoamine metabolites and suicidal behavior in depressed patients. A 5-year followup study. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 46, 609–612. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1989. 01810070035005
- Ryan, J. P., Sheu, L. K., Critchley, H. D., and Gianaros, P. J. (2012). A neural circuitry linking insulin resistance to depressed mood. *Psychosom. Med.* 74, 476–482. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e31824d0865
- Schneier, F. R., Liebowitz, M. R., Abi-Dargham, A., Zea-Ponce, Y., Lin, S. H., and Laruelle, M. (2000). Low dopamine D(2) receptor binding potential in social phobia. Am. J. Psychiatry 157, 457–459. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.157.3.457
- Shin, L. M., and Liberzon, I. (2010). The neurocircuitry of fear, stress, and anxiety disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35, 169–191. doi: 10.1038/npp. 2009.83
- Shore, P. A., Silver, S. L., and Brodie, B. B. (1955). Interaction of reserpine, serotonin, and lysergic acid diethylamide in brain. *Science* 122, 284–285. doi: 10.1126/science.122.3163.284-a
- Steffens, D. C., and Krishnan, K. R. (1998). Structural neuroimaging and mood disorders: recent findings, implications for classification, and future directions. *Biol. Psychiatry* 43, 705–712. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(98)00084-5
- Stice, E., Spoor, S., Ng, J., and Zald, D. H. (2009). Relation of obesity to consummatory and anticipatory food reward. *Physiol. Behav.* 97, 551–560. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2009.03.020
- Strigo, I. A., Matthews, S. C., and Simmons, A. N. (2013). Decreased frontal regulation during pain anticipation in unmedicated subjects with major depressive disorder. *Transl. Psychiatry* 3:e239. doi: 10.1038/tp.2013.15
- Sullivan, G. M., Oquendo, M. A., Simpson, N., Van Heertum, R. L., Mann, J. J., and Parsey, R. V. (2005). Brain serotonin 1A receptor binding in major depression is related to psychic and somatic anxiety. *Biol. Psychiatry* 58, 947–954. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.05.006
- Sumner, J. A., Vrshek-Schallhorn, S., Mineka, S., Zinbarg, R. E., Craske, M. G., Redei, E. E., et al. (2014). Effects of the serotonin transporter polymorphism and history of major depression on overgeneral autobiographical memory. *Cogn. Emot.* 28, 947–958. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2013.865596
- Tsuang, M. T., Taylor, L., and Faraone, S. V. (2004). An overview of the genetics of psychotic mood disorders. J. Psychiatr. Res. 38, 3–15. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3956(03)00096-7
- Tye, K. M., Mirzabekov, J. J., Warden, M. R., Ferenczi, E. A., Tsai, H. C., Finkelstein, J., et al. (2013). Dopamine neurons modulate neural encoding and expression of depression-related behaviour. *Nature* 493, 537–541. doi: 10.1038/ nature11740

- Vianna, D. M., and Carrive, P. (2009). Inhibition of the cardiovascular response to stress by systemic 5-HT1A activation: sympathoinhibition or anxiolysis? Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 297, R495–R501. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu. 00232.2009
- Vicario, C. M., Rafal, R. D., Martino, D., and Avenanti, A. (2017). Core, social and moral disgust are bounded: a review on behavioral and neural bases of repugnance in clinical disorders. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 80, 185–200. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.05.008
- Vicente, M. A., and Zangrossi, H. (2012). Serotonin-2C receptors in the basolateral nucleus of the amygdala mediate the anxiogenic effect of acute imipramine and fluoxetine administration. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 15, 389–400. doi: 10.1017/S1461145711000873
- Wang, L., Zhou, C., Zhu, D., Wang, X., Fang, L., Zhong, J., et al. (2016). Serotonin-1A receptor alterations in depression: a meta-analysis of molecular imaging studies. *BMC Psychiatry* 16:319. doi: 10.1186/s12888-016-1025-0
- Wenzel, J. M., Cotten, S. W., Dominguez, H. M., Lane, J. E., Shelton, K., Su, Z. I., et al. (2014). Noradrenergic beta-receptor antagonism within the central nucleus of the amygdala or bed nucleus of the stria terminalis attenuates the negative/anxiogenic effects of cocaine. J. Neurosci. 34, 3467–3474. doi: 10.1523/ INEUROSCI.3861-13.2014
- Wetzler, S., Asnis, G. M., and Van Praag, H. M. (1991). Comment on 5-HT and mechanisms of defence. J. Psychopharmacol. 5, 332–333. doi: 10.1177/ 026988119100500420
- Whale, R., Clifford, E. M., Bhagwagar, Z., and Cowen, P. J. (2001). Decreased sensitivity of 5-HT(1D) receptors in melancholic depression. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 178, 454–457. doi: 10.1192/bjp.178.5.454
- Yang, Y. K., Yeh, T. L., Yao, W. J., Lee, I. H., Chen, P. S., Chiu, N. T., et al. (2008). Greater availability of dopamine transporters in patients with major depression–a dual-isotope SPECT study. *Psychiatry Res.* 162, 230–235. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2007.08.008
- Zarate, CA Jr, Payne, J. L., Singh, J., Quiroz, J. A., Luckenbaugh, D. A., Denicoff, K. D., et al. (2004). Pramipexole for bipolar II depression: a placebo-controlled proof of concept study. *Biol. Psychiatry* 56, 54–60. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2004. 03.013
- Zhang, X., Norton, J., Carriere, I., Ritchie, K., Chaudieu, I., Ryan, J., et al. (2017). Preliminary evidence for a role of the adrenergic nervous system in generalized anxiety disorder. *Sci. Rep.* 7:42676. doi: 10.1038/srep42676
- Zis, A. P., and Goodwin, F. K. (1979). Novel antidepressants and the biogenic amine hypothesis of depression. The case for iprindole and mianserin. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 36, 1097–1107. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1979.01780100 067006

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Liu, Zhao and Guo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Differentiation of Transformed Bipolar Disorder From Unipolar Depression by Resting-State Functional Connectivity Within Reward Circuit

Jiabo Shi¹, Jiting Geng¹, Rui Yan¹, Xiaoxue Liu¹, Yu Chen¹, Rongxin Zhu¹, Xinyi Wang^{2,3}, Junneng Shao^{2,3}, Kun Bi^{2,3}, Ming Xiao⁴, Zhijian Yao^{1*} and Qing Lu^{2,3*}

¹ Department of Psychiatry, The Affiliated Nanjing Brain Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China, ² School of Biological Sciences and Medical Engineering, Southeast University, Nanjing, China, ³ Key Laboratory of Child Development and Learning Science, Southeast University, Nanjing, China, ⁴ Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fang Pan, Shandong University, China

Reviewed by:

Haiteng Jiang, Carnegie Mellon University, United States Brittany S. Cassidy, The University of North Carolina at Greensboro, United States

> *Correspondence: Zhijian Yao zjyao@njmu.edu.cn Qing Lu luq@seu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 12 September 2018 Accepted: 03 December 2018 Published: 21 December 2018

Citation:

Shi J, Geng J, Yan R, Liu X, Chen Y, Zhu R, Wang X, Shao J, Bi K, Xiao M, Yao Z and Lu Q (2018) Differentiation of Transformed Bipolar Disorder From Unipolar Depression by Resting-State Functional Connectivity Within Reward Circuit. Front. Psychol. 9:2586. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02586 Previous studies have found that neural functional abnormalities detected by functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) in brain regions implicated in reward processing during reward tasks show promise to distinguish bipolar from unipolar depression (UD), but little is known regarding resting-state functional connectivity (rsFC) within the reward circuit. In this study, we investigated neurobiomarkers for early recognition of bipolar disorder (BD) by retrospectively comparing rsFC within the reward circuit between UD and depressed BD. Sixty-six depressed patients were enrolled, none of whom had ever experienced any manic/hypomanic episodes before baseline. Simultaneously, 40 matched healthy controls (HC) were also recruited. Neuroimaging data of each participant were obtained from resting-state fMRI scans. Some patients began to manifest bipolar disorder (tBD) during the follow-up period. All patients were retrospectively divided into two groups (33 tBD and 33 UD) according to the presence or absence of mania/hypomania in the follow-up. rsFC between key regions of the reward circuit was calculated and compared among groups. Results showed decreased rsFC between the left ventral tegmental area (VTA) and left ventral striatum (VS) in the tBD group compared with the UD group, which showed good accuracy in predicting diagnosis (tBD vs. UD) according to receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis. No significant different rsFC was found within the reward circuit between any patient group and HC. Our preliminary findings indicated that bipolar disorder, in early depressive stages before onset of mania/hypomania attacks, already differs from UD in the reward circuit of VTA-VS functional synchronicity at the resting state.

Keywords: bipolar disorder, depression, reward circuit, functional connectivity, resting-state, functional magnetic resonance imaging

INTRODUCTION

Bipolar disorder (BD) and unipolar depression (UD) are two of the most debilitating illnesses worldwide (Murray and Lopez, 1997). BD mainly differs from UD in the presence of mania/hypomania. Clinical manifestations of BD are more complex than those of UD. However, approximately half of bipolar individuals present with a major depressive episode as their first
mood episode (Tondo et al., 2010; Etain et al., 2012). When in a depressive episode, symptoms are similar in BD and UD, which heavily obstructs the accurate diagnosis of BD. Up to 60% of BD patients seeking treatment for depression are initially diagnosed with UD. Only 20% BD who are experiencing a depressive episode are precisely diagnosed within the first year of treatment (Hirschfeld et al., 2003). Moreover, treatments for BD and UD are very different, with stabilizers for BD and antidepressants for UD being prescribed. Inappropriate medication might lead to poor prognosis, such as increased suicidal behavior, switching to mania, and higher health care costs (Bowden, 2010; Goodwin, 2012; Baldessarini et al., 2013). Therefore, it is of great importance to distinguish BD from UD as early as possible.

Numerous clinical characteristics have been recognized as risk factors for developing BD, including (1) family history of BD or affective disorder, (2) early age of onset (less than 25 yearold), (3) recurrence (more than 4 episodes), (4) substance abuse, (5) psychotic symptoms, and (6) refractory (Ostergaard et al., 2014; Tondo et al., 2014; Woo et al., 2015; Bukh et al., 2016; Ratheesh et al., 2017). In addition, several clinical rating scales may help to detect subthreshold manic/hypomanic symptoms in depression, such as the Hypomania Checklist (Angst et al., 2005), the Screening Assessment of Depression Polarity (Solomon et al., 2006), and the Bipolar Inventory Symptoms Scale (Bowden et al., 2007). Although helpful, the aforementioned strategies are based on phenomenological observation and depend heavily on the professionalism of clinicians. For early identification of BD from UD, objective methods are needed.

Neuroimaging techniques, especially magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can objectively reflect the structural and functional condition of the neural system. Numerous MRI studies have provided evidence that individuals with BD could be differentiated from those with UD by abnormal gray matter volumes in several brain regions. For example, in a crosssectional MRI study, Rive et al. (2016) found that depressed subjects with BD and UD could be classified based on the gray mater volumes of the middle frontal gyrus, parahippocampal gyrus, and the orbital part of the superior frontal gyrus. Other studies showed reduced ventral diencephalon volumes in euthymic BD vs. UD (Sacchet et al., 2015), reduced gray matter volumes in the hippocampus and the amygdala (Amy), but increased gray matter volumes in the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) in individuals with BD relative to individuals with UD (Redlich et al., 2014). The white matter connectivity may also be useful in differentiating BD from UD. Damme et al. (2017) found that white matter connectivity between the nucleus accumbens (NAcc) and both the medial orbitofrontal cortex (mOFC) and Amy were associated with elevated mania/hypomania proneness. Regarding functional neuroimaging, substantial evidence indicates that abnormalities in brain regions implicated in reward processing during reward tasks show promise to distinguish bipolar from UD. Compared with healthy controls, UD showed reduced caudate and NAcc responses to rewards (Pizzagalli et al., 2009), and less ventral striatal activation during reward anticipation (Stoy et al., 2012). On the contrary, BD patients showed elevated striatal reactivity (Dutra et al., 2015), and increased functional connectivity between the ventral striatum (VS) and OFC (Dutra et al., 2017) across monetary and social rewards compared to the healthy controls.

The reward circuit mediates goal-directed behaviors, including emotions, motivation, and cognition. Key brain regions in the reward circuit are the ACC, the orbital prefrontal cortex (OFC), the VS, the ventral tegmental area (VTA) and the amygdala (Haber and Knutson, 2010). These brain reward regions have been assigned specific functions: the VTA-VS is the center of reward, the ACC and OFC are responsible for working memory and executive control, and the amygdala is crucial for associative fear- and reward-related memories (Russo and Nestler, 2013). In addition, other structures, including the dorsal prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, thalamus, and lateral habenular nucleus, are also important components in regulating the reward circuit. Connectivity between these areas forms a complex neural network that mediates different aspects of reward processing. Activation of the reward circuit leads to increased motivation, behavior directed toward attaining rewards, and positive emotions, or to anger when goal-striving is frustrated. Downregulation or deactivation of the reward circuit leads to decreased motivation, increased withdrawal, and emotions such as sadness and anhedonia. Reward hypersensitivity is suggested to underlie risk for manic/hypomanic symptoms (Alloy et al., 2016). Collectively, BD seems to be characterized with reward hyperactivation, while reward hypoactivation is involved in UD (Alloy et al., 2016).

However, there are some different findings in tasks based functional magnetic resonance (fMRI) studies. Foti et al. (2014) reported that reward processing during a laboratory gambling task was heterogeneous within MDD, indicating that not all MDD were characterized by reward dysfunction. In a study using a card-guessing task, BD patients showed decreased, not increased, activation of reward regions including the NAcc, caudate nucleus, and prefrontal areas compared with UD (Redlich et al., 2015). In another task study (Sharma et al., 2016), reduced activation in the bilateral VS and left OFC to social reward was found to be correlated with greater depression severity in the BD patients, but not the unipolar ones. These inconsistent findings may be explained by the variety of task paradigms. Accepting this, such different reward processing in BD and UD still suggests the role of the reward circuit in distinguishing the two disorders. Whether this different functioning of the reward circuit between BD and UD is statedependent or has a trait-like profile is unclear. If recognized as a task-independent trait, differences of reward functioning should also exist at resting state, which may help to identify BD and UD earlier.

A resting-state fMRI study of the reward circuit can provide much benefit in the absence of specific tasks. During rsfMRI scanning, participants are not required to perform a specific task. This avoids limitations due to the interference of different task paradigms and ensures a high degree of cooperation. Consequently, rs-fMRI may improve the relative consistency of findings across multiple studies. Previous studies suggested that resting-state functional connectivity (rsFC) between large-scale brain networks (Goya-Maldonado et al., 2016), and between region of interest (ROI) and other brain regions (Ambrosi et al., 2017), can differentiate unipolar and bipolar depression. One study exists which directly compared reward circuit rsFC between BD and UD (Satterthwaite et al., 2015). Moreover, aberrant reward circuit rsFC has already been identified in major depressive disorder (Felger et al., 2016; Gong et al., 2017) and many other medical conditions, including sleep disturbance (Avinun et al., 2017), attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (Dias et al., 2013; Tomasi and Volkow, 2014), and schizophrenia and cannabis use disorder (Fischer et al., 2014). This evidence verifies the dysfunction of the reward circuit not only during tasks but also at resting state.

In the present study, we aimed to explore neurobiomarkers for early recognition of BD by retrospectively comparing rsFC within the reward circuit between UD and depressed BD. Generally, the measure of rsFC can represent the functional synchronicity of spontaneous activity between a given region and any other regions in the whole brain. In this study, rsFC between key regions of the reward circuit (the OFC, the ACC, the VS, the VTA and the amygdala) was used to define functional synchronicity within the reward circuit. Interestingly, BD patients enrolled in our study were in depressive episodes at the baseline and had never experienced any manic/hypomanic episodes before. These depressed patients then began to manifest bipolar disorder (transformed bipolar disorder, tBD) during the follow-up period. We hypothesize that rsFC between key brain regions of the reward circuit differs between tBD and UD, which may contribute to the early distinction of BD from UD.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Seventy-seven patients with a preliminary diagnosis of MDD were enrolled at the Department of Psychiatry of the Affiliated Nanjing Brain Hospital of Nanjing Medical University from September 2011 to May 2017. The diagnosis of MDD was established according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fourth version (DSM-IV-TR). The 17-item Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HAMD-17) (Hamilton, 1960) was applied to assess depression severity. The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.) (Sheehan et al., 1998) was used to ensure the diagnosis of MDD and the absence of any other psychiatric disorders. The 32-item hypomania checklist (Hirschfeld et al., 2000; Angst et al., 2005) was used to screen out any lifetime manic/hypomanic episodes, with all patients scoring lower than 12. Participants with current or past history of other mental disorders were excluded.

The present study was a longitudinal observational follow-up study. During the follow-up period, patients were observed for at least 3 years unless they developed mania/hypomania. Patients who began to display mania/hypomania were defined as tBD. Thirty-seven patients were classified into the tBD group at the end of the observation in December 2017. The remaining 40 patients did not suffer from a manic/hypomanic episode after more than 3 years' follow-up. It was considerable to refer to these patients as less likely to develop BD in the future, and they were defined as the UD group.

Forty healthy controls (HC) were recruited from local community. M.I.N.I. was also applied to confirm the absence of a psychosis history. HC were excluded if they reported family history of any mental disorders in first degree relatives.

All participants were Han Chinese, right handed, 18 to 55 years old, with a minimum education of 6 years. Additional exclusion criteria for all participants included nervous system disease, serious physical illness, substance abuse/dependence and any MRI contraindications.

This study was approved by the Research Ethics Review Board of Affiliated Nanjing Brain Hospital of Nanjing Medical University. All participants were informed of the study and provided written informed consent.

MRI Data Acquisition

At the baseline after addition, all participants underwent MRI scan on a 3.0T Siemens Verio scanner with an 8-channel radio frequency coil at the Radiology Department of the Affiliated Nanjing Brain Hospital of Nanjing Medical University. Before the scan, subjects were instructed to lie still with their eyes closed, to relax but not fall asleep, and not to think of anything specific. Each subject was positioned comfortably in the coil and fitted with soft ear plugs to reduce scanner noise. Firstly, 3D T1weighted images were acquired with the following parameters: repetition time (TR) = 1900 ms, echo time (TE) = 2.48 ms, flip angle = 9°, field of view (FOV) = 250 mm \times 250 mm, matrix size = 256×256 , 176 axial slices of 1 mm thickness, in-plane voxel resolution = $1 \text{ mm} \times 1 \text{ mm}$, acquisition time = 4 min18 s. Further, a total number of 133 volumes of resting-state functional images (TR = 3000 ms, TE = 40 ms, flip angle = 15° , FOV = 240 mm \times 240 mm, matrix size = 64 \times 64, 32 axial slices of 4 mm thickness, acquisition time = $6 \min 45$ s) were acquired using gradient-recalled echo-planar imaging.

Resting-State Functional Image Preprocessing

The image format was transferred using the MRIcroN¹. Preprocessing was conducted by the Data Processing Assistant for Resting-State fMRI (DPARSF) toolbox². First, the first 6 volumes were removed for stable magnetization and to adapt the participants to the scan. Then, the remaining 127 volumes were slice-time corrected, head-motion realigned, spatially normalized using a T1-weighted image by DARTEL segmentation, and saved with a spatial resolution of $2 \text{ mm} \times 2 \text{ mm} \times 2 \text{ mm}$. Smoothing was done with a 4-mm full-width at half maximum (FWHM) isotropic Gaussian kernel, temporal band pass filtering (0.01-0.08 Hz) was done to reduce low frequency drift and physiological high-frequency noise, and detrending was done to reduce the influence of the rising temperature of the MRI equipment. Subsequently, nuisance signals including Friston 24 head motion parameters as well as white matter and cerebrospinal signals were regressed out. In the present study, six patients (three UD and

¹http://www.mricro.com

²http://www.restfmri.net/forum/DPARSF

three tBD) and two HC were excluded due to head motion of more than 2.0 mm maximum displacement in any dimension or 2.0 degrees of angular motion. One HC was excluded for abnormal anatomic signals. Six participants (four UD, one tBD and one HC) were excluded because of bad normalization. Finally, 66 patients (33 UD and 33 tBD) and 36 HC went into further functional connectivity analysis in DPARSF.

ROI-to-ROI Functional Connectivity Analysis

Based on the hypothesis mentioned above, we created 8 ROIs: the mOFC (MNI: 2, 46, -8), the ACC (MNI: -2, 28, 28), the left VS (MNI: -12, 12, -7) and the right VS (MNI: 12, 10, -6), the left Amy (MNI: -20, -2, -16) and the right Amy (MNI: 20, -2, -20), the left VTA (MNI: -4, -16, -14) and the right VTA (MNI: 4, -18, -14) at Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) space. The coordinates of the mOFC, the ACC and the bilateral VS were derived from a meta-analysis of Bartra et al. (2013), which had been widely applied in fMRI studies (Satterthwaite et al., 2015; Pan et al., 2017). Concerning that Bartra's metaanalysis didn't provide precise coordinates of the amygdala, and that the sphere of the VTA in this meta-analysis may contain other structures of the brainstem, the coordinates of the bilateral Amy and the bilateral VTA were derived from an fMRI study that investigated the effects of city living on the reward system (Kramer et al., 2017). The WFU pickatlas³ was used to create ROIs with 4-mm-radius spheres for the bilateral VTA and 5-mmradius spheres for the rest, centered according to previous studies (Kahn and Shohamy, 2013; Satterthwaite et al., 2015; Kramer et al., 2017; Pan et al., 2017). ROI-to-ROI functional connectivity was performed using the DPARSF toolbox. A time series of each ROI was extracted and averaged across all voxels within the ROI. Individual images were normalized into a standard template to get rid of individual location variance. Then, Pearson's correlation coefficients between each pair of ROI regions were regarded as the strength of the functional connectivity. The correlation coefficients were transformed into Fisher's z-score to improve normality and allow for further analysis. Thus, a *z*-score matrix of each individual functional connectivity was separately obtained. Since functional connectivity was directionless, we extracted the upper triangular matrix values (28 connections per subject) for statistical analysis.

Statistical Analysis

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and a chi-square test (only for gender) were performed in SPSS 19.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States) to compare demographic data. Clinical data which could be recorded as continuous variables including age at onset, total illness duration, current episode duration, and number of depressive episodes and HAMD-17 score between UD and tBD groups were analyzed using twosample *t*-tests. Other clinical categorical variables were analyzed by chi-square tests between the two patient groups, such as family history of affective disorder, chronicity (defined as one single depressive episode that lasts for at least 2 years without significant remission) (Ratheesh et al., 2017), refractory (no improvement after sufficient treatment of two or more antidepressants), suicide attempt and diurnal depression variance, as well as treatment (type of antidepressant, stabilizer, rTMS, and MECT). Concerning that the treatment during the follow-up period might impact the prognosis of depression (i.e., whether they remain unipolar or develop into bipolar), binary logistic regression analysis was conducted. In the logistic regression analysis, the group (tBD or UD) was held as the dependent variable, and treatment was held as the independent variable. Significance was set at P < 0.05 two-tailed alternatives.

To examine the baseline rsFC differences between tBD and UD patients, a randomized permutation test with 5000 times was used. A permutation test is a type of statistical significance test in which the distribution of the test statistic under the null hypothesis is obtained by calculating all possible values of the test statistic under rearrangements of the labels on the observed data points (Nichols and Holmes, 2002). The detailed steps of the permutation test in this present study are as follows: (1) The averaged functional connectivity was computed for the original group labeling; (2) for each resampling, the group labels were randomly rearranged, and the averaged functional connectivity for the permuted data were computed; (3) step 2 was repeated until a predefined number of resamplings had been performed; and (4) the hypothesis was accepted or rejected based on the proportion of permuted averaged functional connectivity equal to or greater than the original. The rsFC differences in the baseline may serve as neurobiomarkers for early differentiation of BD from UD. As mentioned before, several clinical and demographic data were suggested to be risk factors for the transition from depression to BD, including family history of BD or affective disorder, early age of onset (less than 25 years-old), recurrence (more than four episodes), and refractory status (Dudek et al., 2013; Woo et al., 2015; Ratheesh et al., 2017). On the other hand, demographic factors such as age and education also might influence brain function. In order to test whether the between-group rsFC differences at baseline were due to these potential confounding factors, a general linear model (GLM) was performed. In the GLM, rsFC values of significant difference between UD and tBD were held as the dependent variables, groups were held as independent variables, and potential confounding factors (age, education years, onset age, number of episodes, family history, and refractory) were held as covariates. A significant difference was set at a threshold P < 0.05 FDRcorrected.

Additionally, to evaluate the accuracy of the rsFC values in predicting diagnosis (tBD vs. UD), we also carried out receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis, which could obtain the area under the curve (AUC) using SPSS software. Meanwhile, three statistics including sensitivity (SN), specificity (SP), and odds ratio (OR) were calculated to assess the diagnostic efficiency.

Our primary hypothesis concerned differences between tBD and UD patients. In order to provide information regarding the extent to which observed tBD and UD differences represent abnormal neural functioning, we also performed exploratory comparisons by including a group of HC and conducted

³http://fmri.wfubmc.edu/software/pickatlas

permutation testing between HC and each patient group, respectively.

RESULTS

Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

No significant differences in age, gender, and education level were found among the three groups. All clinical characteristics compared did not significantly differ between tBD and UD, including onset age, number of episodes, total illness duration, current episode duration, and total score of HAMD-17, family history of affective disorder, chronicity, refractory, suicide attempt, diurnal depression variance, and treatment (please see details in **Table 1**). Results of binary logistic regression analysis showed that group (tBD or UD) was not related to treatment (**Supplementary Table 1**), indicating that transition to BD was not due to differences in treatment.

Resting-State Functional Connectivity

Among the 28 connections within the reward circuit, rsFC between the left VTA and the left VS (rsFC value: tBD: 0.057 \pm 0.223, UD: 0.234 \pm 0.236; *P* = 0.001, *P* < 0.05 with FDR correction), between the left VTA and the right VS (rsFC value: tBD: 0.082 \pm 0.223, UD: 0.234 \pm 0.236; *P* = 0.008, uncorrected), and between the right VTA and right VS (rsFC value: tBD: 0.108 \pm 0.229, UD: 0.227 \pm 0.250;

P = 0.049, uncorrected) were lower in the tBD group compared with the UD group. Only the rsFC between the left VTA and left VS was significantly different between tBD and UD (**Figures 1**, 2).

General linear model analysis showed that the rsFC differences between the two patient groups survived even after several possible confounding factors (family history of affective disorder, number of episodes, refractory, age of onset, education and age) were taken into account (**Supplementary Table 2**). Moreover, ROC analysis showed good accuracy of the left VTA-left VS rsFC (AUC = 70%, SN = 87.9%, SP = 51.5%, OR = 7.703, P = 0.005, **Figure 3**).

Exploratory comparisons showed that, relative to HC, UD showed higher rsFC between the left VTA and the left VS (rsFC value: UD: 0.234 ± 0.236 , HC: 0.101 ± 0.137 ; P = 0.003, uncorrected), between the left VTA and the left Amy (rsFC value: UD: 0.271 \pm 0.288, HC: 0.146 \pm 0.267; P = 0.033, uncorrected), between the right VTA and the left VS (rsFC value: UD: 0.171 ± 0.228 , HC: 0.024 ± 0.234 ; *P* = 0.005, uncorrected), and between the right VTA and the right VS (rsFC value: UD: 0.205 ± 0.243 , HC: 0.077 ± 0.230 ; P = 0.015, uncorrected). Conversely, relative to HC, the tBD group showed higher rsFC between the bilateral VTA and the left Amy (left VTA-left Amy rsFC value: tBD: 0.270 ± 0.315 , HC: 0.146 ± 0.267 ; P = 0.040, uncorrected. right VTA-left Amy rsFC value: tBD: 0.290 ± 0.301 , HC: 0.126 \pm 0.286; P = 0.012, uncorrected), and lower rsFC between the right VS and the left Amy (rsFC value: tBD: 0.227 ± 0.261 , HC: 0.331 ± 0.226 ; P = 0.042, uncorrected).

Variables		tBD	110	
Variables	UD (n = 33)	(n = 33)	HC (n = 36)	P-value
Age, y	30.91 ± 8.28	31.39 ± 8.30	32.41 ± 8.86	0.684 ^b
Education, y	13.85 ± 3.02	13.88 ± 2.79	15.02 ± 2.26	0.053 ^b
Onset age, y	28.03 ± 8.97	28.48 ± 9.29		0.840 ^c
Total illness duration, mo	33.64 ± 53.31	40.50 ± 62.20		0.632 ^c
Current episode duration, mo	7.55 ± 12.81	4.92 ± 4.97		0.279 ^c
Number of episode	1.82 ± 1.26	2.09 ± 1.36		0.400 ^c
Total score of HAMD-17	20.76 ± 9.26	22.27 ± 7.27		0.462 ^c
Family history of AD	1 (3.0%)	4 (12.1%)		0.355 ^a
Chronicity	5 (15.2%)	7 (21.2%)		0.751 ^a
Refractory	3 (9.1%)	3 (9.1%)		1.000 ^a
Suicide attempt	5 (15.2%)	11 (33.3%)		0.150 ^a
Diurnal depression variance	15 (45.5%)	14 (42.4%)		1.000 ^a
Treatment				
SSRI/SNRI	20/13	18/15		0.618 ^a
Stabilizer	5 (15.2%)	9 (27.3%)		0.228 ^a
rTMS	4 (12.1%)	4 (12.1%)		1.000 ^a
MECT	4 (12.1%)	6 (18.2%)		0.733 ^a

UD, unipolar depression; tBD, transformed bipolar depression; HC, health control; HAMD, Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; AD, affective disorder; SSRI, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; SNRI, serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor; rTMS, repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation; MECT, modified electroconvulsive therapy.

^aThe P-value was obtained by two-tailed Pearson chi-square t-test.

^bData presented as the range of minimum-maximum (mean ± SD). The P-value was obtained by one-way analysis of variance.

^cData presented as the range of minimum-maximum (mean ± SD). The P-value was obtained by two-sample two-tailed t-test.





Unfortunately, these rsFC difference did not survive after FDR correction (Figures 1, 2).

DISCUSSION

This longitudinal study directly compared baseline rsFC within the reward circuit between tBD and UD. Consistent with our hypothesis, results showed that BD (in the depressive state before suffering from any mania/hypomania episodes) differed from UD in rsFC between the left VTA and the left VS. This result was not confounded by soft bipolar indications encompassing family history of affective disorder, refractory bipolar, or suicide attempt. The rsFC difference accounted for accurate differentiation between bipolar and UD in ROC analysis, which may contribute to the early distinction between the two affective disorders in depressive states.

Our main finding was that tBD showed lower VTA-VS rsFC compared with UD. The VTA and NAcc (main part of the VS) are key mesolimbic nodes in the reward circuit (Haber and Knutson, 2010), which are connected by the medial forebrain bundle (Keller et al., 2013). Dopamine projections from the VTA (site of dopamine neurons) to the NAcc represent the primary pathway in the reward circuit (Padoa-Schioppa and Cai, 2011;



Russo and Nestler, 2013). Important aspects of reward processing are coded by dopaminergic neurons arising from the VTA and projecting to the ventral striatum (VS) via the mesolimbic pathway. The VTA-VS dopamine system has been found to be of eminent importance in a variety of motivated behaviors and cognition (Camara et al., 2009). VTA dopamine signals are suggested to modulate blood oxygenation level dependent (BOLD) signaling in the NAcc (Knutson and Gibbs, 2007), and is known to be crucial for reward processing (Padoa-Schioppa and Cai, 2011). Additionally, the VTA and the VS (NAcc) receive a multitude of afferents from cortical areas (medial prefrontal cortex, mOFC, dorsal ACC), limbic regions (Amy, hippocampus) and other brain regions implicated in reward processing (Camara et al., 2009; Russo and Nestler, 2013; Yetnikoff et al., 2014). Aberrant VS rsFC was suggested to reflect distributed striatal integration of coalescing signals from an impaired reward circuit (Pan et al., 2017). In our present study, resting-state functional synchronicity was different between patients in the prodromal phase of BD (tBD) and UD, but this difference was limited to the left VTA and left VS (center of the reward circuit). Meanwhile, no functional synchronicity differences were found in the rest of the reward circuit. This could explain why symptoms in depressive episode of tBD and UD were similar. On the other hand, reduced rsFC of the VTA-VS could be reflective of an impaired dopamine signaling system. Therefore, lower rsFC of VTA-VS may indicate that depression related to BD may be more severe than that of UD. The rsFC differences between the left VTA and the left VS in our study possibly indicate divergent dysfunction in the reward circuit.

Numerous task-related fMRI studies have verified reward circuit dysfunction of hyperactivation (or hyperconnectivity) in BD (Nusslock et al., 2012; Schreiter et al., 2016) and hypoactivation (or hypoconnectivity) in UD (Ubl et al., 2015;

Gong et al., 2017), respectively. The only study directly investigating rsFC within the reward circuit between BD and UD, to our knowledge, reported higher functional connectivity at resting state within the reward system, including the VS, VTA, anterior insula and thalamus in BD compared with UD (Satterthwaite et al., 2015). These are contrary to our present results of lower VTA-VS rsFC. Such a discrepancy could due to the fact that patients labeled as BD in Satterthwaite's study already experienced mania/hypomania before fMRI scanning, unlike our prodromal "bipolar" depressive ones. Similarly, the abovementioned study failed to find any significant differences of rsFC within the reward circuit between BD and HC as we did in the present study. Although speculative, it is possible that functional synchronicity of the reward circuit at rest is normal in depressive episodes, but already different between patients in the prodromal phase of BD and those with UD. As diagnosis of BD is precisely established at the onset of mania, the reward circuit is impaired severely enough and overreacts to reward stimuli during tasks (Alloy et al., 2015). There is lower functional synchronicity within the reward circuit at rest before mania but higher during tasks in BD vs. UD; such low-to-high fluctuation prompts more serious impairments in BD, which could be supported by the evidence of reward hypersensitivity in BD and hyposensitivity in UD (Alloy et al., 2016).

Notably, differences in rsFC within the reward circuit were only demonstrated between the VTA and the VS, which could be explained by several reasons. On one hand, the VTA-VS system, as an essential pathway in the reward circuit (Russo and Nestler, 2013), might be the first or optimal feature for the early distinction of bipolar from unipolar. On the other hand, the current methodology of fMRI rsFC is useful but maybe not powerful enough to detect other identification, which will be achieved by future developments in neuroimaging.

Limitation

Some limitations should be considered. First, UD patients enrolled in this study still have the possibility to manifest BD in the future (Ratheesh et al., 2017). In light of this point, grouping is not absolutely correct. To reduce this potential impact, the diagnoses of MDD in the UD group were confirmed by a followup lasting of no less than 3 years. Such a follow-up design and the transition rate (8.6~25%) (Holma et al., 2008; Gilman et al., 2012; Woo et al., 2015; Bukh et al., 2016; Holmskov et al., 2017; Ratheesh et al., 2017) limited the sample size of UD and tBD, respectively. Secondly, an additional resting-state fMRI scan at the end of the follow-up, especially for tBD, may replicate previously consistent findings (reward hyperactivity in BD and hypoactivity in UD) (Alloy et al., 2016), which would make our conclusion more reliable. Although in the absence of such additional data due to retrospective design, our findings did expand the knowledge of BD in the prodromal stage. Lastly, the measure of functional connectivity fails to illustrate the direction of abnormal brain interaction due to the relatively low time resolution of rs-fMRI data (common in most other rs-fMRI studies). Developing more advanced neuroimaging techniques may help overcome this disadvantage in future.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the present study verified the hypothesis that bipolar disorder, in its prodromal stage of mania/hypomania, differs from UD in the reward circuit of VTA-VS functional synchronicity during resting-state, which exhibited good accuracy for early distinction between the two mood disorders. Our findings, together with the previous reward hypersensitivity theory, might indirectly indicate more severe impairment of the reward circuit in bipolar disorder.

REFERENCES

- Alloy, L. B., Nusslock, R., and Boland, E. M. (2015). The development and course of bipolar spectrum disorders: an integrated reward and circadian rhythm dysregulation model. *Ann. Rev. Clin. Psychol.* 11, 213–250. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-clinpsy-032814-112902
- Alloy, L. B., Olino, T., Freed, R. D., and Nusslock, R. (2016). Role of reward sensitivity and processing in major depressive and bipolar spectrum disorders. *Behav. Ther.* 47, 600–621. doi: 10.1016/j.beth.2016.02.014
- Ambrosi, E., Arciniegas, D. B., Madan, A., Curtis, K. N., Patriquin, M. A., Jorge, R. E., et al. (2017). Insula and amygdala resting-state functional connectivity differentiate bipolar from unipolar depression. *Acta Psychiatry Scand.* 136, 129–139. doi: 10.1111/acps.12724
- Angst, J., Adolfsson, R., Benazzi, F., Gamma, A., Hantouche, E., Meyer, T. D., et al. (2005). The HCL-32: towards a self-assessment tool for hypomanic symptoms in outpatients. J. Affect. Disord. 88, 217–233. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2005.05.011
- Avinun, R., Nevo, A., Knodt, A. R., Elliott, M. L., Radtke, S. R., Brigidi, B. D., et al. (2017). Reward-related ventral striatum activity buffers against the experience of depressive symptoms associated with sleep disturbances. *J. Neurosci.* 37, 9724–9729. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1734-17.2017
- Baldessarini, R. J., Faedda, G. L., Offidani, E., Vazquez, G. H., Marangoni, C., Serra, G., et al. (2013). Antidepressant-associated mood-switching and transition from unipolar major depression to bipolar disorder: a review. J. Affect. Disord. 148, 129–135. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2012. 10.033

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ZY and QL designed the experiments. JS and JG performed the experiments. JS wrote the manuscript. JG, RY, XL, and RZ contributed to clinical data collection and assessment. JG, XW, JS, MX, and KB analyzed the results. ZY, QL, and JS approved the final manuscript. All authors assisted with carrying out the experiments.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grants Nos. 81571639, 61372032, and 81871066), Jiangsu Provincial Medical Innovation Team of the Project of Invigorating Health Care through Science, Technology and Education (CXTDC2016004), Jiangsu Provincial key research and development program (BE2018609), the National High Technology Research and Development Program (863 Program) of China (Program No. 2015AA020509), the Young Medical Talents Foundation of Jiangsu Province, China (Program No. QNRC2016050), and Nanjing Science and Technology Development Project, Jiangsu Province, China (Program No. YKK15110). The funding organizations played no role in the study design, data collection and analysis, or manuscript approval.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2018.02586/full#supplementary-material

- Bartra, O., McGuire, J. T., and Kable, J. W. (2013). The valuation system: a coordinate-based meta-analysis of BOLD fMRI experiments examining neural correlates of subjective value. *Neuroimage* 76, 412–427. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2013.02.063
- Bowden, C. L. (2010). Diagnosis, treatment, and recovery maintenance in bipolar depression. J. Clin. Psychiatry 71:e01. doi: 10.4088/JCP.8125cc5c
- Bowden, C. L., Singh, V., Thompson, P., Gonzalez, J. M., Katz, M. M., Dahl, M., et al. (2007). Development of the bipolar inventory of symptoms scale. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 116, 189–194. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2006. 00955.x
- Bukh, J. D., Andersen, P. K., and Kessing, L. V. (2016). Rates and predictors of remission, recurrence and conversion to bipolar disorder after the first lifetime episode of depression- a prospective 5-year follow-up study. *Psychol. Med.* 46, 1151–1161. doi: 10.1017/S0033291715002676
- Camara, E., Rodriguez-Fornells, A., Ye, Z., and Munte, T. F. (2009). Reward networks in the brain as captured by connectivity measures. *Front. Neurosci.* 3, 350–362. doi: 10.3389/neuro.01.034.2009
- Damme, K. S., Young, C. B., and Nusslock, R. (2017). Elevated nucleus accumbens structural connectivity associated with proneness to hypomania: a reward hypersensitivity perspective. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 12, 928–936. doi: 10. 1093/scan/nsx017
- Dias, T. G. C., Wilson, V. B., Bathula, D. R., Iyer, S. P., Mills, K. L., Thurlow, B. L., et al. (2013). Reward circuit connectivity relates to delay discounting in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Eur. Neuropsychopharm.* 23, 33–45. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2012.10.015

- Dudek, D., Siwek, M., Zielinska, D., Jaeschke, R., and Rybakowski, J. (2013). Diagnostic conversions from major depressive disorder into bipolar disorder in an outpatient setting: results of a retrospective chart review. J. Affect. Disord. 144, 112–115. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2012.06.014
- Dutra, S. J., Cunningham, W. A., Kober, H., and Gruber, J. (2015). Elevated striatal reactivity across monetary and social rewards in bipolar I disorder. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 124, 890–904. doi: 10.1037/abn0000092
- Dutra, S. J., Man, V., Kober, H., Cunningham, W. A., and Gruber, J. (2017). Disrupted cortico-limbic connectivity during reward processing in remitted bipolar I disorder. *Bipolar Disord.* 19, 661–675. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12560
- Etain, B., Lajnef, M., Bellivier, F., Mathieu, F., Raust, A., Cochet, B., et al. (2012). Clinical expression of bipolar disorder type I as a function of age and polarity at onset: convergent findings in samples from France and the United States. J. Clin. Psychiatry 73, e561–e566. doi: 10.4088/JCP.10m06504
- Felger, J. C., Li, Z., Haroon, E., Woolwine, B. J., Jung, M. Y., Hu, X., et al. (2016). Inflammation is associated with decreased functional connectivity within corticostriatal reward circuitry in depression. *Mol. Psychiatry* 21, 1358–1365. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.168
- Fischer, A. S., Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., Roth, R. M., Brunette, M. F., and Green, A. I. (2014). Impaired functional connectivity of brain reward circuitry in patients with schizophrenia and cannabis use disorder: effects of cannabis and THC. *Schizophrenia Res.* 158, 176–182. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.04.033
- Foti, D., Carlson, J. M., Sauder, C. L., and Proudfit, G. H. (2014). Reward dysfunction in major depression: multimodal neuroimaging evidence for refining the melancholic phenotype. *Neuroimage* 101, 50–58. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2014.06.058
- Gilman, S. E., Dupuy, J. M., and Perlis, R. H. (2012). Risks for the transition from major depressive disorder to bipolar disorder in the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions. J. Clin. Psychiatry 73, 829–836. doi: 10.4088/JCP.11m06912
- Gong, L., Yin, Y., He, C., Ye, Q., Bai, F., Yuan, Y., et al. (2017). Disrupted reward circuits is associated with cognitive deficits and depression severity in major depressive disorder. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 84, 9–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016. 09.016
- Goodwin, G. M. (2012). Bipolar depression and treatment with antidepressants. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 200, 5–6. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111.095349
- Goya-Maldonado, R., Brodmann, K., Keil, M., Trost, S., Dechent, P., and Gruber, O. (2016). Differentiating unipolar and bipolar depression by alterations in largescale brain networks. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 37, 808–818. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23070
- Haber, S. N., and Knutson, B. (2010). The reward circuit: linking primate anatomy and human imaging. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35, 4–26. doi: 10.1038/npp. 2009.129
- Hamilton, M. (1960). A rating scale for depression. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 23, 56–62. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.23.1.56
- Hirschfeld, R. M., Lewis, L., and Vornik, L. A. (2003). Perceptions and impact of bipolar disorder: how far have we really come? Results of the national depressive and manic-depressive association 2000 survey of individuals with bipolar disorder. *J. Clin. Psychiatry* 64, 161–174. doi: 10.4088/JCP. v64n0209
- Hirschfeld, R. M., Williams, J. B., Spitzer, R. L., Calabrese, J. R., Flynn, L., Keck, P. E., et al. (2000). Development and validation of a screening instrument for bipolar spectrum disorder: the Mood Disorder Questionnaire. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 157, 1873–1875. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.157.11.1873
- Holma, K. M., Melartin, T. K., Holma, I. A. K., and Isometsa, E. T. (2008). Predictors for switch from unipolar major depressive disorder to bipolar disorder type I or II: a 5-year prospective study. *J. Clin. Psychiatr.* 69, 1267–1275. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v69n0809
- Holmskov, J., Licht, R. W., Andersen, K., Bjerregaard Stage, T., Morkeberg Nilsson, F., Bjerregaard Stage, K., et al. (2017). Diagnostic conversion to bipolar disorder in unipolar depressed patients participating in trials on antidepressants. *Eur. Psychiatry* 40, 76–81. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2016.08.006
- Kahn, I., and Shohamy, D. (2013). Intrinsic connectivity between the hippocampus, nucleus accumbens, and ventral tegmental area in humans. *Hippocampus* 23, 187–192. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22077
- Keller, J., Young, C. B., Kelley, E., Prater, K., Levitin, D. J., and Menon, V. (2013). Trait anhedonia is associated with reduced reactivity and connectivity of mesolimbic and paralimbic reward pathways. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 47, 1319–1328. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.05.015

- Knutson, B., and Gibbs, S. E. (2007). Linking nucleus accumbens dopamine and blood oxygenation. *Psychopharmacology* 191, 813–822. doi: 10.1007/s00213-006-0686-7
- Kramer, B., Diekhof, E. K., and Gruber, O. (2017). Effects of city living on the mesolimbic reward system-An fmri study. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* doi: 10.1002/ hbm.23600 [Epub ahead of print].
- Murray, C. J., and Lopez, A. D. (1997). Global mortality, disability, and the contribution of risk factors: Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet* 349, 1436–1442. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(96)07495-8
- Nichols, T. E., and Holmes, A. P. (2002). Nonparametric permutation tests for functional neuroimaging: a primer with examples. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 15, 1–25. doi: 10.1002/hbm.1058
- Nusslock, R., Almeida, J. R., Forbes, E. E., Versace, A., Frank, E., Labarbara, E. J., et al. (2012). Waiting to win: elevated striatal and orbitofrontal cortical activity during reward anticipation in euthymic bipolar disorder adults. *Bipolar Disord.* 14, 249–260. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2012.01012.x
- Ostergaard, S. D., Straszek, S., Petrides, G., Skadhede, S., Jensen, S. O. W., Munk-Jorgensen, P., et al. (2014). Risk factors for conversion from unipolar psychotic depression to bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord.* 16, 180–189. doi: 10.1111/bdi. 12152
- Padoa-Schioppa, C., and Cai, X. (2011). The orbitofrontal cortex and the computation of subjective value: consolidated concepts and new perspectives. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1239, 130–137. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011. 06262.x
- Pan, P. M., Sato, J. R., Salum, G. A., Rohde, L. A., Gadelha, A., Zugman, A., et al. (2017). Ventral striatum functional connectivity as a predictor of adolescent depressive disorder in a longitudinal community-based sample. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 174, 1112–1119. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.17040430
- Pizzagalli, D. A., Holmes, A. J., Dillon, D. G., Goetz, E. L., Birk, J. L., Bogdan, R., et al. (2009). Reduced caudate and nucleus accumbens response to rewards in unmedicated individuals with major depressive disorder. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 166, 702–710. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2008.08081201
- Ratheesh, A., Davey, C., Hetrick, S., Alvarez-Jimenez, M., Voutier, C., Bechdolf, A., et al. (2017). A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective transition from major depression to bipolar disorder. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 135, 273–284. doi: 10.1111/acps.12686
- Redlich, R., Almeida, J. J., Grotegerd, D., Opel, N., Kugel, H., Heindel, W., et al. (2014). Brain morphometric biomarkers distinguishing unipolar and bipolar depression. A voxel-based morphometry-pattern classification approach. *JAMA Psychiatr.* 71, 1222–1230. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.1100
- Redlich, R., Dohm, K., Grotegerd, D., Opel, N., Zwitserlood, P., Heindel, W., et al. (2015). Reward processing in unipolar and bipolar depression: a functional MRI Study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 40, 2623–2631. doi: 10.1038/npp.2015.110
- Rive, M. M., Redlich, R., Schmaal, L., Marquand, A. F., Dannlowski, U., Grotegerd, D., et al. (2016). Distinguishing medication-free subjects with unipolar disorder from subjects with bipolar disorder: State matters. *Bipolar Disord*. 18, 612–623. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12446
- Russo, S. J., and Nestler, E. J. (2013). The brain reward circuitry in mood disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 14, 609–625. doi: 10.1038/nrn3381
- Sacchet, M. D., Livermore, E. E., Iglesias, J. E., Glover, G. H., and Gotlib, I. H. (2015). Subcortical volumes differentiate major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, and remitted major depressive disorder. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 68, 91–98. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2015.06.002
- Satterthwaite, T. D., Kable, J. W., Vandekar, L., Katchmar, N., Bassett, D. S., Baldassano, C. F., et al. (2015). Common and dissociable dysfunction of the reward system in bipolar and unipolar depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 40, 2258–2268. doi: 10.1038/npp.2015.75
- Schreiter, S., Spengler, S., Willert, A., Mohnke, S., Herold, D., Erk, S., et al. (2016). Neural alterations of fronto-striatal circuitry during reward anticipation in euthymic bipolar disorder. *Psychol. Med.* 46, 3187–3198. doi: 10.1017/ S0033291716001963
- Sharma, A., Satterthwaite, T. D., Vandekar, L., Katchmar, N., Daldal, A., Ruparel, K., et al. (2016). Divergent relationship of depression severity to social reward responses among patients with bipolar versus unipolar depression. *Psychiatry Res. Neuroimaging* 254, 18–25. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2016. 06.003
- Sheehan, D. V., Lecrubier, Y., Sheehan, K. H., Amorim, P., Janavs, J., Weiller, E., et al. (1998). The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the

development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. *J. Clin. Psychiatry* 59(Suppl. 20), 22–33; quiz 34–57.

- Solomon, D. A., Leon, A. C., Maser, J. D., Truman, C. J., Coryell, W., Endicott, J., et al. (2006). Distinguishing bipolar major depression from unipolar major depression with the screening assessment of depressionpolarity (SAD-P). J. Clin. Psychiatry 67, 434–442. doi: 10.4088/JCP. v67n0315
- Stoy, M., Schlagenhauf, F., Sterzer, P., Bermpohl, F., Hagele, C., Suchotzki, K., et al. (2012). Hyporeactivity of ventral striatum towards incentive stimuli in unmedicated depressed patients normalizes after treatment with escitalopram. J. Psychopharmacol. 26, 677–688. doi: 10.1177/0269881111 416686
- Tomasi, D., and Volkow, N. D. (2014). Functional connectivity of substantia nigra and ventral tegmental area: maturation during adolescence and effects of ADHD. Cereb. Cortex 24, 935–944. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhs382
- Tondo, L., Lepri, B., Cruz, N., and Baldessarini, R. J. (2010). Age at onset in 3014 Sardinian bipolar and major depressive disorder patients. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 121, 446–452. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2009.01523.x
- Tondo, L., Visioli, C., Preti, A., and Baldessarini, R. J. (2014). Bipolar disorders following initial depression: modeling predictive clinical factors. J. Affect. Disord. 167, 44–49. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.05.043

- Ubl, B., Kuehner, C., Kirsch, P., Ruttorf, M., Diener, C., and Flor, H. (2015). Altered neural reward and loss processing and prediction error signalling in depression. *Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci.* 10, 1102–1112. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsu158
- Woo, Y. S., Shim, I. H., Wang, H. R., Song, H. R., Jun, T. Y., and Bahk, W. M. (2015). A diagnosis of bipolar spectrum disorder predicts diagnostic conversion from unipolar depression to bipolar disorder: a 5-year retrospective study. J. Affect. Disord. 174, 83–88. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.11.034
- Yetnikoff, L., Lavezzi, H. N., Reichard, R. A., and Zahm, D. S. (2014). An update on the connections of the ventral mesencephalic dopaminergic complex. *Neuroscience* 282, 23–48. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.04.010

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Shi, Geng, Yan, Liu, Chen, Zhu, Wang, Shao, Bi, Xiao, Yao and Lu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Electrophysiological Characteristics in Depressive Personality Disorder: An Event-Related Potential Study

Hong-Hua Yu^{1†}, Si-meng Gu^{2†}, Fang-Min Yao³, Zhi-Ren Wang^{1*} and Wen-Qing Fu^{3*}

¹ Beijing Huilongguan Hospital, Peking University, Beijing, China, ² School of Psychology, Jiangsu University Medical Center, Zhenjiang, China, ³ Department of Psychology, Medical College of Suzhou University, Suzhou, China

This study aimed to investigate the neurophysiological characteristics of young people with depressive personality disorder using event-related potentials (ERP). To explore the effects of visual-emotional words on ERP, mainly N350, we recruited 19 individuals with a depressive personality disorder and 10 healthy controls. ERP were recorded while the subjects took decisions on target words that were classified into three categories: emotionally positive, negative, and neutral. The ERP signals were then separately averaged according to the subjects' classifications. Data analysis showed that the amplitude of N350 was larger in response to positive and negative words than to neutral words. The latency of N350 was longer in negative words, in contrast with positive and neutral words. However, no difference was found between the two groups. These results suggest that neurophysiological characteristics of young people with a depressive personality traits. To some extent, N350 reflected semantic processes and was not sensitive to participants' mood state.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fang Pan, Shandong University, China

Reviewed by:

Wenhai Zhang, Hengyang Normal University, China Daxing Wu, Central South University, China

*Correspondence:

Zhi-Ren Wang zhiren75@163.com Wen-Qing Fu fuwenqing@suda.edu.cn [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 08 July 2018 Accepted: 17 December 2018 Published: 10 January 2019

Citation:

Yu H-H, Gu S-m, Yao F-M, Wang Z-R and Fu W-Q (2019) Electrophysiological Characteristics in Depressive Personality Disorder: An Event-Related Potential Study. Front. Psychol. 9:2711. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02711 Keywords: depressive personality disorder, event related potential, N350, emotion, word classification

INTRODUCTION

A great deal of evidence has accumulated in clinical neurophysiology concerning cognitive functions in depressive patients (Mao et al., 2005; Krompinger and Simons, 2011; Dai and Feng, 2012; Zhao et al., 2015; Kiang et al., 2017; Xie et al., 2018). However, only a few studies have focused on the depressive personality disorder (DPS) in healthy young populations (Shimizu et al., 2006). College is an important period for individuals in their lifelong psychological development. Childhood negative or traumatic experiences, the pressure of adapting to new environments, together with the uncertainties of the future, exert many negative effects on the personality composition of college students, some of whom develop depressive personality. Therefore, the purpose of the present study is to explore the neurophysiological characteristics of young people with depressive personality disorder.

Similar to clinically depressed subjects, individuals with depressive personality traits are usually somber, restrained, and socially regressive (Noordhof et al., 2018). Since the application of event-related potentials (ERP) technology has been undertaken to explore neural physiological aspects of depression (MacNamara et al., 2016; Kiang et al., 2017), many ERP abnormalities have been reported to be related to depression. For example, it was found that depressive patients had smaller N400s than controls, specifically for negative adjectives, suggesting that depression is

45

associated with stronger-than-normal functional neural links between self-concept and negative characteristics (Kiang et al., 2017). A study aimed to investigate the intensity of evaluation of social stimuli in depression and showed that participants with depression had higher intensity scores for sad faces compared with the normal control group, longer reaction times for all faces compared with other groups, and higher P1 and P2 amplitude for sad faces compared with other faces. This finding suggested that the participants with depression were more receptive to negative facial expressions (Dai and Feng, 2012). MacNamara examined emotional processing abnormalities among 97 outpatients with generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) or major depressive disorder (MDD) using the late positive potential (LPP) and found that both diagnoses were associated with increased LPP. Both MDD and GAD were associated with an increased reaction time to targets that followed emotional pictures (MacNamara et al., 2016). Hui Xie examined the intentional forgetting of negative and neutral material in individuals with depressive tendencies. The results indicated that individuals with depressive tendencies had difficulties suppressing the memory encoding with negative words, while the suppression of memory encoding of neutral words was relatively intact. Furthermore, compared to individuals without depressive tendencies, depressive individuals had larger word-evoked P2 and late positive potential for negative items, as well as enhanced cue-evoked P1 and N2 for the negative items which were required to be forgotten (Xie et al., 2018).

According to the previous studies, N350 was identified as a phonological/lexical component (Bentin et al., 1999; Spironelli and Angrilli, 2009; Spironelli and Angrilli, 2015); moreover, other researchers found that negative components during 300-400 ms activated by emotional words significantly differed from those by neutral words (Kissler et al., 2006; Kiefer et al., 2007; Herbert et al., 2008; Fan et al., 2016). These results put forward a question concerning why there were differences in these ERP components between emotional and neutral words if they only manifested phonological/lexical processing. As we know, phonological units of words are associated with meanings; yet we can recognize phonological units as words without knowing exactly what they mean. Therefore, these 300-400 ms negative components should participate in at least part of the semantic task in visual word recognition. There was evidence for N400 to be sensitive to semantic deviations for stimuli with a semantic context (Kiefer, 2002; Briesemeister et al., 2014). However, to the best of our knowledge, studies exploring whether N350 will be affected by emotional content of words are rare. One of the goals of the present study was to bridge this gap.

Another reason why we examined N350 was that a number of studies suggested that both a word's emotional content and the participants' emotional state may affect the N400 ERP response (Chung et al., 1996; Federmeier et al., 2001; Kiefer, 2002). Yet, for the time being, very few studies have investigated the impact of the subjects' emotional state on the N350 component.

In the present study, 19 undergraduate students who met the diagnostic criteria of depressive personality disorder (DPS) and 10 healthy undergraduate students participated. Our goals included examining how visual-emotional words affected word recognition processing in a mild depressive state of young persons through recorded ERP, mainly the N350 component, and whether the emotional state of participants would have any effect on the ERP or N350.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

Participants were drawn from an initial sample of 1999 undergraduate students from Grade One and Grade Two of Suzhou University. Fifty-three students with depressive personality traits screened by Personality Disorder Diagnosis Questionnaire, Fourth Edition (PDQ^{4+}) were further diagnosed by the Personality Disorder Interview (PDI-IV) semi-structured interview. Nineteen individuals finally diagnosed with depressive personality disorder took park in the study as the DPS group: (9 female, mean age 20.21 years). All 19 subjects did not take any antidepressants or other psychotropic drugs. Ten healthy undergraduates participated as the normal control group (6 female, mean age 19.70 years). With respect to exclusion criteria, participants in both groups should not have been diagnosed with psychiatric disorders including schizophrenia, affective disorder, bipolar disorder, intellectual disability, substance abuse, and dementia, as well as chronic medical disorders including endocrine disorders, cardiovascular disorders, and diseases related to the central nervous system. This study protocol conformed to the ethical guidelines of Suzhou University and was approved by the institutional ethics committee (the Ethic Committee of Suzhou University). Written informed consent was obtained from each participant.

Questionnaires

Personality Disorder Diagnosis Questionnaire, Fourth Edition (PDQ⁺⁴)

The PDQ⁺⁴, designed by Dr. Hyler according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders Fourth Edition (DSM-IV) diagnostic criteria for personality disorders, was used to assess whether an individual has personality disorders traits. Dr. Jian Yang translated it into Chinese in 1996. The validity and reliability of the questionnaire were tested by Yun-ping Yang in 2002. Research showed that the PDQ⁺⁴ is high in sensitivity and low in specificity and could be used as a personality disorder screening questionnaire (Yang et al., 2002).

Personality Disorder Interview (PDI-IV)

The PDI-IV, a semi-structured interview instrument, developed by Dr. Thomas A. Widiger according to the DSM-IV, was employed to diagnose the 12 personality disorders. The PDI-IV provided a set of 3–5 consistent questions for each diagnostic criterion of the 12 personality disorders. The interviewer can give more detailed explanations for each question to ensure that the subjects understand what the questions mean. The PDI-IV evaluation is in the form of a 3-point scale, that is, from 0 to 2, where "0" means that there is no corresponding symptom, "1" is equal to the existence of the corresponding symptom, "2" is equal to the existence of a more serious or more corresponding symptoms. The original scale of the positive demarcation was 4–5 points, and the test takes about 20–30 min. The reliability between different interviewers was 0.34–0.89, with the mean being 0.74 (Yang et al., 2000).

Experimental Instruments and Stimuli

Electroencephalographs (EEGs) were recorded from 30 scalp locations over both hemispheres by a 64-channel electroencephalograph using 64 electrodes. The general experimental procedure, selection of stimuli, and stimulus presentation closely followed that of former studies (Blackburn et al., 1990; Dietrich et al., 2000; Yao et al., 2004). Two hundred Chinese mood words (each word containing two Chinese characters) were selected from the standardized Chinese mood words system, 40 of which were positive adjectives (i.e., industrious, modest, and dignified) as target stimuli accounting for 20% of the stimuli; 40 were negative adjectives (i.e., sad, gloomy, and angry) as target stimuli accounting for 20% of the stimuli; and 120 were neutral nouns (i.e., river, wood, and glass) as non-target stimuli accounting for 60% of the stimuli.

Procedure

Research Team Members Training

The team consisted of two clinical psychologists and two graduate students majoring in medical psychology. The one-week training included studying the instruments, and practice for the interview was held before the use of the PDQ⁺⁴ and PDI-IV to ensure consistency in comprehension and practice between the team members. The PDQ⁺⁴ was distributed among the undergraduate students and the positively screen individuals were interviewed using the PDI-IV to diagnose the personality disorders.

Stimuli and Tasks

The subjects were 19 undergraduate students, who met the depressive personality disorder diagnostic criteria and 10 normal students. Both groups were instructed to perform a target words classification task. The experimental procedure was programmed using E-prime. The 200 Chinese words were presented randomly on the computer screen. Each word was presented for 500 ms, with the SOA (stimulus onset asynchrony) being 1800 ms. The whole experiment consisted of 6 blocks. Block 1 was presented as a sample trial; Blocks 2-6 were then presented subsequently, each of which lasted 4 min. The subjects were instructed to stay awake with their eyes-opened and were tested in a quiet room (sound was attenuated and the temperature was controlled at 25°C). They were instructed to respond by pressing keys when they saw mood adjectives. In this experiment, odd-numbered subjects were requested to press the F key rapidly with the left forefinger as soon as they saw positive mood words, to press the J key with the right forefinger as soon as they saw negative words, and not to press any key when they saw neutral words. Evennumbered subjects were requested to press the opposite pattern of keys. The reaction time and accuracy of the subjects' words classification were recorded.

ERP Recording and Quantification

Electroencephalograms were recorded using bilateral mastoids as reference. Horizontal electro-oculograms (EOGs) were recorded differentially from the outer canthi of each eye and vertical EOGs from supra and infraorbital sites. Electrode cream was applied between the electrodes and scalp to maintain the impedances at 5kV or less. EEGs were recorded continuously and processed off-line overlaid. EOGs were corrected automatically using Neuroscan. Other artifacts were also fully rejected. Recorded EEGs were classified into three kinds of ERPs as positive, negative, and neutral words, and overlaid separately; the amplitude and peak latency were measured automatically. N350 was investigated in a time-window of 300-400 ms and was calculated as the mean amplitude (Bentin et al., 1999; Schendan and Kutas, 2007). We defined interest regions of Fz, F3, F4, Cz, and Pz to test the N350 component (Shen et al., 2013), and the average of the regions was calculated. The scalp distribution was presented in topography.

Statistics

A statistical analysis was conducted with *t*-test and chi-square for behavioral data. EEG data were analyzed with repeated measurement ANOVA, which included between-subjects factor of group (two levels: DPS and normal control) and two withinsubjects factors: word types (three levels: positive, negative, and neutral) and electrode site (five levels: Fz, F3, F4, Cz, and Pz).

RESULTS

Comparison of the Two Groups in Word Classification

A *t*-test showed that the average response time in the DPS group (727.70 \pm 327.63) was significantly prolonged as compared to that in the normal control group (681.53 \pm 360.33) (*t* = 3.077, *p* < 0.01). A chi-square test showed that the average accuracy in the two groups was not significantly different ($\chi 2 = 0.514$, *p* > 0.05).

ERPs Evoked by Mood Words in DPS and Control Groups

Negative ERPs evoked by mood words in the two groups were named as N100 and N350 by latency period and components' serial number (**Figure 1**).

N350 Amplitude Analysis

Repeated measurement ANOVA computed on N350 amplitude showed a significant main effect of word type: F(2, 26) = 29.599, p < 0.001. Pairwise *t*-tests revealed larger N350 amplitude (i.e., more negative) for positive and negative words as compared to neutral words (p < 0.001). There were smaller N350 amplitudes for positive words as compared to negative words, but the difference was not significant. Concerning interactions, the threeway group by word type by electrode site interaction revealed no interactions between group, electrode site, and word type: F(8, 20) = 0.604, p > 0.05. The result is illustrated in **Figure 2**.





N350 Latency Analysis

Repeated measurement ANOVA computed on N350 latency showed significant main effects electrode site: F(2, 26) = 4.485, p < 0.01 and word type: F = 3.603, p < 0.05. The follow up pairwise *t*-tests revealed that Pz had shorter N350 latency than any other electrodes (p < 0.01). Negative words had longer latency than positive words (p < 0.05). Positive and neutral words, as well as negative and neutral words, did not differ. There were no interactions between the three factors: F(8, 20) = 0.735, p > 0.05. The pairwise comparisons are illustrated in **Figure 3**.

Brain Topography of ERP Components

The most obvious amplitude changes of N350 evoked by positive and negative words in normal controls were located in the frontal region (Fz), while those evoked by neutral words had no prominent changes (**Figure 4**). The obvious amplitude changes of N350 evoked by positive and negative words in the DPS group were mainly distributed in the right parietal region (P4) and the right occipital region (O3), and that evoked by neutral words had a similar distribution, but less in extent compared to normal controls.

DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to investigate the influence of the emotional content of words on brain word recognition processing in non-medicated college students with a depressive personality disorder (n = 19) compared with a control group (n = 10) utilizing event-related brain potentials (ERPs). In a continuous word recognition paradigm, subjects were instructed to discriminate words that were classified into three

different categories of emotional content (positive, negative, and neutral).

Behavioral data showed that the response time was longer in the DPS group than in the normal control group. This result was consistent with several earlier reports (Mao et al., 2005; Shimizu et al., 2006; MacNamara et al., 2016). There was evidence that even a mild depressive state might lead to cognitive impairment such as the inability to concentrate on a task, having difficulties in comprehensive reading, and slow response to stimuli (Rosenberg et al., 2013; Chan et al., 2018). Hence, the inefficient response performance might be due to cognitive impairment in depressive individuals.

The negative deflection around 400 ms after word presentation has been known to contribute to semantic processing in healthy individuals (Kiefer et al., 2007; Herbert et al., 2008). Previous studies reported that pathological responses to words occur at a similar latency after word presentation in depressive subjects. Hideki Shimizu investigated the relationship between the ERP response of emotive words and the depression score in 35 healthy subjects with both high and low Beck Depression Inventory scores and found that the high score group had a more enhanced N400 than that in the low score group. Moreover, the peak latency of the high-scoring group was significantly longer compared to the low-scoring group at P3, Cz, and Pz sites, while there was no difference in amplitude between positive and negative words (Shimizu et al., 2006). Another study found that patients with depression had smaller N400s than controls, specifically for negative adjectives (Kiang et al., 2017). In the present study, there was no difference in N350 between the DPS and normal control groups. As we know, several researchers found that N400 was sensitive to the participants' mood state in visual word processing (Chung et al., 1996;





Federmeier et al., 2001; Kiefer, 2002). Our findings might suggest that the individual's mood state cannot be reflected as early as 350 ms after the stimuli onset.

Although there was no difference between the two groups, the amplitude of N350 activated by emotional words was

significantly larger than neutral words, while there was no significant difference between positive and negative words. According to the previous studies, N350 was identified as a phonological/lexical component (Bentin et al., 1999; Spironelli and Angrilli, 2009, 2015). However, the contradiction was that if N350 only reflected the phonological process, minor differences should exist between emotional and neutral words because we can recognize phonological units as words without knowing exactly what they mean. Furthermore, different from letter-words in Latin languages, Chinese characters are pictographs, which imply little phonology. Therefore, this result implied that the neural system had already started the semantic processing at the peak latency of about 350 ms after stimulus onset.

This hypothesis was supported by other researchers. Johanna Kissler concluded in a review article concerning visual-emotional word processing with ERP that emotional word content can activate word processing at all stages from access to word meaning (around 200 ms), to contextual integration (around 400 ms), evaluation, and memory encoding (around 600 ms). Of importance is the fact that the interpretation of N400 has changed from an index of semantic access to a signature of the interaction between single-word semantics and context. Accordingly, an abundance of evidence demonstrates that some aspects of word meaning must be active before N400 is elicited (Kissler et al., 2006). The present study adds new evidence to this supposition.

Regarding how the amplitude of N350 is larger for emotional words than neutral words, one of the most plausible explanations is that a larger amplitude reflects more neurons activated in emotional word processing. Subcortical structures, most prominently the amygdala, have been implied in all stages of the emotional content-driven amplification process (Naccache et al., 2005; Almeida et al., 2014). An fMRI study found that both negative and positive words activated the amygdala, and negative word processing revealed a positive correlation between amygdala activity and scores of trait anxiety and subclinical depression. During negative versus neutral word reading, subjects with high trait anxiety also showed a stronger functional coupling between the left amygdala and left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) (Laeger et al., 2012). Therefore, subcortical, primarily amygdala, activity may be a source of corticalamplifying mechanisms in response to emotional stimuli visible in ERPs.

An N350 latency analysis showed that negative words had longer latency than positive words. Again, no significant difference was found between the two groups. So far, we have not found the N350 component reported in depressive subjects during word recognition. In Hideki Shimizu's study, for the N400 component in the positive/negative series, the peak latency of the high-scoring group was significantly longer compared to the low-scoring group at P3, P4, Cz, and Pz sites. Hideki considered that the large and delayed N400 component was due to the enhancement and continuation of semantic processing of emotive words in high-scoring subjects, relative to that in the low-scoring group. However, there were contrary results regarding the latency of ERP. Jiu Chen used a visualemotional oddball paradigm to manipulate the processing of emotional information, while ERP was recorded in patients with major depression, and found that patients with recurrent major depression had longer N170 latencies when identifying happy and neutral faces, but shorter N170 latencies when identifying sad faces. With respect to this result, Jiu Chen

suggested it might due to a negative bias of patients with recurrent major depression who were more aroused by sad faces than other emotions(Chen et al., 2014). The presumption for these controversial results was that participants in this and Hideki Shimizu's studies were all relatively healthy young people who had depressive personality traits instead of being patients with major depression. This might suggest that the persons with a depressive personality had not yet developed a negative bias, which plays an important role in the maintenance of depressive symptoms. Their longer latency to negative words might reflect the natural bias toward positive information in normal persons. There is evidence supporting this explanation. Herbert investigated the extent to which emotional connotation influences cortical potentials during reading and revealed that healthy subjects may have a natural bias toward pleasant information, facilitating late ERPs (N400, LPP) to pleasant adjectives as well as their superior recall (Herbert et al., 2008).

The lack of group differences in the current study probably lay on two reasons. First, the sample size of normal controls was relatively small, which could affect the explanation of our results. Second, all participants were college students whose social function was normal, though the DPS subjects met the diagnostic criteria of depressive personality disorder.

CONCLUSION

In sum, the current study demonstrated the effects of emotional word content on N350 cortical indices during a continuous word recognition paradigm in DPS and normal control groups. For the N350 component, our analysis was exploratory because, as yet, very few studies have investigated the impact of emotional content on this component. However, the effects of facilitated cortical processing in emotional words, reflected by larger N350 amplitudes for positive and negative words as opposed to neutral words and longer N350 latency for negative words compared to positive and neutral words, provide strong evidence for the notion that N350 also reflected semantic processes and was not sensitive to participants' mood state. No difference between the two groups might imply that neurophysiological characteristics of young people with a depressive personality disorder have not yet been influenced by their personality traits.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

W-QF and Z-RW designed the experiments. H-HY, F-MY, and S-mG performed the experiments. H-HY and S-mG wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Beijing Municipal Science and Technology Project (Z181100001518005).

REFERENCES

- Almeida, P. R., Ferreira-Santos, F., Vieira, J. B., Moreira, P. S., Barbosa, F., and Marques-Teixeira, J. (2014). Dissociable effects of psychopathic traits on cortical and subcortical visual pathways during facial emotion processing: an ERP study on the N170. *Psychophysiology* 51, 645–657. doi: 10.1111/psyp. 12209
- Bentin, S., Mouchetant-Rostaing, Y., Giard, M. H., Echallier, J. F., and Pernier, J. (1999). ERP manifestations of processing printed words at different psycholinguistic levels: time course and scalp distribution. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 11, 235–260. doi: 10.1162/089892999563373
- Blackburn, I. M., Roxborough, H. M., Muir, W. J., Glabus, M., and Blackwood, D. H. (1990). Perceptual and physiological dysfunction in depression. *Psychol. Med.* 20, 95–103. doi: 10.1017/S003329170001326X
- Briesemeister, B. B., Kuchinke, L., and Jacobs, A. M. (2014). Emotion word recognition: discrete information effects first, continuous later? *Brain Res.* 1564, 62–71. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.03.045
- Chan, C. K., Soldan, A., Pettigrew, C., Wang, M. C., Wang, J., Albert, M. S., et al. (2018). Depressive symptoms in relation to clinical symptom onset of mild cognitive impairment. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* doi: 10.1017/S1041610218001138 [Epub ahead of print].
- Chen, J., Ma, W., Zhang, Y., Wu, X., Wei, D., Liu, G., et al. (2014). Distinct facial processing related negative cognitive bias in first-episode and recurrent major depression: evidence from the N170 ERP component. *PLoS One* 9:e109176. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0109176
- Chung, G., Tucker, D. M., West, P., Potts, G. F., Liotti, M., Luu, P., et al. (1996). Emotional expectancy: brain electrical activity associated with an emotional bias in interpreting life events. *Psychophysiology* 33, 218–233. doi: 10.1111/j. 1469-8986.1996.tb00419.x
- Dai, Q., and Feng, Z. (2012). More excited for negative facial expressions in depression: evidence from an event-related potential study. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 123, 2172–2179. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2012.04.018
- Dietrich, D. E., Emrich, H. M., Waller, C., Wieringa, B. M., Johannes, S., and Munte, T. F. (2000). Emotion/cognition-coupling in word recognition memory of depressive patients: an event-related potential study. *Psychiatry Res.* 96, 15–29. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1781(00)00187-6
- Fan, L., Xu, Q., Wang, X., Zhang, F., Yang, Y., and Liu, X. (2016). Neural correlates of task-irrelevant first and second language emotion words - evidence from the emotional face-word stroop task. *Front. Psychol.* 7:1672. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg. 2016.01672
- Federmeier, K. D., Kirson, D. A., Moreno, E. M., and Kutas, M. (2001). Effects of transient, mild mood states on semantic memory organization and use: an event-related potential investigation in humans. *Neurosci. Lett.* 305, 149–152. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(01)01843-2
- Herbert, C., Junghofer, M., and Kissler, J. (2008). Event related potentials to emotional adjectives during reading. *Psychophysiology* 45, 487–498. doi: 10. 1111/j.1469-8986.2007.00638.x
- Kiang, M., Farzan, F., Blumberger, D. M., Kutas, M., McKinnon, M. C., Kansal, V., et al. (2017). Abnormal self-schema in semantic memory in major depressive disorder: evidence from event-related brain potentials. *Biol. Psychol.* 126, 41–47. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2017.04.003
- Kiefer, M. (2002). The N400 is modulated by unconsciously perceived masked words: further evidence for an automatic spreading activation account of N400 priming effects. *Brain Res. Cogn. Brain Res.* 13, 27–39. doi: 10.1016/S0926-6410(01)00085-4
- Kiefer, M., Schuch, S., Schenck, W., and Fiedler, K. (2007). Mood states modulate activity in semantic brain areas during emotional word encoding. *Cereb. Cortex* 17, 1516–1530. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhl062
- Kissler, J., Assadollahi, R., and Herbert, C. (2006). Emotional and semantic networks in visual word processing: insights from ERP studies. *Prog. Brain Res.* 156, 147–183. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(06)56008-X
- Krompinger, J. W., and Simons, R. F. (2011). Cognitive inefficiency in depressive undergraduates: stroop processing and ERPs. *Biol. Psychol.* 86, 239–246. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2010.12.004
- Laeger, I., Dobel, C., Dannlowski, U., Kugel, H., Grotegerd, D., Kissler, J., et al. (2012). Amygdala responsiveness to emotional words is modulated by

subclinical anxiety and depression. Behav. Brain Res. 233, 508-516. doi: 10. 1016/j.bbr.2012.05.036

- MacNamara, A., Kotov, R., and Hajcak, G. (2016). Diagnostic and symptombased predictors of emotional processing in generalized anxiety disorder and major depressive disorder: an event-related potential study. *Cogn. Ther. Res.* 40, 275–289. doi: 10.1007/s10608-015-9717-1
- Mao, W., Wang, Y., and Wang, D. (2005). Cognitive impairment in major depressive disorder revealed by event-related potential N270. *Clin. EEG Neurosci.* 36, 9–14. doi: 10.1177/155005940503600104
- Naccache, L., Gaillard, R., Adam, C., Hasboun, D., Clemenceau, S., Baulac, M., et al. (2005). A direct intracranial record of emotions evoked by subliminal words. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 7713–7717. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0500542102
- Noordhof, A., Kamphuis, J. H., Sellbom, M., Eigenhuis, A., and Bagby, R. M. (2018). Change in self-reported personality during major depressive disorder treatment: a reanalysis of treatment studies from a demoralization perspective. *Pers. Disord.* 9, 93–100. doi: 10.1037/per0000238
- Rosenberg, P. B., Mielke, M. M., Appleby, B. S., Oh, E. S., Geda, Y. E., and Lyketsos, C. G. (2013). The association of neuropsychiatric symptoms in MCI with incident dementia and Alzheimer disease. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 21, 685–695. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2013.01.006
- Schendan, H. E., and Kutas, M. (2007). Neurophysiological evidence for the time course of activation of global shape, part, and local contour representations during visual object categorization and memory. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 19, 734–749. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2007.19.5.734
- Shen, Y., Xue, S., Wang, K., and Qiu, J. (2013). Neural time course of emotional conflict control: an ERP study. *Neurosci. Lett.* 541, 34–38. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet. 2013.02.032
- Shimizu, H., Saito, H., and Hoshiyama, M. (2006). Cognitive mechanism for meaning of emotive words in depressed personality: an event-related potential study. *Nagoya J. Med. Sci.* 68, 35–44.
- Spironelli, C., and Angrilli, A. (2009). Developmental aspects of automatic word processing: language lateralization of early ERP components in children, young adults and middle-aged subjects. *Biol. Psychol.* 80, 35–45. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsycho.2008.01.012
- Spironelli, C., and Angrilli, A. (2015). Brain plasticity in aphasic patients: intraand inter-hemispheric reorganisation of the whole linguistic network probed by N150 and N350 components. *Sci. Rep.* 5:12541. doi: 10.1038/srep12541
- Xie, H., Jiang, D., and Zhang, D. (2018). Individuals with depressive tendencies experience difficulty in forgetting negative material: two mechanisms revealed by ERP data in the directed forgetting paradigm. *Sci. Rep.* 8:1113. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-018-19570-0
- Yang, J., Rorbert, R. M., and Paul, T. C. (2000). The cross—cultural generalization of Axis—II constructs : a evaluation of two personality disorder assessment instrument in the peoplei'epublic of China. J. Pets Disord. 14, 249–263. doi: 10.1521/pedi.2000.14.3.249
- Yang, Y. P., Shen, D. Y., Wang, J. Y., and Yang, J. (2002). The reliability and validity of pdq-4+ in china. *Chin. J. Clin. Psychol.* 3, 165–168.
- Yao, S. Q., Wu, D. X., Guo, W. B., and Wu, Z. Y. (2004). The effects of recognition of emotional words on ERPs of patients with major depression. *Chin. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 4, 218–222. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2014.11.010
- Zhao, Q., Tang, Y., Chen, S., Lyu, Y., Curtin, A., Wang, J., et al. (2015). Early perceptual anomaly of negative facial expression in depression: an event-related potential study. *Neurophysiol. Clin.* 45, 435–443. doi: 10.1016/j.neucli.2015.09. 011

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Yu, Gu, Yao, Wang and Fu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Inhibited Endogenous H₂S Generation and Excessive Autophagy in Hippocampus Contribute to Sleep Deprivation-Induced Cognitive Impairment

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Roger Ho, National University of Singapore, Singapore

Reviewed by:

Cyrus S. H. Ho, National University Health System, Singapore Varun Dutt, Indian Institute of Technology Mandi, India

*Correspondence:

Wei Zou zouw415@163.com; zouw415@usc.edu.cn Xiao-Qing Tang tangxq-usc@usc.edu.cn; tangxq-usc@qq.com [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cognitive Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 02 September 2018 Accepted: 09 January 2019 Published: 24 January 2019

Citation:

Yang S-Q, Jiang L, Lan F, Wei H-j, Xie M, Zou W, Zhang P, Wang C-Y, Xie Y-R and Tang X-Q (2019) Inhibited Endogenous H₂S Generation and Excessive Autophagy in Hippocampus Contribute to Sleep Deprivation-Induced Cognitive Impairment. Front. Psychol. 10:53. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00053 San-Qiao Yang¹[†], Li Jiang^{1,2†}, Fang Lan^{1,3†}, Hai-jun Wei¹, Ming Xie³, Wei Zou^{2*}, Ping Zhang², Chun-Yan Wang¹, Yu-Rong Xie⁴ and Xiao-Qing Tang^{1,3*}

¹ Institute of Neuroscience, Hengyang Medical College, University of South China, Hengyang, China, ² Department of Neurology, Affiliated Nanhua Hospital, University of South China, Hengyang, China, ³ Department of Neurology, First Affiliated Hospital of University of South China, Hengyang, China, ⁴ College of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering, University of South China, Hengyang, China

Background and Aim: Sleep deprivation (SD) causes deficit of cognition, but the mechanisms remain to be fully established. Hydrogen sulfide (H_2S) plays an important role in the formation of cognition, while excessive and prolonged autophagy in hippocampus triggers cognitive disorder. In this work, we proposed that disturbances in hippocampal endogenous H_2S generation and autophagy might be involved in SD-induced cognitive impairment.

Methods: After treatment of adult male wistar rats with 72-h SD, the Y-maze test, object location test (OLT), novel object recognition test (NORT) and the Morris water maze (MWM) test were performed to determine the cognitive function. The autophagosome formation was observed with electron microscope. Generation of endogenous H₂S in the hippocampus of rats was detected using unisense H₂S microsensor method. The expressions of cystathionine- β -synthase (CBS), 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase (3-MST), beclin-1, light chain LC3 II/LC3 I, and p62 in the hippocampus were assessed by western blotting.

Results: The Y-maze, OLT, NORT, and MWM test demonstrated that SD-exposed rats exhibited cognitive dysfunction. SD triggered the elevation of hippocampal autophagy as evidenced by enhancement of autophagosome, up-regulations of beclin-1 and LC3 II/LC3 I, and down-regulation of p62. Meanwhile, the generation of endogenous H₂S and the expressions of CBS and 3-MST (H₂S producing enzyme) in the hippocampus of SD-treated rats were reduced.

Conclusion: These results suggested that inhibition of endogenous H_2S generation and excessiveness of autophagy in hippocampus are involved in SD-induced cognitive impairment.

Keywords: autophagy, cognitive impairment, hydrogen sulfide, sleep deprivation, hippocampus

INTRODUCTION

Sleep plays a key role in human life and work, but sleep deprivation (SD), namely irregular and inadequate sleep, shows a rising trend in today's society (Feng et al., 2016; Honn et al., 2018). Therefore, the association between SD and cognitive impairment has been paid close attention (Zhang and Liu, 2008; Jin et al., 2017; Li S. et al., 2017). It is well known that SD affects human health and work efficiency (Honn et al., 2018) and that SD is a common state leading to a global cognitive decline for individuals (Jackson et al., 2013). Meanwhile, extensive studies confirmed that rats deprived of sleep is embodied in various morphological and neurobiological changes in the brain and a decline of cognitive behavior (Zhang L. et al., 2013; Zhao et al., 2014; Hajali et al., 2015; Kreutzmann et al., 2015). Recent studies showed that the oxidative stress and the disorder of neurotransmitters play important roles in the cognitive impairment induced by SD (Lu et al., 2018; Nabaee et al., 2018; Siddique et al., 2018). In addition, increasing evidence showed that SD impacts the epigenome that plays an important role in regulating learning and memory (Duan et al., 2016; Gaine et al., 2018). Although the research of cognitive impairment induced by SD has been reported, further exploring the mechanism underlying SD-induced cognitive impairment is necessary for a greater understanding of the pathophysiology about SD and its effects on cognition.

Hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) is a colorless gas with the smell of rotten eggs and was considered toxic in the past (Reiffenstein, 1992). In recent years, it has been confirmed that H₂S is an important neuroprotective and neuromodulatory agent (Bae et al., 2013; Zhang and Bian, 2014; Jiang et al., 2016). Endogenous H₂S is largely synthesized in mammalian tissues by cystathionine-\beta-synthase (CBS) in the brain and 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase (3-MST) in the mitochondria (Kimura, 2011). It has been demonstrated that H₂S promotes the formation of long-term potentiation (LTP) (Chen et al., 2017), improves synaptic plasticity remodeling (Li Y. L. et al., 2017), and regulates learning and memory (Whiteman et al., 2011; Li M. et al., 2017; Tang et al., 2018; Zhan et al., 2018). Furthermore, our previous work has confirmed that inhibition of H₂S synthesis contributes to formaldehyde- and homocysteine-induced defects in learning and memory of rats (Tang X. Q. et al., 2013; Li M.H. et al., 2014). Therefore, we investigated whether the inhibition of hippocampal endogenous H₂S generation is responsible for SD-impaired learning and memory.

Autophagy is a catabolic process that digests the useless cytosolic components through invagination of its membrane in order to maintain cell homeostasis and integrity (Barthet and Ryan, 2018; Sharma et al., 2018). Studies demonstrated that the level of autophagy is regulated by a variety of factors, such as oxidative stress, energy balance or aging (Zhang et al., 2016; Loos et al., 2017). However, the change of autophagy level under conditions of SD remains unknown. Accumulating evidence suggests that the disorder of hippocampal autophagy plays crucial role in the formation of cognitive dysfunction in neurological diseases (Ghavami et al., 2014), including Parkinson's disease (PD) (Zhang S. et al., 2013) and Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Zheng et al., 2006; Sharma et al., 2018). Therefore, we speculated that excessive hippocampal autophagy is injurious to the cognitive function of SD-exposed rats.

The present work was to clarify the relationship between hippocampal endogenous H_2S generation as well as autophagy and SD-induced cognitive impairment. We demonstrated that exposure of SD impaired the function of cognition, suppressed the generation of hippocampal H_2S , and stimulated the excessiveness of hippocampal autophagy. These results suggest that inhibited endogenous H_2S generation and excessive autophagy in hippocampus play important role in SD-induced cognitive impairment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Reagents

Specific monoclonal anti-LC3, anti-Beclin1, and anti-p62 antibodies were obtained from Cell Signaling Technology, Inc. (Danvers, MA, United States). Specific monoclonal anti-CBS and anti-3-MST were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. (Santa Cruz, CA, United States).

Animals and Experiment Schedule

Adult male Wistar rats (weighing 250–280 g) were purchased from the SJA Lab Animal Center of Changsha (Changsha, China), were housed individually in a constant temperature ($25 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C) and humidity controlled room, the rats were illuminated with artificial light for 12-h light/12-h dark cycle and access to food and water *ad libitum*. Experimental protocol of the study was approved by the Animal Use and Protection Committee of the University of South China. Rats were used according to "3Rs" principles (Replacement, Reduction and Refinement) in all experimental procedures. All efforts were made to minimize animal suffering.

All rats were habituated to the experimenter and laboratory for 1 week pre-handled prior to testing. SD group rats were exposed to the modified multiple platform method (MMPM) for 72 h. The Y-maze was performed one day after SD. The NORT was performed 2 days after Y-maze test. The OLT was performed 2 days after NORT. The MWM test was performed 2 days after OLT. One day after behavioral testing, the hippocampal tissues were collected for detecting the generation of H_2S and the level of autophagy.

Induction of Sleep Deprivation

The method of SD was adopted from the modified multiple platform method. Animals were exposed to the modified multiple platform method (MMPM) for 72 h. In brief, rats were placed on platforms (19 platforms; 6.5 cm in diameter, 15 cm apart edge-to-edge) surrounded by water ($24 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C) which were located 1 cm below the water surface in a water tank (170 cm × 70 cm × 50 cm) where water and food were accessible. The method was used to disturb the total sleep (especially REM sleep). During REM sleep, muscle atonia caused animals to fall into or touch the water and waken. Immediately after SD, animals were submitted to behavioral tasks.

Behavioral Testing

Y-Maze

The Y-maze apparatus is composed of 3 arms with identical dimensions (120°; 55 cm long \times 16 cm wide \times 20 cm high),was placed inside a room with dim illumination. The floor of the maze consists of sawdust to eliminate olfactory stimuli. Testing was always at the same time and performed in the same room to ensure environmental coincide. The rats prefer to explore a new arm of the maze rather than going back to a previous one. Briefly, each rat was inserted to the center of the Y-maze and allowed to explore freely the three arms during an 8-min session. A rat into an arm was considered valid if its body and tail completely entered the arm. The total number of arm entries and sequence were recorded with video and analyzed later on a computer. An alternation was identified as three consecutive entries in three different arms of the maze (i.e., 1, 2, 3, or 3, 2, 1, etc.). The alternation performance was calculated using the following equation: total alternation number/(total number of entries -2). At the same time, the total numbers of entries in the three arms were used to detecting the activity of rats.

Morris Water Maze

The Morris water maze system consists of water maze device, water maze image automatic collection and software analysis system. Pictures of mice swimming (analog signal) were collected via the camera was introduced to the computer for analog-todigital conversion to get the relevant data through digital image analysis. This system is a classical program for evaluating the spatial learning and memory of rodents. Water maze device mainly consists of a circular pool containing water (diameter of 180 cm, high 60 cm) and a circular acrylic platform (12.5 cm diameter) placed 2 cm below the surface of the water during acquisition trials. The pool was divided into 4 quadrants, and platform was placed in the first quadrant (target quadrant). The video recorder was placed above the center of the pool, recording the experimental process and stored in a computer (Chengdu Technology and Market Corp, Chengdu, China). The rats were allowed four acquisition trials per day for 5 days conducted in a spaced fashion, and each rat was given a 120-s swim to find the platform. The swimming route and escape latencies to platform (s) were determined in each trial. Twenty-four hours after the last acquisition trial the rats were given a probe trail without the platform, and they were allowed a free 120-s swim to search for the pool. The start position for each animal was in contrast to the platform location and the platform quadrant was referred to as the target quadrant. The times of crossing former platform area and the proportionality of swimming time in target quadrant and Mid-ring were determined. In the visible-platform test, the platform was located 2 cm above the water surface. Swim speed was tested with a visible platform in the water maze to rule out the differences in performance could be owing to non-cognitive factors including stress (Lu et al., 2017) and depression (Yang et al., 2016).

Novel Object Recognition

The Novel object recognition test (NORT) surveys the exploration of familiar and novel objects, which is a part

of recognition memory. The test consists of three stages: adaptation, training and testing. During the adaptation period of 2 days, animals were habituated to the opaque empty square box $(50 \text{ cm} \times 50 \text{ cm} \times 60 \text{ cm})$ for 5 min each day. In the training stage, the rat was placed into the testing box for 5 min to explore two different objects on opposite sides of the arena, the total approach time for exploring each object were recorded by an experienced researcher blind to treatments. The following acts were considered as the exploration of the object: touching to the object with the head of animal, sniffing to the object and keeping the distance from nose of rat to the objects less than 2 cm. The apparatus include testing box and the objects were cleaned with 70% alcohol at the end of each experiment for every rat. During testing sessions, one familiar object and one novel object of similar size were placed into the same places as in the training phase, and the animals were permitted to explore for 5 min. Calculation of the object recognition memory by measuring the interest in the novel object in testing phase which is called recognition index (RI) was expressed as the time exploring on the novel objects divided by the total time spent in exploring both objects.

Object Location

The Object location test (OLT) following with the same rules on NORT and consist of three identical parts (adaptation, training, and testing). The difference between OLT and NORT is that the exploration time in measuring two same objects but one of them was placed in a new position, also the recognition index (RI) is similar to NORT was calculated as the time exploring on the objects placed in novel location divided by the total time spent in exploring both objects. It evaluates especially spatial memory and discrimination.

Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)

Transmission electron microscopy was used to assess the ultrastructural change of hippocampus sections. The volume of hippocampus fragments for electron microscopy were obtained not more than 1 mm \times 1 mm \times 1 mm and then rapid fixed with 2.5% glutaraldehyde in 0.1 M PBS solution at 4°C for 2–4 h. Afterward, they were washed three times for 15 min each with PBS and then fixed with 1% osmic acid for 2 h. After washed with PBS, tissues were dehydrated in a graded ethanol series, embedded in Epo \times 812 overnight. Ultra-thin sections were cut at 60–80 nm thickness and double colored with uranyl acetate and lead citrate, which were subsequently observed under a 1230 type transmission electron microscope (Electron Co., Tokyo) and photographed.

Western Blotting Analysis

The hippocampal tissues were homogenized in extraction buffer (50 mM Tris, pH 7.4, 1% Triton X-100, 150 mM NaCl, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 1 mM NaF, 0.1% SDS, 2 mM Na3VO4, 1 mM PMSF) and then centrifuged at 12,000 rounds/min for 30 min at 4 °C. Protein concentrations were measured using a BCA Protein Assay Kit (Beyotime, Shanghai, China). Equivalent amounts of protein were run on SDS–PAGE (12% for LC3 and; 10% for CBS, 3-MST and Beclin1) and then transferred

to a PVDF membrane. The membrane was blocked using TBS-T buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 0.05% Tween-20) containing 5% non-fat milk at room temperature for 2 hr and then serially incubated with primary antibodies directed against CBS (1:2000), 3-MST (1:1000), LC3 (1:1000), Beclin1 (1:1000) and P62 (1:1000) overnight at 4°C. After washing with TBS-T three times for 10 min, respectively, the membrane was incubated with secondary antibody (1:5000) in blocking solution at room temperature for 2 h. The membrane was washed again for three times with TBS-T, the bound antibody was were visualized by autoradiographic films (Tanon-5600) and then tegrated optical density of the protein band from Western blot analyses was quantified using Image-J software. Each experiment was repeated at least three times.

Assay of H₂S Generation

To detect the generation of H₂S in hippocampal tissue of rat, unisense H₂S microsensor (a miniaturized amperometric sensor with guard electrode) (Model H2S-MRCh, Unisense, Aarhus, Denmark) coupled to a unisense picoampere amplifier was used. Hippocampus was homogenized in 50 mmol/L ice-cold potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8). After BCA quantitative analysis, the reaction mixture was added to the reaction bottle. The reaction mixture contained 100 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4), L-cysteine (20 µl, 10 mM), pyridoxal 5'phosphate (20 µl, 2 mM), 10% (w/v) tissue homogenate. Adding 1 mol/L NaOH to the central hole of the reaction bottle 0.5 mL, the reaction bottle is blown 20 s by N2 before sealing. Reaction was initiated by a thermostatic water bath for 90 min at 37°C. Then 50% (mass fraction) trichloroacetic acid was added into the reaction system. Finally, the reaction system was incubated at 37 C for 60 min to terminate the reaction. The concentration of H₂S in the solution was determined by the sensitive sulfur electrode method in the central hole. The rate of H₂S formation was calculated and expressed as nmol/(min \times mg).

Statistical Analysis

Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. The significance of the difference between two groups was analyzed by the independent samples *t*-test with SPSS 20 software (SPSS, Chicago, IL, United States). Statistical significance was indicated at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

SD Induces a Decrease in Alternation Performance in the Y-Maze Tested

Y-maze test was subjected to detect whether the cognitive function of SD-exposed rats is impaired. As shown in **Figure 1A**, SD-exposed rats showed a significant decline in the alternation performance compared to control group. However, the total arm entries did not change between SD-rats and control group (**Figure 1B**). These data indicated that SD could impair learning and memory process of rats.



FIGURE 1 [Effect of SD on the alternation performance of rats in Y male test. After exposure of SD for 72 h, rats were tested in the Y male test. The alternation performance (**A**) and the total arm entries (**B**) were recorded. The data are expressed as mean \pm SEM (n = 9-11); ***P < 0.001, vs. control group.

SD Impairs the Cognitive Function of Rats in Novel Object Recognition (NOR) Test

Next, we used the novel object recognition test to examine the altheration of cognitive function in SD-exposed rats. As shown in **Figure 2A**, the recognition index in SD-exposed rats was markedly decreased compared to control in the test period. However, SD-exposed rats did not change the total object exploration time in the training period (**Figure 2B**) and the test period (**Figure 2C**). These data also indicated that SD impairs the cognitive function of rats.

SD Causes Deficit in Location Memory in Object Location Test

We performed the object location test to extend our observation to a spatial form of cognition. SD did not affect the total object exploration time of rats in the training period (**Figure 3A**) and the test period (**Figure 3B**). However, compared to control groups, the recognition index in test period was significantly decreased in the rats treated with SD (**Figure 3C**), indicating that SD triggered deficit in object recognition memory.

SD Impairs Learning and Memory in the Morris Water Maze Test

To further explore the effect of SD on learning and memory in rats, we investigated the effects of SD on spatial learning and memory using the Morris water maze test. Figure 4A shows the representative swimming tracks of rats searching for the underwater platform on the first and fifth training days. On the first training day, there was no difference of the distance in searching for the hidden platform. On the fifth training day, SD-exposed rats exhibited a significant increase in the distance swam compared with the control group. Meanwhile, SD-treated rats exhibited significant higher escape latency on days 5 during training trials compared with control group rats (Figure 4B). These data further indicated that SD had an obvious negative effect on spatial learning of rats.



FIGURE 2 | Effect of SD on the object recognition memory of rats. Rats were tested in the novel object recognition test. The recognition index in the test period (A) and the total object exploration time in the training period (B) or in the test period (C) were recorded. Values are the mean \pm SEM (n = 9-11); ***P < 0.001, vs. control group.



In the probe trial, the platform was removed and the rats were placed into the quadrant opposite to the target quadrant and allowed to swim freely for 120 s. Rats treated with SD exhibited significantly fewer number of crossing over the platform position (Figure 5A) and lower percentage of time in the target quadrant (Figure 5B) compared with control group, which indicated that SD impairs the spatial memory of rats.

Ruling Out the Influences of the Changes in Motor Ability and Vision on Learning and Memory in Rats

In order to exclude possible changes in visual acuity and motor ability, we tested the escape latency and the average swimming speed of rats in the visual platform test after we completed the probe test. There was no significant difference in the escape latency (**Figure 6A**) and the average swimming speed (**Figure 6B**) among all rats, which ruled out the possible that the alters in vision and motion contribute to the changes of all parameters in MWM experiment.

SD Causes Excessive Autophagy in Hippocampus of Rats

To explore whether excessive autophagy is involved in SDinduced impairment in cognition, the formation of autophagic vacuoles, as well as the expressions of LC3-II/LC3-I, Beclin-1 and P62 were investigated in the hippocampus of rat (Merenlender-Wagner et al., 2015). As shown in **Figure 7A**, SD-treated rats displayed increase in the formation of autophagic vacuoles. In addition, the ratio of LC3-II/LC3-I (**Figure 7B**) and the expression of Beclin-1 (**Figure 7C**) were significantly increased in the hippocampus of SD-exposed rats. While the expression of P62 was significantly down-regulated in the hippocampus of SD-treated rats (**Figure 7D**). These data indicated that SD exerts excressive autophagy in the hippocampus of rats.

SD Reduces the Expressions of 3-MST, CBS and the Generation of H_2S in the Hippocampus of Rats

To explore whether the inhibition of hippocampal H_2S generation involves in SD-induced impairment in cognition, the



FIGURE 4 [Effect of SD on the spatial learning in the acquisition phase of Morris water maze task. Rats were tested in the Morris water maze task. (A) The representative swimming route of rats in 1st day and 5th day in the acquisition phase. (B) The escape periods of rats in 1–5 days in the acquisition phase. Values are the mean \pm SEM (n = 9-11), ***P < 0.001, vs. control group.

expressions of CBS and 3-MST as well as the endogenous H_2S generation in the hippocampus of rats were analyzed (Calvert et al., 2010). SD caused decrease in the expressions of CBS (**Figure 8A**) and 3-MST (**Figure 8B**) in the hippocampus of rats. Simultaneously, the endogenous H_2S generation in the hippocampus of rats was significantly inhibited by treatment with SD for 72 h (**Figure 8C**). These data demonstrated that SD reduces the generation of endogenous H_2S in the hippocampus of rats.

DISCUSSION

Sleep deprivation (SD) is considered as a common social phenomenon and is a frequent cause of cognitive impairment (Miller, 2015; Feng et al., 2016; Hao et al., 2018). It is well established that H₂S regulates learning and memory (Nagpure and Bian, 2015; Zhuang et al., 2016; Tang et al., 2018) and that excessive autophagy in hippocampus causes cognitive impairment (Xu et al., 2016). Therefore, we explored the alterations in the hippocampal endogenous H₂S generation and autophagy and the change of cognitive function in SD-exposed rats. Our present work demonstrated that SD impaired the learning and memory of rats and caused the decrease in endogenous H₂S generation and the formation of excessive autophagy in the hippocampus of rats. These novel discoveries provide distinctive insights into understanding the mechanism underlying SD-induced cognitive impairment.

Exposure of SD has certain toxicity in nervous system of humans and animals (Novati et al., 2012; Basner et al., 2013). In agreement with this, sleep plays a key role in the removed of neurotoxic substances that produce in the waking state (Xie et al., 2013). Research has shown that SD impacts the expression and function of glutamate receptor (Ravassard et al., 2009) and neurogenesis (Meerlo et al., 2009) in the hippocampus. In addition, SD interferes with the hippocampal synaptic plasticity and hippocampal long-term potentiation (LTP), contributing to the deficit of cognition in



FIGURE 5 [Effects of SD on the spatial memory in the probe phase of Morris water maze task. After finishing the acquisition phase, rats were submitted to the probe trial. The times of crossing platform (A) and the proportionality of swimming time in target quadrant (B) was analyzed. Values are the mean \pm SEM (n = 9-11), *P < 0.05, vs. control group.



animals and humans (Alkadhi et al., 2013). In our present study, SD-exposed rats showed cognitive impairment in Y maze test, OLT, NORT, and MWM test. Our results are consistent with the finding that exposure of rats with SD leads to the dysfunction of learning and memory (McDermott et al., 2006). Clinical studies show that SD leads to cognitive deficits (Olaithe et al., 2018). However, the molecular mechanisms underlying SD-induced cognitive impairment have not been fully clarified.

The biologic function of H_2S mainly include antioxidation, anti-apoptosis and anti-inflammation for central nervous system (Wei et al., 2014), which imply the protective effect of H_2S on neurodegenerative diseases. It has been reported that physiological concentration of H_2S specifically enhances the activity of *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor and facilitates the hippocampal synaptic plasticity and LTP (Zhang and Bian, 2014; Kamat et al., 2015). Previous work has implicated that exogenous H_2S attenuates diabetes-associated cognitive impairment (Tang et al., 2015; Ma et al., 2017) and has a protective effect from traumatic brain injury-induced cognitive impairment (Karimi et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2017). In addition, we have demonstrated that inhibition of H_2S generation mediates homocysteineinduced cognitive impairment (Li M.H. et al., 2014), which is







FIGURE 8 [Effects of SD on the expressions of CBS and 3-MST and the generation of H_2S in the hippocampus of rats. After 72 h SD treatment, the hippocampus of rats was homogenized. The expressions of CBS (**A**) and 3-MST (**B**) were measured by western blot analysis using anti-CBS and anti-3-MST antibody, respectively. β -actin was used as loading control. The generation of H_2S (**C**) was analyzed by unisense H_2S microsensor. Values are the mean \pm SEM (n = 3-5); **P < 0.01 vs. control group.

prevented by exogenous H_2S (Li M. et al., 2017; Tang et al., 2018). Thus, we speculate that inhibited hippocampal H_2S generation may be associated with the pathophysiology of SD-induced cognitive impairment in rats. In our present study, we demonstrated both the decreased expression of H_2S -synthesizing enzyme (CBS and 3-MT) and the inhibition of H_2S generation in the hippocampus of SD-exposed rats. Studies showed that the decreased activity of CBS mediates homocysteine- and formaldehyde-induced cognitive deficits (Tang X. Q. et al., 2013; Kumar et al., 2017). Likewise, the level of endogenous H_2S is decrease in the animal model and the patients of Alzhermer's disease (Liu et al., 2008; Liu H. et al., 2015; Karimi et al., 2017). Thus, it is reasonable to believe that inhibition of hippocampal H_2S generation contributes to SD-induced cognitive impairment.

Autophagy is essential for maintaining metabolic balance by digestion of misfolded proteins and dysfunctional organelles (Mizushima and Komatsu, 2011; Shehata and Inokuchi, 2014). However, it has been reported that excessive activation of autophagy damages synaptic plasticity in hippocampus (Hao et al., 2018) and that excessive activation of autophagy in hippocampus is responsible for cognitive impairment induced by hypoxic-ischemic brain injury (Xu et al., 2016) and sevoflurane (Li X. et al., 2017). Interestingly, inhibition of autophagy has a protective effect on cognitive impairment (Wang et al., 2015, 2017; Kong et al., 2018). So we speculated that excessive autophagy in hippocampus is inseparable from cognitive impairment of SD-exposed rats. Our present study found that the protein expressions of Beclin-1 and LC3-II, which are important for regulation of autophagy, were remarkably upregulated in the hippocampus of SD-exposed rats, while the expression of P62 was significantly downregulated. Meanwhile, the number of autophagosome was also increased in the hippocampus of SDexposed rats. These data demonstrated that SD induces excessive autophagy in the hippocampus of rats. Interestingly, previous studies showed that the expression of LC3-II was increased in sevoflurane induced cognitive impairment, while p62 was decreased (Li X. et al., 2017), which is consistent with our results. Based on the evidence that excessive autophagy in hippocampus is closely associated with cognitive impairment (Xu et al., 2016; Li X. et al., 2017; Hao et al., 2018), our present results suggested that excessive hippocampal autophagy is an important pathological mechanism involved in the SD-induced cognitive impairment.

REFERENCES

- Alkadhi, K., Zagaar, M., Alhaider, I., Salim, S., and Aleisa, A. (2013). Neurobiological consequences of sleep deprivation. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* 11, 231–249. doi: 10.2174/1570159X11311030001
- Bae, S. K., Heo, C. H., Choi, D. J., Sen, D., Joe, E. H., Cho, B. R., et al. (2013). A ratiometric two-photon fluorescent probe reveals reduction in mitochondrial H2S production in Parkinson's disease gene knockout astrocytes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135, 9915–9923. doi: 10.1021/ja404004v
- Barthet, V. J. A., and Ryan, K. M. (2018). Autophagy in neurodegeneration: can't digest it, Spit It Out! *Trends Cell Biol.* 28, 171–173. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2018. 01.001
- Basner, M., Rao, H., Goel, N., and Dinges, D. F. (2013). Sleep deprivation and neurobehavioral dynamics. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 23, 854–863. doi: 10.1016/ j.conb.2013.02.008

CONCLUSION

Taken together, the present study demonstrated that SD causes impairment in cognitive function, inhibition of hippocampal H₂S generation, and excessiveness in hippocampal autophagy. We suggested that SD-caused cognitive impairment may be due to the decreased endogenous H2S generation and the excessive autophagy in hippocampus. Increasing studies have demonstrated that H₂S inhibits excessive autophagy (Shui et al., 2016; Jiang et al., 2017). Therefore, we suggested that the inhibition of endogenous hippocampal H₂S generation causes the formation of excessive autophagy in the hippocampus of SD-exposed rats. The limitation of this article is that we did not demonstrate whether cognitive impairment induced by SD is improved by the inhibitors of autophagy or exogenous H₂S and that whether other brain regions have the same pathological changes. In the future, we will explore the changes of H₂S generation and autophagy in other brain regions, investigate the protective actions of autophagy inhibitor and exogenous H₂S in SD-induced cognitive impairment, and detect the levels of H₂S in the clinical samples. Based on the neuroprotective role of H₂S, our findings opened a novel avenue that H₂S might be a potential agent for treatment of cognitive impairment induced by SD.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

X-QT and WZ were responsible for the experimental design. X-QT supervised this study. S-QY, LJ, and FL analyzed the data. S-QY and LJ wrote the manuscript. S-QY, LJ, FL, H-jW, MX, PZ, C-YW, and Y-RX performed the experiments.

FUNDING

This study was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (81671057 and 81771178), the Major Research Topics of the Health and Family Planning Commission of Hunan Province (A2017020), and the Key Projects of the Education Department of Hunan Province (17A187).

- Calvert, J. W., Coetzee, W. A., and Lefer, D. J. (2010). Novel insights into hydrogen sulfide mediated cytoprotectionPg1203 17[PMIDB19769484].PDF. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 12, 1203–1217. doi: 10.1089/ars.2009.2882
- Chen, H.-B., Wu, W.-N., Wang, W., Gu, X.-H., Yu, B., Wei, B., et al. (2017). Cystathionine-β-synthase-derived hydrogen sulfide is required for amygdalar long-term potentiation and cued fear memory in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 155, 16–23. doi: 10.1016/j.pbb.2017.03.002
- Duan, R., Liu, X., Wang, T., Wu, L., Gao, X., and Zhang, Z. (2016). Histone acetylation regulation in sleep deprivation-induced spatial memory impairment. *Neurochem. Res.* 41, 2223–2232. doi: 10.1007/s11064-016-1937-6
- Feng, L., Wu, H. W., Song, G. Q., Lu, C., Li, Y. H., Qu, L. N., et al. (2016). Chronical sleep interruption-induced cognitive decline assessed by a metabolomics method. *Behav. Brain Res.* 302, 60–68. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2015.12.039
- Gaine, M. E., Chatterjee, S., and Abel, T. (2018). Sleep deprivation and the epigenome. *Front. Neural Circuits* 12:14. doi: 10.3389/fncir.2018.00014

- Ghavami, S., Shojaei, S., Yeganeh, B., Ande, S. R., Jangamreddy, J. R., Mehrpour, M., et al. (2014). Autophagy and apoptosis dysfunction in neurodegenerative disorders. *Progr. Neurobiol.* 112, 24–49. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2013.10.004
- Hajali, V., Sheibani, V., Ghazvini, H., Ghadiri, T., Valizadeh, T., Saadati, H., et al. (2015). Effect of castration on the susceptibility of male rats to the sleep deprivation-induced impairment of behavioral and synaptic plasticity. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 123, 140–148. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2015.05.008
- Hao, Y., Li, W., Wang, H., Zhang, J., Yu, C., Tan, S., et al. (2018). Autophagy mediates the degradation of synaptic vesicles: a potential mechanism of synaptic plasticity injury induced by microwave exposure in rats. *Physiol. Behav.* 188, 119–127. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.02.005
- Honn, K. A., Hinson, J. M., Whitney, P., and Van Dongen, H. P. A. (2018). Cognitive flexibility: a distinct element of performance impairment due to sleep deprivation. *Accid. Anal. Prev.* doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2018.02.013 [Epub ahead of print].
- Jackson, M. L., Gunzelmann, G., Whitney, P., Hinson, J. M., Belenky, G., Rabat, A., et al. (2013). Deconstructing and reconstructing cognitive performance in sleep deprivation. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 17, 215–225. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2012. 06.007
- Jiang, J. M., Wang, L., Gu, H. F., Wu, K., Xiao, F., Chen, Y., et al. (2016). Arecoline induces neurotoxicity to PC12 cells: involvement in ER stress and disturbance of endogenous H2S generation. *Neurochem. Res.* 41, 2140–2148. doi: 10.1007/s11064-016-1929-6
- Jiang, W. W., Huang, B. S., Han, Y., Deng, L. H., and Wu, L. X. (2017). Sodium hydrosulfide attenuates cerebral ischemia/reperfusion injury by suppressing overactivated autophagy in rats. *FEBS Open Biol.* 7, 1686–1695. doi: 10.1002/ 2211-5463.12301
- Jin, H., Zhang, J. R., Shen, Y., and Liu, C. F. (2017). Clinical significance of REM sleep behavior disorders and other non-motor symptoms of parkinsonism. *Neurosci. Bull.* 33, 576–584. doi: 10.1007/s12264-017-0164-8
- Kamat, P. K., Kalani, A., and Tyagi, N. (2015). Role of hydrogen sulfide in brain synaptic remodeling. *Methods Enzymol.* 555, 207–229. doi: 10.1016/bs.mie. 2014.11.025
- Karimi, S. A., Hosseinmardi, N., Janahmadi, M., Sayyah, M., and Hajisoltani, R. (2017). The protective effect of hydrogen sulfide (H2S) on traumatic brain injury (TBI) induced memory deficits in rats. *Brain Res. Bull.* 134, 177–182. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2017.07.014
- Kimura, H. (2011). Hydrogen sulfide: its production, release and functions. *Amino Acids* 41, 113–121. doi: 10.1007/s00726-010-0510-x
- Kong, F.-J., Wu, J.-H., Sun, S.-Y., Ma, L.-L., and Zhou, J.-Q. (2018). Liraglutide ameliorates cognitive decline by promoting autophagy via the AMP-activated protein kinase/mammalian target of rapamycin pathway in a streptozotocininduced mouse model of diabetes. *Neuropharmacology* 131, 316–325. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuropharm.2018.01.001
- Kreutzmann, J. C., Havekes, R., Abel, T., and Meerlo, P. (2015). Sleep deprivation and hippocampal vulnerability: changes in neuronal plasticity, neurogenesis and cognitive function. *Neuroscience* 309, 173–190. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience. 2015.04.053
- Kumar, M., Modi, M., and Sandhir, R. (2017). Hydrogen sulfide attenuates homocysteine-induced cognitive deficits and neurochemical alterations by improving endogenous hydrogen sulfide levels. *Biofactors* 43, 434–450. doi: 10.1002/biof.1354
- Li, M., Zhang, P., Wei, H. J., Li, M. H., Zou, W., Li, X., et al. (2017). Hydrogen sulfide ameliorates homocysteine-induced cognitive dysfunction by inhibition of reactive aldehydes involving upregulation of ALDH2. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 20, 305–315. doi: 10.1093/ijnp/pyw103
- Li, S., Wang, Y., Wang, F., Hu, L. F., and Liu, C. F. (2017). A new perspective for parkinson's disease: circadian rhythm. *Neurosci. Bull.* 33, 62–72. doi: 10.1007/ s12264-016-0089-7
- Li, X., Wu, Z., Zhang, Y., Xu, Y., Han, G., and Zhao, P. (2017). Activation of autophagy contributes to sevoflurane-induced neurotoxicity in fetal rats. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 10:432. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2017.00432
- Li, Y.-L., Wu, P.-F., Chen, J.-G., Wang, S., Han, Q.-Q., Li, D., et al. (2017). Activity-dependent sulfhydration signal controls n-methyl-d-aspartate subtype glutamate receptor-dependent synaptic plasticity via increasing d-serine availability. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 27, 398–414. doi: 10.1089/ars.2016.6936
- Li, M. H., Tang, J. P., Zhang, P., Li, X., Wang, C. Y., Wei, H. J., et al. (2014). Disturbance of endogenous hydrogen sulfide generation and endoplasmic

reticulum stress in hippocampus are involved in homocysteine-induced defect in learning and memory of rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 262, 35–41. doi: 10.1016/j. bbr.2014.01.001

- Liu, H., Deng, Y., Gao, J., Liu, Y., Li, W., Shi, J., et al. (2015). Sodium hydrosulfide attenuates beta source curr alzheimer res SO 2015 12 7 673 83[PMIDT26165866].pdf. Curr. Alzheimer Res. 12, 673–683. doi: 10.2174/ 1567205012666150713102326
- Liu, X. Q., Liu, X. Q., Jiang, P., Huang, H., and Yan, Y. (2008). Plasma levels of endogenous hydrogen sulfide and homocysteine in patients with Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia and the significance thereof. *Zhonghua Yi Xue* Za Zhi 88, 2246–2249. doi: 10.3321/j.issn:0376-2491.2008.32.004
- Loos, B., Klionsky, D. J., and Wong, E. (2017). Augmenting brain metabolism to increase macro- and chaperone-mediated autophagy for decreasing neuronal proteotoxicity and aging. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 156, 90–106. doi: 10.1016/j. pneurobio.2017.05.001
- Lu, C., Wang, Y., Lv, J., Jiang, N., Fan, B., Qu, L., et al. (2018). Ginsenoside Rh2 reverses sleep deprivation-induced cognitive deficit in mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 349, 109–115. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2018.03.005
- Lu, C. Y., Liu, X., Jiang, H., Pan, F., Ho, C. S., and Ho, R. C. (2017). Effects of traumatic stress induced in the juvenile period on the expression of gammaaminobutyric acid receptor type a subunits in adult rat brain. *Neural Plast*. 2017:5715816. doi: 10.1155/2017/5715816
- Ma, S., Zhong, D., Ma, P., Li, G., Hua, W., Sun, Y., et al. (2017). Exogenous hydrogen sulfide ameliorates diabetes-associated cognitive decline by regulating the mitochondria-mediated apoptotic pathway and IL-23/IL-17 expression in db/db Mice. *Cell Physiol. Biochem.* 41, 1838–1850. doi: 10.1159/000471932
- McDermott, C. M., Hardy, M. N., Bazan, N. G., and Magee, J. C. (2006). Sleep deprivation-induced alterations in excitatory synaptic transmission in the CA1 region of the rat hippocampus. J. Physiol. 570, 553–565. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol. 2005.093781
- Meerlo, P., Mistlberger, R. E., Jacobs, B. L., Heller, H. C., and McGinty, D. (2009). New neurons in the adult brain: the role of sleep and consequences of sleep loss. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 13, 187–194. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2008.07.004
- Merenlender-Wagner, A., Malishkevich, A., Shemer, Z., Udawela, M., Gibbons, A., Scarr, E., et al. (2015). Autophagy has a key role in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. *Mol. Psychiatry* 20, 126–132. doi: 10.1038/mp.2013.174
- Miller, M. A. (2015). The role of sleep and sleep disorders in the development, diagnosis, and management of neurocognitive disorders. *Front. Neurol.* 6:224. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2015.00224
- Mizushima, N., and Komatsu, M. (2011). Autophagy: renovation of cells and tissues. *Cell* 147, 728–741. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.10.026
- Nabaee, E., Kesmati, M., Shahriari, A., Khajehpour, L., and Torabi, M. (2018). Cognitive and hippocampus biochemical changes following sleep deprivation in the adult male rat. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 104, 69–76. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha. 2018.04.197
- Nagpure, B. V., and Bian, J. S. (2015). Brain learning and memory role of source handb exp pharmacol SO 2015 230 193 215[PMIDT26162836].pdf. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* 230, 193–215. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-18144-8_10
- Novati, A., Hulshof, H. J., Granic, I., and Meerlo, P. (2012). Chronic partial sleep deprivation reduces brain sensitivity to glutamate N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated neurotoxicity. *J. Sleep Res.* 21, 3–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869. 2011.00932.x
- Olaithe, M., Bucks, R. S., Hillman, D. R., and Eastwood, P. R. (2018). Cognitive deficits in obstructive sleep apnea: insights from a meta-review and comparison with deficits observed in COPD, insomnia, and sleep deprivation. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 38, 39–49. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2017.03.005
- Ravassard, P., Pachoud, B., and Salin, P. A. (2009). Paradoxical REM sleep deprivation causes a large and rapidlyPg227 40[PMIDS19238810].pdf. Sleep 2009, 227–240. doi: 10.1093/sleep/32.2.227
- Reiffenstein, R. J. (1992). Toxicology of hydrogen sulfide[PMIDQ1605565].pdf. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 32, 109–134. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pa.32. 040192.000545
- Sharma, J., di Ronza, A., and Sardiello, M. (2018). Lysosomes and brain health. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 41, 255–276. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-08031706 1804
- Shehata, M., and Inokuchi, K. (2014). Does autophagy work in synaptic plasticity and memory? *Rev. Neurosci.* 25, 543–557. doi: 10.1515/revneuro-2014-0002

- Shui, M., Liu, X., Zhu, Y., and Wang, Y. (2016). Exogenous hydrogen sulfide attenuates cerebral ischemia-reperfusion injury by inhibiting autophagy in mice. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 94, 1187–1192. doi: 10.1139/cjpp-2016-0100
- Siddique, S. A., Tamilselvan, T., Vishnupriya, M., and Balamurugan, E. (2018). Evaluation of neurotransmitter alterations in four distinct brain regions after rapid eye movement sleep deprivation (REMSD) induced mania-like behaviour in swiss albino mice. *Neurochem. Res.* 43, 1171–1181. doi: 10.1007/s11064-018-2533-8
- Tang, X. Q., Fang, H. R., Zhou, C. F., Zhuang, Y. Y., Zhang, P., Gu, H. F., et al. (2013). A novel mechanism of formaldehyde neurotoxicity: inhibition of hydrogen sulfide generation by promoting overproduction of nitric oxide. *PLoS One* 8:e54829. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054829
- Tang, X. Q., Zhuang, Y. Y., Zhang, P., Fang, H. R., Zhou, C. F., Gu, H. F., et al. (2013b). Formaldehyde impairs learning and memory involving the disturbance of hydrogen sulfide generation in the hippocampus of rats. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 49, 140–149. doi: 10.1007/s12031-012-9912-4
- Tang, Y. Y., Wang, A. P., Wei, H. J., Li, M. H., Zou, W., Li, X., et al. (2018). Role of silent information regulator 1 in the protective effect of hydrogen sulfide on homocysteine-induced cognitive dysfunction: involving reduction of hippocampal ER stress. *Behav. Brain Res.* 342, 35–42. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2017. 12.040
- Tang, Z. J., Zou, W., Yuan, J., Zhang, P., Tian, Y., Xiao, Z. F., et al. (2015). Antidepressant-like and anxiolytic-like effects of hydrogen sulfide in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats through inhibition of hippocampal oxidative stress. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 26, 427–435. doi: 10.1097/FBP.000000000000143
- Wang, D., Lin, Q., Su, S., Liu, K., Wu, Y., and Hai, J. (2017). URB597 improves cognitive impairment induced by chronic cerebral hypoperfusion by inhibiting mTOR-dependent autophagy. *Neuroscience* 344, 293–304. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.12.034
- Wang, H. C., Zhang, T., Kuerban, B., Jin, Y. L., Le, W., Hara, H., et al. (2015). Autophagy is involved in oral rAAV/Abeta vaccine-induced Abeta clearance in APP/PS1 transgenic mice. *Neurosci. Bull.* 31, 491–504. doi: 10.1007/s12264-015-1546-4
- Wei, H. J., Li, X., and Tang, X. Q. (2014). Therapeutic benefits of H(2)S in Alzheimer's disease. J. Clin. Neurosci. 21, 1665–1669. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2014. 01.006
- Whiteman, M., Le Trionnaire, S., Chopra, M., Fox, B., and Whatmore, J. (2011). Emerging role of hydrogen sulfide in health and disease: critical appraisal of biomarkers and pharmacological tools. *Clin. Sci.* 121, 459–488. doi: 10.1042/ cs20110267
- Xie, L., Kang, H., Xu, Q., Chen, M. J., Liao, Y., Thiyagarajan, M., et al. (2013). Sleep drives metabolite clearance from the adult brain. *Science* 342, 373–377. doi: 10.1126/science.1241224
- Xu, Y., Tian, Y., Tian, Y., Li, X., and Zhao, P. (2016). Autophagy activation involved in hypoxic-ischemic brain injury induces cognitive and memory impairment in neonatal rats. *J. Neurochem.* 139, 795–805. doi: 10.1111/jnc.1 3851

- Yang, J. L., Liu, X., Jiang, H., Pan, F., Ho, C. S., and Ho, R. C. (2016). The Effects of high-fat-diet combined with chronic unpredictable mild stress on depressionlike behavior and leptin/LepRb in male rats. *Sci. Rep.* 6:35239. doi: 10.1038/ srep35239
- Zhan, J.-Q., Zheng, L.-L., Chen, H.-B., Yu, B., Wang, W., Wang, T., et al. (2018). Hydrogen sulfide reverses aging-associated amygdalar synaptic plasticity and fear memory deficits in rats. *Front. Neurosci.* 12:390. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018. 00390
- Zhang, L., Zhang, H. Q., Liang, X. Y., Zhang, H. F., Zhang, T., and Liu, F. E. (2013). Melatonin ameliorates cognitive impairment induced by sleep deprivation in rats: role of oxidative stress, BDNF and CaMKII. *Behav. Brain Res.* 256, 72–81. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2013.07.051
- Zhang, S., Xue, Z. F., Huang, L. P., Fang, R. M., He, Y. P., Li, L., et al. (2013). Dynamic expressions of Beclin 1 and tyrosine hydroxylase in different areas of 6-hydroxydopamine-induced Parkinsonian rats. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 33, 973–981. doi: 10.1007/s10571-013-9964-1
- Zhang, N., and Liu, H. T. (2008). Effects of sleep deprivation on cognitive functions. *Neurosci. Bull.* 24, 45–48. doi: 10.1007/s12264-008-0 910-z
- Zhang, X., and Bian, J. S. (2014). Hydrogen sulfide: a neuromodulator and neuroprotectant in the central nervous system. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 5, 876– 883. doi: 10.1021/cn500185g
- Zhang, X., Cheng, X., Yu, L., Yang, J., Calvo, R., Patnaik, S., et al. (2016). MCOLN1 is a ROS sensor in lysosomes that regulates autophagy. *Nat. Commun.* 7:12109. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12109
- Zhao, Q., Peng, C., Wu, X., Chen, Y., Wang, C., and You, Z. (2014). Maternal sleep deprivation inhibits hippocampal neurogenesis associated with inflammatory response in young offspring rats. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 68, 57–65. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd. 2014.04.008
- Zheng, L., Roberg, K., Jerhammar, F., Marcusson, J., and Terman, A. (2006). Autophagy of amyloid beta-protein in differentiated neuroblastoma cells exposed to oxidative stress. *Neurosci. Lett.* 394, 184–189. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet. 2005.10.035
- Zhuang, F., Zhou, X., Li, H., Yang, X., Dong, Z., Zhou, W., et al. (2016). Hydrogen sulfide promotes learning and memory and suppresses proinflammatory cytokines in repetitive febrile seizures. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 23, 271–277. doi: 10.1159/000449504

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Yang, Jiang, Lan, Wei, Xie, Zou, Zhang, Wang, Xie and Tang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Identification of Key Genes and Pathways in Post-traumatic Stress Disorder Using Microarray Analysis

Yaoyao Bian^{1†}, Lili Yang^{2,3†}, Min Zhao^{2†}, Zhengjun Li⁴, Yuying Xu¹, Guilian Zhou¹, Wenlin Li³ and Li Zeng^{2,3*}

¹ School of Nursing, Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine, Nanjing, China, ² School of First Clinical Medicine, Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine, Nanjing, China, ³ Jingwen Library, Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine, Nanjing, China, ⁴ Management School, Lancaster University, Lancaster, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Jiongjiong Yang, Peking University, China

Reviewed by:

Haopeng Sun, China Pharmaceutical University, China Yuan Sun, University of California, Davis, United States

*Correspondence:

Li Zeng zengbingli@163.com [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 18 October 2018 Accepted: 30 January 2019 Published: 27 February 2019

Citation:

Bian Y, Yang L, Zhao M, Li Z, Xu Y, Zhou G, Li W and Zeng L (2019) Identification of Key Genes and Pathways in Post-traumatic Stress Disorder Using Microarray Analysis. Front. Psychol. 10:302. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00302 **Introduction:** Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is characterized by impaired fear extinction, excessive anxiety, and depression. However, the potential pathogenesis and cause of PTSD are not fully understood. Hence, the purpose of this study was to identify key genes and pathway involved in PTSD and reveal underlying molecular mechanisms by using bioinformatics analysis.

Methods: The mRNA microarray expression profile dataset was retrieved and downloaded from the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) database. The differentially expressed genes (DEGs) were screened using GEO2R. Gene ontology (GO) was used for gene function annotations and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway was performed for enrichment analysis. Subsequently, protein–protein interaction (PPI) network and module analysis by the plugin MCODE were mapped by Cytoscape software. Finally, these key genes were verified in stress-exposed models by Real-Time quantitative (qRT-PCR). In addition, we performed text mining among the key genes and pathway with PTSD by using COREMINE.

Results: A total of 1004 DEGs were identified. Gene functional annotations and enrichment analysis indicated that the most associated pathway was closely related to the Wnt signaling pathway. Using PPI network and module analysis, we identified a group of "seed" genes. These genes were further verified by qRT-PCR. In addition, text mining indicated that the altered CYP1A2, SYT1, and NLGN1 affecting PTSD might work via the Wnt signaling pathway.

Conclusion: By using bioinformatics analysis, we identified a number of genes and relevant pathway which may represent key mechanisms associated with PTSD. However, these findings require verification in future experimental studies.

Keywords: PTSD, bioinformatics analysis, microarray analysis, key genes, key pathways

INTRODUCTION

Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is defined as affective trauma-related or stressor-related disorder exposed to single/episodic, direct/indirect, or acute/chronic events (Ronzoni et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2018). It manifests with a multitude of clinically significant symptoms including avoidance when re-living the traumatic event, disturbing when reminding the flashbacks and hyper vigilance often last for at least 1 month after the occurrence of the event (Dennis et al., 2016; Eustache et al., 2017).

More and more literatures on the psychopathological consequences of trauma exposure or life-threatening events have focused upon PTSD. The estimated prevalence of PTSD performed in six countries ranged from 3.1 to 61.6% according to the International Consortium to Predict PTSD (ICPP) project (Qi et al., 2018). In a recent meta-analysis of 27 studies including 30,878 ambulance personnel, a 11% prevalence rate of PTSD was found, appearing to be particularity at high risk (Petrie et al., 2018). Similary, in China, the prevalence was reported to range from 1.3 to 62.8% after 2008 Wenchuan earthquake (Hong and Efferth, 2016). PTSD can not only cause multisystem disorders with comorbidities both physically and mentally, but also it can lead to a number of negative social consequences such as suicide or violence tendencies. It has brought a significant personal and societal burden.

To date, various researches suggested that pathogenesis of PTSD was associated with autonomic nervous system (ANS), hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, neural circuits and immune system. The underlying pathogenesis of PTSD remains incompletely unknown. Therefore, it is promoting the need to develop a further identifying the etiological factors, molecular mechanisms, and pathways of PTSD to discover novel diagnostic and treatment strategies for PTSD.

Fortunately, with the advances of sequencing and highthroughput DNA microarray analyses, numerous genes and pathways have been demonstrated to be correlated with the genesis and progression of PTSD. For example, Kilaru et al. (2016) found that Neuroligin 1 (NLGN1) might participate in synaptic plasticity, which further suggesting a significant association between Neuroligin 1 (NLGN1) and PTSD. Maheu and Ressler (2017) found that Wnt protein was related to fear- and stress-related disorder. Moreover, various genes, i.e., FK506 Binding Protein 5 (FKBP5) (Young et al., 2015), Dicer 1, Ribonuclease III (DICER1) (Wingo et al., 2015), and Dopamine D2 receptor (DRD2) (Duan et al., 2015) were reported to participate in cellular pathway of PTSD. Also, various gene pathways have been shown to be important, such as mTOR pathway (Oh et al., 2018), ERK pathway (Xiang et al., 2017), and Akt/GSK-3β signaling pathway (Chen et al., 2015), etc. Therefore, identifying differentially expressed genes (DEGs) and pathways, elucidating the interactions network among them, are essential for PTSD.

In this study, we retrieved dataset of mRNA expression microarrays from Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO), and

identified a subset of genes as biomarkers in PTSD by using bioinformatics analysis. In addition, several candidate targets for following experimental research were performed. This finding can further help us understand underlying pathogenesis associated with PTSD, and provide initial evidence for future study on potential mechanisms of PTSD.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data Acquisition and DEGs Identification

The mRNA microarray expression profile dataset was retrieved and downloaded from the GEO database (available online: http: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo). After screening, GSE68077 was obtained for our analysis. The platform for GSE68077 was GPL7202, Agilent-014868 Whole Mouse Genome Microarray 4x44K G4122F (Muhie et al., 2017). This dataset consists of 346 groups including brain transcriptome profiles in mouse model simulating features of PTSD and transcriptome profiling of spleen, blood, and hemi-brain of social stressed C57BL/6 mice exhibiting PTSD like features. The C57BL/6 mice were exposed to SJL aggressor mice for periods of 5 or 10 days (6 h each day) to induce anxiety/stress which parallels to PTSD in human. Organs, blood, and brain regions were collected after 1 day and 1.5 weeks following 5 days trauma-exposed, and 1 day and 6 weeks following 10 days trauma-exposed. In current study, the microarray data of hippocampus 6 weeks after 10 days social stressed was collected for analysis. DEGs were screened using GEO2R, an online analytical tool available in GEO. The |logFC| > 1 and P < 0.05 were used as the cutoff values for significantly DEGs. Limma package in the Bioconductor package (available online: http://www.bioconductor.org/) was used for gene differential expression analysis.

Functional and Pathway Enrichment Analysis of DEGs

Gene ontology, a method for annotating genes, was performed to identify potential biological processes, i.e., biological processes (BP), cellular component (CC), and molecular function (MF). The Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway was conducted for presenting the annotation and visualization of gene functions. In addition, both GO enrichment and KEGG pathway analysis were performed using the Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery (DAVID¹) (Huang et al., 2007) to understand the biological significance of genes, when *P*-values <0.05 was considered as cutoff criterion.

Protein–Protein Interaction (PPI) Network Construction and Module Analysis

The Search Tool for the Retrieval of Interacting Genes (STRING²) (von et al., 2003), an online tool for annotation of protein cellular

¹https://david.ncifcrf.gov/ ²https://string-db.org/



FIGURE 1 | (A) Cage-within-cage configuration for aggressor exposure. (B) The protocol timeline of single-housed home cage (10 consecutive days with aggressor exposure and 6 weeks rest).

TABLE 1 | Primers used for qRT-PCR.

Gene	Primer sequence (5'-3')
GRM2-Forward	CTGTCTCTCTATCTCTGC
GRM2-Reverse	TGTGTGTGTGTAACATGATGG
CYP1A2-Forward	AGTACATCTCCTTAGCCCCAG
CYP1A2-Reverse	GGTCCGGGTGGATTCTTCAG
CDH5-Forward	CACTGCTTTGGGAGCCTTC
CDH5-Reverse	GGGGCAGCGATTCATTTTCT
SF1-Forward	CATGGCAGCAAAGATCCCTC
SF1-Reverse	AAGTCCTCACTCTCATGGCTC
EDN3-Forward	CCCTGGTGAGAGGATTGTGTC
EDN3-Reverse	CCTTGTCCTTGTAAGTGAAGCAC
SYT1-Forward	CTGTCACCACTGTTGCGAC
SYT1-Reverse	GGCAATGGGATTTTATGCAGTTC
CAB39L-Forward	CAAAACGCAGCCTATCGTGGA
CAB39L-Reverse	CTCGTCGTCTGTCCTTTCTTTC
NLGN1-Forward	GGTACTTGGCTTCTTGAGCAC
NLGN1-Reverse	CTTGTTTGGGTATAAAGCCTCCA
GAPDH-Forward	AGGTCGGTGTGAACGGATTTG
GAPDH-Reverse	TGTAGACCATGTAGTTGAGGTCA

localization and biological function, was conducted to predict protein–protein interaction (PPI) information. DEGs were mapped to STRING to evaluate the interaction relationships, with a confidence score > 0.9 defined as significant, and PPI integrated networks were visualized by Cytoscape software (Shannon et al., 2003). Then, the plug-in Molecular Complex Detection (MCODE) from Cytoscape was applied to screen the modules of PPI network. Finally, Text mining of gene function prediction was conducted by COREMINE³ (de Leeuw et al., 2012).

Experimental Animals Aggressor Mice

Six 6-week-old male SJL albino mice were purchased from Beijing Vital River Laboratory Animal Technology Co., Ltd. The mice were initially weighted 30–35 g. And these mice were individually housed in the plexiglas cages (48 cm \times 27 cm, height 20 cm) with free water and food in a 12-h light/dark cycle (lights on 6 AM to 6 PM) for 30 days. The temperature was controlled at 22 \pm 2°C and relative humidity was kept at 30–60%. In the meantime, these mice were trained to induce aggressiveness due to isolation (Hammamieh et al., 2012).

Subject Mice

Twelve male C57BL/6N mice (8 weeks old weighing 18 ± 2 g) were provided by the Qinglongshan Experimental Animal Breeding Farm (Nanjing, China). Animal were randomly into two groups: control group and aggressor-exposed (Agg-E) group. Two groups were housed at room temperature $22 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C with standard condition of 12 h light and 12 h darkness. All mice had plenty food and water freely. The experiments were conducted under the approval of Laboratory Animal Management Committee of Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine (approval ID: 201810A043). All procedures were compliant with the Guidelines of Accommodation and Care for Animals formulated by the Chinese Convention for the protection of vertebrate animals used for experimental and other scientific purposes.

Aggressor Exposure

According to a modified "cage-within-cage resident-intruder" protocol (Porsolt et al., 1977), Agg-E mice were placed in a wire mesh cage that was kept inside the aggressor's large home cage for 6 h. The size of the above cages were 17 cm \times 14 cm \times 8 cm and 50 cm \times 30 cm \times 20 cm, respectively, as shown in **Figure 1A**. Similary, the control mice were placed in the same environment

³http://www.coremine.com/medical/



TABLE 2 | Gene ontology analysis of differentially expressed genes associated with PTSD.

Term	Function	Gene count	P-value
GO:0006874	Cellular calcium ion homeostasis	9	<0.01
GO:0051592	Response to calcium ion	8	< 0.01
GO:0006958	Complement activation, classical pathway	7	<0.01
GO:0005886	Plasma membrane	237	< 0.01
GO:0050710	Negative regulation of cytokine secretion	4	<0.01
GO:0016055	Wnt signaling pathway	15	0.01
GO:0016757	Transferase activity, transferring glycosyl groups	16	0.01
GO:0007155	Cell adhesion	29	0.03
GO:0030054	Cell junction	40	0.03
GO:0005509	Calcium ion binding	40	0.03

without being exposed by aggressor mice. During each 6 h session, the aggressor mice were given plentiful food and water, while the Agg-E mice and control mice were deprived of food and water. In addition, at one to three random times, Agg-E mice were exposed directly to the aggressor mouse for 1 min or until 10 bites. At the end of each session, the control and Agg-E mice were returned to their home cage where the food and water were plentiful. A total of 10 consecutive days were repeated. After 10 days with aggressor exposure, mice were housed about

TABLE 3 | Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes pathway analysis of differentially expressed genes associated with PTSD.

Term	Definition	Gene count	P-value
mmu04610	Complement and coagulation cascades	11	< 0.01
mmu04512	ECM-receptor interaction	10	0.01
mmu04723	Retrograde endocannabinoid signaling	9	0.04



6 weeks with food and water *ad libitum*, as shown in the protocol timeline (**Figure 1B**).

Forced Swimming Test (FST), Tail Suspension Test (TST), and Open-Field Test (OFT)

Behavioral tests were performed with Smart3.0 tracking software (Panlab). The subject mice were randomly assigned to two groups (n = 6/group). After 10 days stressed exposure directly or indirectly, the Agg-E group was fed for 6 weeks for recovery. The forced swimming test (FST) and the tail suspension test (TST) were performed to identify the depression-like behavior of the mice in the Agg-E group. Both FST and TST were performed according to previous studies (Porsolt et al., 1977; Steru et al., 1985). Mice were forced to swim in 20 cm water temperature 25 \pm 1°C in 2000 ml glass beaker for 5 min. Immobility time in the last 4 min were measured

in the FST test. After FST test, mice were allowed to have a rest for 24 h and then hanged for 6 min. Immobility time in the last 4 min were recorded in the TST test. The open-field test (OFT) is used to evaluate the state of autonomic movement, aiming to identify agitation and pathological behavior. The device is a square bucket with a bottom. The bottom surface is divided into 25 small squares. The movement of each mouse was recorded for 5 min by a video camera.

RNA Extraction and qRT-PCR

Hippocampus tissue of both control and Agg-E group were extracted total RNA using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen), following the manufacturer's instructions. RNA quality and quantity were measured by Nucleic Acid Protein Detector. cDNA was synthesized with total RNA using the First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (TaKaRa). The relative expression level of mRNAs was performed by using $2^{-\Delta \Delta CT}$ analysis method. The primers



using qRT-PCR. Results were shown as mean \pm SD, *P < 0.05.

used were as follows (Table 1). GAPDH expression served as internal control.

Statistical Analyses

The data of FST, TST and OFT were presented as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD) using SPSS19.0 statistical analysis software. The data were analyzed using *t*-test. **P* < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Identification of DEGs

The mRNA expression profile datasets in hippocampus region consisted of expression data matrix of 41,175 gene probes. Using GEO2R, we identified 1004 DEGs consisting of 583 up-regulated DEGs and 421 down-regulated DEGs. The differential expression genes were shown in **Figure 2**.

Functional Annotations

The 1004 genes were uploaded to DAVID database for biological function assessment, and KEGG pathway enrichment. The results showed that these DEGs were markedly enriched in one of the following 10 biological processes: cellular calcium ion homeostasis, response to calcium ion, complement activation, classical pathway, plasma membrane, negative regulation of cytokine secretion, Wnt signaling pathway, transferase activity, transferring glycosyl groups, cell adhesion, cell junction and calcium ion binding (Table 2). We found that the most significantly enriched pathways were retrograde ECM-receptor endocannabinoid signaling, interaction, complement and coagulation cascades (Table 3). Gene functional annotations and enrichment analyses indicated that the most associated biological function was the Wnt signaling pathway.

Protein and Protein Network

In order to mine the PTSD-associated genes, we performed PPI network analysis by STRING database, and 415 PPI

pairs were derived (Figure 3), which then underwent analysis by Cytoscape to depict the complex relationship (combined score >0.9). Then, 16 clusters were selected from PPI network using the plugin MCODE. MCODE analysis showed that each cluster had one "seed" gene. The "seed" genes were as follows: Olfr1389, Glutamate Metabotropic Receptor 2 (GRM2), Endothelin 3 (EDN3), Golgin B1 (GOLGB1), Synaptotagmin 1 (SYT1), Splicing Factor 1 (SF1), G1 To S Phase Transition 1 (GSPT1), Calcium Binding Protein 39 Like (CAB39L), Exosome Component 8 (EXOSC8), FGF15, Cadherin 5 (CDH5), Collagen Type XXIV Alpha 1 Chain (COL24A1), Cytochrome P450 Family 1 Subfamily A Member 2 (CYP1A2), Myotubularin Related Protein 14 (MTMR14), Neuroligin 1 (NLGN1), and Shugoshin 2 (SGOL2). We found that the main roles of these genes were in cell junction, cell adhesion molecules (CAMs).

Verification of "Seed" Genes and Potential Pathway

To verify the "seed" genes, we used qRT-PCR to identify the expression level of these differentially expressed mRNAs in hippocampal tissue between two groups (**Figure 4**). The results of qRT-PCR showed that all "seed" genes, only GRM2, CYP1A2, CDH5, SF1, EDN3, SYT1, CAB39L, and NLGN1 were differentially expressed (P < 0.05, **Table 4**), which were consistent with the microarray datasets. It is suggested that the eight "seed" genes may function as a group, and play a vital role in pathological mechanism to PTSD.

Text Mining of Genes and Pathway With PTSD

To further depict the relationship among the "seed" genes, and the Wnt signaling pathway with PTSD, text mining was conducted using COREMINE. Co-occurrence analysis of the literature was performed using "post-traumatic stress disorder," "Wnt signaling Pathway," and "gene symbols" as search terms. Eight genes (GRM2, CYP1A2, CDH5, SF1, EDN3, SYT1, CAB39L, and NLGN1) were identified in the text-mining searches, as shown in **Figure 5**. We found that seven genes of eight (CYP1A2, CDH5, SF1, EDN3, SYT1, CAB39L, and NLGN1) were correlated with the Wnt signaling pathway. Four genes (GRM2, CYP1A2, SYT1, and NLGN1)

Gene	Up/down	Fold change	P-value	
	regulation	(mean \pm SD)		
GRM2	Down	2.454 ± 0.384	P < 0.05	
CYP1A2	Down	3.184 ± 0.298	P < 0.05	
CDH5	Up	4.071 ± 0.579	P < 0.05	
SF1	Up	2.821 ± 0.407	P < 0.05	
EDN3	Down	2.288 ± 0.321	P < 0.05	
SYT1	Down	5.146 ± 0.578	P < 0.05	
CAB39L	Up	2.887 ± 0.325	P < 0.05	
NLGN1	Down	5.951 ± 0.596	P < 0.05	

were related to PTSD. Moreover, we found that CYP1A2, SYT1, and NLGN1 were associated with the Wnt signaling pathway and PTSD.

FST, TST, and OFT

Finally, behavioral evaluations were conducted by FST, TST and OFT. It showed that 10 days aggressor exposure induced a significant increase in immobility time. And there was no significant difference on path length of OFT (**Figure 6**).

DISCUSSION

Post-traumatic stress disorder is a long term, maladaptive stress condition, which is characterized by various symptoms, e.g., fear, depression, avoidance behavior, and impaired hyperarousal (Chitrala et al., 2016). It presents a considerable economic and health burden for families, communities and countries. The occurrence and development of PTSD are complicated. However, the underlying pathogenesis of PTSD is not fully understood. Thus, in this present study, we tried to identify important contributors and elucidate possible molecular mechanism related to PTSD.

Currently, with the development of high-throughput technology, microarrays and next generation sequencing combined with bioinformatics analysis generated numerous datasets including mRNA, miRNA, and lncRNA expression profile. Millions of genes were detected and widely used to predict potential biomarker of PTSD. In this study, we retrieved dataset of mRNA expression microarrays from GEO, and used bioinformatics analysis to identify key biomarkers and associated pathways related to PTSD. A total of 1004 DEGs (583 up-regulated and 421 down-regulated) were found. Using functional annotations and enrichment analysis, we found the function of these DEGs were closely related to the Wnt signaling pathway. By constructing the PPI network and module analysis, a number of "seed" genes were identified. In order to further understand whether these genes were altered in stress-exposed mice exhibiting PTSD-like features, we verified these genes in experimental study by qRT-PCR. The result indicated that these genes obtained from the PPI network involved in PTSD. So we posit that these genes may be served as potential biomarkers of PTSD. And the FST and TST results showed that Agg-E group had a significant increase in immobility time, which suggested that stress exposure can induced depressive-behavior.

In text mining network, three genes (CYP1A2, SYT1, and NLGN1) were found to be associated with the Wnt signaling pathway. We reasoned that the altered genes affecting PTSD might work through the Wnt signaling pathway. It showed that these genes may play key roles in PTSD via the Wnt signaling pathway. This finding was supported by previous study (Vidal et al., 2018), which suggested that the Wnt signaling pathway plays a significant role in neurogenesis and the maturation of hippocampal neurons. Several genetic





studies (Inkster et al., 2010; Matrisciano et al., 2011; Wilkinson et al., 2011; Vidal et al., 2018) have reported that the Wnt receptor as well as the signaling pathway downstream were involved in the stress process. Under acute and chronic stress condition, the protein level of secreted glycoprotein Dickkopf-1 (Dkk-1), an inhibitor of the canonical Wnt pathway, showed a significantly higher than that of the controls (Matrisciano et al., 2011). While the expression of disheveled-2 (DVL2), an important protein of the Wnt pathway in nucleus accumbens (NAc) was decreased in chronic social defeat stress models (Wilkinson et al., 2011). Given this evidence, we further argue that the Wnt pathway is critical in pathogenesis of PTSD. The genesis of PTSD is an extremely complex process during which many genetic and epigenetic modifications of driving genes occur. CYP1A2 is concerned with coding a member of the cytochrome P450 enzymes. It is well studied in treating

depressive disorder (Hofer et al., 2013). And SYT1 is a membrane protein, a critical mediator for membrane fusion during the neurotransmitter release induced by Ca²⁺. It can influences synaptic plasticity via the regulation of neurotransmitter release, thus further influencing learning and memory (Zhang et al., 2015). However, no prior reports regarding SYT1 directly associated with PTSD. Further experimental and functional studies are warranted to explore the functional roles of SYT1 related to PTSD. NLGN1, localized at excitatory synapses, plays a critical role in mediating the formation and remodeling of synapses. Previous study (Zhang et al., 2015) found that NLGN1 involved in learning and memory function was closely associated with PTSD. The variation of NLGN1 may lead to higher risk to develop PTSD. In light of our experimental results, we further surmised that these genes may play a positive role on PTSD.

In summary, by using bioinformatics analysis, experimental verification, and text mining, we found that several genes and relevant pathway may represent key mechanisms involved in the development of PTSD. However, these findings require verification in future experimental studies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YB carried out the design of the study, made the data acquisition, and prepared manuscript with LY. MZ, ZL, and YX conducted the data analysis. MZ, YX, and GZ performed the statistical

REFERENCES

- Chen, C., Ji, M., Xu, Q., Zhang, Y., Sun, Q., Liu, J., et al. (2015). Sevoflurane attenuates stress-enhanced fear learning by regulating hippocampal BDNF expression and Akt/GSK-3beta signaling pathway in a rat model of post-traumatic stress disorder. *J. Anesth.* 29, 600–608. doi: 10.1007/s00540-014-1964-x
- Chitrala, K. N., Nagarkatti, P., and Nagarkatti, M. (2016). Prediction of possible biomarkers and novel pathways conferring risk to post-traumatic stress disorder. *PLoS One* 11:e168404. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0168404
- de Leeuw, N., Dijkhuizen, T., Hehir-Kwa, J. Y., Carter, N. P., Feuk, L., Firth, H. V., et al. (2012). Diagnostic interpretation of array data using public databases and internet sources. *Hum. Mutat.* 33, 930–940. doi: 10.1002/humu. 22049
- Dennis, P. A., Weinberg, J. B., Calhoun, P. S., Watkins, L. L., Sherwood, A., Dennis, M. F., et al. (2016). An investigation of vago-regulatory and health-behavior accounts for increased inflammation in posttraumatic stress disorder. J. Psychosom. Res. 83, 33–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2016. 02.008
- Duan, Z., He, M., Zhang, J., Chen, K., Li, B., Wang, J., et al. (2015). Assessment of functional tag single nucleotide polymorphisms within the DRD2 gene as risk factors for post-traumatic stress disorder in the Han Chinese population. J. Affect. Disord. 188, 210–217. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015. 08.066
- Eustache, E., Gerbasi, M. E., Severe, J., Fils-Aimé, J. R., Smith Fawzi, M. C., Raviola, G. J., et al. (2017). Formative research on a teacher accompaniment model to promote youth mental health in Haiti: relevance to mental health task-sharing in low-resource school settings. *Int. J. Soc. Psychiatry* 63, 314–324. doi: 10.1177/0020764017700173
- Hammamieh, R., Chakraborty, N., De Lima, T. C., Meyerhoff, J., Gautam, A., Muhie, S., et al. (2012). Murine model of repeated exposures to conspecific trained aggressors simulates features of post-traumatic stress disorder. *Behav. Brain Res.* 235, 55–66. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2012.07.022
- Hofer, P., Schosser, A., Calati, R., Serretti, A., Massat, I., Kocabas, N. A., et al. (2013). The impact of Cytochrome P450 CYP1A2, CYP2C9, CYP2C19 and CYP2D6 genes on suicide attempt and suicide risk-a European multicentre study on treatment-resistant major depressive disorder. *Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 263, 385–391. doi: 10.1007/s00406-01 2-0375-y
- Hong, C., and Efferth, T. (2016). Systematic review on post-traumatic stress disorder among survivors of the wenchuan earthquake. *Trauma Violence Abuse* 17, 542–561. doi: 10.1177/1524838015585313
- Huang, D. W., Sherman, B. T., Tan, Q., Collins, J. R., Alvord, W. G., Roayaei, J., et al. (2007). The david gene functional classification tool: a novel biological module-centric algorithm to functionally analyze large gene lists. *Genome Biol.* 8:R183. doi: 10.1186/gb-2007-8-9-r183
- Inkster, B., Nichols, T. E., Saemann, P. G., Auer, D. P., Holsboer, F., Muglia, P., et al. (2010). Pathway-based approaches to imaging genetics association studies: wnt signaling, GSK3beta substrates and major depression. *Neuroimage* 53, 908–917. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.02.065
- Kilaru, V., Iyer, S. V., Almli, L. M., Stevens, J. S., Lori, A., Jovanovic, T., et al. (2016). Genome-wide gene-based analysis suggests an association between Neuroligin

analysis. WL and LZ provided the several suggestions for manuscript revision.

FUNDING

This work was sponsored by National Natural Science Foundation of China (81603529, 81704084, and 81673982), the Science and Technology Projects of Jiangsu Provincial Bureau of Traditional Chinese Medicine (YB2017002 and YB2015002), the Natural Science Foundation of the Jiangsu Higher Education Institutions (16KJB360002), and supported by Qing Lan Project.

1 (NLGN1) and post-traumatic stress disorder. *Transl. Psychiatry* 6:e820. doi: 10.1038/tp.2016.69

- Kim, Y. K., Amidfar, M., and Won, E. (2018). A review on inflammatory cytokine-induced alterations of the brain as potential neural biomarkers in post-traumatic stress disorder. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.06.008 [Epub ahead of print]. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2018.06.008
- Maheu, M. E., and Ressler, K. J. (2017). Developmental pathway genes and neural plasticity underlying emotional learning and stress-related disorders. *Learn. Mem.* 24, 492–501. doi: 10.1101/lm.044271.116
- Matrisciano, F., Busceti, C. L., Bucci, D., Orlando, R., Caruso, A., Molinaro, G., et al. (2011). Induction of the Wnt antagonist dickkopf-1 is involved in stressinduced hippocampal damage. *PLoS One* 6:e16447. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0016447
- Muhie, S., Gautam, A., Chakraborty, N., Hoke, A., Meyerhoff, J., Hammamieh, R., et al. (2017). Molecular indicators of stress-induced neuroinflammation in a mouse model simulating features of post-traumatic stress disorder. *Transl. Psychiatry* 7:e1135. doi: 10.1038/tp.2017.91
- Oh, J. Y., Kim, Y. K., Kim, S. N., Lee, B., Jang, J. H., Kwon, S., et al. (2018). Acupuncture modulates stress response by the mTOR signaling pathway in a rat post-traumatic stress disorder model. *Sci. Rep.* 8:11864. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-30337-5
- Petrie, K., Milligan-Saville, J., Gayed, A., Deady, M., Phelps, A., Dell, L., et al. (2018). Prevalence of PTSD and common mental disorders amongst ambulance personnel: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol.* 53, 897–909. doi: 10.1007/s00127-01 8-1539-5
- Porsolt, R. D., Le Pichon, M., and Jalfre, M. (1977). Depression: a new animal model sensitive to antidepressant treatments. *Nature* 266, 730–732. doi: 10. 1038/266730a0
- Qi, W., Ratanatharathorn, A., Gevonden, M., Bryant, R., Delahanty, D., Matsuoka, Y., et al. (2018). Application of data pooling to longitudinal studies of early post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD): the international consortium to predict PTSD (ICPP) project. *Eur. J. Psychotraumatol.* 9:1476442. doi: 10.1080/ 20008198.2018.1476442
- Ronzoni, G., Del, A. A., Mora, F., and Segovia, G. (2016). Enhanced noradrenergic activity in the amygdala contributes to hyperarousal in an animal model of PTSD. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 70, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.04.018
- Shannon, P., Markiel, A., Ozier, O., Baliga, N. S., Wang, J. T., Ramage, D., et al. (2003). Cytoscape: a software environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks. *Genome Res.* 13, 2498–2504. doi: 10.1101/ gr.1239303
- Steru, L., Chermat, R., Thierry, B., and Simon, P. (1985). The tail suspension test: a new method for screening antidepressants in mice. *Psychopharmacology* 85, 367–370. doi: 10.1007/BF00428203
- Vidal, R., Garro-Martinez, E., Diaz, A., Castro, E., Florensa-Zanuy, E., Taketo, M. M., et al. (2018). Targeting beta-catenin in glast-expressing cells: impact on anxiety and depression-related behavior and hippocampal proliferation. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 56, 553–566. doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1100-2
- von, Mering C, Huynen, M., Jaeggi, D., Schmidt, S., Bork, P., and Snel, B. (2003). String: a database of predicted functional associations between proteins. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 31, 258–261. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkg034
- Wilkinson, M. B., Dias, C., Magida, J., Mazei-Robison, M., Lobo, M., Kennedy, P., et al. (2011). A novel role of the WNT-dishevelled-GSK3beta signaling cascade in the mouse nucleus accumbens in a social defeat model of depression. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 9084–9092. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0039-11.2011
- Wingo, A. P., Almli, L. M., Stevens, J. S., Klengel, T., Uddin, M., Li, Y., et al. (2015). DICER1 and microRNA regulation in post-traumatic stress disorder with comorbid depression. *Nat. Commun.* 6:10106. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10106
- Xiang, M., Jiang, Y., Hu, Z., Yang, Y., Botchway, B. O. A., Fang, M., et al. (2017). Stimulation of anxiety-like behavior via ERK pathway by competitive serotonin receptors 2A and 1A in post-traumatic stress disordered mice. *Neurosignals* 25, 39–53. doi: 10.1159/000481791
- Young, K. A., Thompson, P. M., Cruz, D. A., Williamson, D. E., and Selemon, L. D. (2015). BA11 FKBP5 expression levels correlate with dendritic spine density in postmortem PTSD and controls. *Neurobiol. Stress* 2, 67–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ynstr. 2015.07.002
- Zhang, D. X., Jiang, S., Yu, L. N., Zhang, F. J., Zhuang, Q., Yan, M., et al. (2015). The effect of sevoflurane on the cognitive function of rats and its association with the inhibition of synaptic transmission. *Int. J. Clin. Exp. Med.* 8, 20853–20860.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Bian, Yang, Zhao, Li, Xu, Zhou, Li and Zeng. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





An East Meets West Approach to the Understanding of Emotion Dysregulation in Depression: From Perspective to Scientific Evidence

Jiajia Ye^{1,2}, Shuhe Cai^{3*}, Wai Ming Cheung⁴ and Hector W. H. Tsang^{2*}

¹Department of Rehabilitation Assessment, Fujian University of Traditional Chinese Medicine Subsidiary Rehabilitation Hospital, Fuzhou, China, ²Department of Rehabilitation Sciences, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Hong Kong, China, ³Department of Orthopaedic Rehabilitation, Fujian University of Traditional Chinese Medicine Subsidiary Rehabilitation Hospital, Fuzhou, China, ⁴Faculty of Education, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fushun Wang, Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine, China

Reviewed by:

Xin Chen, University of Macau, China Liye Zou, Beijing Sport University, China

*Correspondence:

Shuhe Cai 13706989977@139.com Hector W. H. Tsang hector.tsang@polyu.edu.hk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 28 September 2018 Accepted: 28 February 2019 Published: 28 March 2019

Citation:

Ye J, Cai S, Cheung WM and Tsang HWH (2019) An East Meets West Approach to the Understanding of Emotion Dysregulation in Depression: From Perspective to Scientific Evidence. Front. Psychol. 10:574. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00574 Depression, an emotion regulation disorder, is a prevalent mental illness in the world. Meanwhile, traditional Chinese medicine (TCM) has been increasingly regarded as a promising and effective alternative therapy approach for patients with depression. Despite many years of research on depression, the current understanding of the pathological mechanism of depression based on TCM theories is still in its infancy. Due to the lack of scientific evidence in the past, TCM is not fully recognized by researchers around the world. This review firstly summarizes the pathogenesis and etiology of depression in terms of both Eastern and Western medical systems. Secondly, it adopts an integrated Eastern and Western approach to propose some plausible neurophysiological pathways linking the liver, spleen, and heart functions explicated in TCM theory. The aim of this theoretical review is to bridge the knowledge gap between Eastern and Western medicine, which may better explain the pathology of depression.

Keywords: traditional Chinese medicine, depression, East meets West, neuroscience, neurophysiological pathway, emotion

INTRODUCTION

Depression, an emotion regulation disorder, is one of the most prevalent psychiatric disorders worldwide. This disorder will become the second leading cause of disability by 2020. People with depression will spend approximately 8.2% of their lifespan struggling with the associated disabilities (Ferrari et al., 2013). The prevalence of depression in adolescents is high, accounting for 6% of the population. Recent epidemiological studies indicate that the lifetime rate of depression is 16% (Andrade et al., 2003; Kessler et al., 2003). Depression includes such symptoms as fatigue, depressed mood and anhedonia, irritability, loss of appetite, body weight changes, and sleep disorders. These symptoms may lead to a heavy burden on the patients, their families, their friends, and society (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Emotion regulation refers to the interaction between the occurrence, intensity, duration, and expression of emotion (Gratz and Roemer, 2004). It is widely acknowledged that emotion regulation strategies are closely associated with mental health (Aldao et al., 2010). Depression is characterized

by the emotion of sadness and the inability to extract pleasure from positive situations. Previous studies have suggested that patients with depression lack the emotion of anger because of their inability to handle stressful situations (Gu et al., 2016, 2018a). There are many ways for people with depression to regulate their emotions, including coping strategies and motivation (Kring and Werner, 2004; Campbell-Sills et al., 2006). A number of experimental studies on emotion regulation support the view that deficit in emotion regulation can be a crucial clue to understanding the etiology of depression (Soygüt and Savaşir, 2001). Therefore, emotion dysregulation is closely related to depression, and it is vital to understand emotion regulation in order to unravel the pathogenesis of this disorder.

Traditional Chinese medicine (TCM) originated from ancient China and has evolved over thousands of years. Nowadays, a growing number of people around the world are using TCM to prevent or cure diseases. In 2006, there were over 200 million outpatients and 7 million inpatients receiving TCM therapies. Most of the principles of TCM are derived from the philosophical basis of Taoism and Confucianism (General Office of the State Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine and School of Management of Beijing University of Chinese Medicine, 2006). The main TCM therapies include herbal medicine, acupuncture, acupressure, moxibustion, massage, cupping, and physical exercise such as gigong. TCM theory is based on clinical experience instead of scientific evidence. Western medicine, on the other hand, is based on scientific investigations and tested by animal experiments and clinical trials. The two systems differ in their diagnoses, treatments, and theories (Tian, 2011). Despite a long history of clinical experience, the fundamentals of TCM remain largely unchanged and, similarly and unfortunately, the scientific elements underlying its theories remain largely unknown (Keji and Hao, 2003). Lack of scientific evidence has led to skepticism, criticism, and even rejection of TCM (Ted, 2000).

Given the high prevalence of depression and the increasing attention given to TCM, this theoretical review attempts to explore the etiological mechanism of depression *via* the Eastern and Western or integrative approach. In the long run, this paper will broaden and deepen our understanding of the etiology, signs, and symptoms of depression. Hopefully, this will give us insight into the development of innovative intervention strategies.

TRADITIONAL CHINESE MEDICINE'S VIEWS ABOUT EMOTION AND DEPRESSION

The TCM theory of emotion has a history of more than 2000 years and embraces well-established diagnosis and treatment systems. Many ancient Chinese texts have contents pertaining to the syndromes, etiologies, and treatment of depression caused by extreme emotional changes using the concept of "yu" or "yu-zheng," which literally means "not flowing, entangled, blocked, or clogged" (Ou, 1988). *The Yellow Emperor's Classic of Internal Medicine* is usually considered the earliest Chinese

classic medical text in the world (General Office of the State Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine and School of Management of Beijing University of Chinese Medicine, 2006). It expounds the relationship between emotional changes and the five viscera, namely, the heart, spleen, kidney, liver, and lung. According to TCM theory, emotional change is closely related to the etiology of diseases. The five viscera parallel the five elements (i.e., metal, wood, water, fire, and earth) which are transformed to create joy, anger, sadness, missing, and fear (Veith, 2015). This is derived from the five elements theory which can be used to understand the physiology and pathology of the human body and the etiology and pathogenesis of diseases (Giovanni, 1989). The transformation of emotion is based on the productive cycle of the five elements theory. The interaction of elements and organs is as follows: sadness is related to the lung, and joy can oppose it; fear is related to the kidney, and missing can oppose it; anger is related to the liver, and sadness can oppose it; joy is related to the heart, and fear can oppose it; missing is related to the spleen, and anger can oppose it (Giovanni, 1989; Chen, 1990; Gu et al., 2018a,b). Theoretically, emotional changes have two-way functions. On the one hand, emotional changes may lead to specific diseases. On the other hand, some diseases may result in emotional changes. If emotional changes (i.e., anger, fear, and sadness) can be managed in the short term, this would not bring about negative influences on the human body (Wang et al., 2017). If emotional changes are strong and last for a long time, this will give rise to the dysregulation of the autonomic nervous system (ANS) because it exceeds the adjustable range of physiology and depression will occur.

Many ancient Chinese practitioners proposed definitions of yu. Tao Hongjing (Wu et al., 1963), the author of Shennong Bencao Jing Jizhu, a variorum of Shennong's classic materia medica, and a physician of the North and South kingdoms period, reported the treatment of yu using antelope horn. In another text, Chen Wuzhe (Chen and Lu, 1995), who was a famous TCM practitioner in the Song dynasty (960-1,279), proposed the concept of the "seven emotions" which indicated that emotional changes may lead to disharmony of the internal organs and then to yu. Zhang Congzhen (Zhang et al., 2011), who was the most famous TCM practitioner in the Jin dynasty (265-420), put forward the pathogen concept. Mr. Zhang proposed the methods of sweating, emesis, and diarrhea to treat the yu-zheng caused by a pathogen. Although several concepts regarding yu were proposed in ancient times, the most useful concept for understanding the progression of yu is Zhu Danxi's theory of the six depressions, which is regarded as the mainstay of TCM theory for understanding depression. The theory of the six depressions involves the stagnation of either qi, blood, dampness, phlegm, food, or fire, and it is built on earlier Chinese medical texts such as the Treatise on Cold Damage and Miscellaneous Disorders and The Yellow Emperor's Classic of Internal Medicine (Scheid, 2013; Chen et al., 2015). Zhu Danxi's approach focused on the understanding of disease dynamics. He mentioned that gi was responsible for the movement and transformation of blood, dampness, phlegm, food, and fire. If the qi was stagnant, either blood,

dampness, phlegm, or food would not be able to move or transform properly in the human body. These obstructions of substances might accumulate and eventually turn into fire (Park, 2002) (Figure 1).

When Western medicine was introduced into China, its nosology was usually translated into Chinese by referring to the closest TCM concept. In the case of depression, it was translated into Chinese as "yiyu" or "yu" with reference to the yu syndromes in TCM (Ng et al., 2006). Unlike Western medicine, in TCM, diagnosis is based on the syndrome differentiation of diseases or disorders underlying symptom co-occurrence patterns. TCM practitioners discover constraints not only by asking and observing but also by palpating and smelling (Ross, 1985).

The onset of depression is often due to significant emotional changes that are mainly related to the liver (Wang and Lu, 2002; So et al., 2015). In its initial stage, depressive syndrome is mostly classified as "excess type"; in prolonged cases, the classification changes to "deficiency type" or "deficiency-excess type" (Wang and Lu, 2002). Liver qi plays a vital role in the precipitation of depressive episodes, and stagnation of the liver gi is part of the excess-type classification. Conventionally, when there is emotional change, the liver qi is affected first, followed by disharmony of the qi among the five viscera, especially the liver, spleen, and heart, resulting in a loss of regulation of the qi and blood. If the liver fails to control the dispersion, the function of the spleen will be repressed. This will lead to dissipation and harm to the heart qi. If the heart loses its nourishment and the "shen" (spirit) becomes restless, it will lead to an unstable and depressed mood. When stagnation of the qi is prolonged, it will accumulate and transform into fire (Allen, 1990). Previous reviews have supported this theory and suggested that anger leads to deviant dispersion of the liver gi, which then causes depression (Zhao, 1992; Jin and Liang, 1997; Guo and Liu, 2002). A growing body of evidence suggests that anger may lead to liver dysfunction, which means that the liver's function of spreading qi is impaired. Once the



liver is unable to maintain its free and unobstructed flow, people may experience depression (Liu, 1991; Zhao and Zhao, 1999; Park, 2002).

WESTERN MEDICINE'S VIEWS ABOUT EMOTION AND DEPRESSION

More and more studies are investigating the etiology of depression (Krystal et al., 2002; Smith and Vale, 2006; Moret and Briley, 2011; Liu et al., 2015). However, the underlying pathophysiology of depression is still not fully understood. Several possible theories may explain the potential process involved in depression, but neurophysiological factors play a vital causal role in the process (General, 2001).

Regulation of Neurotransmitters Norepinephrine Theory

Norepinephrine (NE) is responsible for the regulation of cardiovascular activity, pain sensation, and body temperature. Previous studies have shown that there is a close link between NE and anxiety (Schildkraut, 1965; Liu et al., 2015). The possible relationship between depression and disturbance of NE in the brain was first proposed in 1965 (Schildkraut, 1965). In an animal study (Schildkraut, 1965), it was reported that a lower concentration of NE in the brain caused by reserpine might lead to depression. Evidence showed that people with depression had either low or high levels of urinary 3-methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylglycol (MHPG), the metabolite of NE degradation, which indicated there are significant differences in the amount of NE in terms of synthesis and release between people with depression and healthy individuals (Samson et al., 1994). As noradrenergic pathways in the brain arise from the locus coeruleus and project to the frontal cortex, limbic system, and spinal cord, neuroimaging studies suggest that abnormal metabolism in the limbic and paralimbic structures of the prefrontal cortex (PFC) is associated with emotional dysregulation and depression, which might indicate that medicine that increases NE activity in the brain could be one of the most effective therapeutic agents (Drevets et al., 2002).

Serotonin (5-HT) Theory

Serotonin, biochemically derived from tryptophan, is primarily found in the central nervous system (CNS), the gastrointestinal tract, and blood platelets (Young, 2007). There are generally seven serotonin receptor subtypes which exert influences on various biological and neurological processes, such as aggression, anxiety, appetite, sleep, mood, and thermoregulation (Glennon and Dukat 1991; Wesolowska, 2002). Coppen et al. (1965) developed the hypothesis on 5-HT and the treatment of depression in 1965. They proposed that decreased levels of 5-HT in the synaptic cleft might result in depression. A study by Pandey (1997) found that suicidal patients had lower levels of 5-HT compared to normal subjects. A study by Wägner et al. (1990) showed that taking fluoxetine, a selective inhibitor of 5-HT uptake, significantly reduced the content of 5-HT compared to its original level based on a platelet sample and relieved the syndromes caused by depression. Clinical studies showed that 5-HT₂ receptors were likely to be the candidates involved in the pathophysiology and treatment of depression among various 5-HT receptor subtypes (Hoyer et al., 1986; Nyberg et al., 1993). In addition to 5-HT₂, 5-HT_{1A} receptors have an influence on the regulation of mood. A review suggested that the 5-HT_{1A} receptors were particularly related to antidepressant and anxiolytic responses in human beings (Blier and Ward, 2003). The presynaptic 5-HT_{1A} receptors are located in the raphe nuclei, where they act as cell body auto-receptors to inhibit the firing rate of 5-HT neurons. On the other hand, the postsynaptic 5-HT_{1A} receptors are located in the limbic and cortical regions, where they also attenuate firing activity, which indicates that 5-HT_{1A} receptors bring about a negative feedback influence on firing activity in the brain (Aghajanian and Lakoski, 1984; Blier and De Montigny, 1987; Blier and Ward, 2003).

Dopamine Theory

Dopamine (DA), which participates in emotion regulation, is produced by the dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) of the midbrain, the substantia nigra pars compacta, and the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus, and its notable functions are associated with the mediation of mood, behavior, and cognition (Martini, 2015). The relationship between DA and depression was first developed by Molander and Randrup (1976). Willner (1983) found that the concentration of DA was lower in patients with depression compared to healthy subjects. A study with post-mortem human subjects showed that the metabolite rate of DA was critically decreased in suicidal patients with depression, specifically in the regions of caudate, putamen, and nucleus accumbens (Bowden et al., 1997). Evidence from recent studies also supports this finding. An animal study showed that depletion of DA in brain samples was found in animals with behavioral depression after 3 weeks of reserpine injections (Ikram and Haleem, 2017). A clinical study found that the D₂ receptor of DA might be supersensitive in patients with depression compared to controls by means of a novel neuroendocrine challenge test which indicated that dopaminergic mechanisms might be a target of therapeutic interest (Verbeeck et al., 2001).

The Relationship of Possible Factors Glutamine and λ -Amino Butyric Acid

Glutamine (Glu) and λ -amino butyric acid (GABA) are respectively the main excitatory and inhibitory amino acids in the CNS mediating general mood states (Crabtree et al., 2013). Increasing evidence from clinical studies shows that Glu levels decrease in depressed patients compared with healthy controls (Auer et al., 2000; Liu et al., 2015) and GABA concentrations in the occipital cortex and prefrontal regions of patients with depression also decrease compared with control groups (Sanacora et al., 1999; Hasler et al., 2007). Studies on TCM have mentioned that levels of Glu and GABA might be increased through taking Chinese herbs (Gao et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2015). As the levels of Glu and GABA are vital to maintaining normal brain function, the two neurotransmitter systems may be the possible therapeutic targets in depression (Zorumski et al., 2013).

Gene and Environment Interaction

Previous research on twins has demonstrated that genetic factors play a vital role in the development of depression. Scientific findings show that the heritability of depression accounts for between 31 and 42% of the variance in adolescents' depressive symptoms (Sullivan et al., 2000; Barclay et al., 2015). Scientists have recently raised the possibility that genetic vulnerability factors can interact with environmental factors to make depressive symptoms more severe. An empirical study has suggested that social context will have a function in triggering and compensating for a genetic diathesis (Heath et al., 2002). Also, social context will act as a control to prevent "genetic predisposition behaviors" (Heath et al., 2002). The diathesis-stress process of the geneenvironment (GE) interaction might occur when those who have genetic vulnerability are under a stressful environment (Shanahan and Hofer, 2005).

Cognition

Cognition refers to the mental actions or processes of (a) gaining new knowledge and understanding and (b) recalling memories that involve perceiving, recognizing, conceiving, and reasoning. Apart from the factors of neurotransmitters and GE interaction, Beck's cognitive theory of depression also has to be taken into consideration. The cognitive theory of negative automatic thoughts and underlying dysfunctional assumptions schemas were proposed by Beck in the mid-1960s (Beck, 1979). He found that the negative way of thinking came from previously unpleasurable experiences which could guide people's perceptions or interpretations, hence leading to a negative worldview and causing depression (Soygüt and Savaşir, 2001). The cognitive theory of depression indicates that early relevant experiences might result in the formation of dysfunctional beliefs which might lead to negative self-beliefs. When those who have negative self-views about themselves encounter a specific circumstance, they are more likely to feel hopeless and useless and ultimately be depressed (Soygüt and Savaşir, 2001). A study by Allen (1990) based on students showed that negative attitudes toward the future was related to depressive mood, and depression-prone students were found to negatively process personal information, leading to the development of symptoms of depression. Evidence from Abela and D'Alessandro (2002) was in line with previous findings and suggested that dysfunctional attitudes and an increase in depressive mood were significantly associated with students' negative beliefs about the future (Figure 2).

AN INTEGRATED EAST MEETS WEST APPROACH TO CLOSING THE GAP

In TCM, "zang fu" can be translated as "internal organs." It may be regarded as a core concept of TCM which views the



physical body as an integrated whole. It also describes an integrated relationship between mental activities, sense organs, tissues, five solid and six hollow organs, and environment influences (Giovanni, 1989).

The theory of internal organs is entirely different from the anatomical structure originating from Western medicine. However, this does not mean that TCM entirely disregards anatomy. The concept of organs in Western medicine is based on anatomy, whereas the concept of organs in TCM is based on a system concept that embraces anatomy, physiology, and psychology. In TCM, the function of internal organs is basically related to various substances, emotions, tissues, and senses. For example, the basic substances of TCM are qi (energy), xue (blood), jing (essence), shen (spirit), and jin ye (body fluids). Each substance is related to one or more organs (e.g., the spleen governs food qi and influences body fluids, and the heart governs blood).

In Western medicine, the liver, the largest internal organ, has various functions in the body, including the synthesis of proteins, blood clotting factors, triglycerides, cholesterol, glycogen, and the production of bile. However, TCM theorists believe that the liver is responsible for controlling dispersion in all organs and in all directions to ensure the smooth flow of qi throughout the body. This is the most salient of all the liver's functions, especially as far as depression is concerned. With reference to depression, the liver is postulated to be related to the functioning of the neuroendocrine system in Western medicine (Li and Wang, 1985; Yue and Tian, 1995).

To our knowledge, every organ's energy has a normal direction of flow: the qi of some organs flows downward (such as that of the stomach) and the qi of other organs flows upward (such as that of the spleen). The normal direction of the movement of the liver qi is upward and outward in all directions to make sure that the flow of energy is smooth and unimpeded. There are three functional activities of the liver in terms of this movement: regulating emotions, regulating the secretion of bile, and assisting the digestive function of the spleen and stomach (Ross, 1985; Giovanni, 1989).

The emotional state of an individual in fact depends on the smooth flow of energy and blood. When the liver qi flows smoothly, the emotional status of the individual will be calm and peaceful. In contrast, if the liver is not functioning well, the energy of the liver will stagnate, which will then lead to an abnormal increase in liver qi, and give rise to emotional disturbances, such as depression, accompanied by physical symptoms, such as a sensation of oppression in the chest and hypochondriac pain (Giovanni, 1989). Scientific studies of animal and human subjects have provided preliminary support to the postulation that the liver function in TCM is associated with the neuroendocrine system that includes the regulation of the NE system located in the locus coeruleus (LC/NE) and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA) (Yue and Tian, 1995; Wang and Yao 2002; Yan and Xu, 2005; Yue et al., 2005a).

LC/NE System

Studies have explored the symptoms of the abnormal rising of the liver qi that are correlated with a lack of regulation of the ANS (Yue and Tian, 1995), a deficiency of serotonin, and an excessive level of NE (Spiegelhalder et al., 2011; Wei et al., 2012). However, another study claimed that NE level is not related to the severity of depression because of the different stages of depression (Yuan et al., 2004). The LC/NE system may be involved in the regulation of the neuroendocrine system based on the syndrome of liver qi stagnation. The locus coeruleus is the central site of the LC/NE system in the brain, which is the center of the synthesizing adrenergic nerve. The ascending fibers of the adrenergic nerve are mainly projected into the amygdala, hippocampus, and limbic cortex, which are responsible for emotional changes, memory, and behavioral changes. The descending fibers of the adrenergic nerve are mainly projected into the lateral dorsal horn of the spinal cord, which is involved in the regulation of the activity of the sympathetic nerve, and the secretion of catecholamines. It has been suggested that the activated amygdala may stimulate the release of the corticotrophinreleasing hormone (CRH) that increases the activity of the sympathetic nerve via the mediating lateral dorsal horn of the spinal cord. Once the sympathetic nerve is activated, adrenaline medulla will release NE and epinephrine (E) due to the activated adrenal gland (Copstead and Banasik, 2010) (Figure 3).

A growing number of clinical trials support the association between liver diseases and the lack of ANS regulation (Yue et al., 2005a). A study by Jin (2000) mentioned that there is a positive correlation between increased sympathetic tone activity and the excess type of liver dysfunction, such as loss of appetite and wiry pulse, while there is a negative correlation between increased parasympathetic tone activity and the deficiency type of liver dysfunction, such as weak pulse. A study by Yuan et al. (2004) suggested that NE level is relatively higher in patients with depression compared to people in normal health. As the results on NE level in patients with depression are contradictory, experimental studies to explore this monoamine transmitter concentration in depressed patients would be a promising direction for further research.

The HPA Axis

In addition to the LC/NE system, the regulation of the HPA axis may also be implicated with depression if there is dysfunction



in the liver. The hypothalamus plays a role in the physiology of depression *via* elevation in the activity of the HPA axis (Benca et al., 1992). The significance of the HPA axis in mediating physical manifestations of psychological stress has been well documented (Nestler et al., 2002; Steiger, 2007). The activity of the HPA axis is mainly related to the operation of CRH from the parvocellular neurons of the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus (Steiger, 2007; Gu et al., 2018a). The secretion of CRH will stimulate the release of the adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), secreting cortisol in humans and corticosterone in rats from the anterior pituitary. Most neuroendocrine studies of patients with clinical depression report elevated cortisol secretion and ACTH due to the impairment in the negative feedback system of cortisol to the HPA (Tsang and Fung, 2008) (**Figure 4**).

In addition, the body state named "fight or flight," can be provided by elevated cortisol levels (Wang et al., 2017). Since the negative feedback of the HPA axis and cortisol is impaired, a higher level of HPA axis activity will lead to reduced vagal modulation or excessive activation of sympathetic neurons, resulting in physiological activation, such as increased heart rate, peripheral vasoconstriction, elevated body temperature, and increased body metabolic rate (Kales and Kales, 1984; Kales et al., 1987; Vgontzas et al., 2001; Bonnet and Arand, 2003). The above suggests that depression is closely related to over-secretion of ACTH and cortisol secretion.

ANS Dysregulation

Apart from the function of regulating emotions in the liver, the digestive function of the spleen and stomach also depends on the movement of liver qi in TCM theory. If there is dysfunction in the liver, the digestive activities are impaired. People may exhibit the symptoms of belching, sour regurgitation, and nausea or vomiting. Lastly, the flow of bile is affected by liver function. If dysfunction of the liver occurs, the flow of bile may stagnate, leading to bitter taste in the mouth, belching, or jaundice and, resulting in sleep disturbance. An experimental study found that dysfunction of the ANS could be one of the



FIGURE 4 | The neuropathways associated with the HPA axis.

reasons for emotional disturbance and functional dyspepsia (Vgontzas et al., 2001). Moreover, studies have shown that there is a correlation between the symptoms of stagnation of liver qi, deficiency of bile secretion, and intestinal malabsorption (Jin et al., 1985; Yue and Tian, 1995) (Figure 5).

Tryptophan and Serotonin Deficiencies

The spleen is an abdominal organ which is involved in the production and removal of blood cells, and it is a part of the immune system according to Western medicine. However, the definition of spleen in TCM theory is different, with a broader implication than in Western medicine. It refers not only to the organ itself but also to the functions of digestion (including the pancreas and small intestine) with regard to depression (Yu, 2013).

The primary function of the spleen is to aid the stomach in the digestion of food by transporting and transforming nutrients from food and water, absorbing the nourishment, and separating the usable part of food and water from the unusable part (Giovanni, 1989). Once food and water are ingested, the spleen and stomach work closely together in digesting, extracting, and transporting the essence from food and water to the body. When the spleen is working properly, digestion will be normal and a person will have a good appetite, normal absorption, an adequate energy supply, and regular bowel movements (Giovanni, 1989). As the liver has the function of assisting the digestive functions of the spleen and stomach, if liver does not function properly, it will affect the spleen function, resulting in poor appetite, indigestion, and abdominal distension. In five-element terms, this corresponds to "Wood overacting on Earth."

Previous research aligns with our postulation. It has been reported that patients with dysfunction of the spleen have a low concentration of urine amylase, an insufficient concentration of serum gastrin, and a low frequency of peristalsis of the stomach (Jia et al., 1999; Tao et al., 2005; Zhang, 2006). A review showed that compared to patients suffering from only gastrointestinal disease, patients with comorbid one gastrointestinal diseases are more likely to experience anxiety, depression, and insomnia, with pathogeneses of visceral hypersensitivity, altered gastrointestinal disease motility, infection, and stressful early life events (Yue and Tian, 1995). A study by Lindgren et al. (2012) mentioned that depression was related to the symptoms of poor appetite, heartburn, diarrhea, bloating, constipation, and epigastralgia in pilots. Moreover, tryptophan, which is an indispensable amino acid, and a precursor of



serotonin and melatonin, which are thought to regulate mood, is taken from food (Zhang, 2006). Intake of tryptophan has an influence on the regulation of emotional state by influencing serotonin synthesis, and this could be considered as an effective therapy for treating depression (Hartmann, 1982; Shaw et al., 2002; Lieberman, 2003). If there is a lack of food intake that is related to deficiency in tryptophan and eventually serotonin, emotional changes such as depression could happen, which parallels the findings from previous studies (Sainio et al., 1996; Birdsall, 1998; Lieberman, 2003; Le Floc'h et al., 2011; Yao et al., 2011). These studies provided preliminary evidence to support the postulation that stagnation of liver qi and spleen deficiency in depressed people in terms of TCM theory may parallel the abnormal functions of digestion in patients with depression based on the Western medical viewpoint (**Figure 6**).

Hypoactivation in the Frontal Cortex

The heart is a muscular organ which pumps blood throughout the body by a circulatory system that provides oxygen and nutrients, and removes metabolic wastes. However, the function of the heart is more diversified in TCM than in Western medicine. The heart is responsible for the circulation of blood and, at the same time, the regulation of mental activities (Giovanni, 1989; Zhang, 2004; Yue et al., 2005b). According to TCM, the main functions of the heart are to govern the circulation of blood, control the blood vessels,



manifest on the complexion, and store the shen, which implies consciousness, mental functions, emotion, and vitality (Ross, 1985; Giovanni, 1989; Zhang, 2004; Yue et al., 2005b).

In TCM theory, a healthy heart is essential for supplying blood to all tissues in the body. When there is a dysfunction in the heart, the circulation of blood is insufficient and the four limbs may be cold. People might exhibit the symptoms of a lower body temperature, and a white or purple complexion (Giovanni, 1989). Also, storing shen, which can be translated as "spirit" or "mind," is a part of the heart's functions. Shen is used to point out the whole field of the emotional, mental, and spiritual aspects of a human being. In this sense, shen not only indicates the heart, but also encompasses the emotional, mental, and spiritual phenomena of all organs. If dysfunction of the heart occurs, there is not sufficient blood to nourish the shen and a person will have difficulty in maintaining a good memory and good mental health; thus, he/she may suffer from depression. Furthermore, the heart is in charge of controlling blood vessels. The function of storing shen depends on adequate nourishment from the heart blood. Therefore, there is a mutual relationship between the function of controlling blood vessels and that of storing mind. As the blood is the root of shen, if the heart blood is sufficient, the mind will be peaceful and happy, and the pulse will become regular and normal. Conversely, if the heart blood is deficient, there is insufficient blood to root the mind, which will result in mental restlessness, depression, palpitations, and a weak or irregular pulse.

A growing number of studies support this ancient theory, showing that, compared with healthy people, patients with depression associated with deficiency of the heart and spleen have lower brain activity in the left frontal cortex region (Feng et al., 2005; Xie, 2007; Wang et al., 2008b). These findings are in line with the findings from Western medicine that major depression is related to decreased activity in the left hemisphere relative to right hemisphere, and to a decline



in the activity of the left frontal cortex in people suffering from depression compared to normal people. Clinical studies reported that depression is related to altered resting-state activity in the PFC, and a growing number of findings from functional and structural imaging studies show that depression is associated with volume reduction in the left subgenual PFC region (Drevets et al., 1997; Öngür et al., 1998; Botteron et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2008a; Ye et al., 2012), because the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC) is involved in cognitive processing and decision-making, and the main function of the PFC is to extract the relevant information about a cognitive experience, so as to modulate the emotion and behavior changes (Feng et al., 2005). Moreover, studies have mentioned that the body temperature in depressed people is lower than in normal healthy people (Zhe, 2004; Lin et al., 2011); this may result from autonomic response dysfunction mediated by central adrenergic activation (Hughes et al., 2006; Hamer et al., 2007; Shinba et al., 2008) (Figure 7).

REFERENCES

- Abela, J. R., and D'Alessandro, D. U. (2002). Beck's cognitive theory of depression: a test of the diathesis-stress and causal mediation components. Br. J. Clin. Psychol. 41, 111–128. doi: 10.1348/014466502163912
- Aghajanian, G. K., and Lakoski, J. M. (1984). Hyperpolarization of serotonergic neurons by serotonin and LSD: studies in brain slices showing increased K+ conductance. *Brain Res.* 305, 181–185. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(84)91137-5
- Aldao, A., Nolen-Hoeksema, S., and Schweizer, S. (2010). Emotion-regulation strategies across psychopathology: a meta-analytic review. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 30, 217–237. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2009.11.004

SUMMARY AND THE WAY FORWARD

Two different systems of medicine have been used in parallel to each other for approximately 200 years. TCM is mainly based on observation and experience. In contrast, Western medicine basically relies on scientific investigation. Recent studies in Western medicine suggest that dysregulation of neurotransmitters could be one of the most vital causes of depression; while the classical texts of TCM state that dysregulation of liver qi is the main cause of depression.

Interest in the neuroscientific investigation of TCM for depression has increased dramatically in the past few decades. As the investigation of TCM using neuroscience theories and methodologies is a relatively new field of research, there are limited studies in the available literature. Knowledge of the mechanism that underlies TCM for depression is still in its infancy. However, there is emerging evidence that TCM theory might be illustrated by the changes in neurotransmitters, brain structure and function, and neuroendocrine found in people with depression.

Given the information above, we propose the following postulations linked to the liver, spleen, and heart. In terms of TCM theory, (1) liver function may be explained by the HPA axis and LC/NE system; (2) spleen function may correspond to the digestive system; and (3) heart function may refer to the circulation of the blood and the regulation of brain activity.

Further study using longitudinal study designs and larger sample sizes is recommended to advance our understanding of the mechanism of TCM for treating patients with depression. Moreover, studies applying the integrated approach of East meets West and a rigorous research design are also strongly recommended.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JY and SC searched for articles and wrote the draft version of the manuscript. HT validated the manuscript. HT, SC, WC, and JY revised the manuscript. All the authors read and approved the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Ms Wendy So for her valuable suggestions and Ms Duo Ye for her modification of figures.

Allen, B. P. (1990). Personality, social and biological perspectives on personal adjustment. (California: Pacific Grove).

American Psychiatric Association (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5. (Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association).

- Andrade, L., Caraveo-anduaga, J. J., Berglund, P., Bijl, R. V., Graaf, R. D., Vollebergh, W., et al. (2003). The epidemiology of major depressive episodes: results from the International Consortium of Psychiatric Epidemiology (ICPE) Surveys. Int. J. Methods Psychiatr. Res. 12, 3–21. doi: 10.1002/ mpr.138
- Auer, D. P., Pütz, B., Kraft, E., Lipinski, B., Schill, J., and Holsboer, F. (2000). Reduced glutamate in the anterior cingulate cortex in depression: an in vivo

proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. *Biol. Psychiatry* 47, 305–313. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00159-6

- Barclay, N. L., Gehrman, P. R., Gregory, A. M., Eaves, L. J., and Silberg, J. L. (2015). The heritability of insomnia progression during childhood/adolescence: results from a longitudinal twin study. *Sleep* 38, 109–118. doi: 10.5665/ sleep.4334
- Beck, A. T. (1979). Cognitive therapy of depression. (New York: Guilford Press).
- Benca, R. M., Obermeyer, W. H., Thisted, R. A., and Gillin, J. C. (1992). Sleep and psychiatric disorders: a meta-analysis. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 49, 651–668. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1992.01820080059010
- Birdsall, T. C. (1998). 5-Hydroxytryptophan: a clinically-effective serotonin precursor. Altern. Med. Rev. 3, 271–280.
- Blier, P., and De Montigny, C. (1987). Modification of 5-HT neuron properties by sustained administration of the 5-HT1A agonist gepirone: electrophysiological studies in the rat brain. *Synapse* 1, 470–480. doi: 10.1002/ syn.890010511
- Blier, P., and Ward, N. M. (2003). Is there a role for 5-HT 1A agonists in the treatment of depression? *Biol. Psychiatry* 53, 193–203. doi: 10.1016/ S0006-3223(02)01643-8
- Bonnet, M., and Arand, D. (2003). Insomnia, metabolic rate and sleep restoration. J. Intern. Med. 254, 23–31. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2796.2003.01176.x
- Botteron, K. N., Raichle, M. E., Drevets, W. C., Heath, A. C., and Todd, R. D. (2002). Volumetric reduction in left subgenual prefrontal cortex in early onset depression. *Biol. Psychiatry* 51, 342–344. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(01)01280-X
- Bowden, C., Theodorou, A. E., Cheetham, S. C., Lowther, S., Katona, C. L., Crompton, M. R., et al. (1997). Dopamine D 1 and D 2 receptor binding sites in brain samples from depressed suicides and controls. *Brain Res.* 752, 227–233. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(96)01460-6
- Campbell-Sills, L., Barlow, D. H., Brown, T. A., and Hofmann, S. G. (2006). Acceptability and suppression of negative emotion in anxiety and mood disorders. *Emotion* 6:587. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.6.4.587
- Chen, W. P., Jiang, S. P., and Guo, Q. (2015). Brief discussion of depression theory from Zhu Danxi. *Jiangsu J. Tradit. Chin. Med.* 47, 12–13.
- Chen, W. Z. (1990). The Chinense five-elements theory in Western medicine. (China: Xueyuan Publishing House).
- Chen, W. Z., and Lu, Z. P. (1995). *Three reasons—symptoms differentiation*: (Haikou: Hainan International Press and Publication Center).
- Coppen, A., Shaw, D. M., and Malleson, A. (1965). Changes in 5-hydroxytryptophan metabolism in depression. Br. J. Psychiatry 111, 105–107. doi: 10.1192/ bjp.111.470.105
- Copstead, L. E., and Banasik, J. L. (2010). *Pathophysiology*. (St. Louis, Mo: Saunders Elsevier).
- Crabtree, J. W., Lodge, D., Bashir, Z. I., and Isaac, J. T. (2013). GABAA, NMDA and mGlu2 receptors tonically regulate inhibition and excitation in the thalamic reticular nucleus. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 37, 850–859. doi: 10.1111/ejn.12098
- Drevets, W. C., Bogers, W., and Raichle, M. E. (2002). Functional anatomical correlates of antidepressant drug treatment assessed using PET measures of regional glucose metabolism. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 12, 527–544. doi: 10.1016/S0924-977X(02)00102-5
- Drevets, W. C., Price, J. L., Simpson, J. R. Jr., Todd, R. D., Reich, T., Vannier, M., et al. (1997). Subgenual prefrontal cortex abnormalities in mood disorders. *Nature* 386, 824. doi: 10.1038/386824a0
- Feng, Z. H., Wang, K., Wang, C. Q., Meng, Y., and Yi, S. J. (2005). The neural basis of emotional cognition. *Chin. J. Neurol.* 38, 525–527. doi: 10.1016/j. nicl.2018.05.009
- Ferrari, A. J., Charlson, F. J., Norman, R. E., Patten, S. B., Freedman, G., Murray, C. J., et al. (2013). Burden of depressive disorders by country, sex, age, and year: findings from the global burden of disease study 2010. *PLoS Med.* 10:e1001547. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001547
- Gao, X., Sun, P., Qiao, M., Wei, S., Xue, L., and Zhang, H. (2014). Shu-Yu capsule, a Traditional Chinese Medicine formulation, attenuates premenstrual syndrome depression induced by chronic stress constraint. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 10, 2942–2948. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2014.2599
- General Office of the State Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine and School of Management of Beijing University of Chinese Medicine (2006). *China statistical yearbook of Chinese medicine*. (China: China Academic Journals Electronic Publishing House).
- General U. S. P. H. S. O. O. T. S., Services, C.f.M.H., Abuse, U.S.S., Administration, M.H.S., and Health, N.I.o.M. (2001). *Mental health: Culture, race, and*

ethnicity: A supplement to mental health: A report of the Surgeon General. (Rockville: Department of Health and Human Services, US Public Health Service).

- Giovanni, M. (1989). The Foundations of Chinese Medicine: A comprehensive text for acupuncturists and herbalists. (Edinburgh, UK: Churchill Livingstone), 219–268.
- Glennon, R., and Dukat, M. (1991). Serotonin receptors and their ligands: A lack of selective agents. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Be* 40, 1009–1017. doi: 10.1016/0091-3057(91)90121-H
- Gratz, K. L., and Roemer, L. (2004). Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: development, factor structure, and initial validation of the difficulties in emotion regulation scale. J. Psychopathol. Behav. Assess. 26, 41–54. doi: 10.1023/B:JOBA.0000007455.08539.94
- Gu, S., Gao, M., Yan, Y., Wang, F., Tang, Y.-Y., and Huang, J. H. (2018a). The neural mechanism underlying cognitive and emotional processes in creativity. *Front. Psychol.* 9:1924.
- Gu, S., Wang, W., Wang, F., and Huang, J. H. (2016). Neuromodulator and emotion biomarker for stress induced mental disorders. *Neural Plast.* 2016:2609128. doi: 10.1155/2016/2609128
- Gu, S. M., Jing, L. Y., Goa, M. D., and Wang, F. S. (2018b). Neuropsychological perspective of TCM emotions theory. *Mod. Trad. Chin. Med. Materia Medica* 20, 173–182.
- Guo, Y. M., and Liu, C. F. (2002). Wang Yanheng's experience in the treatment of depression. *Hebei Chin. Med.* 24, 100–101.
- Hamer, M., Tanaka, G., Okamura, H., Tsuda, A., and Steptoe, A. (2007). The effects of depressive symptoms on cardiovascular and catecholamine responses to the induction of depressive mood. *Biol. Psychol.* 74, 20–25. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsycho.2006.06.003
- Hartmann, E. (1982). Effects of L-tryptophan on sleepiness and on sleep. J. Psychiatr. Res. 17, 107–113. doi: 10.1016/0022-3956(82)90012-7
- Hasler, G., van der Veen, J. W., Tumonis, T., Meyers, N., Shen, J., and Drevets, W. C. (2007). Reduced prefrontal glutamate/glutamine and γ-aminobutyric acid levels in major depression determined using proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 64, 193–200. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.64.2.193
- Heath, A. C., Todorov, A. A., Nelson, E. C., Madden, P. A., Bucholz, K. K., and Martin, N. G. (2002). Gene–environment interaction effects on behavioral variation and risk of complex disorders: the example of alcoholism and other psychiatric disorders. *Twin Res. Hum. Genet.* 5, 30–37. doi: 10.1375/ twin.5.1.30
- Hoyer, D., Pazos, A., Probst, A., and Palacios, J. (1986). Serotonin receptors in the human brain. II. Characterization and autoradiographic localization of 5-HT 1C and 5-HT 2 recognition sites. *Brain Res.* 376, 97–107. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(86)90903-0
- Hughes, J. W., Casey, E., Luyster, F., Doe, V. H., Waechter, D., Rosneck, J., et al. (2006). Depression symptoms predict heart rate recovery after treadmill stress testing. *Am. Heart J.* 151, 1122. e1–1122. e6. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2006.02.004
- Ikram, H., and Haleem, D. J. (2017). Repeated treatment with reserpine as a progressive animal model of depression. Pak. J. Pharm. Sci. 30, 897–902.
- Jia, J., Zhu, Z. Q., and Zhang, L. (1999). The mechanism of spleen and stomach dysfunction. J. Shenyang Phys. Univ. 39–41.
- Jin, G. L., and Liang, Y. (1997). Seasonal pathogenesis of depression and its enlightenment. J. Beijing Univ. Tradit. Chin. Med. 20, 15-16.
- Jin, Y. Q. (2000). Modern research and clinical practice of liver in traditional Chinese Medicine. (Beijing: People's Medical Publishing House).
- Jin, Y. Q., Liu, H. Y., and Li, X. W. (1985). Analysis of intestinal absorption dysfunction in 227 patients with stagnation of liver qi and spleen deficiency. *J. Hunan Med. Univ.* 10, 38–39.
- Kales, A., Soldatos, C. R., and Kales, J. D. (1987). Sleep disorders: insomnia, sleepwalking, night terrors, nightmares, and enuresis. Ann. Intern. Med. 106, 582–592. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-106-4-582
- Kales, J. D., and Kales, A. (1984). Evaluation and treatment of insomnia. Ann. Intern. Med. 101:886. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-101-6-886_1
- Keji, C., and Hao, X. (2003). The integration of traditional Chinese medicine and Western medicine. *Eur. Rev.* 11, 225–235. doi: 10.1017/S106279870300022X
- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Koretz, D., Merikangas, K. R., et al. (2003). The epidemiology of major depressive disorder: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). *JAMA* 289, 3095–3105. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.23.3095

- Kring, A. M., and Werner, K. H. (2004). "Emotion regulation and psychopathology" in *The regulation of emotion*. eds. P. Philippot and R. S. Feldman (Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers), 359–385.
- Krystal, J. H., Sanacora, G., Blumberg, H., Anand, A., Charney, D., Marek, G., et al. (2002). Glutamate and GABA systems as targets for novel antidepressant and mood-stabilizing treatments. *Mol. Psychiatry* 7, S71–S80. doi: 10.1038/ sj.mp.4001021
- Le Floc'h, N., Otten, W., and Merlot, E. (2011). Tryptophan metabolism, from nutrition to potential therapeutic applications. *Amino Acids* 41, 1195–1205. doi: 10.1007/s00726-010-0752-7
- Li, J. B., and Wang, Y. H. (1985). Characteristics of autonomic dysfunction in patients with liver depression and spleen deficiency syndrome. *J. Hunan Med. Univ.* 1:018.
- Lieberman, H. R. (2003). Nutrition, brain function and cognitive performance. Appetite 40, 245-254. doi: 10.1016/S0195-6663(03)00010-2
- Lin, H. P., Lin, H. Y., Lin, W. L., and Huang, A. C. W. (2011). Effects of stress, depression, and their interaction on heart rate, skin conductance, finger temperature, and respiratory rate: sympathetic-parasympathetic hypothesis of stress and depression. J. Clin. Psychol. 67, 1080–1091. doi: 10.1002/jclp.20833
- Lindgren, T., Runeson, R., Wahlstedt, K., Wieslander, G., Dammström, B.-G., and Norbäck, D. (2012). Digestive functional symptoms among commercial pilots in relation to diet, insomnia, and lifestyle factors. *Aviat. Space Environ. Med.* 83, 872–878. doi: 10.3357/ASEM.3309.2012
- Liu, B. L. (1991). Experience of Jieyu Decoction in the treatment of 31 cases of latent depression. *Tianjin Tradit. Chin. Med.* 8:326.
- Liu, C.-C., Wu, Y.-F., Feng, G.-M., Gao, X.-X., Zhou, Y.-Z., Hou, W.-J., et al. (2015). Plasma-metabolite-biomarkers for the therapeutic response in depressed patients by the traditional Chinese medicine formula Xiaoyaosan: a 1 H NMR-based metabolomics approach. J. Affect. Disord. 185, 156–163. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.05.005
- Martini, F. (2015). Fundamentals of anatomy & physiology. (Boston: Pearson).
- Molander, L., and Randrup, A. (1976). Effects of thymoleptics on behavior associated with changes in brain dopamine. *Psychopharmacology* 49, 139–144. doi: 10.1007/BF00427282
- Moret, C., and Briley, M. (2011). The importance of norepinephrine in depression. Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat. 7, 9–13. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S19619
- Nestler, E. J., Barrot, M., DiLeone, R. J., Eisch, A. J., Gold, S. J., and Monteggia, L. M. (2002). Neurobiology of depression. *Neuron* 34, 13–25. doi: 10.1016/ S0896-6273(02)00653-0
- Ng, S.-M., Chan, C. L., Ho, D. Y., Wong, Y.-Y., and Ho, R. T. (2006). Stagnation as a distinct clinical syndrome: comparing 'Yu'(stagnation) in traditional Chinese medicine with depression. *Br. J. Soc. Work* 36, 467–484. doi: 10.1093/ bjsw/bcl008
- Nyberg, S., Farde, L., Eriksson, L., Halldin, C., and Eriksson, B. (1993). 5-HT 2 and D 2 dopamine receptor occupancy in the living human brain. *Psychopharmacology* 110, 265–272. doi: 10.1007/BF02251280
- Öngür, D., Drevets, W. C., and Price, J. L. (1998). Glial reduction in the subgenual prefrontal cortex in mood disorders. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 95, 13290–13295.
- Ou, M. (1988). Chinese-English dictionary of traditional Chinese medicine. (Hong Kong: Joint Publishing (Hong Kong) Co Ltd.).
- Pandey, G. N. (1997). Altered serotonin function in suicide. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 836, 182–201. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1997.tb52360.x
- Park, J. (2002). Acupuncture in the treatment of depression: a manual for practice and research. *Focus. Altern. Complement. Ther.* 7:69. doi: 10.1111/ j.2042-7166.2002.tb03344.x
- Ross, J. (1985). Zang Fu, the organ systems of traditional Chinese medicine: Functions, interrelationships and patterns of disharmony in theory and practice. (Churchill Livingstone: Elsevier Health Sciences).
- Sainio, E.-L., Pulkki, K., and Young, S. (1996). L-Tryptophan: biochemical, nutritional and pharmacological aspects. *Amino Acids* 10, 21–47. doi: 10.1007/ BF00806091
- Samson, J. A., Mirin, S. M., Griffin, M., Borrelli, D., and Schildkraut, J. J. (1994). Urinary MHPG and clinical symptoms in patients with unipolar depression. *Psychiatry Res.* 51, 157–165. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(94)90035-3
- Sanacora, G., Mason, G. F., Rothman, D. L., Behar, K. L., Hyder, F., Petroff, O. A., et al. (1999). Reduced cortical γ-aminobutyric acid levels in depressed patients determined by proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 56, 1043–1047. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.56.11.1043

- Scheid, V. (2013). Depression, constraint, and the liver: (dis) assembling the treatment of emotion-related disorders in Chinese medicine. *Cult. Med. Psychiatry* 37, 30–58. doi: 10.1007/s11013-012-9290-y
- Schildkraut, J. J. (1965). The catecholamine hypothesis of affective disorders: a review of supporting evidence. Am. J. Psychiatr. 122, 509–522. doi: 10.1176/ ajp.122.5.509
- Shanhan, M. J., and Hofer, S. M. (2005). Social context in gene-environment interactions: retrospect and prospect. J. Gerontol. Ser. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 60, 65–76. doi: 10.1093/geronb/60.Special_Issue_1.65
- Shaw, K. A., Turner, J., and Del Mar, C. (2002). Tryptophan and 5-Hydroxytryptophan for depression. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 1:CD003198. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003198
- Shinba, T., Kariya, N., Matsui, Y., Ozawa, N., Matsuda, Y., and Yamamoto, K.i. (2008). Decrease in heart rate variability response to task is related to anxiety and depressiveness in normal subjects. *Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 62, 603–609. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2008.01855.x
- Smith, S. M., and Vale, W. W. (2006). The role of the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis in neuroendocrine responses to stress. *Dialogues Clin. Neurosci.* 8, 383–395.
- So, R. W. L., Wong, H. S., and Ko, K. M. (2015). A traditional Chinese medicine approach in treating depression by promoting liver qi circulation: a western medicine perspective. *Chin. Med.* 6, 187–195. doi: 10.4236/ cm.2015.64021
- Soygüt, G., and Savaşir, I. (2001). The relationship between interpersonal schemas and depressive symptomatology. J. Couns. Psychol. 48, 359–364. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.48.3.359
- Spiegelhalder, K., Fuchs, L., Ladwig, J., Kyle, S. D., Nissen, C., Voderholzer, U., et al. (2011). Heart rate and heart rate variability in subjectively reported insomnia. J. Sleep Res. 20, 137–145. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869.2010.00863.x
- Steiger, A. (2007). Neurochemical regulation of sleep. J. Psychiatr. Res. 41, 537–552. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2006.04.007
- Sullivan, P. F., Neale, M. C., and Kendler, K. S. (2000). Genetic epidemiology of major depression: review and meta-analysis. Am. J. Psychiatr. 157, 1552–1562. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.157.10.1552
- Tao, L., Zhang, M. S., Wang, H. B., and Li, W. (2005). A Clinical study on Jian Pi Li Qi Huo Xue decoction in the treatment of functional dyspepsia. *Chin. J. Inf. Tradit. Chin. Med.* 12, 11–13.
- Ted, J. K. (2000). The web that has no weaver: Understanding Chinese medicine. (Chicago, Ill, USA: McGraw-Hill).
- Tian, P. (2011). Convergence: where west meets east. Nature 480, S84–S86. doi: 10.1038/480S84a
- Tsang, H. W., and Fung, K. M. (2008). A review on neurobiological and psychological mechanisms underlying the anti-depressive effect of qigong exercise. J. Health Psychol. 13, 857–863. doi: 10.1177/1359105308095057
- Veith, I. (2015). The yellow emperor's classic of internal medicine. (Oakland, CA: University of California Press).
- Verbeeck, W., Berk, M., Paiker, J., and Jersky, B. (2001). The prolactin response to sulpiride in major depression: the role of the D 2 receptor in depression. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 11, 215–220. doi: 10.1016/S0924-977X(01)00086-4
- Vgontzas, A. N., Bixler, E. O., Lin, H.-M., Prolo, P., Mastorakos, G., Vela-Bueno, A., et al. (2001). Chronic insomnia is associated with nyctohemeral activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis: clinical implications. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metabol.* 86, 3787–3794. doi: 10.1210/jcem.86.8.7778
- Wägner, A., Montero, D., Mårtensson, B., Siwers, B., and Åsberg, M. (1990). Effects of fluoxetine treatment of platelet 3 H-imipramine binding, 5-HT uptake and 5-HT content in major depressive disorder. J. Affect. Disord. 20, 101–113. doi: 10.1016/0165-0327(90)90123-P
- Wang, F., Pan, F., Shapiro, L. A., and Huang, J. H. (2017). Stress induced neuroplasticity and mental disorders. *Neural Plast.* 2017:9634501. doi: 10.1155/2017/9634501
- Wang, L., LaBar, K. S., Smoski, M., Rosenthal, M. Z., Dolcos, F., Lynch, T. R., et al. (2008a). Prefrontal mechanisms for executive control over emotional distraction are altered in major depression. *Psychiatry Res. Neuroimaging* 163, 143–155. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2007.10.004
- Wang, Y., and Lu, Z. (2002). Internal medicine of traditional Chinese medicine. (Shanghai: Publishing House of Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine 74).
- Wang, Y., and Yao, W. (2002). *Internal medicine of traditional Chinese medicine*. (Shanghai: Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine).

- Wang, Y. L., Qin, S. L., Guo, R. J., Teng, J., Du, Y. W., Jiang, S. Y., et al. (2008b). A comparative study of nonlinear analysis of EEG in patients with depression 26, 1845–1848.
- Wei, S., Hou, J. L., Chao, Y. B., Du, X. Y., and Zong, S. B. (2012). The analysis of serum monoamine neurotransmitters in rats with premenstrual syndrome and liver qi stagnation. *Chin. J. Integr. Med.* 10, 925–930.
- Wesolowska, A. (2002). In the search for selective ligands of 5-HT5, 5-HT6 and 5-HT7 serotonin receptors. Pol. J. Pharmacol. 54, 327–341.
- Willner, P. (1983). Dopamine and depression: a review of recent evidence. I. Empirical studies. Brain Res. Rev. 6, 211–224. doi: 10.1016/0165-0173(83)90005-X
- Wu, P., Sun, X. Y., and Sun, F. Y. (1963). Annotated Shen Nong's Herbal. (Beijing: People's Medical Publishing House (PMPH)).
- Xie, L. J. (2007). A clinical study on the treatment of depression with the method of tonifying kidney and regulating qi. (Beijing University of Chinese Medicine).
- Yan, C., and Xu, Z. W. (2005). To investigate the central nerve mechanism of liver regulating emotion function. *Chin. J. Integr. Tradit. West. Med.* 25, 459–462.
- Yao, K., Fang, J., Yin, Y., Feng, Z.-M., Tang, Z.-R., and Wu, G. (2011). Tryptophan metabolism in animals: important roles in nutrition and health. *Front. Biosci.* 3, 286–297.
- Ye, T., Peng, J., Nie, B., Gao, J., Liu, J., Li, Y., et al. (2012). Altered functional connectivity of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in first-episode patients with major depressive disorder. *Eur. J. Radiol.* 81, 4035–4040. doi: 10.1016/j. ejrad.2011.04.058
- Young, S. N. (2007). How to increase serotonin in the human brain without drugs. J. Psychiatry Neurosci. 32, 394–399.
- Yu, Q. L. (2013). Redescription of Zang Spleen Model in Modern Anatomicofunctional Terms. J. Chin. Med. 24, 183–209. doi: 10.3966/101764462013122402001
- Yuan, Y. G., Zhang, X. B., and Zhang, S. N. (2004). A comparative study of plasma monoamine neurotransmitter concentrations in patients with depression and anxiety disorder. *Chin. J. Behav. Med. Sci.* 13, 30–31.
- Yue, G. X., Chen, J. X., and Wang, Z. F. (2005a). Physiological basis of Liver in traditional Chinese medicine. J. Beijing Univ. Tradit. Chin. Med. 28, 1–4.

- Yue, G. X., Chen, J. X., and Wang, Z. F. (2005b). The role of heart, kidney and liver in stress reaction based on TCM Liaoning. J. Tradit. Chin. Med. 32, 528–530.
- Yue, W. H., and Tian, X. M. (1995). The mechanism of anger and its damage of liver. J. Med. Philos. 16, 481-483.
- Zhang, C. Z., Deng, T. T., and Lai, C. (2011). *Confucian filiality*. (Beijing: Chinese Medical Science and Technology Press).
- Zhang, G. X. (2004). Analysis of TCM thermoregulation mechanism. Fujian Tradit. Chin. Med. 35, 42-43.
- Zhang, Y. (2006). A study on clinical manifestations of spleen deficiency differentiation. (Guangzhou: Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine).
- Zhao, J. P. (1992). Jieyu decoction for depression. J. Sichuan Tradit. Chin. Med. 8:031.
- Zhao, Z. S., and Zhao, M. (1999). Clinical observation on 180 cases of depression treated with Kang Wei Kang. J. Shandong Tradit. Chin. Med. 18, 110–111.
- Zhe, L. (2004). The prescriptions of prescriptions for antidepressant medicine in traditional Chinese medicine. (Nanjin: Nanjing University of Traditional Chinese Medicine).
- Zorumski, C. F., Paul, S. M., Izumi, Y., Covey, D. F., and Mennerick, S. (2013). Neurosteroids, stress and depression: potential therapeutic opportunities. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 37, 109–122. doi: 10.1016/j. neubiorev.2012.10.005

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Ye, Cai, Cheung and Tsang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyrigh owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Roger Ho, National University of Singapore,

Singapore Reviewed by:

Cyrus S. H. Ho, National University Health System, Singapore Yanxia Lu, Agency for Science, Technology and Research (A*STAR), Singapore Agnieszka Anna Olszewska-Guizzo, National University of Singapore, Singapore

Syeda Fabeha Husain contributed to the review of Agnieszka Anna Olszewska-Guizzo

> *Correspondence: Scott A. Langenecker

s.langenecker@hsc.utah.edu

[†]Present address:

Scott A. Langenecker, Brian J. Mickey, Tiffany M. Love, and Jon-Kar Zubieta, Department of Psychiatry, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 07 December 2018 Accepted: 12 March 2019 Published: 29 March 2019

Citation:

Langenecker SA, Mickey BJ, Eichhammer P, Sen S, Elverman KH, Kennedy SE, Heitzeg MM, Ribeiro SM, Love TM, Hsu DT, Koeppe RA, Watson SJ, Akil H, Goldman D, Burmeister M and Zubieta J-K (2019) Cognitive Control as a 5-HT_{1A}-Based Domain That Is Disrupted in Major Depressive Disorder. Front. Psychol. 10:691. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00691

Cognitive Control as a 5-HT_{1A}-Based Domain That Is Disrupted in Major Depressive Disorder

Scott A. Langenecker^{1,2*†}, Brian J. Mickey^{1,2†}, Peter Eichhammer², Srijan Sen^{1,2}, Kathleen H. Elverman², Susan E. Kennedy¹, Mary M. Heitzeg^{1,2}, Saulo M. Ribeiro¹, Tiffany M. Love^{1†}, David T. Hsu¹, Robert A. Koeppe², Stanley J. Watson^{1,2}, Huda Akil^{1,2}, David Goldman³, Margit Burmeister^{1,2} and Jon-Kar Zubieta^{1,2†}

¹ The Molecular & Behavioral Neuroscience Institute, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States, ² Department of Psychiatry, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States, ³ National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, United States

Heterogeneity within Major Depressive Disorder (MDD) has hampered identification of biological markers (e.g., intermediate phenotypes, IPs) that might increase risk for the disorder or reflect closer links to the genes underlying the disease process. The newer characterizations of dimensions of MDD within Research Domain Criteria (RDoC) domains may align well with the goal of defining IPs. We compare a sample of 25 individuals with MDD compared to 29 age and education matched controls in multimodal assessment. The multimodal RDoC assessment included the primary IP biomarker, positron emission tomography (PET) with a selective radiotracer for 5-HT_{1A} [(11C)WAY-100635], as well as event-related functional MRI with a Go/No-go task targeting the Cognitive Control network, neuropsychological assessment of affective perception, negative memory bias and Cognitive Control domains. There was also an exploratory genetic analysis with the serotonin transporter (5-HTTLPR) and monamine oxidase A (MAO-A) genes. In regression analyses, lower 5-HT₁_A binding potential (BP) in the MDD group was related to diminished engagement of the Cognitive Control network, slowed resolution of interfering cognitive stimuli, one element of Cognitive Control. In contrast, higher/normative levels of 5-HT_{1A} BP in MDD (only) was related to a substantial memory bias toward negative information, but intact resolution of interfering cognitive stimuli and greater engagement of Cognitive Control circuitry. The serotonin transporter risk allele was associated with lower 1a BP and the corresponding imaging and cognitive IPs in MDD. Lowered 5HT 1a BP was present in half of the MDD group relative to the control group. Lowered 5HT 1a BP may represent a subtype including decreased engagement of Cognitive Control network and impaired resolution of interfering cognitive stimuli. Future investigations might link lowered 1a BP to neurobiological pathways and markers, as well as probing subtype-specific treatment targets.

Keywords: positron emission tomography, intermediate cognitive phenotypes, major depressive disorder, serotonin, executive functioning, interference resolution, processing speed

INTRODUCTION

An enduring, but incomplete observation in MDD (Major Depressive Disorder) is of serotonin dysfunction. Serotonin dysfunction is a corollary of the monoamine hypothesis, positing that MDD is associated with relative depletion of monoamines including catecholamines (e.g., dopamine and noradrenaline) and tryptamine (e.g., serotonin) (Wijaya et al., 2018). Parallel and sometimes convergent reports spanning neurochemistry, behavioral pharmacology, neuroimaging and gene have implicated serotonergic dysfunction in MDD. However, while such dysfunction can be thought of as a typical, it is very clearly not a universal characteristic of MDD (Albert and Lemonde, 2004; Kalia, 2005; Surtees et al., 2006). Evidence that serotonin function is relevant in a subset of those with MDD includes a number of different avenues of exploration. First, affective experience and emotional regulation are more dramatically altered after acute tryptophan depletion (ATD), more so in persons with personal or family history of MDD (Rogers et al., 2003; Fusar-Poli et al., 2006; Neumeister et al., 2006; Spring et al., 2007; van der Veen et al., 2007). Second, selective serotonergic reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) are more effective than placebo in a majority of controlled clinical trials (Rush et al., 2006; Trivedi et al., 2006). Third, functional loci at genes that mediate serotonergic function have been implicated in MDD both alone, and via interaction with early life stress (Hariri et al., 2002, 2006; Sen et al., 2004; Neumeister et al., 2006; Surtees et al., 2006; Gotlib et al., 2008; Mak et al., 2013). Fourth, some of these functional variants in genes (modulating serotonin function) alter brain responses to emotion and brain connectivity (Dannlowski et al., 2008; Kalin et al., 2008; Elton et al., 2014; Wessa and Lois, 2015). These alternations align with a model of how inherited variations contribute to risk for MDD. Fifth, manipulations of serotonin function and/or use of agents with serotonergic effects within animal models can simulate depression and anxiety-like behaviors (Albert and Lemonde, 2004; Bert et al., 2008; Borg, 2008). Sixth, depression is associated with negative cognitive changes including memory and executive function impairments (Burt et al., 1995; Snyder, 2013; Yu et al., 2018), negative affect related to control, success, and rejection (Yeo et al., 2017) and increased negative schema (Stange et al., 2017; Lim et al., 2018). As such, there is continuing pursuit of domains affected in MDD that can be linked to serotonergic function and genes. There is also interest in whether these dimensional features may define a more homogeneous subset for further exploration and targeted treatment. A short review of the relevant links of serotonin dysfunction in MDD and of potential multimodal intermediate phenotypes [IPs (Burmeister et al., 2008; Kalin et al., 2008; Tan et al., 2008; Langenecker et al., 2010; Webb et al., 2016)] is conducted to integrate these separate lines of inquiry.

Imaging Studies of 5-HT_{1A} Function

Evidence of abnormal 5-HT (5-hydroxytyptamine refers to G protein coupled receptors and ligand-gated ion channels, also known as serotonin receptors) function in MDD is building, including for 5-HT_{1A} specifically ($_{1A}$ is a subtype of 5-HT receptor which is the most widespread 5-HT receptor, including

within cortex and medial temporal structures). Past human imaging studies of 5-HT1A binding potential (BP) have focused on areas of binding where serotonin receptors are more densely populated, including the raphe, as well as frontal, cingulate and medial temporal cortices (Marazziti et al., 1994; Oquendo et al., 2003; Parsey et al., 2006, 2010; Drevets et al., 2007; Selvaraj et al., 2017; Kranz et al., 2018). 5-HT_{1A} receptors regulate the firing of 5-HT neurons presynaptically in the raphe nuclei and are expressed postsynaptically in many different cortical and subcortical brain regions (Schlumpf et al., 1987; Kaufman et al., 2015; Zanderigo et al., 2018). In the cortex, there are inhibitory properties of the postsynaptic 5-HT_{1A} receptors (Gross et al., 2002; Borg, 2008), plus regulation of the release of glutamate in subcortical structures (Czyrak et al., 2003). A recent review of concentrations of transporter (5HTT), 5-HT_{1A}, and 5-HT_{2A} receptors reflect the fact that 5-HTTs are densely populated in subcortical, pre-synaptic regions, whereas, 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{2A} receptors are more dense in cortical regions (Kranz et al., 2010; Kautzky et al., 2018). These same cortical areas support a number of cognitive and affective processes and both the regions and the processes they support are heavily implicated in MDD (Teasdale and Dent, 1987; Heller and Nitschke, 1998; Hugdahl et al., 2003; Phillips et al., 2003, 2008; Drevets et al., 2007; Langenecker et al., 2007c, 2010, 2014; Porter et al., 2007; Disner et al., 2011).

Positron emission tomography (PET) studies, typically utilizing the selective radiotracer for 5-HT_{1A} receptors, $^{[11C]}$ WAY-100635, have noted lowered levels of 5-HT_{1A} receptor availability (BP_{ND}) within these regions in MDD as well as alterations in 5-HT1A availability pre- and post-treatment (Bhagwagar et al., 2004; Drevets et al., 2007; Moses-Kolko et al., 2007; Hirvonen et al., 2008; Kautzky et al., 2017). Lowered 5-HT_{1A} BP in MDD is the general pattern observed; however, utilizing arterial sampling or a cortical reference region can make a significant impact on the direction of effects [higher or lower (Drevets et al., 2007; Parsey et al., 2010)]. As such, careful verification of reference region/marker equivalence between MDD and healthy comparison (HC) groups is important for PET studies with this radiotracer. Lower brainstem SERT BP was reported in an additional study of depressed suicide attempters (Nye et al., 2013). 5-HT_{1A} disruptions have also been reported in high-risk offspring of those with MDD (Milak et al., 2018).

Animal Models of 5-HT_{1A} in MDD

Given the limited number and variability across human in vivo studies, we briefly review the role of 5-HT_{1A} in the pathophysiology of MDD as seen in animal models of depression and human postmortem studies. Animal studies have primarily reported increased 5-HT_{1A} function after chronic SSRI administration (Haddjeri et al., 1998) and increases in anxious and depressive behaviors after 5-HT_{1A} blockade, depletion, or knockout (Olivier et al., 2001;Akil, 2005; Zhang et al., 2006; Richardson et al., 2010). Novel antidepressants including agomelatine and vortioxetine induced modulation of brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) which is a neurotrophin that serves as a survival factor for neurons (Lu et al., 2018a,b). In a related study, BDNF knock out mice showed a significant attenuation of 5-HT_{1A} receptor function (Hensler et al., 2007). Acute stress results in decreased 5-HT_{1A} mRNA in the hippocampus (Lopez et al., 1999) and those with knockout or blockade demonstrate memory dysfunction (Sarnyai et al., 2000). Animals with 5-HT_{1A} antagonist acute injection into the dorsal raphe show enhanced social defeat behavior (Cooper et al., 2008).

Stress-sensitive cynomolgus monkeys exhibit a reduced number of 5-HT_{1A} receptors in dorsal raphe after stress exposure (Lima et al., 2009). Similarly, exposure to peer-rearing in rhesus monkeys as an early life stressor generally results in lower *in vivo* 5-HT_{1A} receptor concentrations (Spinelli et al., 2009). Likewise, chronic psychosocial stress in tree shrews results in decreased 5-HT_{1A} receptors in prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, and parietal cortex (Flugge, 1995).

Human Postmortem and Anatomical Studies

Furthermore, in human postmortem studies, lower hippocampal 5-HT_{1A} mRNA is demonstrated in MDD subjects, with death by accident, assault, suicide, or cardiac causes (Lopez et al., 1998) and reduced 5-HT_{1A} receptors in amygdala and hippocampus in suicide completers (Cheetham et al., 1990). Finally, 5-HT_{1A} receptor density is related to gray matter volume cortical thickness in many prefrontal and parietal regions in HCs, but not in MDD (Pillai et al., 2018; Zanderigo et al., 2018). Notably, one recent study used PET binding to subdivide clusters in 5-HT function for anatomical parcellation and alignment with resting state networks (Kautzky et al., 2018). Both 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{2A} demonstrate cortical; distribution and alignment with dorsal attention and frontoparietal networks (clusters 2 and 3), suggesting that is alignment between monamine function and cortical networks.

Tryptophan Depletion and Effects on Cognitive Control and Related Functions in MDD

A potentially convergent line of study is a possibility that divergent serotonergic function for some individuals with MDD is related to abnormalities in executive function and affective processing - these are broad domains within Research Domain Criteria [RDoC (Cuthbert, 2005)] that may constitute IPs for MDD. Executive functioning domains include conceptual reasoning, inhibitory control, verbal fluency, interference resolution, working memory - components of the Cognitive Control network. Difficulties in these skills are present in MDD (Austin et al., 1999; Channon and Green, 1999; Rogers et al., 2004; Langenecker et al., 2007b; Snyder, 2013) and lead to workrelated disability and productivity loss (Lee et al., 2018). Links between these executive function skills (and cognitive control network function) and serotonergic function are conducted by reducing synthesis of 5-HT centrally via ATD (Lamar et al., 2009; Smith et al., 1999). ATD has also been shown to result in disrupted affective processing and networks (Phillips et al., 2003), increasing negative emotional experience and decreases in positive affective experience [Roiser et al., 2007; Spring et al., 2007; van der Veen et al., 2007]. ATD also disrupts social cooperation (Wood et al., 2006). Some affective domains of interest for MDD are enhanced memory for negative information and disrupted accuracy in processing of facial emotions [Gur et al., 1992; Langenecker et al., 2005, 2007b; Hsu et al., 2010].

In summary, there is a distinct possibility that disrupted 5-HT_{1A} receptor mediated mechanisms might translate to affective and cognitive domains of dysfunction for MDD. Multimodal studies, encouraged by RDoC, can address convergence of multiple different assays. Here, we hypothesized that lower 5-HT_{1A} BP in MDD [Hypothesis (Hyp) 1] maybe related to dysfunction in affective (bottom-up, Hyp 2) and executive (top-down, Hyp 3) domains (Langenecker et al., 2010, 2014; Disner et al., 2011). These affective dysfunction domains included negative memory bias, (Bradley et al., 1996; Hsu et al., 2010) and impaired emotion categorization (Gur et al., 1992; Langenecker et al., 2005, 2007b). We used executive dysfunction domains - previously identified factors in individuals with bipolar disease, similar to domains reported in MDD (Rogers et al., 2004; Snyder, 2013). These factors do not align perfectly with the RDoC domains within Cognitive Systems, although we note that the RDoC domains are suggestive and not prescriptive (Insel et al., 2010; Sanislow et al., 2010). The broader goal is to utilize dimensional, factor-driven analysis in studies where these are experimentally advantageous over DSM categories. Here, Cognitive Control subsumes the elements of (1) speed (Verbal Fluency and Processing Speed), (2) speed in the context of distracting or competing stimuli (Processing Speed with Interference Resolution), (3) stopping a prepotent response (e.g., regulation, here Inhibitory Control), and (4) balance of decision making within multistimulus sets and changing rules (Conceptual Reasoning and Set-Shifting) (Langenecker et al., 2010; Ryan et al., 2013).

We further investigated relationships of fMRI BOLD responses during a Cognitive Control task based upon 5-HT_{1A} BP in the MDD sample, including fMRI BOLD responses based upon degree of 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} in the MDD sample [Hyp 4 of lowered 5-HT1A BPND correlated with lowered activation in Cognitive Control region(s)]. Cross-modality comparisons are relatively rare in MDD (multimodal imaging can be simultaneous or on separate days), but they illustrate the value in integrating localization, function, and neurotransmitter density (Kalin et al., 2008; Selvaraj et al., 2017; Hamilton et al., 2018; Kranz et al., 2018; Piel et al., 2018). Analyses were also conducted with the HC group to verify the general or MDD specific nature of these relationships (Hyp 5). Exploratory analyses with genetic variants related to serotonergic function were also conducted (Hyp 6) (Wojnar et al., 2009; Villafuerte et al., 2009; Mak et al., 2013; Kautzky et al., 2017; Norgaard et al., 2017; Piel et al., 2018; Zanderigo et al., 2018).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Twenty-nine HC and 25 patients with MDD were recruited via newspaper advertisements, campus fliers, and word of mouth with Institutional Review Board (IRB)-approved written informed consent consistent with the Declaration of Helsinki

TABLE 1 Demographic and clinical information for participants with major
depressive disorder and matching healthy control adults.

MDD (N = 25)	HC (N = 29)		
39.7 (11.0)	37.8 (11.8)		
15.0 (2.9)	16.1 (2.3)		
101.8 (13.1)	105.6 (12.1)		
14F, 11 M	18 F, 11M		
19.0 (2.6)	0.9 (1.4)		
0.5 (0.9)	-		
60.3 (11.2)	40.2 (9.6)		
11 (44%)	-		
	39.7 (11.0) 15.0 (2.9) 101.8 (13.1) 14F, 11 M 19.0 (2.6) 0.5 (0.9) 60.3 (11.2)		

*Groups differ at p < 0.05. Social anxiety (n = 7), PTSD (n = 2), panic (n = 2), generalized anxiety (n = 1). HDRS, hamilton depression rating scale. T-tests were used to compare groups for age, education, estimated IQ, HDRS, neuroticism. Chi-square was used to compare groups by sex distribution.

at the University of Michigan. Diagnosis was confirmed with the Structured Clinical Interview for Diagnostic and Statistical Manual [DSM-IV (American Psychiatric Association, 1994)]. HC subjects were required to be below 5 and MDD subjects above 15 on the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression for study entry [HRSD, 17 item scale (Hamilton, 1960)], using conservative thresholds for sensitivity and specificity (Naarding et al., 2002; Romera et al., 2011; Sawamura et al., 2018). The groups did not differ in age, sex, years of formal education, or intellectual ability [(Shipley, 1946), all p's > 0.15, **Table 1**]. Other evidence of neurological or psychiatric disorders, other than generalized anxiety and/or social/specific phobia, panic disorder in the MDD sample was exclusionary. Cigarette smokers and those with alcohol abuse or who had used illegal drugs in the past 2 years were excluded. Patients with MDD were unmedicated and had been medication-free for a minimum of 6 months for all potentially psychoactive medications (mean 25.7 months, 14 medication naïve).

Overall Procedure

Neuropsychological measures were typically captured within several days after the intake and diagnosis. fMRI and PET were collected on average 9.5 days (SD = 36.8) apart for participants. The SD is large because 2 MDD and 2 HC participants discontinued and then restarted the study about 3–4 months apart. 85% of participants completed all evaluations within 1 month.

PET Scanning and Processing Procedures

Positron emission tomography scanning was conducted using [11 C]Way100635. PET procedures were similar to those described previously (Mickey et al., 2008). PET images were acquired with a Siemens/CTI HR⁺ scanner in three-dimensional mode with septa retracted. [carbonyl- 11C]WAY-100635, a specific 5-HT_{1A} receptor antagonist, was synthesized at high specific activity (Hwang et al., 1999). The tracer was administered as a bolus followed by continuous infusion to more rapidly achieve steady-state conditions. Eighteen scans of increasing duration (0.5–10 min) were acquired over a period



FIGURE 1 Figure illustrating the 5-HT_{1A} BP values in the deep white matter (DWM) control region. Note that the two individuals (one MDD and one HC) with abnormally high binding potential (BP) in the cerebellar reference region resulted in low values in the DWM region. These two individuals were excluded from all analyses and the MDD and HC did not differ in DWM BP, indicating equivalence in the reference region. Further, no results were changed by including DWM BP as a covariate in analyses.

of 90 min. Raw PET images were co-registered and smoothed with a Gaussian filter (4 mm FWHM). Smoothed images were transformed voxel-by-voxel into parametric maps of tracer transport (K₁ ratio) and specific binding [distribution volume ratio (DVR)] using a modified Logan graphical analysis, with bilateral cerebellar white matter (excluding the vermis) as the reference region (Logan et al., 1996). Non-displaceable binding potential (BP_{ND}) was defined as BP_{ND} = DVR-1 = k_2B_{max}/K_D , where B_{max} is the total receptor concentration, K_D is the dissociation constant, and k_2 is the extracellular concentration of tracer (assumed to be a small and constant value) (Stange et al., 2017). Two individuals (one control and one MDD) showed visible binding in the cerebellum and (as a result) anomalously low global BP_{ND} (2.4–3.0 SDs below the mean, illustrated in **Figure 1**), and were excluded.

Positron emission tomography images were coregistered with MRI images to allow anatomical localization of PET data. Coregistration was accomplished for each subject by alignment of K_1 images with MRI SPGR images using co-registration within SPM2. MRI data were subsequently transformed into standardized coordinates (International Consortium for Brain Mapping; Montreal Neurological Institute) by linear and non-linear warping, and the resulting transformation matrix was applied to parametric PET images.

Although not central to the current study or hypotheses, we specifically addressed the concern that lowered 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} in MDD is a function of differences between HC and MDD in the cerebellar white matter reference region. Without an arterial reference point, we instead added a deep white matter (DWM) ROI within the centrum semiovale for test comparisons between MDD and HC subjects. This technique capitalizes on modeling DWM as a constant in the equation. Without any receptors, DWM would be a constant including noise – the only variable free to vary in the equation is BP within the cerebellar

white matter reference region (including noise). There were no significant differences between groups in 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} in the DWM of the centrum semiovale [t(41) = 0.55, p = 0.59]. The reference region BP was equivalent between groups, increasing confidence that effects reported herein are contingent upon inherent regional differences in BP between MDD and HC groups in the regions specified (**Figure 1**).

Candidate Affective and Executive Domains Relevant to MDD

The processing speed with interference resolution includes the trail making test, digit symbol substitution test, stroop color-word test, and response time to targets from the parametric go/no-go test. The parametric go/no-go test was programmed in EPrime 2 completed before the scanning session for practice (Langenecker, 2001; Langenecker et al., 2007a,b,c, 2018a; Votruba and Langenecker, 2013). It was also completed during fMRI. There are three levels of difficulty, including a 3 target Go-only condition, and 2 target alternating target Go/No-go condition. There are 68 "lure" events so that correct and incorrect rejections of lures can be modeled and analyzed separately.

There are also less prominent potential domains/factors, less strongly linked to risk for MDD or BD, comprising Verbal Fluency with Processing Speed, Inhibitory Control, and Conceptual Reasoning and Set Shifting, and tests from these factors have been demonstrated to be dysfunctional in previous studies of MDD (see Langenecker et al., 2009 for a review). Negative Memory Bias (NMB) was calculated as a subtraction of percentage of negative words recognized from the percentage of neutral words recognized from within the Emotion Words task programmed in EPrime 2 (Hsu et al., 2010). In addition to the Negative Memory Bias, we also used performance accuracy in Emotion Classification of faces as potential Affective Processing domains in MDD that would be linked to abnormal 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} (Langenecker et al., 2005).

MRI for Co-registration of PET Images and Collection of fMRI BOLD

One hundred twenty-four high-resolution SPGR axial anatomic images [TE = 5 ms; TR (repetition time) = 24 ms, 45 degree flip angle, NEX (number of excitations) = 2, slice thickness = 1.2 or 1.3 mm, FOV = 24 cm, matrix size = 256×256] were performed on each subject with a GE 3T Signa scanner for coregistration of PET images.

The Go/No-go task is a cognitive control task that has been used extensively by our group with fMRI, including in healthy aging, MDD, and bipolar disorder (for review, see Votruba and Langenecker, 2013). The fMRI task includes eventrelated models for correctly responded "go" events or Hits, correctly rejected "no-go" events or Rejections, and incorrectly responded "no-go" events, or Commissions, modeled with the hemodynamic response function. The steps for processing the data and model building include slice timing, physiological correction, coregistration, normalization, smoothing with a 5 mm FWHM Gaussian filter, and building individual models using SPM2 as described previously (Langenecker et al., 2007c). Contrasts were set up to define activation for Hits, Rejections, and Commissions in a fast event-related model. Imaging parameters include a TR of 2000 ms, FOV of 22 cm, with a 3.0 T GE Signa scanner using a standard radio frequency coil and T2*- weighted pulse sequence. The images were collected using a forwardreverse spiral sequence with 29 axial slices of 4 mm.

Defining Regions of Significant Effect in 5-HT_{1A}, and Low and Normal MDD Groups

Differences between groups in 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} will be extracted from regions of significant effects (RSEs). 1st 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} levels will be converted to z scores based upon mean and standard deviation of BP_{ND} levels for the HC group for each RSE. Then the z scores will be averaged across all RSEs to create a mean Z Group RSE variable across all post-synaptic 5-HT_{1A} regions that differ between groups. Mean Z group RSE will be used as predictor variable in subsequent analyses with performance and fMRI IPs. We will use mean 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} PET results in RSEs to define low and normal 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} MDD groups in relation to HC 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} in the RSEs. These two MDD groups will then be compared to identify regions for fMRI analyses in the imaging contrasts (Commissions, Correct Rejections, Hits) for the Parametric Go/No-go test.

Genotyping for 5HTTLPR and MAO-A

In addition, for exploratory purposes, the relative impact for *5-HTTLPR* and *MAO-A* genotype were evaluated, genes with a significant biological relationship with 5-HT_{1A} BP.

5HTTLPR

Genotyping protocols were performed according to Lesch et al. (1996). The 5-HTTLPR assay discriminates between two functional 5-HTT promoter alleles, visualized as DNA bands of 528 bp and 484 bp (long and short alleles, l and s, respectively). Genotypes were grouped in accordance with *in vitro* data on a reduced transcriptional activity of the dominating s allele that leads to a decrease in central 5-HT turnover (Bennett et al., 2002). Ten individuals did not have 5-HTTLPR genotype obtained (6 HC, 4 MDD).

MAO-A

Genomic DNA was purified from blood using standard methods. The *MAOA* promoter region that contains the upstream VNTR polymorphism (Sabol et al., 1998) was amplified from 10 ng genomic DNA using the primer sequences: Forward 5 CCCAGGCTGCTCCAGAAACATG-3 and Reverse 5'-GTTCGGGACCTGGGCAGTTGTG-3'. Because of the high GC content in the VNTR region, amplification was performed using Invitrogen's PlatinumTaq and PCRX. Twenty-three individuals (12 HC, 11 MDD) did not have *MAO-A* genotype obtained.

Statistical Analyses

First, we identified MDD specific regions of low 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} as described in the results section. We compared MDD and HC

TABLE 2 Regions of significantly effect, with lower $5\text{-}HT_{1A}$ BP _{ND} in
MDD relative to HC.

BA	mm ³	x	У	z	Ζ	р	
20	1344	26	-5	-34	4.38	0.000034	
	1536	-25	-13	-20	4.24	0.000053	
35	1216	-32	-21	-19	3.96	0.00013	
38	960	22	10	-37	4.17	0.000068	
37	2624	41	-62	-7	3.78	0.00023	
7	832	24	-69	33	3.66	0.00033	
	20 35 38 37	20 1344 1536 35 1216 38 960 37 2624	20 1344 26 1536 -25 35 1216 -32 38 960 22 37 2624 41	20 1344 26 -5 1536 -25 -13 35 1216 -32 -21 38 960 22 10 37 2624 41 -62	20 1344 26 -5 -34 1536 -25 -13 -20 35 1216 -32 -21 -19 38 960 22 10 -37 37 2624 41 -62 -7	20 1344 26 -5 -34 4.38 1536 -25 -13 -20 4.24 35 1216 -32 -21 -19 3.96 38 960 22 10 -37 4.17 37 2624 41 -62 -7 3.78	

There were no regions where MDD group had greater BP relative to the HC group.

groups in 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} using a combined threshold of p < 0.001and a cluster minimum of 80mm³ was used between groups t-test in SPM2 (Table 2 and Figure 5). Mean 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} was extracted for these Regions of Significant Effects (RSEs) and BP_{ND} was used in group specific linear regressions in SPSS 22 with behavioral performance measures of affective processing (Negative Memory Bias, Emotion Categorization) and executive functioning (Processing Speed with Interference Resolution, Verbal Fluency with Processing Speed, Inhibitory Control, and Conceptual Reasoning and Set Shifting) factors/scores were evaluated as converging, multimodal candidate IPs using MANOVA in SPSS 22. fMRI BOLD activation differences were also investigated in SPM5 factorial model comparisons of normal and low 5-HT1A BPND MDD groups based upon mean 1A BP_{ND} (with DWM BP as a covariate of no interest). Relationships between fMRI BOLD signal differences were evaluated subsequently with correlations with RDoC Domains scores in SPSS 22. These domains were also evaluated in exploratory analyses for serotonin-related genetic effects using 5-HTTLPR and MAO-A.

RESULTS

Defining Regions of Low 5-HT_{1A} Binding Potential in the MDD Group

Regions of significant BP differences between HC and MDD groups (HC > MDD) were used to define low 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} MDD regions of significant effect (hereafter RSE). The whole brain analyses in MDD vs HC with 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} indicated six RSEs of lower 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} in the MDD group relative to the HC group. These regions, predominantly temporal, are reported in **Table 2** and **Figure 5**, defining 10–20% reduction in post-synaptic 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} in MDD across these regions. There were no regions where MDD group had greater BP_{ND} relative to the HC group. Half of the MDD group was below the 5th percentile of 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} for the Z normed average of the RSEs relative to the HC group.

Impact of Low 5HT1a BP_{ND} on Executive Functioning and Affective Processing IPs in MDD

We investigated the linear relationship of IPs (e.g., Processing Speed with Interference Resolution, Inhibitory Control, and



Negative Memory Bias) with mean rank 5-HT_{1A} BP using regression in SPSS 22. Negative Memory Bias accounted for 16.4% (no difference after accounting for age) and Processing Speed with Interference Resolution accounted for 26.3% (35.4% after accounting for age effects) of mean rank BP_{ND} in the MDD group (covarying DWM DVR, p's = 0.074, 0.029, respectively, **Figure 2**). No other IPs were significantly related to mean rank 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} in the MDD group. In the control group, <1% variance in processing speed with interference resolution or negative memory bias was accounted for by mean rank BP_{ND}. Negative memory bias and processing speed with interference resolution were non-significantly correlated (r = -0.33, p = 0.17).

Lowered Mean 5-HT_{1A} BP in Relation to fMRI BOLD Responses to Hits, Rejections, and Commissions Within the MDD Group

It was expected that abnormalities in executive functioning domains based upon mean 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} would also be related to BOLD fMRI differences. As this has not been evaluated in published studies, there was no clear expectation of hyper or hypo (our hypothesis) activation during the Cognitive Control task for low vs normal 5-HT1A BP groups. These contrasts in SPM5 included in separate models for BOLD responses during Hits, Correct Rejections, and Commissions. Rejections and Commissions are used to calculate Inhibitory Control, which would be expected to be related to 5-HT1A BPND based upon relationships illustrated in Figure 3. Processing speed with interference resolution includes response speed to Hits and Conceptual Reasoning with Set Shifting includes Hit accuracy, suggesting that these Hit events should also be related to 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND}. There were some individuals without fMRI scans, some with abnormal DVR in the cerebellum (see section "Materials and Methods"), and some with low IQ, leaving, 17 MDD subjects



available for fMRI analyses (divided into normal and low, in a model with 19 HCs). Whole brain analyses were conducted using combined height and extent thresholds with 3dClustSim (p < 0.005, k > 55, 1000 Monte Carlo simulations, p < 0.05 whole brain adjusted).

Within the MDD sample, there was a general pattern of greater activation with increasing mean 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND}. For Correct Rejections (yellow, **Figure 3**, Panels C, E), this was observed in dorsal anterior cingulate, postcentral gyrus, left posterior insula, and mid cingulate gyrus RSEs. There was increasing activation in rostral anterior cingulate, left inferior frontal gyrus, bilateral dorsal medial thalamus, and pulvinar RSEs with greater mean 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} in relation to Commissions. There was greater activation for Hits in a left posterior insula RSE related to mean 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} (cyan, **Figure 3**, Panel C). The exception to this general pattern of increased activation with increasing mean 5-HT_{1A} BP in MDD was observed for Hits in bilateral superior parietal lobule and right anterior inferior frontal gyrus, where there was decreasing activation as mean 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} increased (green, **Figure 3**, Panels A and D).

We further investigated dimensional, linear links between these multimodal IPs using pairwise correlations between the mean rank 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND}, mean rank for the combined fMRI BOLD RSEs (by condition), and behavioral performance parameters. These fMRI BOLD RSE clusters were combined by condition and group difference for purposes of data reduction, with the resulting mean Z BOLD RSE scores highly correlated with all individual clusters (r's > 0.59 for Commission clusters, r's > 0.68 for Correct Rejection clusters, r's > 0.78 for Hits clusters, *p*'s < 0.001). As illustrated in **Figure 4**, the mean Z fMRI BOLD RSEs were significantly correlated with mean rank 5-HT_{1A} BP for Hit BOLD RSE Normal > Low (r = 0.73, p < 0.001, Figure 4, Panel A), Hits mean Z BOLD RSEs Low > Normal (r = -0.80, p = 0.0001, Panel B), Commissions mean Z BOLD RSEs Normal > Low (r = 0.87, p = 0.0001, Panel E), and Rejections mean Z BOLD RSEs Normal > Low (r = 0.77, p = 0.0001, Panel C). PSIR Z score was positively correlated with fMRI BOLD Hit RSE (Normal > Low, r = 0.54, p = 0.02) and fMRI BOLD Commission mean Z RSEs (Normal > Low, r = 0.53, p = 0.03, Panel F). Negative Memory Bias Z was significantly positively correlated with fMRI BOLD Hit mean Z RSEs (Low > Normal, r = 0.50, p = 0.04) and negatively with fMRI BOLD Rejections mean Z RSEs (Normal > Low, r = -0.59, p = 0.01, Panel D). Information from 19 HCs with all modalities of measurement included - are added to these scatterplots (Figure 4) for comparison. The scatterplots indicate individual level differences in fMRI for Cognitive Control that relate to 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} and PSIR.



FIGURE 4 [Illustration of linear relationships by group to $5-H_{1A}$ BP, tNHI BOLD signal, and neuropsychological performance measures (MIDD in black, HC in gray, dashed line for both). Panel **A** shows the relationship between BOLD activation or Hits in left posterior insula with mean $5-HT_{1A}$ BP rank. Panel **B** illustrates the relationship between mean BOLD signal RSEs for correct Hits that are greater in normal relative to lower $5-HT_{1A}$ BP in MDD with mean $5-HT_{1A}$ BP rank. Panel **C** depicts the relationship between mean BOLD for correct rejections and mean $5-HT_{1A}$ BP rank. The relationship between mean BOLD for correct rejections and mean $5-HT_{1A}$ BP rank. The relationship between mean BOLD for correct rejections and mean $5-HT_{1A}$ BP rank. The relationship between mean BOLD for correct rejections and mean $5-HT_{1A}$ BP rank. The relationship between mean BOLD for correct rejections and mean $5-HT_{1A}$ BP rank. The relationship between mean BOLD for correct rejections and mean $5-HT_{1A}$ BP rank. The relationship between mean BOLD for correct rejections and mean $5-HT_{1A}$ BP rank. The relationship between mean BOLD for correct rejections and mean $5-HT_{1A}$ BP rank. The relationship between mean BOLD for correct rejections and mean $5-HT_{1A}$ BP rank. The relationship between mean BOLD for correct rejections and mean $5-HT_{1A}$ BP rank. The relationship between mean BOLD for correct rejections and processing speed with interference resolution is shown in Panel **F**.

Exploratory Analyses of 5-HTTLPR and MAO-A Effects in Executive Functioning and Affective Processing IPs

Next, we expected that the low functioning forms of either the *MAO-A* and *5HTTLPR* genotypes would be associated with poorer performance irrespective of group for candidate genes in exploratory analyses. Given the small sample size, and the relatively weak link between Cognitive/Affective IPs and functional polymorphisms that might impact 5-HT_{1A}, the probability of type II error is high. The MANCOVA for 5-HTTLPR (diagnosis as covariate) was significant for Conceptual Reasoning and Set Shifting [F(1,29) = 4.29, p = 0.047, p = 0



FIGURE 5 | Areas of greater 5-HT_{1A} BP in HC relative to MDD (blue) and in / homozygotes for 5-HTTLPR relative to s/s or l/s (red) in Panels **A,B**. Note that the blue clusters are the same as those listed in **Table 2**, which were used to define the regions of significant effect that defined mean rank BP regressors. They are included for comparison with the 5-HTTLPR analysis here to show the similarities in location and direction. Panel **C** depicts the actual and predicted PSIR values. The predictions are based upon mean 5-HT_{1A} BP values from the regions of significant effect (RSEs) in the 5-HTTLPR analysis.

 $E^2 = 0.13$] and Processing Speed with Interference Resolution $[F(1,29) = 5.93, p = 0.02, E^2 = 0.17]$, with poorer performance in *s* allele carriers irrespective of group status. For definition of high and low functioning *MAO-A* genes, the intermediate genotype group of women was placed into the low functioning allele group based upon prior results (Austin et al., 1999) There was a significant effect for genotype on Conceptual Reasoning and Set Shifting $[F(1,26) = 5.73, p = 0.02, E^2 = 0.18]$ and a trend for Emotion Categorization $[F(1,26) = 3.35, p = 0.08, E^2 = 0.11]$. Those with low function alleles for *MAO-A* performed better on Conceptual Reasoning and Set Shifting and marginally worse on Emotion Categorization.

5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} Links to *5-HTTLPR* Genotype and Relationship With PSIR

Next, we evaluated specifically the effect of *5-HTLPPR* genotype on 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} reductions, covarying for disease group. Group results based upon disease (from **Table 2**) and genotype are displayed in **Figure 5** (Panels A and B). Those with the *5-HTTLPR s* allele, irrespective of disease status, exhibited lower 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} in fronto-temporal regions, overlapping with temporal regions that were lower in those with MDD. There were additional frontal regions of lower 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} in *s* allele carriers irrespective of diagnosis.

Mean rank order BP based upon *5-HTTLPR* was averaged across all 16 RSEs of greater BP in *l/l* homozygotes relative to the *s* allele carriers. Regression was used to predict Processing Speed with Interference Resolution based upon *5-HTTLPR* and also using mean rank BP from the *5-HTTLPR* RSEs. Fifty-two percent of Processing Speed with Interference Resolution was explained by 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} regions with significantly low BP extracted in those with an *s* allele (covarying age and DWM DVR, B = 0.79, p = 0.001, **Figure 5**, Panel C). 5-HT_{1A} RSEs defined

by MDD vs control and by 5-*HTTLPR* were highly correlated (r = 0.88, p < 0.001) in 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND}. MDD and 5-*HTTLPR s* allele were retained as independent variables in this analysis. No other regression models reached significance when using mean rank BP from the 5-*HTTLPR* RSEs to predict Negative Memory Bias, Emotion Categorization, Inhibitory Control, or Conceptual Reasoning with Set Shifting.

DISCUSSION

The present study is the first to link abnormal 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} measures in unmedicated, symptomatic patients with MDD to objective performance and imaging markers of illness, in this case interference resolution, a component of Cognitive Control. The separation of interference resolution performance by 5-HT_{1A} levels is marked, with a medium-large effect size. The abnormal 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} is also related to fMRI BOLD hypoactivation changes in a Cognitive Control domain during Inhibitory Control, the Parametric Go/No-Go Test. The impact of 5-HTTLPR genotype upon interference resolution and 5-HT1A is modest and significant. The results follow previous studies showing links between 5-HT1A BPND values with clinical factors such as anxiety symptoms, treatment outcome, genetics, and sex (Bhagwagar et al., 2004; Drevets et al., 2007; Hirvonen et al., 2008; Miller et al., 2008; Parsey et al., 2010). There is also evidence that lower 5-HT_{1A} levels are present when there are increased depression symptoms in the context of epilepsy, Parkinson disease and in chronic stress without depression (Jovanovic et al., 2008). Using objective, but simpler, performance measures to identify subjects with a higher probability of abnormal 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} could have substantial benefits for clinical, genetic and research studies. The executive functioning measures used to derive the processing speed with interference resolution

variables are inexpensive to administer and are easily employed in subject recruitment (even clinical) settings (Langenecker et al., 2007b; Dawson et al., 2017). These measures could be used to select individuals for treatments or research protocols that specifically target 5-HT_{1A} receptor functioning and for subtype-specific pharmacotherapy treatment trials. Analogs of these performance measures are already present in animal models to further aid in strategies for better understanding the neurobiology and genetics of depression and for new treatment development.

In the data presented it was striking that Cognitive Control, and not Negative Memory Bias (inverted effect) or Emotion Categorization, was related to lower 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} in MDD. Indeed, recent studies have demonstrated that executive functioning measures, an umbrella domain term that includes Cognitive Control, are perhaps most critical in understanding increased risk for MDD, and are observed in the remitted state, and in family relatives of those with mood disorders (Clark et al., 2005; Bora et al., 2009; Peters et al., 2017). A recent review illustrated how executive dysfunction for those with MDD is substantial and fairly consistent across well-powered studies (Rogers et al., 2004). Some existing literature, although mainly with small N studies, suggest that executive functioning is also a good predictor of treatment response and functioning in MDD (Kampf-Sherf et al., 2004; Taylor et al., 2006; Jaeger et al., 2007; Dawson et al., 2017). Executive functioning also can be used to predict recurrence (Langenecker et al., 2018a) and workplace disability (Lee et al., 2018).

A recent review of 5-HT_{1A} receptor studies suggested that there is a weak relationship between 5-HT_{1A} and cognitive function (Borg, 2008). One of four studies in healthy controls have illustrated a relationship between 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} and cognitive performance (Yasuno, 2004). A pilot study in those with Alzheimer's disease, mild cognitive impairment (MCI), or neither suggested a relationship of decreased 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} with poorer MMSE in the entire sample, and with learning and memory in the healthy control and MCI participants (Kepe et al., 2006). Another study suggests that gray matter thickness in key limbic regions is positively associated with 5-HT_{1A} (Kraus et al., 2012). A similar study shows these associations in frontolimbic regions (Zanderigo et al., 2018). In our control sample we replicate the pattern of non-significant relationships of 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} to cognitive and affective measures. However, in MDD, we demonstrate a significant positive relationship of 5-HT_{1A} with Negative Memory Bias and Inhibitory Control, and a significant negative relationship of 5-HT1A with Processing Speed with Interference Resolution.

fMRI BOLD signal changes for correct rejections and errors of commission resulted in hypoactivation in critical regulatory and inhibitory regions for those with lower 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND}. These low BOLD signals were related to Negative Memory Bias and Processing Speed with Interference Resolution. Notably, those MDD with lower 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} levels show increasing difficulties with poorer set-shifting and processing speed. In contrast and with an intriguing result, MDD subjects with higher/normative 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} levels exhibited significant Negative Memory Bias and increased activation in regulatory regions during successful

rejection. As a result, increased need for recruitment in the middorsal and rostral anterior cingulate for successful rejection may reflect poorer Inhibitory Control in those without lower 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} levels. This observation is confirmed by performance above normal levels in Inhibitory Control as 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} levels decreased. Those with higher/normative5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} levels tended to have worse Negative Memory Bias, Inhibitory Control, and increased BOLD recruitment for successful rejection of prepotent stimuli. Although the sample is quite small, these results reaffirm with other work that there likely many circuits, neurotransmitters, and behaviors associated with subtypes of MDD that are heretofore unclear (Webb et al., 2016; Kling et al., 2018).

Further, 5-HTTLPR appears to be related to both 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} levels, and executive functioning performance, irrespective of illness. Notably, samples of this small size often suffer from difficulty with replication and should be interpreted very cautiously. There are some clues, however, that interference resolution might explain the inconsistent findings in emotion processing studies of 5-HTTLPR from other studies as well. For example, affective processing and executive regulation can be in dynamic opposition to one another in some contexts, or in the case of psychiatric illness, there may be excessive responses in the former and weaker control in the latter (Phillips et al., 2003; Kampf-Sherf et al., 2004; Langenecker et al., 2007c, 2014). Presence of the low functioning alleles of 5-HTTLPR may reflect a relatively weaker executive functioning system, resulting in a stronger environmental dependence in the development of and execution of emotion regulation (Jacobs et al., 2006; Dannlowski et al., 2008; Lohoff et al., 2014; Piel et al., 2018). In non-stressful environments, this weakness is less likely to result in problematic outcomes, but could still result in excessive responses to negative emotional stimuli (Sen et al., 2004; Surguladze et al., 2008). This pattern of diminished regulation skill in those carrying the short allele may be exaggerated in MDD (Dannlowski et al., 2008). In high demand, high stress, negative environments, there may be greater difficulty in regulating negative emotional responses, and greater difficulty in shifting from one emotional state to another for those with low functioning 5-HTTLPR alleles (Jacobs et al., 2006; Neumeister et al., 2006; Piel et al., 2018). The lack of regulation or emotional flexibility to environmental demands could then perpetuate depressive symptoms.

Use of screening tools like PSIR measures, with knowledge of convergent results with the 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} levels may be one dimensional way of increasing the homogeneity in MDD samples. Such increased homogeneity could lead to more targeted, precision medicine trials. For example, preselecting individuals based upon poor Cognitive Control could lead to a larger percentage with low 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND}, facilitating identification of related biomarkers for treatment. As we already know that weaker CC is a predictor of poor treatment response, greater likelihood of recurrence, these individuals might benefit from different treatment algorithms [e.g., TMS trials (Kampf-Sherf et al., 2004; Januel et al., 2006; Siegle et al., 2006; Langenecker et al., 2007c,d, 2018a,b; Levkovitz et al., 2009; Drysdale et al., 2016; Crane et al., 2017; Dawson et al., 2017; Natania et al., 2018)]. It is also notable that Emotion Categorization accuracy, although related at a trend level to MAO-A genotype, was not related to 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} levels or 5-HTTLPR. More surprisingly, higher mean rank BP was associated with greater Negative Memory Bias in MDD. Those with lower 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} exhibited no evidence of a Negative Memory Bias, suggesting that using mean rank BP to illustrate dimensional functioning in MDD could be defined in part by the segregation of Affective and Executive Domains. In reality, though, risk for MDD is likely defined by affective dysfunction, executive dysfunction, or dysfunction in both systems, and it is unlikely to be so clearly illustrated based upon results from one ligand. Several recent studies reported mixed results in links between serotonin genes and emotion reactivity (Kranz et al., 2018; Piel et al., 2018).

The main limitation of the study is the sample size. We were able to obtain a relatively large sample for a multimodal study, and we were also able to find strong biological links between different measurement modalities. Samples of this size only reliably find large and very large effect sizes. We did obtain robust results consistent with our hypotheses. Another potential limitation of the present study relates to the broader difficulty within the field to agree upon the best reference strategy for calculating 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND}. Although we have shown equivalence in our reference region between groups. There are challenges to the reference region approach that appear to be surmountable by excluding gray matter and vermis, such as in this work (Parsey et al., 2010), and verifying equivalence of the reference region, as we have done. Animal models, especially those of 5-HT_{1A} knockout mice, suggest that there may be lower 5-HT_{1A} availability in MDD and similar states, resulting in decreased serotonergic regulation. Likewise, postmortem data also suggests decreased 5-HT_{1A} mRNA in MDD. These findings are contrasted with others suggesting that higher 5-HT_{1A} in mice can mimic aspects of autism and not anxiety/depression. We contend that the present results strengthen evidence that lower 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} is a viable IP in MDD. This is in part upon the clear lack of BP difference in a deep white matter region, the presence of a behavioral performance correlate, links to fMRI BOLD, and link to a genetic marker 5-HTTLPR. At the very least, the fact that 5-HT_{1A} BP_{ND} is altered in some individuals with MDD is clear. Until the discrepant reference region/correction methods can be resolved, directionality is still contested. Individual studies will have to demonstrate equivalence of reference ranges/structures. Furthermore, newer radioligands such as (Elton et al., 2014) MPFF might have more sensitive and stable properties for investigation of 5-HT1A BPND with MDD subjects absent these reference region concerns (Lothe et al., 2012).

In addition, fMRI is expensive and requires extensive equipment for set-up and analysis. A lower cost alternative to measure hemoglobin changes during task may be functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) (Ho et al., 2016). As a number of the imaging regions identified here were cortical, it is possible that fNIRS could be used less expensively and with a broader range of patients to understand the relationship of hemodynamic changes to lowered 5-HT_{1A} function and cognitive control (McKendrick et al., 2015). Finally, neuropsychological testing, fMRI and PET were typically collected on separate days

and locations. The anatomical cross-localization could be off in such instances, and the measurements could be weakened by daysession specific parameters (Selvaraj et al., 2017; Hamilton et al., 2018). As the relationships were quite robust, there may have been additional links that were missed.

5-HT_{1A} function has a number of associations with other chronic diseases that are often comorbid with MDD, including coronary artery disease and obesity (Vickers and Dourish, 2004; Ramage and Villalon, 2008; Quek et al., 2017; Ho et al., 2018), and changes in 5-HT_{1A} function are coassociated with changes in pro-inflammatory cytokines including interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β), IL-17, and tumor necrosis factor – alpha (TNF- α) (Aune et al., 1993; Lu et al., 2017; Ng et al., 2018). These studies suggest that 5-HT_{1A} shares functions that are related to, but extend beyond the phenotype of MDD, which in light of the present study, further confirms a need for homogeneous subsets that can be used to explore specific biological pathways for illness and recovery.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the present study offers promising new evidence that biomarkers for MDD can be found and objectively measured. The heterogeneity of MDD has been problematic in pursuing these biomarkers, and identification of subtypes of MDD may, in the end, prove to be the most fruitful in linking biomarkers, to phenotypes, to genetic risks, and ultimately to personalized medicine. The phenotypic heterogeneity of MDD, combined with prior attempts at a "one size fits all" biomarker approach to MDD has been one limiting factor in this complex illness. Future work can capitalize upon the relationship between $5-HT_{1A}$ BP_{ND} abnormalities and executive functioning in MDD. These links could also be pursued more broadly in other psychiatric conditions within the RDoC initiative, as executive functioning disruption is not specific to MDD.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The work was approved by the University of Michigan IRB. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SL designed the study, analyzed the data, and wrote and edited the manuscript. BM performed the PET and cognitive analyses, and wrote and edited the manuscript. PE, SK, and TL performed the PET analysis, and wrote and edited the manuscript. SS performed the genetics analysis, and wrote and edited the manuscript. KE performed the analysis, and wrote and edited the manuscript. MH and SR wrote and edited the manuscript. DH performed the fMRI and PET analyses, and wrote and edited the manuscript. RK designed PET, and edited the manuscript. SW and HA designed the study and edited the manuscript. DG performed the genetics, analysis and edited the manuscript. MB designed the study, performed the study, and wrote and edited the manuscript. J-KZ designed the study, and wrote and edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

NIMH grants P01 MH42251 (J-KZ, Elizabeth A. Young, HA), K23 MH074459 (SL), and the National Alliance for Research on Schizophrenia and Depression (NARSAD, SL, J-KZ). SL was supported by RDoC grant MH101487. Also supported by the General Clinical Research Center at the University of Michigan (NIH grant RR00042), now MICH-R CTSA (UL1RR024986).

REFERENCES

- Akil, H. (2005). Stressed and depressed. Nature Nat. Medicine Med. 11, 116–118. doi: 10.1038/nm0205-116
- Albert, P. R., and Lemonde, S. (2004). 5-HT_{1A} receptors, gene repression, and depression: guilt by association. *Neuroscientist* 10, 575–593. doi: 10.1177/ 1073858404267382
- American Psychiatric Association. (1994). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th Edn. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Aune, T. M., McGrath, K. M., Sarr, T., Bombara, M. P., and Kelley, K. A. (1993). Expression of 5HT1a receptors on activated human T cells. Regulation of cyclic AMP levels and T cell proliferation by 5-hydroxytryptamine. *J. Immunol.* 151, 1175–1183.
- Austin, M. P., Wilhelm, K., Parker, G., Hickie, I., Brodaty, H., Chan, J., et al. (1999). Cognitive function in depression : a distinct pattern of frontal impairment in melancholia? *Psychological Psychol. Medicine Med.* 29, 73–85.
- Bennett, A. J., Lesch, K. P., Heils, A., Long, J. C., Lorenz, J. G., Shoaf, S. E., et al. (2002). Early experience and serotonin transporter gene variation interact to influence primate CNS function. *Mol. Psychiatry* 7, 118–122. doi: 10.1038/sj. mp.4000949
- Bert, B., Fink, H., Rothe, J., Walstab, J., and Bonisch, H. (2008). Learning and memory in 5-HT(1A)-receptor mutant mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 195, 78–85. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2008.02.028
- Bhagwagar, Z., Rabiner, E. A., Sargent, P. A., Grasby, P. M., and Cowen, P. J. (2004). Persistent reduction in brain serotonin1A receptor binding in recovered depressed men measured by positron emission tomography with [11C]WAY-100635. *Mol. Psychiatry* 9, 386–392. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4001401
- Bora, E., Yucel, M., and Pantelis, C. (2009). Cognitive endophenotypes of bipolar disorder: a meta-analysis of neuropsychological deficits in euthymic patients and their first-degree relatives. J. Affect. Disord. 113, 1–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jad. 2008.06.009
- Borg, J. (2008). Molecular imaging of the 5-HT_{1A} receptor in relation to human cognition. *Behav. Brain Res.* 195, 103–111. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2008.06.011
- Bradley, B. P., Mogg, K., and Millar, N. (1996). Implicit memory bias in clinical and non-clinical depression. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 34, 865–879. doi: 10.1016/S0005-7967(96)00074-5
- Burmeister, M., McInnis, M. G., and Zollner, S. (2008). Psychiatric genetics: progress amid controversy. Nat. Rev. Genet. 9, 527–540. doi: 10.1038/nrg2381
- Burt, D. B., Zembar, M. J., and Niederehe, G. (1995). Depression and memory impairment: a meta-analysis of the association, its pattern, and specificity. *Psychol. Bull.* 117, 285–305. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.117.2.285
- Channon, S., and Green, P. S. (1999). Executive function in depression: the role of performance strategies in aiding depressed and non-depressed participants. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry. 66, 162–171.
- Cheetham, S. C., Crompton, M. R., Katona, C. L., and Horton, R. W. (1990). Brain 5-HT1 binding sites in depressed suicides. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 102, 544–548. doi: 10.1007/BF02247138
- Clark, L., Sarna, A., and Goodwin, G. M. (2005). Impairment of executive function but not memory in first-degree relatives of patients with bipolar I disorder and in euthymic patients with unipolar depression. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 162, 1980–1982. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.162.10.1980
- Cooper, M. A., McIntyre, K. E., and Huhman, K. L. (2008). Activation of 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptors in the dorsal raphe nucleus reduces the behavioral consequences of social defeat. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 33, 1236–1247. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2008.06.009

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Virginia Murphy-Weinberg, RN, MS, Emily M. Briceño, Leslie M. Guidotti-Breting, Allison M. Kade and the technologists of the PET Center and fMRI Laboratory at the University of Michigan for their assistance in the performance of the studies. We thank Colin Hodgkinson, NIAAA, NIH for assistance in genetic analyses.

- Crane, N. A., Jenkins, L. M., Bhaumik, R., Dion, C., Gowins, J. R., Mickey, B. J., et al. (2017). Multidimensional prediction of treatment response to antidepressants with cognitive control and functional MRI. *Brain* 140, 472–486. doi: 10.1093/ brain/aww326
- Cuthbert, B. N. (2005). Dimensional models of psychopathology: research agenda and clinical utility. *J. Abnorm. Psychol.* 114, 565–569. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X. 114.4.565
- Czyrak, A., Czepiel, K., Mackowiak, M., Chocyk, A., and Wedzony, K. (2003). Serotonin 5-HT_{1A} receptors might control the output of cortical glutamatergic neurons in rat cingulate cortex. *Brain Res.* 989, 42–51. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(03)03352-3
- Dannlowski, U., Ohrmann, P., Bauer, J., Deckert, J., Hohoff, C., Kugel, H., et al. (2008). 5-HTTLPR biases amygdala activity in response to masked facial expressions in major depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 33, 418–424. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301411
- Dawson, E. L., Caveney, A. F., Meyers, K. K., Weisenbach, S. L., Giordani, B., Avery, E. T., et al. (2017). Executive functioning at baseline prospectively predicts depression treatment response. *The Primary Prim. Care Companion* 19, e1–e7. doi: 10.4088/PCC.16m01949
- Disner, S. G., Beevers, C. G., Haigh, E. A., and Beck, A. T. (2011). Neural mechanisms of the cognitive model of depression. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 12, 467–477. doi: 10.1038/nrn3027
- Drevets, W. C., Thase, M. E., Kolko-Moses, E. L., Price, J., Frank, E., and Kupfer, D. J. (2007). Serotonin-1A receptor imaging in recurrent depression: replication and literature review. *Nucl. Med. Biol.* 34, 865–877. doi: 10.1016/j.nucmedbio. 2007.06.008
- Drysdale, A. T., Grosenick, L., Downar, J., Dunlop, K., Mansouri, F., Meng, Y., et al. (2016). Resting-state connectivity biomarkers define neurophysiological subtypes of depression. *Nat. Med.* 23, 28–38. doi: 10.1038/nm.4246
- Elton, A., Tripathi, S. P., Mletzko, T., Young, J., Cisler, J. M., James, G. A., et al. (2014). Childhood maltreatment is associated with a sex-dependent functional reorganization of a brain inhibitory control network. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 35, 1654–1667. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22280
- Flugge, G. (1995). Dynamics of central nervous 5-HT_{1A}-receptors under psychosocial stress. J. Neurosci. 15, 7132–7140. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.15-11-07132.1995
- Fusar-Poli, P., Allen, P., McGuire, P., Placentino, A., Cortesi, M., and Perez, J. (2006). Neuroimaging and electrophysiological studies of the effects of acute tryptophan depletion: a systematic review of the literature. *Psychopharmacology* 188, 131–143. doi: 10.1007/s00213-006-0493-1
- Gotlib, I. H., Joormann, J., Minor, K. L., and Hallmayer, J. (2008). HPA axis reactivity: a mechanism underlying the associations among 5-HTTLPR, stress, and depression. *Biological Biol. Psychiatry The Serotonin Transporter Gene and Stress Reactivity: Reflections on Altered Amygdala Reactivity* 63, 847–851. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.10.008
- Gross, C., Zhuang, X., Stark, K., Ramboz, S., Oosting, R., Kirby, L., et al. (2002). Serotonin1A receptor acts during development to establish normal anxiety-like behaviour in the adult. *Nature* 416, 396–400. doi: 10.1038/416396a
- Gur, R. C., Edwin, R., Gur, R., Zwil, A., Heimberg, C., and Kraemer, H. (1992). Facial emotion discrimination: II Behavioral findings in depression. *Psychiatry Research Res.* 42, 241–251. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(92)90116-K
- Haddjeri, N., Blier, P., and de Montigny, C. (1998). Montigny, Long-term antidepressant treatments result in a tonic activation of forebrain 50HT1A receptors. *Journal J. of Neuroscience*. 18, 10150–10156. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 18-23-10150.1998

- Hamilton, J. P., Sacchet, M. D., Hjørnevik, T., Chin, F. T., Shen, B., Kämpe, R., et al. (2018). Striatal dopamine deficits predict reductions in striatal functional connectivity in major depression: a concurrent 11C-raclopride positron emission tomography and functional magnetic resonance imaging investigation. *Translational Transl. Psychiatry* 8, :264. doi: 10.1038/s41398-018-0316-2
- Hamilton, M. (1960). A rating scale for depression. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 23, 56–62. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.23.1.56
- Hariri, A. R., Drabant, E. M., and Weinberger, D. R. (2006). Imaging genetics: perspectives from studies of genetically driven variation in serotonin function and corticolimbic affective processing. *Biol. Psychiatry* 59, 888–897. doi: 10. 1016/j.biopsych.2005.11.005
- Hariri, A. R., Mattay, V. S., Tessitore, A., Kolachana, B., Fera, F., Goldman, D., et al. (2002). Serotonin transporter genetic variation and the response of the human amygdala. *Science* 297, 400–403. doi: 10.1126/science.1071829
- Heller, W., and Nitschke, J. (1998). The puzzle of regional brain activity in depression and anxiety: the importance of subtypes and co-morbidity. *Cognition Cogn. & Emotion.* 12, 421–447. doi: 10.1080/026999398379664
- Hensler, J. G., Advani, T., and Monteggia, L. M. (2007). Regulation of serotonin-1A receptor function in inducible brain-derived neurotrophic factor knockout mice after administration of corticosterone. *Biol. Psychiatry* 62, 521–529. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.10.015
- Hirvonen, J., Karlsson, H., Kajander, J., Lepola, A., Markkula, J., Rasi, H., et al. (2008). Decreased brain serotonin 5-HT_{1A} receptor availability in medicationnaive patients with major depressive disorder: an in-vivo imaging study using PET and [carbonyl-11C]WAY-100635. *International Int. Journal J. of Neuropsychopharmacology*. 11, 465–476. doi: 10.1017/S1461145707008140
- Ho, C. S., Zhang, M. W., and Ho, R. C. (2016). Optical topography in psychiatry: a chip off the old block or a new look beyond the mind-brain frontiers? *Front. Psychiatry* 7:74. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00074
- Ho, R. C. M., Chua, A. C., Tran, B. X., Choo, C. C., Husain, S. F., Vu, G. T., et al. (2018). Factors associated with the risk of developing coronary artery disease in medicated patients with major depressive disorder. *International Int. Journal J. of Environmental. Research Res. and Public Health* 15, :E2073. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15102073
- Hsu, D. T., Langenecker, S., Kennedy, S., Zubieta, J., and Heitzeg, M. M. (2010). fMRI BOLD responses to negative stimuli in the prefrontal cortex are dependent on levels of recent negative life stress in major depressive disorder. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging* 183, 7202–208. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns. 2009.12.002
- Hugdahl, K., Rund, B. R., Lund, A., Asbjornsen, A., Egeland, J., Landro, N. I., et al. (2003). Attentional and executive dysfunctions in schizophrenia and depression: evidence from dichotic listening performance. *Biol. Psychiatry* 53, 609–616. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(02)01598-6
- Hwang, D. R., Simpson, N. R., Montoya, J., Man, J. J., and Laruelle, M. (1999). An improved one-pot procedure for the preparation of [11C-carbonyl]-WAY100635. Nucl. Med. Biol. 26, 815–819. doi: 10.1016/S0969-8051(99) 00056-6
- Insel, T., Cuthbert, B., Garvey, M., Heinssen, R., Pine, D. S., Quinn, K., et al. (2010). Research domain criteria (RDoC): toward a new classification framework for research on mental disorders. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 167, 748–751. doi: 10.1176/appi. ajp.2010.09091379
- Jacobs, N., Kenis, G., Peeters, F., Derom, C., Vlietinck, R., and van, J. (2006). Os, stress-related negative affectivity and genetically altered serotonin transporter function: evidence of synergism in shaping risk of depression. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 63, 989–996. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.63.9.989
- Jaeger, J., Berns, S., Loftus, S., Gonzalez, C., and Czobor, P. (2007). Neurocognitive test performance predicts functional recovery from acute exacerbation leading to hospitalization in bipolar disorder 87. *Bipolar. Disord.* 9, 93–102. doi: 10. 1111/j.1399-5618.2007.00427.x
- Januel, D., Dumortier, G., Verdon, C. M., Stamatiadis, L., Saba, G., Cabaret, W., et al. (2006). A double-blind sham controlled study of right prefrontal repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS): therapeutic and cognitive effect in medication free unipolar depression during 4 weeks. *Progress Prog. in Neuro-Psychopharmacology psychopharmacol. and Biological. Psychiatry* 30, 126–130.
- Jovanovic, H., Lundberg, J., Karlsson, P., Cerin, A., Saijo, T., Varrone, A., et al. (2008). Sex differences in the serotonin 1A receptor and serotonin transporter

binding in the human brain measured by PET. Neuroimage 39, 1408-1419. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.10.016

- Kalia, M. (2005). Neurobiological basis of depression: an update. *Metabolism* 54, 24–27. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2005.01.009
- Kalin, N. H., Shelton, S. E., Fox, A. S., Rogers, J., Oakes, T. R., and Davidson, R. J. (2008). The serotonin transporter genotype is associated with intermediate brain phenotypes that depend on the context of eliciting stressor. *Mol. Psychiatry* 13, 1021–1027. doi: 10.1038/mp.2008.37
- Kampf-Sherf, O., Zlotogorski, Z., Gilboa, A., Speedie, L., Lereya, J., Rosca, P., et al. (2004). Neuropsychological functioning in major depression and responsiveness to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors antidepressants. *Journal J. of Affective. Disorders Disord.* 82, 453–459. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2004. 02.006
- Kaufman, J., Sullivan, G. M., Yang, J., Ogden, R. T., Miller, J. M., Oquendo, M. A., et al. (2015). Quantification of the serotonin 1A receptor using PET: identification of a potential biomarker of major depression in males. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 40, 1692–1699. doi: 10.1038/npp.2015.15
- Kautzky, A., Hahn, A., Godbersen, G. M., Gryglewski, G., James, G. M., Sigurdardottir, H. L., et al. (2018). Parcellation of the human cerebral cortex based on molecular targets in the serotonin system quantified by positron emission tomography in vivo. *Cerebral Cereb. Cortex* 29, 372–382. doi: 10.1093/ cercor/bhy249
- Kautzky, A., James, G. M., Philippe, C., Baldinger-Melich, P., Kraus, C., Kranz, G. S., et al. (2017). The influence of the rs6295 gene polymorphism on serotonin-1A receptor distribution investigated with PET in patients with major depression applying machine learning. *Transl. Psychiatry* 7, :e1150. doi: 10. 1038/tp.2017.108
- Kepe, V., Barrio, J. R., Huang, S. C., Ercoli, L., Siddarth, P., Shoghi, K., et al. (2006). Serotonin 1A receptors in the living brain of Alzheimer's disease patients. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 702–707. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0510237103
- Kling, L. R., Bessette, K. L., DelDonno, S. R., Ryan, K. A., Drevets, W. C., McInnis, M. G., et al. (2018). Cluster analysis with MOODS-SR illustrates a potential bipolar disorder risk phenotype in young adults with remitted major depressive disorder. *Bipolar Disord*. 20, 697–707. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12693
- Kranz, G. S., Hahn, A., Kraus, C., Spies, M., Pichler, V., Jungwirth, J., et al. (2018). Probing the association between serotonin-1A autoreceptor binding and amygdala reactivity in healthy volunteers. *Neuroimage* 171, 1–5. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuroimage.2017.12.092
- Kranz, G. S., Kasper, S., and Lanzenberger, R. (2010). Reward and the serotonergic system. *Neuroscience* 166, 1023–1035. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.01.036
- Kraus, C., Hahn, A., Savli, M., Kranz, G. S., Baldinger, P., Hoflich, A., et al. (2012). Serotonin-1A receptor binding is positively associated with gray matter volume — A multimodal neuroimaging study combining PET and structural MRI. *Neuroimage* 63, 1091–1098. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.07.035
- Lamar, M., Cutter, W. J., Rubia, K., Brammer, M., Daly, E. M., Craig, M. C., et al. (2009). 5-HT, prefrontal function and aging: fMRI of inhibition and acute tryptophan depletion. *Neurobiol. Aging* 30, 1135–1146. doi: 10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2007.09.013
- Langenecker, S. A. (2001). The neuroanatomy of inhibitory control in healthy aging: Evidence from eventrelated fMRI. Available at: https://epublications. marquette.edu/dissertations/AAI3049934
- Langenecker, S. A., Bieliauskas, L. A., Rapport, L. J., Zubieta, J. K., Wilde, E. A., and Berent, S. (2005). Face emotion perception and executive functioning deficits in depression. *J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol.* 27, 320–333. doi: 10.1080/ 13803390490490515720
- Langenecker, S. A., Briceno, E. M., Hamid, N. M., and Nielson, K. A. (2007a). An evaluation of distinct volumetric and functional MRI contributions toward understanding age and task performance: a study in the basal ganglia. *Brain Res.* 1135, 58–68.
- Langenecker, S. A., Caveney, A. F., Giordani, B., Young, E. A., Nielson, K. A., Rapport, L. J., et al. (2007b). The sensitivity and psychometric properties of a brief computer-based cognitive screening battery in a depression clinic. *Psychiatry Research Res.* 152, 143–154.
- Langenecker, S. A., Kennedy, S. E., Guidotti, L. M., Briceno, E. M., Own, L. S., Hooven, T., et al. (2007c). Frontal and limbic activation during inhibitory control predicts treatment response in major depressive disorder. *Biol. Psychiatry* 62, 1272–1280.

- Langenecker, S. A., Zubieta, J. K., Young, E. A., Akil, H., and Nielson, K. A. (2007d). A task to manipulate attentional load, set-shifting, and inhibitory control: convergent validity and test-retest reliability of the Parametric Go/No-Go Test. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 29, 842–853.
- Langenecker, S. A., Jacobs, R. H., and Passarotti, A. M. (2014). Current neural and behavioral dimensional constructs across mood disorders. *Current Curr. Behavioral Behav. Neuroscience Neurosci. ReportsRep.** 1, 114–153.
- Langenecker, S. A., Jenkins, L. M., Stange, J. P., Chang, Y. S., DelDonno, S. R., Bessette, K. L., et al. (2018a). Cognitive control neuroimaging measures differentiate between those with and without future recurrence of depression. *Neuroimage: Clinical Clin.* 20, 1001–1009. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2018.10.004
- Langenecker, S. A., Klumpp, H., Peters, A. T., Crane, N. A., DelDonno, S. R., Bessette, K. L., et al. (2018b). Multidimensional imaging techniques for prediction of treatment response in major depressive disorder. *Progress Prog. in Neuro-psychopharmacology. and Biological. Psychiatry* doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2018.07.001 [Epub ahead of print].
- Langenecker, S. A., Lee, J., and Bieliauskas, L. A. (2009). "Neuropsychology of depression, and related mood disorders," in *Neuropsychological Assessment of Neuropsychiatric and Neuromedical Disorders*, ed. I. G. K. Adams (Oxford: Oxford University Press).
- Langenecker, S. A., Saunders, E. F. H., Kade, A. M., Ransom, M. T., and McInnis, M. G. (2010). Intermediate cognitive phenotypes in bipolar disorder. J. Affect. Disord. 122, 285–293. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2009.08.018
- Lee, Y., Rosenblat, J. D., Lee, J., Carmona, N. E., Subramaniapillai, M., Shekotikhina, M., et al. (2018). Efficacy of antidepressants on measures of workplace functioning in major depressive disorder: a systematic review. J. Affect. Disord. 227, 406–415. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.11.003
- Lesch, K. P., Bengel, D., Heils, A., Sabol, S. Z., Greenberg, B. D., Petri, S., et al. (1996). Association of anxiety-related traits with a polymorphism in the serotonin transporter gene regulatory region. *Science* 274, 1527–1531. doi: 10. 1126/science.274.5292.1527
- Levkovitz, Y., Harel, E. V., Roth, Y., Braw, Y., Most, D., Katz, L. N., et al. (2009). Deep transcranial magnetic stimulation over the prefrontal cortex: evaluation of antidepressant and cognitive effects in depressive patients. *Brain Stimulation Stimul.* 2, 188–200. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2009.08.002
- Lim, C. R., Barlas, J., and Ho, R. C. M. (2018). The effects of temperament on depression according to the schema model: a scoping review. *International Int. Journal J. of Environmental. Research Res. and Public Health* 15, :E1231. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15061231
- Lima, F. B., Centeno, M. L., Costa, M. E., Reddy, A. P., Cameron, J. L., and Bethea, C. L. (2009). Stress sensitive female macaques have decreased fifth Ewing variant (Fev) and serotonin-related gene expression that is not reversed by citalopram. *Neuroscience* 164, 676–691. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.08.010
- Logan, J., Fowler, J. S., Volkow, N. D., Wang, G. J., Ding, Y. S., and Alexoff, D. L. (1996). Distribution volume ratios without blood sampling from graphical analysis of PET data. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 16, 834–840. doi: 10.1097/ 00004647-199609000-00008
- Lohoff, F. W., Hodge, R., Narasimhan, S., Nall, A., Ferroro, T. N., Mickey, B. J., et al. (2014). Functional genetic variants in the vesicular monoamine transporter 1 (VMAT1) modulate emotion processing. *Mol. Psychiatry* 19, 129–139. doi: 10.1038/mp.2012.193
- Lopez, J. F., Chalmers, D. T., Little, K. Y., and Watson, S. J. (1998). Regulation of serotonin 1A, glucocorticoid, and mineralocorticoid receptor in rat and human hippocampus: implications for the neurobiology of depression. *Biol. Psychiatry* 43, 547–573. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(97)00484-8
- Lopez, J. F., Liberzon, I., Vazquez, D. M., Young, E. A., and Watson, S. J. (1999). Serotonin 1A receptor messenger RNA regulation in the hippocampus after acute stress. *Biol. Psychiatry* 45, 934–937. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(98)00224-8
- Lothe, A., Saoud, M., Bouvard, S., Redout, J., Lerond, J., and Ryvlin, P. (2012).
 5-HT_{1A} receptor binding changes in patients with major depressive disorder before and after antidepressant treatment: a pilot [18F]MPPF positron emission tomography study. *Psychiatry Research:*. *Neuroimaging* 203, 103–104. doi: 10. 1016/j.pscychresns.2011.09.001
- Lu, Y., Ho, C. S., Liu, X., Chua, A. N., Wang, W., McIntyre, R. S., et al. (2017). Chronic administration of fluoxetine and pro-inflammatory cytokine change in a rat model of depression. *PLoS One* 12:e0186700. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0186700

- Lu, Y., Ho, C. S., McIntyre, R. S., Wang, W., and Ho, R. C. (2018a). Agomelatineinduced modulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in the rat hippocampus. *Life Sci.* 210, 177–184. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018.09.003
- Lu, Y., Ho, C. S., McIntyre, R. S., Wang, W., and Ho, R. C. (2018b). Effects of vortioxetine and fluoxetine on the level of Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factors (BDNF) in the hippocampus of chronic unpredictable mild stress-induced depressive rats. *Brain Res. Bull.* 142, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2018.06.007
- Mak, K. K., Kong, W. Y., Mak, A., Sharma, V. K., and Ho, R. C. (2013). Polymorphisms of the serotonin transporter gene and post-stroke depression: a meta-analysis. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 84, 322–328. doi: 10.1136/ jnnp-2012-303791
- Marazziti, D., Marracci, S., Palego, L., Rotondo, A., Mazzanti, C., Nardi, I., et al. (1994). Localization and gene expression of serotonin 1A (5HT1A) receptors in human brain postmortem. *Brain Res.* 658, 55–59. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(09) 90010-5
- McKendrick, R., Parasuraman, R., and Ayaz, H. (2015). Wearable functional near infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) and transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS): expanding vistas for neurocognitive augmentation. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 9:27. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2015.00027
- Mickey, B. J., Ducci, F., Hodgkinson, C., Langenecker, S. A., Goldman, D., and Zubieta, J. K. (2008). Monoamine oxidase A genotype predicts human serotonin 1A receptor availability in vivo. *Journal J. for Neuroscience*. 28, 11354–11359. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2391-08.2008
- Milak, M. S., Pantazatos, S., Rashid, R., Zanderigo, F., DeLorenzo, C., Hesselgrave, N., et al. (2018). Higher 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptor binding as an endophenotype for major depressive disorder identified in high risk offspring - A pilot study. *Psychiatry Research. Neuroimaging* 276, 15–23. doi: 10.1016/j. pscychresns.2018.04.002
- Miller, J. M., Oquendo, M. A., Ogden, R. T., Mann, J. J., and Parsey, R. V. (2008). Serotonin transporter binding as a possible predictor of one-year remission in major depressive disorder. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 42, 1137–1144. doi: 10.1016/j. jpsychires.2008.01.012
- Moses-Kolko, E. L., Price, J. C., Thase, M. E., Meltzer, C. C., Kupfer, D. J., Mathis, C. A., et al. (2007). Measurement of 5-HT_{1A} receptor binding in depressed adults before and after antidepressant drug treatment using positron emission tomography and [11C]WAY-100635. Synapse^{*} 61, 523–530. doi: 10.1002/syn. 20398
- Naarding, P., Leentjens, A. F., van Kooten, F., and Verhey, F. R. (2002). Disease-specific properties of the Rating Scale for Depression in patients with stroke, Alzheimer's dementia, and Parkinson's disease. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 14, 329–334. doi: 10.1176/jnp.14.3.329
- Natania, A. C., Alvaro, V., Masoud, K., Runa, B., Kelly, A. R., David, F. M., et al. (2018). Developing dimensional, pandiagnostic inhibitory control constructs with self-report and neuropsychological data. *Assessment* doi: 10. 1177/1073191118754704 [Epub ahead of print].
- Neumeister, A., X-Hu, Z., Luckenbaugh, D. A., Schwarz, M., Nugent, A. C., Bonne, O., et al. (2006). Differential effects of 5-HTTLPR genotypes on the behavioral and neural responses to tryptophan depletion in patients with major depression and controls. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 63, 978–986. doi: 10.1001/ archpsyc.63.9.978
- Ng, A., Tam, W. W., Zhang, M. W., Ho, C. S., Husain, S. F., McIntyre, R. S., et al. (2018). IL-1beta, IL-6, TNF- alpha and CRP in elderly patients with depression or Alzheimer's disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Scientific Sci. Reports Rep.* 8, :12050. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-30487-6
- Norgaard, M., Ganz, M., Svarer, C., Fisher, P. M., Churchill, N. W., Beliveau, V., et al. (2017). Brain networks implicated in seasonal affective disorder: a neuroimaging PET study of the serotonin transporter. *Frontiers Front. in Neuroscience*. 11:614. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00614
- Nye, J. A., Purselle, D., Plisson, C., Voll, R. J., Stehouwer, J. S., Votaw, J. R., et al. (2013). Decreased brainstem and putamen SERT binding potential in depressed suicide attempters using [11C]-zient PET imaging. *Depress. Anxiety* 30, 902–907. doi: 10.1002/da.22049
- Olivier, B., Pattij, T., Wood, S. J., Oosting, R., Sarnyai, Z., and Toth, M. (2001). The 5-HT_{1A} receptor knockout mouse and anxiety. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 12, 439–450. doi: 10.1097/00008877-200111000-00004
- Oquendo, M. A., Placidi, G. P., Malone, K. M., Campbell, C., Keilp, J., Brodsky, B., et al. (2003). Positron emission tomography of regional brain metabolic

responses to a serotonergic challenge and lethality of suicide attempts in major depression. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 60, 14–22. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.60.1.14

- Parsey, R. V., Ogden, R. T., Miller, J. M., Tin, A., Hesselgrave, N., Goldstein, E., et al. (2010). Higher serotonin 1A binding in a second major depression cohort: modeling and reference region considerations. *Biol. Psychiatry* 68, 170–178. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.03.023
- Parsey, R. V., Oquendo, M. A., Ogden, R. T., Olvet, D. M., Simpson, N., Huang, Y. Y., et al. (2006). Altered serotonin 1A binding in major depression: a [carbonyl-C-11]WAY100635 positron emission tomography study. *Biol. Psychiatry* 59, 106–113. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.06.016
- Peters, A. T., Jacobs, R. H., Crane, N. A., Ryan, K. A., Weisenbach, S. L., Ajilore, O., et al. (2017). Domain-specific impairment in cognitive control among remitted youth with a history of major depression. *Early Intervention Interv. in Psychiatry* 11, 383–392. doi: 10.1111/eip.12253
- Phillips, M. L., Drevets, W. C., Rauch, S. L., and Lane, R. (2003). Neurobiology of emotion perception I: the neural basis of normal emotion perception. *Biol. Psychiatry* 54, 504–514. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00168-9
- Phillips, M. L., Ladouceur, C. D., and Drevets, W. C. (2008). A neural model of voluntary and automatic emotion regulation: implications for understanding the pathophysiology and neurodevelopment of bipolar disorder. *Mol. Psychiatry* 13, 829–857. doi: 10.1038/mp.2008.65
- Piel, J. H., Lett, T. A., Wackerhagen, C., Plichta, M. M., Mohnke, S., Grimm, O., et al. (2018). The effect of 5-HTTLPR and a serotonergic multi-marker score on amygdala, prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex reactivity and habituation in a large, healthy fMRI cohort. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 28, 415–427. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2017.12.014
- Pillai, R. L. I., Malhotra, A., Rupert, D. D., Wechsler, B., Williams, J. C., Zhang, M., et al. (2018). Relations between cortical thickness, serotonin 1A receptor binding, and structural connectivity: a multimodal imaging study. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 39, 1043–1055. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23903
- Porter, R. J., Bourke, C., and Gallagher, P. (2007). Neuropsychological impairment in major depression: its nature, origin and clinical significance. Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 41, 115–128. doi: 10.1080/00048670601109881
- Quek, Y. H., Tam, W. W. S., Zhang, M. W. B., and Ho, R. C. M. (2017). Exploring the association between childhood and adolescent obesity and depression: a meta-analysis. Obesity Obes. Reviews :. an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity 18, 742–754. doi: 10.1111/obr.12535
- Ramage, A. G., and Villalon, C. M. (2008). 5-hydroxytryptamine and cardiovascular regulation. *Trends in Pharmacological. Sciences Sci.* 29, 472–481.
- Richardson, J. W., Craige-Jones, C. P., Nguyen, T. H., Kung, H. F., Gardier, A. M., Dranovsky, A., et al. (2010). Serotonin-1A autoreceptors are necessary and sufficient for the normal formation of circuits underlying innate anxiety. *Journal J. of Neuroscience*. 31, 6008–6018. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5836-10. 2011
- Rogers, M. A., Kasai, K., Koji, M., Fukuda, R., Iwanami, A., Nakagome, K., et al. (2004). Executive and prefrontal dysfunction in unipolar depression: a review of neuropsychological and imaging evidence. *Neurosci. Res.* 50, 1–11. doi: 10. 1016/j.neures.2004.05.003
- Rogers, R. D., Tunbridge, E. M., Bhagwagar, Z., Drevets, W. C., Sahakian, B. J., and Carter, C. S. (2003). Tryptophan depletion alters the decisionmaking of healthy volunteers through altered processing of reward cues. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 28, 153–162. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300001
- Roiser, J. P., Levy, J., Fromm, S. J., Wang, H., Hasler, G., Sahakian, B. J., et al. (2007). The effect of acute tryptophan depletion on the neural correlates of emotional processing in healthy volunteers. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 33, 1992–2006.
- Romera, I., Pérez, V., Menchón, J. M., Polavieja, P., and Gilaberte, I. (2011). Optimal cutoff point of the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression according to normal levels of social and occupational functioning. *Psychiatry Research Res.* 186, 133–137. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2010.06.023
- Rush, A. J., Trivedi, M. H., Wisniewski, S. R., Nierenberg, A. A., Stewart, J. W., Warden, D., et al. (2006). Acute and longer-term outcomes in depressed outpatients requiring one or several treatment steps: a STAR*D report. Am. J. Psychiatry 163, 1905–1917. doi: 10.1176/ajp.2006.163.11.1905
- Ryan, K. A., Vederman, A. C., Kamali, M., Marshall, D., Weldon, A. L., McInnis, M. G., et al. (2013). Emotion perception and executive functioning predict work status in euthymic bipolar disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* 210, 472–478. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013.06.031

- Sabol, S. Z., Hu, S., and Hamer, D. (1998). A functional polymorphism in the monoamine oxidase A gene promoter. *Hum. Genet.* 103, 273–279. doi: 10.1007/ s004390050816
- Sanislow, C. A., Pine, D. S., Quinn, K. J., Kozak, M. J., Garvey, M. A., Heinssen, R. K., et al. (2010). Developing constructs for psychopathology research: research domain criteria. *J. Abnorm. Psychol.* 119, 631–639. doi: 10.1037/ a0020909
- Sarnyai, Z., Sibille, E. L., Pavlides, C., Fenster, R. J., McEwen, B. S., and Toth, M. (2000). Impaired hippocampal-dependent learning and functional abnormalities in the hippocampus in mice lacking serotonin(1A) receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 14731–14736. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.26. 14731
- Sawamura, J., Ishigooka, J., and Nishimura, K. (2018). Re-evaluation of the definition of remission on the 17-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale based on recovery in health-related quality of life in an observational post-marketing study. *Health and Quality. of Life Outcomes* 16, :14. doi: 10.1186/s12955-018-0838-6
- Schlumpf, M., Bruinink, A., Lichtensteiger, W., Cortes, R., Palacios, J. M., and Pazos, A. (1987). Beta-adrenergic binding sites in fetal rat central nervous system and pineal gland: their relation to other receptor sites. *Developmental Dev. Pharmacology Pharmacol. and Therapeutics*. 10, 422–435.
- Selvaraj, S., Walker, C., Arnone, D., Cao, B., Faulkner, P., Cowen, P. J., et al. (2017). Effect of citalopram on emotion processing in humans: a combined 5-HT_{1A} [¹¹C]CUMI-101 PET and functional MRI study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 43, 655–664. doi: 10.1038/npp.2017.166
- Sen, S., Burmeister, M., and Ghosh, D. (2004a). Meta-analysis of the association between a serotonin transporter promoter polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) and anxiety-related personality traits. American Am. Journal J. of Medical. Genetics Genet. Part B: Neuropsychiatric Neuropsychiatr. Genetics Genet. 127B, 85–89.
- Shipley, W. C. (1946). Institute of Living Scale. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services.
- Siegle, G. J., Carter, C. S., and Thase, M. E. (2006). Use of fMRI to predict recovery from unipolar depression with cognitive behavior therapy. *American Am. Journal J. of Psychiatry* 163, 735–738.
- Smith, K. A., Morris, J. S., Friston, K. J., Cowen, P. J., and Dolan, R. J. (1999). Brain mechanisms associated with depressive relapse and associated cognitive impairment following acute tryptophan depletion. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 174, 525–529. doi: 10.1192/bjp.174.6.525
- Snyder, H. R. (2013). Major depressive disorder is associated with broad impairments on neuropsychological measures of executive function: a metaanalysis and review. *Psychological Psychol. Bulletin Bull.* 139, 81–132. doi: 10. 1037/a0028727
- Spinelli, S., Chefer, S., Carson, R. E., Jagoda, E., Lang, L., Heilig, M., et al. (2009). Effects of early-life stress on serotonin(1A) receptors in juvenile Rhesus monkeys measured by positron emission tomography. *Biol. Psychiatry* 67, 1146–1153. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.12.030
- Spring, B., Hitsman, B., Pingitore, R., McChargue, D. E., Gunnarsdottir, D., Corsica, J., et al. (2007). Effect of tryptophan depletion on smokers and nonsmokers with and without history of major depression. *Biol. Psychiatry* 61, 70–77. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.03.050
- Stange, J. P., Bessette, K. L., Jenkins, L. M., Burkhouse, K. L., Peters, A. T., Feldhaus, C., et al. (2017). Attenuated intrinsic connectivity within cognitive control network among individuals with remitted depression: temporal stability and association with negative cognitive styles. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 38, 2939–2954. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23564
- Surguladze, S. A., Elkin, A., Ecker, C., Kalidindi, S., Corsico, A., Giampietro, V., et al. (2008). Genetic variation in the serotonin transporter modulates neural system-wide response to fearful faces. *Genes Brain Behav.* 7, 543–551. doi: 10.1111/j.1601-183X.2008.00390.x
- Surtees, P. G., Wainwright, N. W. J., Willis, S. A. G., Luben-Owen, R., Day, N. E., and Flint, J. (2006). Social adversity, the serotonin transporter (5-HTTLPR) polymorphism and major depressive disorder. *Biol. Psychiatry* 59, 224–229. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.07.014
- Tan, H. Y., Callicott, J. H., and Weinberger, D. R. (2008). Intermediate phenotypes in schizophrenia genetics redux: is it a no brainer? *Mol. Psychiatry* 13, 233–238. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4002145
- Taylor, B. P., Bruder, G. E., Stewart, J. W., McGrath, P. J., Halperin, J., Ehrlichman, H., et al. (2006). Psychomotor slowing as a predictor of fluoxetine

nonresponse in depressed outpatients. Am. J. Psychiatry 163, 73-78. doi: 10. 1176/appi.ajp.163.1.73

- Teasdale, J. D., and Dent, J. (1987). Cognitive vulnerability to depression: an investigation of two hypotheses. Br. J. Clin. Psychol. 26(Pt 2), 113–126. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8260.1987.tb00737.x
- Trivedi, M. H., Rush, A. J., Wisniewski, S. R., Nierenberg, A. A., Warden, D., Ritz, L., et al. (2006). Evaluation of outcomes with citalopram for depression using measurement-based care in STAR*D: implications for clinical practice. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 163, 28–40. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.163.1.28
- van der Veen, F. M., Evers, E. A. T., Deutz, N. E. P., and Schmitt, J. A. J. (2007). Effects of acute tryptophan depletion on mood and facial emotion perception related brain activation and performance in healthy women with and without a family history of depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 32, 216–224. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301212
- Vickers, S. P., and Dourish, C. T. (2004). Serotonin receptor ligands and the treatment of obesity. Current Curr. Opinion Opin. in Investigational. Drugs (London, England : 2000) 5, 377–388.
- Villafuerte, S. M., Vallabhaneni, K., Sliwerska, E., McMahon, F. J., Young, E. A., and Burmeister, M. (2009). SSRI response in depression may be influenced by SNPs in HTR1B and HTR1A. *Psychiatr. Genet.* 19, 281–291. doi: 10.1097/YPG. 0b013e32832a506e
- Votruba, K. L., and Langenecker, S. A. (2013). Age- and education-based normative data for the parametric Go/No-go task. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 32, 132–146. doi: 10.1080/13803395.2012.758239
- Webb, C. A., Dillon, D. G., Pechtel, P., Goer, F. K., Murray, L., Huys, Q. J., et al. (2016). Neural correlates of three promising endophenotypes of depression: evidence from the EMBARC study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 41, 454–463. doi: 10.1038/npp.2015.165
- Wessa, M., and Lois, G. (2015). Brain functional effects of psychopharmacological treatment in major depression: a focus on neural circuitry of affective processing. *Current Curr. Neuropharmacology Neuropharmacol.* 13, 466–479. doi: 10.2174/1570159X13666150416224801
- Wijaya, C. S., Lee, J. J. Z., Husain, S. F., Ho, C. S. H., McIntyre, R. S., Tam, W. W., et al. (2018). Differentiating medicated patients suffering from major depressive disorder from healthy controls by spot urine measurement of monoamines and steroid hormones. *International Int. Journal J. of Environmental. Research Res. and Public Health* 15, :E865. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15050865
- Wojnar, M., Brower, K. J., Strobbe, S., Ilgen, M., Matsumoto, H., Nowosad, I., et al. (2009). Association between Val66Met brain-derived neurotrophic factor

(BDNF) gene polymorphism and post-treatment relapse in alcohol dependence. *Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res.* 33, 693–702. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2008.00886.x

- Wood, R. M., Rilling, J. K., Sanfey, A. G., Bhagwagar, Z., and Rogers, R. D. (2006). Effects of tryptophan depletion on the performance of an iterated Prisoner's Dilemma game in healthy adults. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 31, 1075–1084. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300932
- Yasuno, F. (2004). [Hippocampal serotonin 1A receptor and memory function]. Seishin Shinkeigaku Zasshi 106, 1314–1322.
- Yeo, S. N., Zainal, H., Tang, C. S., Tong, E. M., Ho, C. S., and Ho, R. C. (2017). Success/failure condition influences attribution of control, negative affect, and shame among patients with depression in Singapore. *BMC Psychiatry* 17:285. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1451-7
- Yu, J., Lim, H. Y., Abdullah, F., Chan, H. M., Mahendran, R., Ho, R., et al. (2018). Directional associations between memory impairment and depressive symptoms: data from a longitudinal sample and meta-analysis. *Psychol. Med.* 48, 1664–1672. doi: 10.1017/S0033291717003154
- Zanderigo, F., Pantazatos, S., Rubin-Falcone, H., Ogden, R. T., Chhetry, B. T., Sullivan, G., et al. (2018). In vivo relationship between serotonin 1A receptor binding and gray matter volume in the healthy brain and in major depressive disorder. *Brain Structure Struct. and Function*. 223, 2609–2625. doi: 10.1007/ s00429-018-1649-6
- Zhang, L., Guadarrama, L., Corona-Morales, A. A., Vega-Gonzalez, A., Rocha, L., and Escobar, A. (2006). Rats subjected to extended L-tryptophan restriction during early postnatal stage exhibit anxious-depressive features and structural changes. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 65, 562–570. doi: 10.1097/00005072-200606000-00004

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Langenecker, Mickey, Eichhammer, Sen, Elverman, Kennedy, Heitzeg, Ribeiro, Love, Hsu, Koeppe, Watson, Akil, Goldman, Burmeister and Zubieta. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Model for Basic Emotions Using Observations of Behavior in Drosophila

Simeng Gu¹, Fushun Wang^{1,2*}, Nitesh P. Patel³, James A. Bourgeois^{3,4} and Jason H. Huang^{2,3*}

¹ Institute of Brain and Psychological Science, Sichuan Normal University, Chengdu, China, ² Department of Psychology, Jiangsu University, Zhenjiang, China, ³ College of Medicine, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, United States, ⁴ Department of Psychiatry, Baylor Scott & White Health, Dallas, TX, United States

Emotion plays a crucial role, both in general human experience and in psychiatric illnesses. Despite the importance of emotion, the relative lack of objective methodologies to scientifically studying emotional phenomena limits our current understanding and thereby calls for the development of novel methodologies, such us the study of illustrative animal models. Analysis of Drosophila and other insects has unlocked new opportunities to elucidate the behavioral phenotypes of fundamentally emotional phenomena. Here we propose an integrative model of basic emotions based on observations of this animal model. The basic emotions are internal states that are modulated by neuromodulators, and these internal states are externally expressed as certain stereotypical behaviors, such as instinct, which is proposed as ancient mechanisms of survival. There are four kinds of basic emotions: happiness, sadness, fear, and anger, which are differentially associated with three core affects: reward (happiness), punishment (sadness), and stress (fear and anger). These core affects are analogous to the three primary colors (red, yellow, and blue) in that they are combined in various proportions to result in more complex "higher order" emotions, such as love and aesthetic emotion. We refer to our proposed model of emotions as called the "Three Primary Color Model of Basic Emotions."

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Wenfeng Chen, Renmin University of China, China

Reviewed by:

Weiwen Wang, Chinese Academy of Sciences, China Leonid Perlovsky, Northeastern University, United States

*Correspondence:

Fushun Wang 13814541138@163.com Jason H. Huang Jason.Huang@bswealth.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 25 December 2018 Accepted: 21 March 2019 Published: 24 April 2019

Citation:

Gu S, Wang F, Patel NP, Bourgeois JA and Huang JH (2019) A Model for Basic Emotions Using Observations of Behavior in Drosophila. Front. Psychol. 10:781. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00781 Keywords: basic emotions, core affection, monoamine, evolution, instinct, emotion flow, Drosophila

INTRODUCTION

Emotions are fundamental to human life (Kvajo, 2016); when expressed pathologically, psychiatric disorders of emotional regulation, such as depressive and bipolar disorders, are leading causes of medical disability. Despite the importance of emotion in human health and illness, scientists struggle to reach consensus on the constructs underlying emotional phenomena and experiences (LeDoux, 1995; LeDoux J., 2012). In addition, controversy abounds over the definitions of emotion, the number of discrete, fundamental emotional states that exist, and the degree to which different emotions have distinct neurophysiological signatures (LeDoux, 1995; Damasio, 1997). Insects, such as *Drosophila*, offer animal models for studying the mechanisms of fundamental emotional processes (Anderson and Adolphs, 2014; Hoopfer, 2016; Shpigler et al., 2017). It is important to use the powerful analytical tools available in invertebrate model organisms to understand

101

the evolutionary origins and neurobiological underpinnings of emotions. Darwin (1876) found that insects use certain behaviors to express feelings homologous to human emotions, such as stridulation, which is the act of creating sounds by rubbing certain body parts together and can represent a range of various emotions in some insects. Darwin (1876) assumed that emotionassociated behavioral phenotypes are easily recognizable in many species, including insects (Anderson and Adolphs, 2014).

We have developed a theory of primary emotions using behavioral observations of Drosophila. Basic emotions are internal states induced by basical bodily changes, and can in turn induce genetically "hardwired" instinctual behaviors. They are highly conserved throughout evolution, and exhibit certain functional and adaptive properties that are shared across a wide phylogenetic range. For example, emotions such as fear and anger are thought to have evolved in response to fundamental life challenges and threats. Anderson and Adolphs (2014) suggested that these primary emotions (when combined) provide a framework for creating various types of secondary emotions, such that elements of primary emotions can be combined with the experience of other, higher order emotions that are more affected by specific learning and experience. Using this approach, primary emotions are observable in evolutionarily diverse organisms, allowing us to functionally "dissect" the mechanisms of the presumed associated internal emotional states and their externally manifest behaviors. There are many reports associating presumed fear and anger emotions with "fight or flight" behaviors in Drosophila (Kravitz and Fernandez, 2015). From analysis of these basic emotions and their associated behavioral phenotypes in animal models, we elucidate mechanisms of basic emotions in humans and propose to utilize this insight to define the mechanisms of disorders of emotional regulation.

EMOTION THEORIES

During the last century, the two most widely accepted theories in affect studies are basic emotion theory and dimensional theory. However, these two theories have been contradictory to each other, and have been described as being in a "100 years war" against each other (Lindquist et al., 2013; Barrett and Russell, 2015). The difference lies in whether emotions are characterized as discrete entities or an independent dimension (Bestelmeyer et al., 2017). Here we give an integrative theory in which we propose that these two theories not necessarily contradictory.

Basic Emotion Theory

Basic emotion theory has been very influential for more than half a century, providing inspiration for interventions in psychopathology (Saarimaki et al., 2016; Celeghin et al., 2017; Williams, 2017; Hutto et al., 2018; Song and Hakoda, 2018; Vetter et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018). Theories about basic emotions originated from ancient Greece and China (Russell, 2003). Current basic emotion theory started with Darwin (1872) and Ekman (2003), and later (Tomkins, 1962), subsequently followed by Ekman (1984), and Izard (1977), then by many current psychologists (Ortony and Turner, 1990; Panksepp, 2007; Scarantino and Griffiths, 2011; Gu et al., 2016, 2018; Saarimaki et al., 2016; Hutto et al., 2018). Basic emotion theory proposes that human beings have a limited number of emotions (e.g., fear, anger, joy, sadness) that are biologically and psychologically "basic" (Wilson-Mendenhall et al., 2013), each manifested in an organized recurring pattern of associated behavioral components (Ekman, 1992a; Russell, 2006). Izard (1977) argued that the basic emotions are preserved because their biological and social functions are essential in evolution and adaption; he further suggested that basic emotions have innate neural substrates and universal behavioral phenotypes (Shpigler et al., 2017). In a special issue of Emotion Review, several research psychologists outlined the latest thinking about each theoretical model of basic emotions (Plutchik, 1962; Ekman and Friesen, 1969; Ekman, 2003; Izard, 2010, 2011; Ekman and Cordaro, 2011; Levenson, 2011; Panksepp and Watt, 2011; Tracy and Randles, 2011).

Basic emotions evolved to handle fundamental life tasks, e.g., fear and anger can aid survival by influencing an organism to either flee for safety or fight to defend itself. The elements of basic emotions can be combined to form complex or compound emotions (Ekman, 1992b). Even though many psychologists have accepted the theory of basic emotions, there is no consensus about the precise number of basic emotions. Robert Plutchik proposed eight primary emotions: anger, fear, sadness, disgust, surprise, anticipation, trust and joy, and arranged them in a color wheel. Ekman proposed seven basic emotions: fear, anger, joy, sad, contempt, disgust, and surprise; but he changed to six basic emotions: fear, anger, joy, sadness, disgust, and surprise. However, a recent study found that disgust and anger shared similar wrinkled nose, and fear and surprise shared raised eyebrows (Jack et al., 2014). The differences between anger and disgust and the differences between fear and surprise, are thought to have developed later for social functions and not for survival per se (Mansourian et al., 2016). As such, Jack et al. (2014) proposed that we humans have four basic emotions: fear, anger, joy, and sad. Notably, other authors have also proposed fear, anger, joy, and sadness as four basic emotions (Gu et al., 2015, 2016; Wang and Pereira, 2016; Zheng et al., 2016). As Izard said: people need the category label of fear to explain flight to one another for safety, anger to explain the frustration of blocked goal responses, joy (or its equivalent) to explain the pride of achievement, and sadness to explain the experience of a life-changing loss (Izard, 2007).

Dimensional Theory of Emotion

Dimensional studies of emotions originated from Wundt (1897), later followed by Scholsberg (1954), who proposed that emotions can be defined by three-independent dimensions: pleasant-unpleasant, tension-relaxation, and excitation-calm. Later, many others found that the last two dimensions are actually overlapping. Ekman (1957) also proposed a pleasant-unpleasant and active-passive scale as sufficient to capture the difference among emotions. Then Russell's (1980) invented the circumplex, and proposed that all emotions can be arranged in a circle controlled by two independent dimensions: hedonic (pleasure-displeasure) and arousal (rest-activated) (**Figure 1**, left) (Russell, 1980; Russell and Barrett, 1999; Posner et al., 2005;



Barrett and Russell, 2015). The horizontal axis of the circumplex is hedonic and the vertical axis is arousal; accordingly, the different location of each emotion on the quadrant reflects varying amounts of hedonic and arousal properties (**Figure 1**; Posner et al., 2005).

Integration of Basic Emotion Theory and Dimensional Theory

Basic emotion approach differs from the dimensional approach in that the latter suggests that emotions are fundamentally the same, only differing in intensity or pleasantness (Ekman, 2003), while the former proposes that emotions are composed of limited number of basic emotions. Here we propose an integrative approach wherein basic emotions also differs in the intensity or pleasantness, like all other emotion. Therefore, basic emotion theory is not contradictory to dimensional theory. The dimensional approach proposes that every emotion has different amounts of hedonic and arousal value. The hedonic (pleasuredispleasure) and arousal (rest-activated) value, which can be called core affects (Russell, 2003; Barrett et al., 2007), are essential features of all emotions, including basic emotions (Gu et al., 2016). Therefore, basic emotions, like all other emotions can find their location in the circumplex.

The specificity of basic emotions on the circumplex is that they located on the axis of the dimensions, which might be the reason that they are "basic." Happiness and sadness are on the opposite sides of the horizontal dimension, implying that they are a reflection of the hedonic value of the stimulus and unrelated to the safety value (**Figure 1**, left). Fear and anger are on the vertical axis, implying they are based on the safety value of the stimulus and independent upon the hedonic value of the stimulus. Because of their special location, the basic emotions (fear or anger) have "0" amounts of hedonic value, and the basic emotion of joy or sadness has "0" amounts of safety value. Therefore, the reason for basic emotions being "special" lies in that they only represent only one core affect, because of their specific location. Thus, we introduce a prerequisite conditions for basic emotions: *Basic emotions should locate on the axis of the two emotional dimensions*. Emotions located on the axis of the dimensions are basic emotions, which might suggest that we have four basic emotions: fear-anger, joy, and sadness. Complex emotions can also find their locations on the quadrant, such as love or aesthetic emotions.

Factors Affecting the Locations of Emotion in the Dimensional Plane

Ekman (1992b) said all emotions differ in the stimulation events, appraisals, behavioral response, and physiological responses. The locations of all emotions on the dimensions can be defined by these factors. According to the appraisal theory, emotions are internal states which are activated by stimulation events. Every stimulation event has two features: whether it is fit for our needs (hedonic value), and whether it happens as expected (arousal) (Figure 1, right). These two features correspond to the two core affects: the hedonic value that represents a physiological need, and the safety value represents the way the stimulus happens (Wang and Pereira, 2016; Zheng et al., 2016). The two-dimensional coordinate plane or the core affects also represents these values of the stimulus: whether it happens as expected, and whether it is fit for our needs (Gu et al., 2016). Lazarus distinguished two kinds of appraisals at a stressful stimulation (Figure 1, right) (Izard, 1977). The first is automatic,

unconscious, fast-activating, is related to harm and threat, and induces fearful emotion to motivate avoidance and withdrawal, whereas the second appraisal (he named reappraisal) is conscious and associated with coping (Lazarus, 1999; Zheng et al., 2016). Fear and anger both result from unexpected stressful events, and while fear is associated with feelings of uncertainty, anger is associated with planning to cope with the stressful situation (**Figure 1**, right) (Moons et al., 2010). Ultimately, fear and anger depend on the manner the stimulation event occurs (Gu et al., 2016), or fear and anger are "twin" emotions, they are two sides of one coin (Gu et al., 2015), and they locate on the top of the vertical dimension.

The locations of emotions on the dimensional plane are also predicated by the behaviors they might induce. Emotion is an internal state, not a behavior (Baker, 2004). Emotion is a tendency of behavior (Roseman, 1984), because the emotion can be separated from the behavioral actions it induces. For example, we can block the actions associated with angry emotion. However, the emotion induced behaviors have two features: the direction and the tension of the behavior (LeDoux, 1998; LeDoux and Brown, 2017). These features can be reflected on the dimensions: hedonic value decides the approach/avoidance, the vertical dimensions decides the tension of the behavior (Wang and Pereira, 2016; Zheng et al., 2016). Thus, the locations of the emotions on the dimension can also be determined by the behaviors they might induce. Fear and anger can induce "flight or fight," which have opposite directions: fear is in the negative direction (Certel et al., 2010), while fight is in the positive direction. Analogously, joy and sadness can induce approaching or avoidance, respectively (Arnott and Elwood, 2009).

Therefore, like what Lazard suggested, in face of a stressful situation, the individual will collect energy to cope with the situation with "fear or anger" emotions, and induce "fight or flight" actions. After coping with the situation, the individual will have an opportunity for reappraisal, which Lazarus named as emotion-focused coping (Izard, 1977). If the individual have successfully coped with the stressful situation, he/she will feel happy; otherwise, he will feel sad (Aldwin, 1994; Lazarus, 1999). Therefore, Frijida said, sadness is acceptance of the failure, without more efforts to fight (Frijda, 1986). In all, the two dimensions of emotions not only represent the two different feature of a stimulus (hedonic value and safety value), but also represent two features of the behaviors they induced: direction (approach or avoidance) and activation.

EVOLUTIONARY ASPECTS OF BASIC EMOTION

Human emotions are poorly understood even though there is a long venerable tradition of research directly at understanding them. One problem is that physiologists and psychologists who study emotions do not necessarily look at emotion enough from an evolutionary standpoint (Ramachandran and Jalal, 2017). This is unfortunate because as Dobzhansky famously said, "Nothing in biology makes any sense except in the light of evolution" (Ramachandran and Jalal, 2017). However, comparative psychologists have also struggled with the problem of emotion because emotions cannot be directly observed or measured, and we have no access to the animals' subjective experiences (Ramachandran and Jalal, 2017). Human being and some other animals (such as primates) can consciously know the subjective feelings (Kamitani and Tong, 2005; Kuppens et al., 2013); but other animals, who have no power of self-observation and cannot consciously know their internal states; they still have emotions (Perlovsky, 2016a). For the invertebrate animals, an emotion is just an internal state, which includes the need, drive, or tendency to a kind of behavior (Mesquita and Frijda, 2011).

We can only study emotions in the invertebrate animals depending on the animal's behavior and physiology-emotional expression (Cosmides and John, 1995). Darwin (1872) was first to study the animal behaviors for emotions, and he suggested that even insects use certain behaviors to express feelings homologous to human emotions. In order to survive, animals need to sense their environment, evaluate the surrounding stimuli with their internal needs, and initiate appropriate behavioral responses (Kaun and Rothenfluh, 2017). Evolutionarily, emotional behaviors should first have direct survival value that was honed by natural selection, and these behaviors are adaptive responses to the environment that increase the chances of survival (John and Leda, 1990; Cosmides and John, 1995). The basic emotions were selected through evolution in order to promote the survivability of the species in their specific primitive environment (LeDoux J.E., 2012). Therefore, the basic emotion related behaviors are the naturally born instinct behaviors, which are evolutionarily adaptive (Ramachandran and Jalal, 2017). In addition, these basic emotion related behaviors are manifested as stereotypical behavioral phenotypes.

Basic Emotions Are Related to Instincts

Basic emotions are thought to be universal as they are related to the most basic needs of the body, or the bodily instinctual needs (Schoeller et al., 2018). These few emotions constitute the most ancient and noticeable emotions, while other emotions (complex emotions), such as aesthetic emotions, are related to higher needs of our human experiences (Perlovsky, 2012). Grossberg and Levine, 1987 proposed a famous theory about instinct, which considers that the instinct resembles "neural sensors that measure vital parameters important for survival" (Grossberg et al., 1987; Perlovsky, 2016c), "for example, a low blood glucose level specifies an instinctual need for food" (Schoeller et al., 2018). Therefore measurement of glucose level is a kind of neural sensor. Grossberg and Levine theory proposed that emotions are the neural signals that connect instinctual sensor with the conscious brain, to make the instinctual needs to be consciously known to the brain, to make the instinct conceptually recognized-understood (Fontanari et al., 2012). William James also proposed that feelings are derived from sensing the body states (Damasio and Carvalho, 2013). Therefore, emotion is a kind of internal neural activity, whose major function is to sense the bodily needs, and then motivates behaviors depending on the external stimulus (Schoeller et al., 2018). Therefore basic emotions indicate satisfaction of instincts (Fontanari et al., 2012).

Remarkably, studies in *Drosophila* confirmed these hypothesis. Recent studies reveal that a small number of specialized central brain neurons in *Drosophila* brain directly sense specific circulating macronutrients (Pool et al., 2014), monitor systemic energy balance and alter feeding probability based on internal nutritional state (Pool and Scott, 2014). In addition to internal nutrient sensors, the flies can distinguish sugars based solely on caloric content in the absence of sweet taste detection (Dus et al., 2011). Furthermore, there is accumulating evidence that all animals have the central sensors to directly detect the levels of circulating carbohydrates and amino acids (Hao et al., 2005; Domingos et al., 2013). These studies thus identify central brain mechanisms that sense availability of specific nutrients, convert it to a change in neuromodulator output, and promote or inhibit feeding (Pool and Scott, 2014).

The basic emotions are evoked by sensing the basic bodily instinctual needs, while the "complex" emotions, including love, aesthetic emotions are evoked by higher cognitive needs of human being. In Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs, physiological needs and safety needs might be directly related to basic emotions, while the other needs, such as the need for love, esteem and self-actualization, are related to feelings such as aesthetic emotions (Zheng et al., 2016). Kant (1951) said aesthetic emotions are related to need of knowledge in human being. Perlovsky also proposed that human beings have the special need for knowledge, which was named "knowledge instinct." Aesthetic emotions are related to the knowledge needs, are related to learning, or understanding, and they are shown in many fields, such as mathematics, music, or even language (Perlovsky, 2015; Schoeller and Perlovsky, 2016). Aesthetic emotions can also be seen in creativity, and they are also related the NE and DA neuromodulator (Gu et al., 2018). In all, the emotions are evoked by these sensing for bodily needs, and underlined by the neuromodulator release, and will promote some behaviors.

Basic Emotions Are Primitive

Basic emotions are basic due to the fact that they fit for primary life needs, and are developed early phylogenetically and ontogenetically (Ekman, 2003). The idea that invertebrates exhibit basic forms of emotions is increasingly accepted (Arnott and Elwood, 2009). Animals spend a significant amount of time seeking and selecting food for eat, while striving to avoid being eaten (John and Leda, 1990; Cosmides and John, 1995). These two forms of needs, which can be called hedonic and safety values, are two equally important, independent needs (Zheng et al., 2016). In Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs, physiological needs were proposed to be superior to safety needs, with the idea that safety needs emerge only once physiological needs are satisfied (Maslow, 1948). However, an animal will not eat in a dangerous situation since the primary objective in such situations is assurance of safety (Zheng et al., 2016). Wild animals navigating the rich environments will face complicated situations with many uncertainties; accordingly, the evolution of an adaptive mechanism to first perform a safety check of the surroundings is critically important for its survival (Gu et al., 2016; Zheng et al., 2016). Maslow (1948) also said that "practically everything looks less important than safety, even sometimes the physiological

needs which being satisfied, are now underestimated. A man may be characterized as living almost for safety alone" (Maslow, 1948). Therefore, in our previous paper, we proposed that safety needs might be more basic (Zheng et al., 2016). Anyway, *physiological needs and safety needs represent two equally important dimensions of human needs, which are independent from each other*. Darwin said "the fear emotion does not depend on experiences; instead it depends absolutely on heritage." Exposure of laboratory rodents to a predator, such as a cat, elicits defensive behaviors even if they have never been exposed to cats before; therefore, such behaviors appear to be innate and not experiential, as Darwin posited. The *fear emotion might be the most crucial emotion* for survival via eliciting defensive responses, such as fighting, and thus has been preserved throughout evolution (Olsson and Phelps, 2007).

Basic Emotions Manifest as Stereotypical Behavioral Phenotypes

Emotion is a kind of internal drive, which can exert a powerful effect on behavioral choice (Pereira and Murthy, 2017). Basic emotion related internal drive can induce behaviors that are supported by genetically hardwired neural circuits and are critical for animals' survival. Several major categories of innate behavior, such as feeding, reproduction, aggression, and sleep, are observed across animal species. As hierarchical systems comprised of behavioral subprograms, innate behaviors are not only robust but can also fluctuate in intensity and adapt to an organism's internal and external contexts (Kim et al., 2017). Fear is an important hereditary gift that aids survival by protecting against dangerous situations (Becker, 1997). All animals have specific behaviors to defend against predators, and Darwin found that "even insects express fear, anger, jealousy and love, by their stridulation" (Darwin, 1998). At stressful situation, emotion anger develops after fear emotion disappear, and manifests as fighting to cope with stressful situations, which can be easily observed in invertebrates. For example, the stings of bees, spiders, flies, ants, and scorpions are powerful tools to protect the organisms from predators. In addition, fighting also serves in the acquisition and defense of vital resources, such as food, shelter, or access to mates, such as what Sturtevant reported the fighting behavior in Drosophila (Chen et al., 2002). In stressful situations in which two males are courting the same female, he wrote "in such cases they (males) may be seen to spread their wings, run at each other, and apparently butt heads. One of them soon gives up and runs away. If the other then runs at him again within the next few minutes he usually makes off without showing fight" (Chen et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2018). Although it is difficult to determine whether fighting behaviors in insects are manifestations of an internal emotional state of anger like in humans, the function of fighting behaviors of invertebrates is very similar to the defensive behaviors of mammals; e.g., biting, clawing, hissing, and arching the back are fighting behaviors by which mammals threaten dangers away. Furthermore, like mammals, emotions in invertebrates are transient internal states, such that anger in insects manifests after fear to cope with the stressful situation (Zheng et al., 2016). It is necessary for survival even in Drosophila, and fight-or-flight behaviors can be easily seen in Drosophila,

the flies are ready to fight with wings up for threat at a stressful situation, and after a series of stereotypical fighting behaviors one fly admits failure and fly away (Darwin, 1872).

Basic Emotions Gain New Meanings Throughout Evolution

Despite the universal nature of basic emotions, new behaviors of emotions have emerged via evolution (Ekman, 1992b). Some emotion related behaviors might be learned, e.g., the stressrelated emotions of fear and anger have also got new meanings over time. While the original meaning of fear entails lifethreatening situations with fight or flight behaviors in response to predators, new meanings of fear are generalized to any situations that occur unexpectedly. In addition the original meaning of happiness is associated with pleasurable feelings and generates approach and consummator behaviors, eventually leading to behavioral reinforcement (Schultz et al., 1997), the new meaning of happiness also gained new meanings through evolution: whether the organism is able to cope successfully (Yurkovic et al., 2006).

Consistently, the neuromodulator dopamine (DA), is known to mediate unconditioned pleasure and reward from food, sex, and drugs, but recent findings suggest that DA is also involved in the anticipatory, preparatory, approach, and coping phases of reward behavior (Schultz et al., 1997; Sandoval and Seeley, 2017). This is consistent with Lazarus's reappraisal theory about happiness and sadness, which posits that happy and sad emotions are related to the success or failure of coping with stressful situations, respectively (Lazarus, 1999). The happiness in insects parallels that of mammals in several aspects. In Drosophila, happy emotion is expressed as locomotive activity (Mansourian et al., 2016; Wang and Sokolowski, 2017), which also happens after successful coping. Depending on studies in Drosophila, Kim et al. (2018) proposed that winning is perceived as rewarding, while losing is aversive. Presentation of food promotes a state of elevated locomotive activity, which can be controlled by DA. Furthermore, during courtship, males extend their wings horizontally and vibrate them to generate a "song" that attracts females, and the optogenetic activation of specific brain interneurons that control the courtship song can lead to persistent singing for several minutes (Dickson, 2008; von Philipsborn et al., 2011; Inagaki et al., 2014). In contrast, Drosophila raise their wings vertically into the "wing-threat" position during antagonistic interactions with conspecific males, and after a series of stereotypical defensive behaviors, one fly lowers its wings to admit failure and retreats (Chen et al., 2002).

BIOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF EMOTIONS

Given that basic emotions evolved to handle fundamental life tasks, it would follow that there must be biological patterns that drive each emotion. Ekman (1992b) proposed that basic emotions have many characteristics that distinguish one emotion from another, such as universal signals, distinctive physiology, and automatic appraisal influenced by both ontogenetic and phylogenetic past. Therefore, basic emotions not only provide information through behavioral expression to conspecifics, but specific biological changes prepare the organism to respond differently to various states of emotion. However, many studies using fMRI failed to get consistent results about specific neural basis for specific basic emotions (Lindquist et al., 2012), which lead to many psychologists try to give up the basic emotion theory (Lindquist et al., 2013; Barrett and Russell, 2015). Here we review basic emotions in Drosophila, whose brain structure are totally different from that of humans, but the neuromodulator are similar among all these animals. Numerous studies have pointed to an important role for neuromodulators (e.g., DA, 5-HT, and NE) in emotional process (Pereira and Murthy, 2017). Neuromodulators are believed to control the internal states related to emotions, mood, and affects, and exert critical influences on emotion related behaviors (Watanabe et al., 2017). Therefore, we propose that emotion is an internal state, whose neural substrate is the neuromodulator (Kim et al., 2018). For example, norepinephrine is a potent modulator of brain-wide states such as arousal (Suver et al., 2012; Pereira and Murthy, 2017).

Neural Basis for Basic Emotions

Insects lack homologs of vertebrate forebrain structures involved in emotional processing, such as the nucleus accumbens (NAc), prefrontal cortex (PFC), amygdala, and hippocampus; however, insects have evolved structures such as the mushroom body and central complex that show many functional and anatomical similarities to the mammalian structures that mediate basic emotions (Lin A.C. et al., 2014; Lin S. et al., 2014). The monoamine system in invertebrates (Klemm et al., 1985) and non-mammalian vertebrates (Perry and Capaldo, 2011) has been implicated in stress by numerous studies. Comparative anatomical studies of the neurons releasing OA, DA, and 5-HT have shown striking similarities among different insect species (Konings et al., 1988; Dacks et al., 2005) and point to a stereotypic pattern of neurons that are widely distributed in the central nervous system (CNS) of flies. In Drosophila brain, there are about 100 octopaminergic neurons (Sinakevitch et al., 2005), which can be divided into two kinds of neurons: interneurons and efferent neurons. The efferent neurons project diffusely to almost all the neuropil structure in the brain (Sinakevitch et al., 2005). Like the NE in vertebrates, the counterpart of OA, some octopaminergic neurons have been prove to be implicated in aggression (Ramirez and Pearson, 1991; Schroter et al., 2007; Andrews et al., 2014). Similarly, there are approximately 40 5-HT neurons in the Drosophila brain, whose innervations are spread around the feeding apparatus and also the ring gland (Sitaraman et al., 2008). On the contrary, the dopaminergic neurons project to the mushroom bodies to control behaviors (Figure 2; Zhang et al., 2007). Similar to 5-HT, DA neurons are interneurons, which connect different regions of neuropil. DA neurons show hydroxylase-immunoreactivity, and locate in the central body, anterior protocerebrum and other scattered region (Han et al., 1996). A cluster of approximately 130 dopaminergic neurons that innervate the horizontal lobes of the mushroom body was implicated sugar reward (Burke et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2012; Figure 2).



FIGURE 2 DA cells in the *Drosophila* brain. An anterior view of DA neurons in the *Drosophila* brain. Labeling of DA cells and processes was achieved by a tyrosine-hydroxylase enhancer trap driving expression of green fluorescent protein (White et al., 2010), Scale bar, 100 μ m (courtesy of Dr. Frank Hirth, King's College London).

Norepinephrine – Stress

The norepinephrine system of mammals influences various aspects of the animal's life, including *Drosophila*, and they can modulate a variety of physiological processes and behaviors in response to stress. Stressful stimuli induce a metabolic and behavioral adaptation, leading to enhanced energy supply, increased muscle performance, increased sensory perception and a matched behavior. This so-called "fight or flight" response can be seen in both vertebrates and invertebrates. Cannon said: "The highest level of modulatory monoamine input occurs during "fight or flight" behavioral situations."

Fighting is a primitive behavior and is regarded as one of the fundamental instincts behind innate animal behaviors by Konrad Lorenz and Nikolaas Tinbergen, the founders of modern neuroethology (Asahina, 2017). Fighting in Drosophila offers a unique opportunity for studying basic emotions because of its stereotypical actions and its easily identified genetic resources. The fighting behavior in Drosophila is activated by pheromones and internal states, such as hunger. Drosophila recognizes the sex, species and even the food quality by chemosensation (Wang et al., 2011; Clowney et al., 2015). For example, 11cis-vaccenyl acetate is a specific male odor chemical, and has been shown to be involved in male-male fighting (Wang and Anderson, 2010; Liu et al., 2011). The yeast smell which might signify food quality can induce female aggression (Ueda et al., 2002; Nelson and Trainor, 2007; Asahina et al., 2014). Even though these cues can induce fighting, the internal status of the animals can affect the fighting too, for example, prior defeat can reduce fighting behavior in many animal species (Penn et al., 2010; Hammels et al., 2015). In addition to past fighting experience, fighting behavior can also be influenced by the outcome of other behaviors, including recent mating success, hunger levels, and sleepiness. For example, recent mating experience can increase fighting tendency (Yuan et al., 2014), whereas sleep deprivation can decrease the frequency of fighting (Kayser et al., 2015). Lorenz already found the importance of internal states in fighting and suggested that fighting threshold can be lowered by an aggressive drive (anger) (Asahina, 2017).

It might be due the fact that increase octopamine can modulate the flight-or-fight response by affecting

chemosensation responses (Stevenson et al., 2005; Ramdya et al., 2015). Amines like dopamine, tyramine, octopamine, and serotonin, were among the first molecules to be implicated in Drosophila aggression, in large part because previous studies in lobsters and crickets suggested strongly that monoamine neuromodulators affect aggression (Asahina, 2017). It has been well-known that the function of NE system is to induce fight-or-flight behaviors and serve to help the organism cope with dangerous environment (Zheng et al., 2016). Following exposure to a threat, NE is released from sympathetic nervous system to the blood, and directly affects the heart rate, and triggers the glucose release. NE is also released from locus coeruleus in the central nervous system. LC neurons project very profusely to most regions of the brain, and can influence the whole brain (Yurkovic et al., 2006). Octopamine (OA) in insects is a neuroactive substance that has a chemical structure that closely resembles NE and can function as a neurohormone for basic emotion (Arnott and Elwood, 2009; Lovheim, 2012; Asahina, 2017). The activity of octopaminergic neurons was initially discovered in octopus's salivary glands, and has since been shown to mediate stress-response in many invertebrate (Sinakevitch et al., 2005; Stevenson et al., 2005; Burke et al., 2012). In addition, OA has been shown to be involved in fighting and also in elevated flight in crickets (Gammie et al., 2005; Stevenson et al., 2005; Asahina, 2017). In male Drosophila, octopamine is necessary to maintain levels of aggression (Zhou et al., 2008). A null mutation in the gene that encodes tyramine- β -hydroxylase $(T\beta H)$, which catalyzes the OA synthesis, can significantly reduce fighting and aggression (Andrews et al., 2014; Asahina, 2017), which suggest its role in maintenance of fighting (Andrews et al., 2014). Even though activation of octopaminergic neurons or exogenous administration of octopamine, the invertebrate counterpart of noradrenaline can activate aggression (Schretter et al., 2018), whether an octopaminergic signal is sufficient to elevate levels of aggression remains unclear. For example, even though OA plays a role in fighting or aggression, artificially administering OA or an OA-agonist results in mixed effects on aggression (Hoyer et al., 2008; Kayser et al., 2015). In addition, overexpression of T_βH does not increase fighting (Hoyer et al., 2008), instead it induced conflicting outcomes (Certel et al., 2010; Kayser et al., 2015). This might be due the fact that OA and NE systems are the substrates for both fear and anger, or fight and flight behaviors. OA-dependent modulation of organs and tissues is mainly elicited through muscle action, especially in terms of its impact on the "fight or flight" response. Flight is also an important and critical behavior in flying insects. Here the "flight" means flying away, instead of the normal "fly." Neuromodulation of insect "flight" has thus far been attributed primarily to biogenic amines (Brembs et al., 2007). However, there are few studies in Drosophila about the "flight" behavior (Shen, 2012). However, studies about the innervation pattern in the periphery also support the idea that the OA/TA system is crucial for insects to switch from a dormant to an excited state, by a positive modulation of muscle activity, heart rate, and energy supply, and a simultaneous negative modulation of physiological processes like sleep (Agrawal and Hasan, 2015; Pathak et al., 2105; Pauls et al., 2018).
Dopamine - Reward

Octopamine was historically considered to be the signal for reward in insects, only recently has dopamine been linked to motivated behavior and rewarding reinforcement in fruit flies (Burke et al., 2012). The hedonic hypothesis of DA was first proposed by Wise and posits that DA in the brain plays a critical role in the subjective pleasure associated with positive reward and that a reduction in DA results in a loss of pleasure (Bozarth and Wise, 1980; Gu et al., 2016). Afterward, many studies have proved the role of DA in reward signaling (Dougherty et al., 1999; Matthews et al., 2016), notably many pharmacological and behavioral studies have confirmed the important role of medial prefrontal DA system in reward behaviors (Keleman et al., 2012). In addition, studies of the mechanisms of some drugs of abuse also support the role of DA in reward system by increasing presynaptic release of DA and inhibiting DA reuptake, such as cocaine and amphetamine (Narita et al., 2008; Del Campo et al., 2011). In contrast, decreased striatum DA responses were reported in detoxified cocaine abusers. Together, these studies suggest an involvement of DA neurotransmission in the reward process (Matsumoto et al., 2016), and this hypothesis has significantly impacted theories of drug addiction, and motivation since it was first introduced.

However, recent DA studies have opened this theory to reexamination (Berridge and Kringelbach, 2015). The incentive salience hypothesis has recently been accepted, which suggests that the major function of DA is anticipatory, preparatory, approach, instead of unconditioned pleasures from food, sex, or drugs (Schultz et al., 1997; Sandoval and Seeley, 2017). Therefore, Hailan Hu proposed that happiness = reward minus predicted reward (Dickson, 2008; Hu, 2016; Matsumoto et al., 2016), which means surprise can enhance happiness (Lazarus, 1999). Similar in Drosophila, OA (surprise) was thought to be involved in reward in insects (Burke et al., 2012), including Drosophila (Zhang et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2017). It is found that OA can trigger activation of dopaminergic neurons (Burke et al., 2012; Kahnt et al., 2012). Analysis of the β -adrenergic-like OCT $\beta_2 R$ receptor suggest that this OA-dependent reinforcement requires an interaction with dopaminergic neurons that control appetitive motivation (Burke et al., 2012; Kahnt et al., 2012). These evidence suggests clear roles for DA in reward-related processes in invertebrates (Ma et al., 2016), including motivation behavior and nutritional valuation of reward (Arnott and Elwood, 2009).

Historically, DA has been suggested to be most prominently associated with reward and punishment (Liu et al., 2012), recent findings from *Drosophila* confirmed all these functions, as well as additional roles in the interplay between external sensation and internal states (Burke et al., 2012; Kaun and Rothenfluh, 2017). It is believed that drug addiction is due to the mechanism of drugs of abuse "hijacking" the dopaminergic "reward" circuit and thus these artificial rewards reinforce associated behaviors. Recent complicating dopaminergic involvement in addiction has been proved to modulate internal state of the animals (Kim et al., 2017). Many drugs of abuse, such as alcohol stimulate locomotion, can induce *Drosophila* hyperlocomotion, and PPM3 DA neurons in mushroom body has been suggested to be involved in changing the activity and arousal states of the flies (Kim et al., 2017). Different kinds of drugs with different stimulation salience can induce different dopaminergic activity in distinct DA neurons in the mushroom body.

Serotonin – Punishment

Although DA release mediates reward, inhibition of DA should induce punishment. However, evolution created a separate process for punishment, and while it may seem redundant, 5-HT has been known to play a critical role in punishment. It is found that approximately 90% of 5-HT is secreted by gut chromaffin cells in response to noxious food, thus inducing vomiting or diarrhea (Beyeler, 2016; Zheng et al., 2016). Some plants exploit this function of 5-HT by expediting passage of seed through the digestive system. In addition, some animals such as scorpion and wasp stings also use 5-HT to induce pain (Gu et al., 2016). Aversion is separated from reward in the evolutionarily lower animals (Beyeler, 2016). The nematode, Caenorhabditis elegans, can also be infected by pathogenic bacteria, even though it feeds on bacteria. Indeed, exposure to pathogenic bacteria can enhance the 5-HT release, which can induce negative reinforcing reflex in C. elegans. However, the function of 5-HT gets more complicated during evolution, for example, it is found that some 5-HT neurons are involved in the positive rewarding process (Liu et al., 2012; Ries et al., 2017). It is found that some 5-HT neurons in dorsal raphe nucleus fire consistently during acquisition of a variety of rewards, including sex (Isosaka et al., 2015). Some studies reported a correlation between 5-HT level and positive emotions in rodents (Kvajo, 2016). Therefore, it might be too complicated to differentiate the functions of DA and 5-HT in such highly evolutionary creatures such as mammals and human beings. As such, Drosophila offered a very good model to test the functions of DA or 5-HT in positive or aversive reinforcement (Zhang et al., 2016).

The emotions are internal states evoked by sensing for bodily instinctual needs, and underlined by neuromodulator release, and will promote some behaviors. In mammals, these neuromodulators are primarily monoamines, which are highly interconnected with a network of modulators and transmitters important for complex behaviors. Neuropeptides and monoamines are very often expressed in combination with each other and with neurotransmitters. Possible interactions between neuromodulators and neurotransmitters are interesting and important issues. A dozen neuromodulator systems in Drosophila have been implicated to date in basic emotion, including serotonin, octopamine, acetylcholine, glutamate, and GABA, and many neuropeptides, and many of these neuromodulator systems appear to be functionally conserved throughout evolution, including orthodox for mammalian peptidergic signals tachykinin, cholecystokinin, neuropeptide Y, Neuromedin U and insulin (Pool and Scott, 2014). However, work in Drosophila suggests that the rewarding drives are majorly gated through DA neurons, or DA plays a central role in creating the motivational drive underlying many behaviors (Kim et al., 2017). In male flies, dopaminergic neurons of the ventral nerve cord promote persistent copulation, and a subset of dopaminergic neurons innervating the mushroom



body is required for persistent courtship. Similarly, even neuropeptide are shown to affect *Drosophila* aggression, such as neuropeptide F, a functional homolog of vertebrate neuropeptide Y. However, NPF-expressing neurons seem to play a more general role in modulating male behavioral patterns when potential competitors are present (Asahina, 2017). Unlike octopamine, which is clearly an important neuromodulator for aggression, NPF has also been regarded as neuromodulator of feeding behavior across animal species, and activation of NPF signaling mimics the hunger states. In addition, there is no specific population of NPF expression neurons, unlike the neurons for three monoamines (Asahina, 2017; Ryglewski et al., 2017).

Therefore, we propose that the monoamine neuromodulators underlie the three core affects of basic emotions; specifically, NE is related to the fight-or-flight responses at stressful events, DA is involved in reward, and 5-HT is related to punishment (**Figure 3**). Consistently, a paper in PNAS proposed that the use of *Drosophila* as a model for circuit dissection of internal states can promote behavioral changes associated with winning or losing after coping: Winning is perceived as rewarding, while losing is aversive (Kim et al., 2018).

CONCLUSION

In this review, we propose a framework for the evolutionary study of emotions based on behavioral observations of *Drosophila*. From analysis of molecules and neural systems to observational study of behaviors and social functions, the *Drosophila* model is a powerful tool to understand the evolutionary origin and neurobiological underpinnings of emotions (Anderson, 2016; Kim et al., 2018). The brain structure of *Drosophila* are totally different from that of humans, but they have similar neuromodulators and innate states (Kim et al., 2018). Numerous studies have pointed to an important role for neuromodulators (e.g., DA, 5-HT, and NE) in the emotional process (Pereira and Murthy, 2017). Neuromodulators are believed to control the internal states related to emotions, mood, and affects, and exert critical influences on emotion related behaviors (Watanabe et al., 2017).

Emotion Is an Innate State, Whose Neural Substrate Is the Neuromodulator Release

We demonstrated that basic emotions are primitive, internal states that have gained new meanings and new external behavioral expression via evolution in order to meet organisms' biological, social, and functional needs (Ekman, 1992b; Anderson and Adolphs, 2014). Reward, punishment, and stress are the three most primitive features of the four basic emotions (happiness, sadness, fear, anger) and are driven by the three monoamine neuromodulators (DA-reward, 5-HT-punishment, NE-stress). These three monoamines are not only the substrates for the four basic emotions, but we posit that these monoamines combine in varying degrees to ultimately create various higher order emotions, much like the way different colors can be created from the three primary colors; we call this the "Three Primary Color Model of Basic Emotions."

This paper establishes a new theory of emotion. A scientific theory in psychology, similar to those in physics, is its elegance and beauty in describing a vast area of knowledge from few basic principles, or use few fundamental principles to describe a vast area of knowledge (Perlovsky, 2016b). Traditional psychology is a "soft" science that does not develop models of the mind based on few principles, describing vast areas of knowledge, and making experimentally verifiable predictions (Perlovsky, 2016b). Here we introduced the very simple model for basic emotions, a very simple theory about emotions. It might be an oversimplification to categorize monoamine simply as an aggression-promoting neuromodulator, but we hope our hypothesis can help understand the basic emotion theory. For validation, detailed studies of the specific behavioral expressions of states of relative excess or deficit of the neurotransmitters 5-HT, NE, and DA may offer confirmatory observations supporting this model of emotions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FW and SG designed the manuscript. FW, JB, and JH wrote the manuscript. NP revised the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by a grant from Foundation of Humanities and Social Science in Ministry of Education in China (FW, 19YJAZH083).

REFERENCES

- Agrawal, T., and Hasan, G. (2015). Maturation of a central brain flight circuit in Drosophila requires Fz2/Ca(2)(+) signaling. *eLife* 2015:4. doi: 10.7554/eLife. 07046
- Aldwin, C. M. (1994). Stress, Coping, and Development. New York, NY: Guildford Press.
- Anderson, D., and Adolphs, R. (2014). A framework for studying emotions across phylogeny. *Cell* 157, 187–200. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.003
- Anderson, D. J. (2016). Circuit modules linking internal states and social behaviour in flies and mice. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 17, 692–704. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2016.125
- Andrews, J. C., Fernandez, M. P., Yu, Q., Leary, G. P., Leung, A. K., Kavanaugh, M. P., et al. (2014). Octopamine neuromodulation regulates Gr32alinked aggression and courtship pathways in Drosophila males. *PLoS Genet*. 10:e1004356. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1004356
- Arnott, G., and Elwood, R. (2009). Probing aggressive motivation in a cichilid fish. *Biol. Lett.* 5, 762–764. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2009.0526
- Asahina, K. (2017). Neuromodulation and strategic action choice in drosophila aggression. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 40, 51–75. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-072116-031240
- Asahina, K., Watanabe, K., Duistermars, B. J., Hoopfer, E., Gonzalez, C. R., Eyjolfsdottir, E. A., et al. (2014). Tachykinin-expressing neurons control malespecific aggressive arousal in Drosophila. *Cell* 156, 221–235. doi: 10.1016/j.cell. 2013.11.045
- Baker, C. (2004). Behavioral Genetics: An Introduction to how Genes and Environments Interact Through Development to Shape Differences in Mood, Personality, and Intelligence. Washington DC: American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- Barrett, L., Mesquita, B., Ochsner, K., and Gross, J. (2007). The experience of emotion. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 58, 373–403. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.58. 110405.085709
- Barrett, L., and Russell, J. (2015). *They Psychological Construction of Emotion*. New York: NY: Guildofrd Press.
- Becker, G. (1997). The Gift of Fear: Survival Signals that Protect us from Violence. Boston, MA: Dell Publishing.
- Berridge, K. C., and Kringelbach, M. L. (2015). Pleasure systems in the brain. *Neuron* 86, 646–664. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.02.018
- Bestelmeyer, P. E. G., Kotz, S. A., and Belin, P. (2017). Effects of emotional valence and arousal on the voice perception network. *Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci.* 12, 1351–1358. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsx059
- Beyeler, A. (2016). Parsing reward from aversion. Science 354:558. doi: 10.1126/ science.aak9762
- Bozarth, M. A., and Wise, R. A. (1980). Electrolytic microinfusion transducer system: an alternative method of intracranial drug application. J. Neurosci. Methods 2, 273–275. doi: 10.1016/0165-0270(80)90016-3
- Brembs, B., Christiansen, F., Pfluger, H. J., and Duch, C. (2007). Flight initiation and maintenance deficits in flies with genetically altered biogenic amine levels. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 11122–11131. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2704-07.2007
- Burke, C. J., Huetteroth, W., Owald, D., Perisse, E., Krashes, M. J., Das, G., et al. (2012). Layered reward signalling through octopamine and dopamine in Drosophila. *Nature* 492, 433–437. doi: 10.1038/nature11614
- Celeghin, A., Diano, M., Bagnis, A., Viola, M., and Tamietto, M. (2017). Basic emotions in human neuroscience: neuroimaging and beyond. *Front. Psychol.* 8:1432. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01432
- Certel, S. J., Leung, A., Lin, C. Y., Perez, P., Chiang, A. S., and Kravitz, E. A. (2010). Octopamine neuromodulatory effects on a social behavior decisionmaking network in Drosophila males. *PLoS One* 5:e13248. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0013248
- Chen, S., Lee, A., Bowens, N., HUber, R., and AKravitz, E. (2002). Fighting fruit flies: a model system for the study of aggression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 5664–5668. doi: 10.1073/pnas.082102599
- Clowney, E. J., Iguchi, S., Bussell, J. J., Scheer, E., and Ruta, V. (2015). Multimodal chemosensory circuits controlling male courtship in drosophila. *Neuron* 87, 1036–1049. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.07.025
- Cosmides, L., and John, T. (1995). From Evolution to Adaptations to Behaviors: Toward an Integrated Evolutionary Psychology. Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Dacks, A. M., Christensen, T. A., Agricola, H. J., Wollweber, L., and Hildebrand, J. G. (2005). Octopamine-immunoreactive neurons in the brain

and subesophageal ganglion of the hawkmoth Manduca sexta. J. Comp. Neurol. 488, 255–268. doi: 10.1002/cne.20556

- Damasio, A., and Carvalho, G. B. (2013). The nature of feelings: evolutionary and neurobiological origins. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 14, 143–152. doi: 10.1038/nrn3403
- Damasio, A. R. (1997). Neuropsychology, towards a neuropathology of emotions and mood. *Nature* 386, 769–770. doi: 10.1038/386769a0
- Darwin, C. (1872). The Expression of Emotion in Man and Animals. Oxford: Oxford Press. doi: 10.1037/10001-000
- Darwin, C. (1876). *The Descent of Man, and Selection in Relation to Sex*. New York, NY: D. Appleton and Company.
- Darwin, C. (1998). *The Expression of the Emotions in Man and Animals*, 3rd Edn. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Del Campo, N., Chamberlain, S. R., Sahakian, B. J., and Robbins, T. W. (2011). The roles of dopamine and noradrenaline in the pathophysiology and treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, e145–e157. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.02.036
- Dickson, B. (2008). Wired for sex: the neurogiology of drosophila mating decisions. *Science* 322, 904–909. doi: 10.1126/science.1159276
- Domingos, A. I., Sordillo, A., Dietrich, M. O., Liu, Z. W., Tellez, L. A., Vaynshteyn, J., et al. (2013). Hypothalamic melanin concentrating hormone neurons communicate the nutrient value of sugar. *eLife* 2:e01462. doi: 10.7554/ eLife.01462
- Dougherty, D. D., Bonab, A. A., Spencer, T. J., Rauch, S. L., Madras, B. K., and Fischman, A. J. (1999). Dopamine transporter density in patients with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Lancet* 354, 2132–2133. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(99)04030-1
- Dus, M., Min, S., Keene, A. C., Lee, G. Y., and Suh, G. S. (2011). Taste-independent detection of the caloric content of sugar in Drosophila. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 108, 11644–11649. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1017096108
- Ekman, P. (1957). A methodological discussion of nonverbal behavior. J. Psychol. 43, 141–149. doi: 10.1080/00223980.1957.9713059
- Ekman, P. (1984). "Expression and the nature of emotion," in *Approaches to Emotion*, eds K. Scherer and P. Ekman (Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum).
- Ekman, P. (1992a). An arugment for basic emotions. Cogn. Emot. 6, 169–200. doi: 10.1080/02699939208411068
- Ekman, P. (1992b). Are there basic emotions? *Psychol. Rev.* 99, 550–553. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.99.3.550
- Ekman, P. (2003). Emotions inside out. 130 years after Darwin's "The Expression of the Emotions in Man and Animal". Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1000, 1–6. doi: 10.1196/annals.1280.002
- Ekman, P., and Cordaro, D. (2011). What is meant by calling emotions basic. *Emot. Rev.* 3, 364–370. doi: 10.1177/1754073911410740
- Ekman, P., and Friesen, W. V. (1969). A tool for the analysis of motion picture film or video tape. Am. Psychol. 24, 240–243. doi: 10.1037/h0028327
- Fontanari, J. F., Bonniot-Cabanac, M. C., Cabanac, M., and Perlovsky, L. I. (2012). A structural model of emotions of cognitive dissonances. *Neural Netw.* 32, 57–64. doi: 10.1016/j.neunet.2012.04.007

Frijda, N. H. (1986). The Emotions. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Gammie, S. C., Hasen, N. S., Stevenson, S. A., Bale, T. L., and D'Anna, K. L. (2005). Elevated stress sensitivity in corticotropin-releasing factor receptor 2 deficient mice decreases maternal, but not intermale aggression. *Behav. Brain Res.* 160, 169–177. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2004.11.026
- Grossberg, S., Levine, D., and Schmajuk, N. (1987). Predictive regulation of associative learning in a neural network by reinforcement and attentive feedback. *Int. J. Neurol.* 21-22, 83–104.
- Grossberg, S., and Levine, D. S. (1987). Neural dynamics of attentionally modulated Pavlovian conditioning: blocking, interstimulus interval, and secondary reinforcement. *Appl. Opt.* 26, 5015–5030. doi: 10.1364/AO.26. 005015
- Gu, S., Gao, M., Yan, Y., Wang, F., Tang, Y. Y., and Huang, J. H. (2018). The neural mechanism underlying cognitive and emotional processes in creativity. *Front. Psychol.* 9:1924. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01924
- Gu, S., Wang, F., Yuan, T., Guo, B., and Huang, H. (2015). Differentiation of primary emotions through neuromodulators: review of literature. *Int. J. Neurol. Res.* 1, 43–50. doi: 10.17554/j.issn.2313-5611.2015.01.19
- Gu, S., Wang, W., Wang, F., and Huang, J. H. (2016). Neuromodulator and emotion biomarker for stress induced mental disorders. *Neural Plast.* 2016:2609128. doi: 10.1155/2016/2609128

- Hammels, C., Pishva, E., De Vry, J., van den Hove, D. L., Prickaerts, J., van Winkel, R., et al. (2015). Defeat stress in rodents: from behavior to molecules. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 59, 111–140. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.10.006
- Han, K. A., Millar, N. S., Grotewiel, M. S., and Davis, R. L. (1996). DAMB, a novel dopamine receptor expressed specifically in Drosophila mushroom bodies. *Neuron* 16, 1127–1135. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80139-7
- Hao, S., Sharp, J. W., Ross-Inta, C. M., McDaniel, B. J., Anthony, T. G., Wek, R. C., et al. (2005). Uncharged tRNA and sensing of amino acid deficiency in mammalian piriform cortex. *Science* 307, 1776–1778. doi: 10.1126/science. 1104882
- Hoopfer, E. D. (2016). Neural control of aggression in Drosophila. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 38, 109–118. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2016.04.007
- Hoyer, S. C., Eckart, A., Herrel, A., Zars, T., Fischer, S. A., Hardie, S. L., et al. (2008). Octopamine in male aggression of Drosophila. *Curr. Biol.* 18, 159–167. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2007.12.052
- Hu, H. (2016). Reward and aversion. Ann. Rev. Neurosci. 39, 297-324. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-neuro-070815-014106
- Hutto, D. D., Robertson, I., and Kirchhoff, M. D. (2018). A new, better BET: rescuing and revising basic emotion theory. *Front. Psychol.* 9:1217. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2018.01217
- Inagaki, H., Jung, Y., Hoopfer, E., Wong, A., Mishra, N., Lin, J., et al. (2014). Optogenetic control of freely behaving adult Drosophila using a redshifted channelrhodopsin. *Nat. Methods* 11, 325–332. doi: 10.1038/nmeth. 2765
- Isosaka, T., Matsuo, T., Yamaguchi, T., Funabiki, K., Nakanishi, S., Kobayakawa, R., et al. (2015). Htr2a-expressing cells in the central amygdala control the hierarchy between innate and learned fear. *Cell* 163, 1153–1164. doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2015.10.047
- Izard, C. (2010). The many meanings/aspects of emotion:definitions, functions, activation, and regulation. *Emot. Rev.* 2, 363–370. doi: 10.1177/1754073910374661
- Izard, C. (2011). Forms and functions of emotions: matters of emotion-cognition interaction. *Emot. Rev.* 3, 371–378. doi: 10.1177/1754073911410737
- Izard, C. E. (1977). Human Emotions. New York, NY: Plenum Press. doi: 10.1007/ 978-1-4899-2209-0
- Izard, C. E. (2007). Basic emotions, natural kinds, emotion schemas, and a new paradigm. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 2, 260–280. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6916.2007. 00044.x
- Jack, R., Garrod, O., and Schyns, P. (2014). Dynamic facial expressions of emotion transmit an evolving hierarchy of signals over time. *Curr. Biol.* 24, 187–192. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2013.11.064
- John, T., and Leda, C. (1990). The past explains the present: emotional adaptations and the structure of ancestral environments. *Ethol. Sociobiol.* 11, 375–424. doi: 10.1016/0162-3095(90)90017-Z
- Kant, I. (1951). Kant's Critique of Judgement, trans. J. H. Bernard. New York, NY: Hafner Publishing (Original publication in 1892).
- Kahnt, T., Park, S. Q., Burke, C. J., and Tobler, P. N. (2012). How glitter relates to gold: similarity-dependent reward prediction errors in the human striatum. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 16521–16529. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2383-12.2012
- Kamitani, Y., and Tong, F. (2005). Decoding the visual and subjective contents of the human brain. Nat. Neurosci. 8, 679–685. doi: 10.1038/nn1444
- Kaun, K. R., and Rothenfluh, A. (2017). Dopaminergic rules of engagement for memory in Drosophila. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 43, 56–62. doi: 10.1016/j.conb. 2016.12.011
- Kayser, M. S., Mainwaring, B., Yue, Z., and Sehgal, A. (2015). Sleep deprivation suppresses aggression in Drosophila. *eLife* 4:e07643. doi: 10.7554/eLife.07643
- Keleman, K., Vrontou, E., Kruttner, S., Yu, J. Y., Kurtovic-Kozaric, A., and Dickson, B. J. (2012). Dopamine neurons modulate pheromone responses in Drosophila courtship learning. *Nature* 489, 145–149. doi: 10.1038/nature11345
- Kim, S. M., Su, C. Y., and Wang, J. W. (2017). Neuromodulation of innate behaviors in drosophila. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 40, 327–348. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-072116-031558
- Kim, Y. K., Saver, M., Simon, J., Kent, C. F., Shao, L., Eddison, M., et al. (2018). Repetitive aggressive encounters generate a long-lasting internal state in Drosophila melanogaster males. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, 1099–1104. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1716612115
- Klemm, N., Nassel, D. R., and Osborne, N. N. (1985). Dopamine-betahydroxylase-like immunoreactive neurons in two insect species, Calliphora

erythrocephala and Periplaneta americana. *Histochemistry* 83, 159–164. doi: 10.1007/BF00495147

- Konings, P. N., Vullings, H. G., Geffard, M., Buijs, R. M., Diederen, J. H., and Jansen, W. F. (1988). Immunocytochemical demonstration of octopamineimmunoreactive cells in the nervous system of *Locusta migratoria* and Schistocerca gregaria. *Cell Tissue Res.* 251, 371–379. doi: 10.1007/BF0021 5846
- Kravitz, E., and Fernandez, M. (2015). Aggression in Drosophila. *Behav. Neurosci.* 129, 549–563. doi: 10.1037/bne0000089
- Kuppens, P., Tuerlinckx, F., Russell, J. A., and Barrett, L. F. (2013). The relation between valence and arousal in subjective experience. *Psychol. Bull.* 139, 917–940. doi: 10.1037/a0030811
- Kvajo, M. (2016). What we talk about when we talk about emotions. *Cell* 167, 1443–1445. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.11.029
- Lazarus, R. S. (1999). Stress and Emotion: A New Synthesis. New York, NY: Springer.
- LeDoux, J. (1998). Fear and the brain: where have we been, and where are we going?
- *Biol. Psychiatry* 44, 1229–1238. LeDoux, J. E. (2012). Evolution of human emotion: a view through fear. *Prog. Brain Res.* 195, 431–442. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-53860-4.00021-0
- LeDoux, J. (2012). Rethinking the emotional brain. *Neuron* 73, 653–676. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuron.2012.02.004
- LeDoux, J. E. (1995). Emotion: clues from the brain. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 46, 209-235. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ps.46.020195.001233
- LeDoux, J. E., and Brown, R. (2017). A higher-order theory of emotional consciousness. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 114, E2016–E2025. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1619316114
- Levenson, R. W. (2011). Basic emotion questions. *Emot. Rev.* 3, 379–386. doi: 10.1177/1754073911410743
- Lin, A. C., Bygrave, A. M., de Calignon, A., Lee, T., and Miesenbock, G. (2014). Sparse, decorrelated odor coding in the mushroom body enhances learned odor discrimination. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 559–568. doi: 10.1038/nn.3660
- Lin, S., Owald, D., Chandra, V., Talbot, C., Huetteroth, W., and Waddell, S. (2014). Neural correlates of water reward in thirsty Drosophila. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 1536–1542. doi: 10.1038/nn.3827
- Lindquist, K., Wager, T., Kober, H., Bliss-Moreau, E., and Barrett, L. (2012). The brain basis of emotion: a meta-analytic review. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 35, 121–143. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X11000446
- Lindquist, K. A., Siegel, E. H., Quigley, K. S., and Barrett, L. F. (2013). The hundredyear emotion war: are emotions natural kinds or psychological constructions? Comment on lench, flores, and bench (2011). *Psychol. Bull.* 139, 255–263. doi: 10.1037/a0029038
- Liu, C., Placais, P. Y., Yamagata, N., Pfeiffer, B. D., Aso, Y., Friedrich, A. B., et al. (2012). A subset of dopamine neurons signals reward for odour memory in Drosophila. *Nature* 488, 512–516. doi: 10.1038/nature11304
- Liu, Q., Tabuchi, M., Liu, S., Kodama, L., Horiuchi, W., Daniels, J., et al. (2017). Branch-specific plasticity of a bifunctional dopamine circuit encodes protein hunger. *Science* 356, 534–539. doi: 10.1126/science.aal3245
- Liu, W., Liang, X., Gong, J., Yang, Z., Zhang, Y. H., Zhang, J. X., et al. (2011). Social regulation of aggression by pheromonal activation of Or65a olfactory neurons in Drosophila. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 896–902. doi: 10.1038/nn.2836
- Lovheim, H. (2012). A new three-dimensional model for emotions and monoamine neurotransmitters. *Med. Hypotheses* 78, 341–348. doi: 10.1016/j. mehy.2011.11.016
- Ma, Z., Stork, T., Bergles, D. E., and Freeman, M. R. (2016). Neuromodulators signal through astrocytes to alter neural circuit activity and behaviour. *Nature* 539, 428–432. doi: 10.1038/nature20145
- Mansourian, S., Corcoran, J., Enjin, A., Lofstedt, C., Dacke, M., and Stensmyr, M. (2016). Fecal-derived phenol induces egg-laying aversion in drosophila. *Curr. Biol.* 26, 2762–2769. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2016.07.065
- Maslow, A. H. (1948). Higher and lower needs. J. Psychol. 25, 433–436. doi: 10. 1080/00223980.1948.9917386
- Matsumoto, H., Tian, J., Uchida, N., and Watabe-Uchida, M. (2016). Midbrain dopamine neurons signal aversion in a reward-context-dependent manner. *eLife* 5:e17328. doi: 10.7554/eLife.17328
- Matthews, G. A., Nieh, E. H., Vander Weele, C. M., Halbert, S. A., Pradhan, R. V., Yosafat, A. S., et al. (2016). Dorsal raphe dopamine neurons represent the experience of social isolation. *Cell* 164, 617–631. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015. 12.040

- Mesquita, B., and Frijda, N. H. (2011). An emotion perspective on emotion regulation. *Cogn. Emot.* 25, 782–784. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2011.586824
- Moons, W. G., Eisenberger, N. I., and Taylor, S. E. (2010). Anger and fear responses to stress have different biological profiles. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 24, 215–219. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2009.08.009
- Narita, M., Suzuki, M., Kuzumaki, N., Miyatake, M., and Suzuki, T. (2008). Implication of activated astrocytes in the development of drug dependence: differences between methamphetamine and morphine. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1141, 96–104. doi: 10.1196/annals.1441.032
- Nelson, R. J., and Trainor, B. C. (2007). Neural mechanisms of aggression. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 8, 536–546. doi: 10.1038/nrn2174
- Olsson, A., and Phelps, E. (2007). Social learning of fear. Nat. Neurosci. 10, 1095–1102. doi: 10.1038/nn1968
- Ortony, A., and Turner, T. J. (1990). What's basic about basic emotions? *Psychol. Rev.* 97, 315–331.
- Panksepp, J. (2007). Neurologizing the psychology of affects: how appraisal-based constructivism and basic emotion theory can coexist. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 2, 281–296. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6916.2007.00045.x
- Panksepp, J., and Watt, D. (2011). What is basic about basic emotion? lasting lessons from affective neuroscience. *Emot. Rev.* 3, 387–396. doi: 10.1177/ 1754073911410741
- Pathak, T., Agrawal, T., Richhariya, S., Sadaf, S., and Hasan, G. (2105). Storeoperated calcium entry through orai is required for transcriptional maturation of the flight circuit in Drosophila. *J. Neurosci.* 35, 13784–13799. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.1680-15.2015
- Pauls, D., Blechschmidt, C., Frantzmann, F., El Jundi, B., and Selcho, M. (2018). A comprehensive anatomical map of the peripheral octopaminergic/tyraminergic system of Drosophila melanogaster. *Sci. Rep.* 8:15314. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-33686-3
- Penn, J. K., Zito, M. F., and Kravitz, E. A. (2010). A single social defeat reduces aggression in a highly aggressive strain of Drosophila. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 107, 12682–12686. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1007016107
- Pereira, T. D., and Murthy, M. (2017). To fight or not to fight. *Neuron* 95, 986–988. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.08.029
- Perlovsky, L. (2012). Emotions of "higher" cognition. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 35, 157–158. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X11001555
- Perlovsky, L. (2015). Aesthetic emotions goals: comment on "The quartet theory of human emotions: an integrative and neurofunctional model" by S. Koelsch et al. *Phys. Life Rev.* 13, 80–82. doi: 10.1016/j.plrev.2015.04.014
- Perlovsky, L. (2016a). Human consciousness is fundamental for perception and highest emotions. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 39:e191. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X15002216
- Perlovsky, L. I. (2016b). Physics of the mind. Front. Syst. Neurosci. 10:84. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2016.00084
- Perlovsky, L. (2016c). Scientific intuitions about the mind are wrong, misled by consciousness. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 39:e128. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X15001624
- Perry, S. F., and Capaldo, A. (2011). The autonomic nervous system and chromaffin tissue: neuroendocrine regulation of catecholamine secretion in non-mammalian vertebrates. *Auton. Neurosci.* 165, 54–66. doi: 10.1016/j. autneu.2010.04.006
- Plutchik, R. (1962). *The Emotions:Facts, Theories, and a New Model*. New York, NY: Random House.
- Pool, A. H., Kvello, P., Mann, K., Cheung, S. K., Gordon, M. D., Wang, L., et al. (2014). Four GABAergic interneurons impose feeding restraint in Drosophila. *Neuron* 83, 164–177. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.05.006
- Pool, A. H., and Scott, K. (2014). Feeding regulation in Drosophila. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 29, 57–63. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2014.05.008
- Posner, J., Russell, J. A., and Peterson, B. S. (2005). The circumplex model of affect: an integrative approach to affective neuroscience, cognitive development, and psychopathology. *Dev. Psychopathol.* 17, 715–734. doi: 10. 1017/S0954579405050340
- Ramachandran, V. S., and Jalal, B. (2017). The evolutionary psychology of envy and jealousy. Front. Psychol. 8:1619. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01619
- Ramdya, P., Lichocki, P., Cruchet, S., Frisch, L., Tse, W., Floreano, D., et al. (2015). Mechanosensory interactions drive collective behaviour in Drosophila. *Nature* 519, 233–236. doi: 10.1038/nature14024
- Ramirez, J. M., and Pearson, K. G. (1991). Octopaminergic modulation of interneurons in the flight system of the locust. J. Neurophysiol. 66, 1522–1537. doi: 10.1152/jn.1991.66.5.1522

- Ries, A. S., Hermanns, T., Poeck, B., and Strauss, R. (2017). Serotonin modulates a depression-like state in Drosophila responsive to lithium treatment. *Nat. Commun.* 8:15738. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15738
- Roseman, I. (1984). "Cognitive Determinants of Emotion: A Structural Theory," in *Review of Personality and Social Psychology*, ed. P. Shaver (Beverly Hills, CA: Sage).
- Russell, J. (2003). Core affect and the psychological construction of emotion. *Psychol. Rev.* 110, 145–172. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.110.1.145
- Russell, J., and Barrett, L. (1999). Core affect, prototypical emotional episodes, and other things called emotions:dissecting the elephant. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 76, 805–819. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.76.5.805
- Russell, J. A. (1980). A circumplex model of affect. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 39, 1161–1178. doi: 10.1037/h0077714
- Russell, J. A. (2006). Emotions are not modules. Can. J. Philos. 32, 53–71. doi: 10.1353/cjp.2007.0037
- Ryglewski, S., Duch, C., and Altenhein, B. (2017). Tyramine actions on drosophila flight behavior are affected by a glial dehydrogenase/reductase. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 11:68. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2017.00068
- Saarimaki, H., Gotsopoulos, A., Jaaskelainen, I. P., Lampinen, J., Vuilleumier, P., Hari, R., et al. (2016). Discrete neural signatures of basic emotions. *Cereb. Cortex* 26, 2563–2573. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhv086
- Sandoval, D., and Seeley, R. (2017). Physiology:gut feeling for food choice. Nature 542, 302–303. doi: 10.1038/nature21499
- Scarantino, A., and Griffiths, P. (2011). Dont give up on basic emotions. *Emot. Rev.* 3, 444–454. doi: 10.1177/1754073911410745
- Schoeller, F., and Perlovsky, L. (2016). Aesthetic chills: knowledge-acquisition, meaning-making, and aesthetic emotions. *Front. Psychol.* 7:1093. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2016.01093
- Schoeller, F., Perlovsky, L., and Arseniev, D. (2018). Physics of mind: experimental confirmations of theoretical predictions. *Phys. Life Rev.* 25, 45–68. doi: 10.1016/ j.plrev.2017.11.021
- Scholsberg, H. (1954). Three dimensions of emotions. Psychol. Rev. 61, 81–88. doi: 10.1037/h0054570
- Schretter, C. E., Vielmetter, J., Bartos, I., Marka, Z., Marka, S., Argade, S., et al. (2018). A gut microbial factor modulates locomotor behaviour in Drosophila. *Nature* 563, 402–406. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0634-9
- Schroter, U., Wilson, S. L., Srinivasan, M. V., and Ibbotson, M. R. (2007). The morphology, physiology and function of suboesophageal neck motor neurons in the honeybee. J. Comp. Physiol. A Neuroethol. Sens. Neural Behav. Physiol. 193, 289–304. doi: 10.1007/s00359-006-0182-x
- Schultz, W., Dayan, P., and Montague, P. R. (1997). A neural substrate of prediction and reward. *Science* 275, 1593–1599. doi: 10.1126/science.275.5306. 1593
- Shen, P. (2012). Analysis of Drosophila larval feeding response to quinineadulterated food. *Cold Spring Harb. Protoc.* 2012:pdb.prot069336. doi: 10.1101/ pdb.prot069336
- Shpigler, H. Y., Saul, M. C., Corona, F., Block, L., Cash Ahmed, A., Zhao, S. D., et al. (2017). Deep evolutionary conservation of autism-related genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 14, 9653–9658. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1708127114
- Sinakevitch, I., Niwa, M., and Strausfeld, N. J. (2005). Octopamine-like immunoreactivity in the honey bee and cockroach: comparable organization in the brain and subesophageal ganglion. J. Comp. Neurol. 488, 233–254. doi: 10.1002/cne.20572
- Sitaraman, D., Zars, M., Lafrriere, H., CHen, Y., Sable-smith, A., Kitamoto, T., et al. (2008). Serotonin is necessary for place memory in Drosophila. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 5579–5584. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0710168105
- Song, Y., and Hakoda, Y. (2018). Selective impairment of basic emotion recognition in people with autism: discrimination thresholds for recognition of facial expressions of varying intensities. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 48, 1886–1894. doi: 10.1007/s10803-017-3428-2
- Stevenson, P. A., Dyakonova, V., Rillich, J., and Schildberger, K. (2005). Octopamine and experience-dependent modulation of aggression in crickets. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 1431–1441. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4258-04.2005
- Suver, M. P., Mamiya, A., and Dickinson, M. H. (2012). Octopamine neurons mediate flight-induced modulation of visual processing in Drosophila. *Curr. Biol.* 22, 2294–2302. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2012.10.034
- Tomkins, S. S. (1962). Affect, Imagery, Consciousness: The Positive Affects, Vol. 1. New York, NY: Springer.

- Tracy, J., and Randles, D. (2011). Four models of basic emotions: a review of Elkman and cordaro, Izard, levenson, and panksepp and watt. *Emot. Rev.* 3, 397–405. doi: 10.1177/1754073911410747
- Ueda, H. M., Kato, M., Saifuddin, M., Tabe, H., Yamaguchi, K., and Tanne, K. (2002). Differences in the fatigue of masticatory and neck muscles between male and female. J. Oral Rehabil. 29, 575–582. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2842.2002.00869.x
- Vetter, N. C., Drauschke, M., Thieme, J., and Altgassen, M. (2018). Adolescent basic facial emotion recognition is not influenced by puberty or own-age bias. *Front. Psychol.* 9:956. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00956
- von Philipsborn, A., Liu, T., Yu, J., Masser, C., BIdaye, S., and Dickson, B. (2011). Neuronal control of Drosophila courtship song. *Neuron* 69, 509–522. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuron.2011.01.011
- Wang, F., Pan, F., Shapiro, L. A., and Huang, J. H. (2018). Stress induced neuroplasticity and mental disorders 2018. *Neural Plast.* 2018:5382537. doi: 10.1155/2018/5382537
- Wang, F., and Pereira, A. (2016). Neuromodulation, emotional feelings and affective disorders. *Mens Sana Monogr.* 14, 5–29. doi: 10.4103/0973-1229. 154533
- Wang, K., Guo, Y., Wang, F., and Wang, Z. (2011). Drosophila TRPA channel painless inhibits male-male courtship behavior through modulating olfactory sensation. *PLoS One* 6:e25890. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025890
- Wang, L., and Anderson, D. J. (2010). Identification of an aggression-promoting pheromone and its receptor neurons in Drosophila. *Nature* 463, 227–231. doi: 10.1038/nature08678
- Wang, S., and Sokolowski, M. (2017). Aggressive behaviors, food deprivation and the foraging gene. R. Soc. Open Sci. 4:170042. doi: 10.1098/rsos.170042
- Watanabe, K., Chiu, H., Pfeiffer, B. D., Wong, A. M., Hoopfer, E. D., Rubin, G. M., et al. (2017). A circuit node that integrates convergent input from neuromodulatory and social behavior-promoting neurons to control aggression in Drosophila. *Neuron* 95, 1112–1128.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.08.017
- White, K., Humphrey, D., and Hirth, F. (2010). The dopaminergic system in the aging brain of Drosophila. *Front. Neurosci.* 4:205. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2010.00205
- Williams, R. (2017). Anger as a basic emotion and its role in personality building and pathological growth: the neuroscientific, developmental and clinical perspectives. *Front. Psychol.* 8:1950. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01950

- Wilson-Mendenhall, C. D., Barrett, L. F., and Barsalou, L. W. (2013). Neural evidence that human emotions share core affective properties. *Psychol. Sci.* 24, 947–956. doi: 10.1177/0956797612464242
- Wundt, W. M. (1897). Outlines of Psychology. New York, NY: Thoemmes Continuum press. doi: 10.1037/12908-000
- Yuan, Q., Song, Y., Yang, C. H., Jan, L. Y., and Jan, Y. N. (2014). Female contact modulates male aggression via a sexually dimorphic GABAergic circuit in Drosophila. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 81–88. doi: 10.1038/nn.3581
- Yurkovic, A., Wang, O., Basu, A., and Kravitz, E. A. (2006). learning and memory associated with aggression in Drosophila. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 17519–17524. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0608211103
- Zhang, J., Tan, L., Ren, Y., Liang, J., Lin, R., Feng, Q., et al. (2016). Presynaptic excitation via GABAB receptors in habenula cholinergic neurons regulates fear memory expression. *Cell* 166, 716–728. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016. 06.026
- Zhang, K., Guo, J. Z., Peng, Y., Xi, W., and Guo, A. (2007). Dopamine-mushroom body circuit regulates saliency-based decision-making in Drosophila. *Science* 316, 1901–1904. doi: 10.1126/science.1137357
- Zheng, Z., Gu, S., Lei, Y., Lu, S., Wang, W., Li, Y., et al. (2016). Safety needs mediate stressful events induced mental disorders. *Neural Plast.* 2016:8058093. doi: 10.1155/2016/8058093
- Zhou, C., Rao, Y., and Rao, Y. (2008). A subset of octopaminergic neurons are important for Drosophila aggression. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 1059–1067. doi: 10. 1038/nn.2164

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Gu, Wang, Patel, Bourgeois and Huang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Childhood Maltreatment Modulates the Impact of Negative Emotional Stimuli on Conflict Resolution

Xianxin Meng^{1,2*}, Shuling Gao³, Wenwen Liu⁴, Ling Zhang⁴, Tao Suo⁵ and Hong Li^{6*}

¹ School of Psychology, Fujian Normal University, Fuzhou, China, ² Institute of Psychology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China, ³ School of Sociology and Political Science, Shanghai University, Shanghai, China, ⁴ School of Education, Nanyang Normal University, Nanyang, China, ⁵ School of Education, Henan University, Kaifeng, China, ⁶ College of Psychology and Sociology, Shenzhen University, Shenzhen, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fushun Wang, Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine, China

Reviewed by:

Haijiang Li, Shanghai Normal University, China Yonggui Yuan, Southeast University, China Michael M. Plichta, Universitätsklinikum Frankfurt, Germany

*Correspondence:

Xianxin Meng 458745235@qq.com Hong Li lihongszu@szu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 29 May 2018 Accepted: 29 March 2019 Published: 26 April 2019

Citation:

Meng X, Gao S, Liu W, Zhang L, Suo T and Li H (2019) The Childhood Maltreatment Modulates the Impact of Negative Emotional Stimuli on Conflict Resolution. Front. Psychol. 10:845. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00845 It has been reported that negative emotional stimuli could facilitate conflict resolution. However, it remains unclear about whether and how the impact of negative emotional stimuli on conflict resolution varies depending on childhood maltreatment. To clarify this issue, seventy-nine subjects were required to perform an arrow Eriksen Flanker Task which was presented in the center of emotional pictures. The present study found a significant interaction effect of childhood maltreatment and emotion on executive attention scores in reaction times (RTs) that reflect conflict resolution speed. For subjects in high childhood maltreatment, negative pictures elicited smaller executive attention scores in RTs than neutral and positive pictures, while neutral and positive pictures elicited similar executive attention scores in RTs. By contrast, for subjects in low childhood maltreatment, executive attention scores in RTs were similar across three conditions. These results suggest that the speed of conflict resolution is enhanced in high, instead of low, childhood maltreatment in situations of negative stimuli. This finding extends our understanding of the interaction among emotion, childhood maltreatment and conflict resolution.

Keywords: executive attention, conflict resolution, childhood maltreatment, arrow Eriksen Flanker Task, emotion

INTRODUCTION

Child maltreatment is a global phenomenon affecting the lives of millions of children all over the world (Stoltenborgh et al., 2015; Viola et al., 2016). A recent research reported that across the globe the overall estimated prevalence rates assessing maltreatment ever during childhood were 12.7% for sexual abuse, 22.6% for physical abuse, 36.3% for emotional abuse, 16.3% for physical neglect, and 18.4% for emotional neglect (Stoltenborgh et al., 2015). Existing research has amply demonstrated that exposure to childhood maltreatment is associated with a significantly increased likelihood of multiple forms of psychopathology, including depressive disorder (Nanni et al., 2012; Hovens et al., 2016), anxiety disorder (Bruce et al., 2012; Choi and Sikkema, 2015), bipolar disorder (Pavlova et al., 2016), attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (Briscoe-Smith and Hinshaw, 2006) and common psychiatric disorders (Kim et al., 2009; Keyes et al., 2012). It is thus imperative to

understand the mechanisms underlying the association between childhood maltreatment and later psychopathology to break the continuity between the two.

It has been proposed that one possible mechanism for the association between childhood maltreatment and later psychopathology is that childhood maltreatment increases sensitization to negative emotional stimuli (Pollak et al., 2001; Sandre et al., 2018). Existing research has demonstrated that childhood maltreatment influences attention bias to negative signals (Pine et al., 2005; Shackman et al., 2007). Using event-related potentials (ERPs) technique, a study conducted by Shackman et al. (2007) found that relative to controls, abused children overattended to task-relevant visual and auditory anger cues, and they also attended more to task-irrelevant auditory anger cues (Pine et al., 2005; Shackman et al., 2007). Furthermore, individuals with childhood maltreatment tend to have difficulties in disengagement of attention from threatening events (Pollak and Tolley-Schell, 2003). Specifically, in a selective attention paradigm using emotional faces as cues, Pollak and Tolley-Schell (2003) found that physically abused children demonstrated delayed disengagement when angry faces served as invalid cues, suggesting the influence of childhood maltreatment on individual's selective attention to threat-related signals. And the enhanced attention to threat further facilitates both the development and maintenance of emotional disorders (Li et al., 2008; Yuan et al., 2009, 2014, 2015; Meng et al., 2015, 2016).

For the influence of emotion on executive attention control, Easterbrook (1959) influential hypothesis argued that increased emotional arousal of negative stimuli may result in narrowing attention breadth and reducing interference of distracting or irrelevant information (Easterbrook, 1959). In consistence with this view, recent findings observed the facilitation effects of negative stimuli on the processing of conflict resolution (Dennis et al., 2008; Finucane and Power, 2010; Kanske and Kotz, 2010, 2011). For example, when subjects were engaged in identifying the print color of a central target word and ignoring the flanker words above and below the target word, Kanske and Kotz (2011) observed that reaction times (RTs) to incongruent stimuli, in which the target and flanker colors are different, are faster when these stimuli are emotional negative compared to neutral. In addition, when subjects were required to complete a modified version of the Attention Network Test after the presentation of emotional pictures, Finucane and Power (2010) observed that in comparison with neutral stimuli, fear stimuli reduced RTs to a target. Taken together, since individuals with childhood maltreatment experiences tend to develop sensitization to negative stimuli, and negative stimuli could facilitate conflict resolution, it is likely that childhood maltreatment could modulate the impact of negative stimuli on conflict resolution. Specifically, negative stimuli would elicit increased emotion arousal for subjects in high childhood maltreatment, which would narrow their attention and facilitate their conflict resolution. Nevertheless, to date, this hypothesis has not been examined.

To clarify whether and how the impact of negative emotional stimuli on conflict resolution depends on childhood

maltreatment, we asked subjects to perform an arrow Flanker Task which was presented in the center of emotional pictures. The arrow Flanker Task (Eriksen and Eriksen, 1974) is a frequently used interference paradigm to investigate conflict resolution (Posner et al., 2007; Finucane and Power, 2010). In the arrow Flanker Task, participants respond to a target arrow presented among strings of flanker arrows, which are either identical with the target (congruent conditions) or different from the target arrows (incongruent conditions). Typically, incongruent conditions elicit slower RTs and more error rates than congruent conditions. Conflict resolution efficiency usually was evaluated by executive attention scores that were calculated by subtracting their responses during congruent conditions from their responses in incongruent conditions (RTs incongruent conditions - RTs congruent conditions; ERs incongruent conditions - ERs congruent conditions) (O'Toole et al., 2011). Specifically, higher scores in ERs indicate reduced conflict resolution accuracy, and higher scores in RTs reflect reduced conflict resolution speed. Given that childhood maltreatment is associated with diminished executive functioning in children, adolescents, and adults (Perez and Widom, 1994; Porter et al., 2005; Minzenberg et al., 2008; Spann et al., 2012). We hypothesize that compared to subjects in low childhood maltreatment, subjects in high childhood maltreatment would show rapid slow conflict resolution in the measurement of executive attention scores in RTs and in ERs. Furthermore, based on previous studies showing individuals with childhood maltreatment experiences tend to develop sensitization to negative stimuli, and negative stimuli could facilitate conflict resolution (Easterbrook, 1959; Dennis et al., 2008; Finucane and Power, 2010; Kanske and Kotz, 2010, 2011), we hypothesize that compared to subjects in low childhood maltreatment, subjects in high childhood maltreatment would show rapid conflict resolution in the measurement of executive attention scores in RTs during the presentation of negative emotional stimuli. As there is no conclusive finding in previous research on the effect of negative emotional stimuli on conflict resolution in the measurement of executive attention scores in ERs, we would not make specific hypothesis for the modulating effect of childhood maltreatment on the impact of emotion on conflict resolution in the measurement of executive attention scores in ERs during the presentation of negative emotional stimuli. This study facilitates the understanding of the mechanisms underlying the association between childhood maltreatment and later psychopathology.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

Seventy-nine (43 males, 36 females, mean age: 20.5 years; SD: 2.31) students from Nanyang Normal University were recruited for the experiment. All the subjects were right-handed, and had self-reported normal or corrected-to-normal vision. In addition, subjects reported that they were healthy and free of any reported affective disorders. Each subject provided informed

consent prior to the experiment. The experimental procedure was conducted in accordance with guidelines of the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki (World Medical Organization, 1996) and approved by the ethics committee of the School of Psychology in Southwest University.

After consent procedures and before experiment, subjects were required to complete the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF) scale. The CTQ-SF was used for assessing childhood maltreatment (Bernstein et al., 2003). It is composed of five subscales, including sexual abuse, physical neglect, emotional abuse, physical abuse, and emotional neglect. There are 28 items in total in CTQ-SF and responses are rated on a 5-point scale (ranging from "never true" to "very often true"). According to the childhood maltreatment median score (childhood maltreatment median = 35), we grouped subjects into either a low childhood maltreatment group (n = 41), the average score of children maltreatment is 30.27) or a high childhood maltreatment group (n = 38), the average score of children maltreatment is 41.87). The low childhood maltreatment group has lower scores in CTQ-SF than the high childhood maltreatment group [F(1,78) = 122.92, p < 0.001].

Emotion Induction Stimuli

To avoid the cultural bias in Chinese subjects when the International Affective Picture System was adopted to elicit emotion (Huang and Luo, 2004), the current study selected the emotional pictures from the native Chinese Affective Picture System (CAPS; Bai et al., 2005). In the present study, 112 positive pictures, 112 neutral pictures, and 112 negative pictures were used. The present study included six blocks and each block consisted of 168 trials (grouped into three conditions: positive, neutral, and negative). The size and resolution of all these emotional pictures used in the present study were identical. Additionally, the contrast of the monitor was set to a constant value across subjects.

Valence and Arousal Assessment

In order to examine the validity of the three pictures sets (negative, neutral, positive), another sample of subjects (n = 41; 18 males, 23 females; age ranged from 18 to 25 years; mean age: 21.27) was recruited to rate the valence (negative - neutral positive) and arousal (low arousal level- high arousal level) of the 336 pictures on a self-reported 9-point rating scale (SAM; Lang et al., 1997). The valence significantly differed amongst negative, neutral, and positive pictures [F(2,80) = 265.902,p < 0.001]. Positive pictures (6.728) were rated more positive than were neutral pictures (5.369) [F(1,40) = 113.701, p < 0.001]which, in turn, were rated positive compared with the negative pictures (2.943) [F(1,40) = 233.754, p < 0.001]. Also, the arousal level significantly differed amongst negative, neutral and positive pictures [F(2,80) = 49.069, p < 0.001]. Negative pictures (6.44) were rated more arousing relative to positive pictures (5.342) [F(1,40) = 32.683, p < 0.01] which, again, were rated more arousing than were neutral stimuli (3.646) [F(1,40) = 140.221, p < 0.001].

Behavioral Procedures

In a dimly room, subjects were seated with 150 cm viewing distance from a computer screen. They were instructed to perform an arrow Eriksen Flanker Task. Each trial started with a 300-800 ms presentation of small black cross on the white computer screen. Then, an arrow Flanker Task which was superimposed on a picture was presented. Subjects were instructed to respond as accurately and quickly as possible. Responses were given with pressing the "F" key on the keyboard if the middle arrow pointed to the left, and pressing the "J" key if the middle arrow pointed to the right. The presentation of the arrow Flanker Task and the emotional picture was simultaneously terminated by a key press or after 1000 ms. Each response was followed by a 200 ms presentation of a blank screen (see Figure 1). Before the formal experiment, all subjects took part in pre-training with 12 practice trials during which they were familiarized with the procedure.

RESULTS

A repeated measures ANOVA of RTs and ERs was conducted with emotion (positive pictures, neutral pictures, and negative pictures), childhood maltreatment (high, low), and conflict type (congruent, incongruent) as factors. Before determining basic statistical analysis of ERs and RTs, we adopted one-Sample Kolmogorov–Smirnov test to analyze whether the data are suitable for normal distribution. PASW General Linear Model software Version 17 was adopted for statistical analyses (SPSS Inc., 2009). The Greenhouse-Geisser method was used to correct the degrees of freedom of the F-ratio in all these analyses. Simple effects analyses and pair-wise comparisons were conducted using Bonferroni-Holm correction method if significant main effects and interactions were detected.

The normal distribution of ERs significantly deviates. Thus the mean of the ERs was log transformed for the repeated measures ANOVA. We observed a significant main effect of conflict type [F(1,77) = 25.985, p < 0.001](see Table 1). Incongruent conditions elicited more false responses than congruent conditions, disregarding of emotion. Furthermore, we observed a significant interaction between conflict type and emotion [F(2,154) = 4.074, p < 0.05].The two-way interaction was manifested by the smallest differences between incongruent and congruent conditions during the negative pictures. To better present these results, we computed executive attention scores in ERs by calculating the difference between incongruent and congruent conditions. The repeated measures ANOVA on executive attention scores in ERs showed that negative pictures elicited smaller executive attention scores than neutral [F(1,77) = 5.488]p < 0.05] and positive pictures [F(1,77) = 6.573, p < 0.05], whereas neutral and positive pictures elicited similar executive attention scores [F(1,77) = 0.182, p = 0.671]. No other significant main effects or interaction effects were found for ERs. No other significant main effects or interaction effects were found for ERs.



TABLE 1 | During the presentation of negative, neutral and positive pictures, congruent and incongruent conditions elicited average reaction times (in Milliseconds) and error rates for subjects in low and high childhood maltreatment.

		Reaction times		Error rates	
		congruent	incongruent	congruent	incongruent
low childhood maltreatment	negative	499.691(7.012)	536.727(7.242)	2.8% (0.5%)	6.5% (0.9%)
	positive	499.133(6.896)	535.540(6.839)	2.4% (0.4%)	6.8% (1%)
high childhood maltreatment	neutral	496.381(6.622)	530.46(6.964)	2.5% (0.5%)	6.7% (1%)
	negative	496.924(8.067)	526.577(8.332)	3% (0.5%)	5.8% (1%)
	positive	490.956(7.934)	525.550(7.868)	2.8% (0.5%)	6.5% (1.1%)
	neutral	489.237(7.619)	525.066(8.012)	2.4% (0.5%)	6.2% (1.1%)

Values given in parenthesis were standard errors.

The normal distribution of RTs does not significantly deviate. The repeated measures ANOVA on RTs showed significant main effects of conflict type [F(1,77) = 511.084]p < 0.001] and emotion [F(2,154) = 11.081, p < 0.001]. Incongruent conditions elicited longer RTs than congruent conditions, disregarding of emotion. RTs were longer during negative [F(1,77) = 19.107, p < 0.001] and positive pictures [F(1,77) = 13.698, p < 0.001] than during neutral pictures, whereas RTs were similar between negative and positive pictures [F(1,77) = 2.652, p = 0.101]. More interesting, we observed a three-way interaction amongst emotion, conflict type, and childhood maltreatment [F(2,154) = 5.021, p < 0.05]. The breakdown of the three-way interaction showed that the interaction between conflict type and emotion was significant in subjects in high [F(2,74) = 5.475, p < 0.01], instead of low [F(2,80) = 1.084, p = 0.333], childhood maltreatment. For subjects in high childhood maltreatment, the smallest differences between incongruent and congruent conditions were observed during the negative pictures, whereas for subjects in low childhood maltreatment, similar differences between incongruent and congruent conditions were observed during negative, neutral, and positive pictures. To better present these results, we computed executive attention scores in RTs by calculating the difference between incongruent and congruent conditions. The repeated measures ANOVA on executive attention scores in RTs showed a significant twoway interaction between childhood maltreatment and emotion [F(2,154) = 5.021, p < 0.05]. The breakdown of the two-way interaction showed a significant emotion effect in subjects in high

[F(2,74) = 5.475, p < 0.01], instead of low [F(2,80) = 1.084, p = 0.333], childhood maltreatment. For subjects in high childhood maltreatment, negative pictures elicited smaller executive attention scores than neutral [F(1,37) = 10.037, p < 0.01] and positive pictures [F(1,37) = 7.272, p < 0.05], whereas neutral and positive pictures elicited similar executive attention scores in RTs [F(1,37) = 0.001, p = 0.977]. By contrast, for subjects in low childhood maltreatment, executive attention scores in RTs were similar across three conditions (see **Table 1**). No other significant main effects or interaction effects were found for RTs.

DISCUSSION

Using an arrow Flanker Task, this study aims to investigate whether the impact of emotion on conflict resolution varies depending on childhood maltreatment. Regardless of emotion, incongruent conditions elicited slower RTs and lower response accuracy than congruent conditions, suggesting that the task used in the present study is effective in inducing attention executive control.

More interesting, our hypothesis that childhood maltreatment modulates the effect of emotion on conflict resolution in the measurement of executive attention scores in RTs was confirmed. Specifically, for subjects in high childhood maltreatment, negative pictures elicited smaller executive attention scores in RTs than positive and neutral pictures. By contrast, for subjects in low childhood maltreatment, similar executive attention scores in RTs were yielded across three emotion conditions. When discussing the effect of negative emotion on cue utilization and the organization of behavior, Easterbrook (1959) argued that increased emotional arousal of negative stimuli may result in narrowing attention breadth and reducing interference of distracting or irrelevant information (Easterbrook, 1959). According to this argument, it is reasonable that negative emotion stimuli elicit increased emotion arousal for subjects in high childhood maltreatment, which narrows their attention to cues in the Flanker Task and thus speeds up their response in conflict resolution in the present study.

For the effect of emotion on conflict resolution accuracy in the measurement of executive attention scores in ERs, our findings showed that negative pictures elicited smaller executive attention scores in ERs than neutral pictures for subjects in both high and low childhood maltreatment. This suggests that subjects in both low and high childhood maltreatment showed the enhancement of the accuracy of conflict resolution in negative emotional stimuli. On the one hand, this finding is consistent with previous research (e.g., Finucane and Power, 2010), suggesting that during negative emotional experience subjects were better able to inhibit irrelevant information resulting in accurate response to a target. On the other hand, this finding indicated that childhood maltreatment did not modulate the effect of emotion on conflict resolution accuracy using the Flanker Task. This maybe because of a "ceiling effect," that is, the conflict resolution task in the present study is relatively easy for all participants so that it is lack of discrimination validity to produce a significant difference in conflict resolution accuracy.

In contrast with the impact of negative stimuli on conflict resolution, we did not observe the impact of positive stimuli produced on conflict resolution. That is, executive attention scores in ERs and RTs were similar between positive and neutral stimuli in subjects in both high and low childhood maltreatment. According to the motivational intensity theory of affective states (Harmon-Jones et al., 2012, 2013a,b), one possible explanation for these results is that compared to negative pictures, positive and neutral pictures used in this study elicited similar but low level motivational intensity, which did not produce significant influence on narrowing cognitive scope.

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

A number of important limitations of the present study and future directions should be mentioned. First, negative and positive pictures used in the present study differed not only on valence but also on arousal level. As a result, it is unclear whether the accelerated conflict resolution during the presentation of negative emotional stimuli in subjects in high childhood maltreatment is driven by valence or arousal level. This issue is worthy of further investigation by including positive and negative emotional stimuli of equally low arousal level and equally high arousal level in future studies. Second, the sample size is relatively small. The number of subjects in high childhood maltreatment is 41 and the number of subjects in low childhood maltreatment is 38. The findings of the present study need to be replicated in a larger sample. Third, subjects in this study are healthy. Even the subjects in high childhood maltreatment did not meet criteria for clinical diagnosis of psychiatric population. Hence, the present results need to be replicated in psychiatric population in future studies. Fourth, as there are known modulatory effects of cultural (Butler et al., 2007; Matsumoto et al., 2008; Soto et al., 2011) and age (Meng et al., 2015; Yuan et al., 2015) in the studies of emotional processing, our findings are limited to only Chinese subjects of a small age range. Future studies recruiting larger age range samples of subjects from Chinese and other nations will broaden and increase confidence in the present findings.

THEORETICAL AND PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS

Despite several limitations, the present study has important theoretical and practical implications for the future studies. Subjects in high childhood maltreatment showed faster response times in conflict resolution in negative emotion situation, which may imply their oversensitivity to negative stimuli in threatening situations. And the oversensitivity to threat further facilitates both the development and maintenance of emotional disorders (Li et al., 2008; Yuan et al., 2009, 2014, 2015; Meng et al., 2015, 2016). The present finding may partly account for why individuals suffering from childhood maltreatment are vulnerable to psychopathology.

Furthermore, if oversensitivity to negative stimuli in threatening situations of subjects in high childhood maltreatment is ultimately shown to contribute to their psychopathology, this observation may provide new therapeutic insights. For instance, new therapies might specifically target underlying abnormalities in sensitivity to negative stimuli as a means of affecting psychopathology.

In summary, the present study demonstrated that the impact of negative emotional stimuli on conflict resolution varied depending on childhood maltreatment. Specifically, subjects in high, instead of low, childhood maltreatment showed an enhanced speed of conflict resolution during the presentation of negative emotional stimuli.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The experimental procedure was in accordance with the ethical principles of the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki (World Medical Organization, 1996). The experimental procedure were approved by the IRB of the School of Psychology in Southwest university.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XM and WL conducted the experiments and analyzed the data. XM, WL, SG, and LZ proposed the concept of the measurements. HL helped in the experimental design. XM and HL supervised the project, and conducted the theoretical investigations leading to presented simulations. All authors discussed and contributed to the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was financed by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (NSFC31700947 and 31600886), the research projects of the social science and humanity in Henan

REFERENCES

- Bai, L., Ma, H., and Huang, Y. X. (2005). The development of native Chinese affective picture system-A pretest in 46 college students. *Chin. Ment. Health J.* 19:11.
- Bernstein, D. P., Stein, J. A., Newcomb, M. D., Walker, E., Pogge, D., Ahluvalia, T., et al. (2003). Development and validation of a brief screening version of the childhood trauma questionnaire. *Child Abuse Neglect* 27, 169–190. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2134(02)00541-0
- Briscoe-Smith, A. M., and Hinshaw, S. P. (2006). Linkages between child abuse and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in girls: behavioral and social correlates. *Child Abuse Neglect* 30, 1239–1255. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.04.008
- Bruce, L. C., Heimberg, R. G., Blanco, C., Schneier, F. R., and Liebowitz, M. R. (2012). Childhood maltreatment and social anxiety disorder: implications for symptom severity and response to pharmacotherapy. *Depress. Anxiety* 29, 131–138. doi: 10.1002/da.20909
- Butler, E. A., Lee, T. L., and Gross, J. J. (2007). Emotion regulation and culture: are the social consequences of emotion suppression culture-specific? *Emotion* 7, 30–48. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.7.1.30
- Choi, K. W., and Sikkema, K. J. (2015). Childhood maltreatment and perinatal mood and anxiety disorders: a systematic review. *Trauma Violence Abuse* 17, 1–27. doi: 10.1177/1524838015584369
- Dennis, T. A., Chen, C., and McCandliss, B. D. (2008). Threat-related attentional biases: an analysis of three attention networks. *Depress. Anxiety* 25, E1–E10. doi: 10.1002/da.20308
- Easterbrook, J. A. (1959). The effect of emotion on cue utilization and the organization of behavior. *Psychol. Rev.* 66, 183–201.
- Eriksen, B. A., and Eriksen, C. W. (1974). Effects of noise letters upon the identification of a target letter in a nonsearch task. *Percept. Psychophys.* 16, 143–149.
- Finucane, A. M., and Power, M. J. (2010). The effect of fear on attentional processing in a sample of healthy female. J. Anxiety Disord. 24, 42–48. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2009.08.005
- Harmon-Jones, E., Gable, P. A., and Price, T. F. (2012). The influence of affective states varying in motivational intensity on cognitive scope. *Front. Integr. Neurosci.* 6:73. doi: 10.3389/fnint.2012.00073
- Harmon-Jones, E., Gable, P. A., and Price, T. F. (2013a). Does negative affect always narrow and positive affect always broaden the mind? considering the influence of motivational intensity on cognitive scope. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 22, 301–307. doi: 10.1177/0963721413481353
- Harmon-Jones, E., Harmon-Jones, C., and Price, T. F. (2013b). What is approach motivation? *Emot. Rev.* 5, 291–295.
- Hovens, J. G., Giltay, E. J., van Hemert, A. M., and Penninx, B. W. (2016). Childhood maltreatment and the course of depressive and anxiety disorders: the contribution of personality characteristics. *Depress. Anxiety* 33, 27–34. doi: 10.1002/da.22429
- Huang, Y. X., and Luo, Y. J. (2004). Native assessment of international affective picture system. *Chin. Ment. Health J.* 9, 631–634. doi: 10.3758/s13428-014-0535-2
- Kanske, P., and Kotz, S. A. (2010). Modulation of early conflict processing: N200 responses to emotional words in a flanker task. *Neuropsychologia* 48, 3661–3664. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.07.021
- Kanske, P., and Kotz, S. A. (2011). Emotion triggers executive attention: anterior cingulated cortex and amygdala responses to emotional words in a conflict task. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 32, 198–208. doi: 10.1002/hbm.21012
- Keyes, K. M., Eaton, N. R., Krueger, R. F., Mclaughlin, K. A., Wall, M. M., Grant, B. F., et al. (2012). Childhood maltreatment and the structure of common psychiatric disorders. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 200, 107–115. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111. 093062

Province (2017-ZZJH-380), the Key Program of the Higher Education Institutions of Henan Province (17AJ90002), the 13th 5-Year education science planning projects of Henan Province (2017-JKGHYB-0134), and the Youth Foundation of Nanyang Normal Uninversity (QN-2019-046).

- Kim, J., Cicchetti, D., Rogosch, F. A., and Manly, J. T. (2009). Child maltreatment and trajectories of personality and behavioral functioning: implications for the development of personality disorder. *Dev. Psychopathol.* 21, 889–912. doi: 10.1017/S0954579409000480
- Lang, P. J., Bradley, M. M., and Cuthbert, B. N. (1997). International Affective Picture System (IAPS): technical Manual and Affective Ratings. Gainesville, FL: NIMH Center for the Study of Emotion and Attention.
- Li, H., Yuan, J. J., and Lin, C. D. (2008). The neural mechanism underlying the female advantage inidentifying negative emotions: an event-related potential study. *NeuroImage* 40, 1921–1929. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008. 01.033
- Matsumoto, D., Yoo, S. H., and Nakagawa, S. (2008). Culture, emotion regulation, and adjustment. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 94:925. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.94.6.925
- Meng, X., Liu, W., Zhang, L., Li, X., Yao, B., Ding, X., et al. (2016). EEG oscillation evidences of enhanced susceptibility to emotional stimuli during adolescence. *Front. Psychol.* 7:616. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00616
- Meng, X., Yang, J., Cai, A. Y., Ding, X. S., Liu, W., Li, H., et al. (2015). The neural mechanisms underlying the aging-related enhancement of positive affects: electrophysiological evidences. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 7:143. doi: 10.3389/fnagi. 2015.00143
- Minzenberg, M. J., Poole, J. H., and Vinogradov, S. (2008). A neurocognitive model of borderline personality disorder: effects of childhood sexual abuse and relationship to adult social attachment disturbance. *Dev. Psychopathol.* 20, 341–368. doi: 10.1017/S0954579408000163
- Nanni, V., Uher, R., and Danese, A. (2012). Childhood maltreatment predicts unfavorable course of illness and treatment outcome in depression: a metaanalysis. Am. J. Psychiat. 169, 141–151. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11020335
- O'Toole, L. J., DeCicco, J. M., Hong, M., and Dennis, T. A. (2011). The impact of task-irrelevant emotional stimuli on attention in three domains. *Emotion* 11, 1322–1330. doi: 10.1037/a0024369
- Pavlova, B., Perroud, N., Cordera, P., Uher, R., Dayer, A., and Aubry, J. M. (2016). Childhood maltreatment and comorbid anxiety in people with bipolar disorder. *J. Affect. Disord.* 192, 22–27. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.12.002
- Perez, C. M., and Widom, C. S. (1994). Childhood victimization and long-term intellectual and academic outcomes. *Child Abuse Neglect* 18, 617–633.
- Pine, D. S., Mogg, K., Bradley, B. P., Montgomery, L. A., Monk, C. S., McClure, E., et al. (2005). Attention bias to threat in maltreated children: implications for vulnerability to stress-related psychopathology. *Am. J. Psychiat.* 162, 291–296. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.162.2.291
- Pollak, S. D., Klorman, R., Thatcher, J. E., and Cicchetti, D. (2001). P3b reflects maltreated children's reactions to facial displays of emotion. *Psychophysiology* 38, 267–274. doi: 10.1111/1469-8986.3820267
- Pollak, S. D., and Tolley-Schell, S. A. (2003). Selective attention to facial emotion in physically abused children. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 112, 323–338. doi: 10.1037/ 0021-843X.112.3.323
- Porter, C., Lawson, J. S., and Bigler, E. D. (2005). Neurobehavioral sequelae of child sexual abuse. *Child Neuropsychol.* 11, 203–220.
- Posner, M. I., Rueda, M. R., and Kanske, P. (2007). "Probing the mechanisms of attention," in *Handbook of Psychophysiology*, eds J. T. Cacioppo, J. G. Tassinary, and G. G. Berntson (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 410–432.
- Sandre, A., Ethridge, P., Kim, I., and Weinberg, A. (2018). Childhood maltreatment is associated with increased neural response to ambiguous threatening facial expressions in adulthood: evidence from the late positive potential. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 18, 143–154. doi: 10.3758/s13415-017-0559-z
- Shackman, J. E., Shackman, A. J., and Pollak, S. D. (2007). Physical abuse amplifies attention to threat and increases anxiety in children. *Emotion* 7, 838–852. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.7.4.838
- Soto, J. A., Perez, C. R., Kim, Y.-H., Lee, E. A., and Minnick, M. R. (2011). Is expressive suppression always associated with poorer psychological

functioning? A cross-cultural comparison between European Americans and Hong Kong Chinese. *Emotion* 11, 1450–1455. doi: 10.1037/a0023340

- Spann, M. N., Mayes, L. C., Kalmar, J. H., Guiney, J., Womer, F. Y., Pittman, B., et al. (2012). Childhood abuse and neglect and cognitive flexibility in adolescents. *Child Neuropsychol.* 18, 182–189. doi: 10.1080/09297049.2011.595400
- SPSS Inc. (2009). Pasw Statistics 17.0. Chicago: SPSS Inc.
- Stoltenborgh, M., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., Alink, L. R., and IJzendoorn, M. H. (2015). The prevalence of child maltreatment across the globe: review of a series of meta analyses. *Child Abuse Rev.* 24, 37–50. doi: 10.1002/car.2353
- Viola, T. W., Salum, G. A., Kluwe-Schiavon, B., Sanvicente-Vieira, B., Levandowski, M. L., and Grassi-Oliveira, R. (2016). The influence of geographical and economic factors in estimates of childhood abuse and neglect using the childhood trauma questionnaire: a worldwide meta-regression analysis. *Child Abuse Neglect* 51, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.11.019
- World Medical Organization (1996). Declaration of Helsinki (1964). Br. Med. J. 313, 1448–1449.
- Yuan, J., Yang, J., Li, H., Chen, X., Ju, E., Meng, X., et al. (2015). Enhanced brain susceptibility to negative stimuli in adolescents: ERP evidences. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 9:98. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00098

- Yuan, J. J., Chen, J., Yang, J. M., Ju, E. X., Norman, G. J., and Ding, N. X. (2014). Negative mood state enhances the susceptibility to unpleasant events: neural correlates from a music- primed emotion classification task. *PLoS One* 9:e89844. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0089844
- Yuan, J. J., Luo, Y. J., Yan, J. H., Meng, X. X., Yu, F. Q., and Li, H. (2009). Neural correlates of the females' susceptibility to negative emotions: an insight into gender-related prevalence of affective disturbances. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 30, 3676–3686. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20796

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Meng, Gao, Liu, Zhang, Suo and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

